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101 Chalmers Court, Suite B 
Berryville, VA  22611 

 Telephone: [540] 955-5100 
Fax:  [540] 955-5180 

 

Industrial Development Authority of the County of 
Clarke Virginia 

 

Agenda 
Thursday, January 25, 2018, 1:00 pm 

Meeting Room AB, Berryville Clarke County Government Center 
101 Chalmers Court 2nd Floor, Berryville, Virginia  

 
1.  Call to Order  

 
2.  Adoption of Agenda  

 
3.  Organizational Items: 

− Elect Chair 
− Elect Vice Chair 
− Elect Secretary 
− Elect Treasurer 
− Set Meeting Date, Time and Location 
− Adopt Bylaws and Rules and Procedures of the Industrial Development Authority of 

the Clarke County, Virginia  
 

4.  Approval of October 26, 2018 Minutes 
 

5.  Economic Development Director Report 
 

6.  Treasurer’s Report 
 

7.  Old Business:   
 − Investment Options Review with Janice Kuhn 

o Guiding Principles 
 

8.  New Business:  
− FY2019 Budget Discussion 
− Preliminary Notification of Potential Funding for the Town of Berryville 
− Potential Joint Meeting of the EDAC and IDA Discussion 

 
9.   Adjourn  

 
 Distributed in Packet 

− Building Department YTD New Single Family Dwellings 
− IDA Follow-up Items 
− IDA 2017 Annual Report 
− Annual Distribution: 
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Clarke County Industrial Development Authority  Page 2 of 2 
 

 Code of Clarke County, Virginia 1997 as amended Code of Clarke County, 
Virginia Chapter 36 Chapter 36 Industrial Development Authority 

• Code of Virginia Title 15.2. Counties, Cities and Towns Chapter 49.  Industrial 
Development and Revenue Bond Act 

• Code of Virginia Title 2.2. Administration of Government Chapter 37. Virginia 
Freedom of Information Act 

• Code of Virginia Title 42.1. Libraries Chapter 7. Virginia Public Records Act 
• FY2017 Financial Report For Year Ended June 30, 2017 by Robinson Farmer 

Cox  [Attached to electronic packet.  Hard copy to be distributed at meeting.] 
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Industrial Development Authority of the Clarke County Virginia 
Board of Directors 
 
 

Call to Order 
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Industrial Development Authority of the Clarke County Virginia 
Board of Directors 

 
 
 

Adoption of Agenda 
 
 

Proposed motion:  Move to adopt agenda as [presented] or [as amended - title of 
agenda item[s] not listed on the published agenda provided to the public.] 
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Industrial Development Authority of the Clarke County Virginia 
Board of Directors 
 
Organizational Items: 
 
− Elect Chair 

o Lora Walburn, IDA Clerk, will call for nominations for 2018 Chair. 
Action:  Move to nominate and elect ___________ to serve as 2018 Chair. 

o Lora Walburn, IDA Clerk, will call for vote on the motion to nominate and elect.  Following 
vote, the meeting will be turned over to the newly elected 2018 Chair. 

 
− Elect Vice Chair 

o Chair will call for nominations for 2018 Vice Chair. 
Action:  Move to nominate and elect ___________ to serve as 2018 Vice Chair. 

o Chair will call for vote on the motion to nominate and elect.  
  

− Elect Secretary 
o Chair will call for nominations for 2018 Secretary. 

Action:  Move to nominate and elect ___________ to serve as 2018 Vice Chair. 
o Chair will call for vote on the motion to nominate and elect.   

 
− Elect Treasurer 

o Chair will call for nominations for 2018 Treasurer. 
Action:  Move to nominate and elect ___________ to serve as 2018 Vice Chair. 

o Chair will call for vote on the motion to nominate and elect.   
 

− Set Meeting Date, Time and Location 
Action:  Move to adopt the schedule as presented, or corrected, modified with specifics 
 

− Adopt Bylaws and Rules and Procedures of the Industrial Development Authority of the Clarke 
County, Virginia.  Staff recommends the following changes: 

o Checks $500 and greater require signature of Treasurer and Chair.  
o Finance Subcommittee members:  Chair, Treasurer, one member at large  

Action:  Move to adopt dated July 28, 2016 as presented or corrected, modified with specifics. 
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101 Chalmers Court, Suite B 
Berryville, VA  22611 

 Telephone: [540] 955-5100 
Fax:  [540] 955-5180 

 

County of Clarke 
Industrial Development Authority 

 
 

 
2018 Meeting Schedule 
 
January 25 – Organizational   
 
April 26 
 
July 26 
 
October 25 

 
1:00 pm, 4th Thursday Quarterly 

Meeting Room AB 
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Bylaws and  

Rules and Procedures 
of the Industrial Development 

Authority of the Clarke 
County, Virginia 
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Bylaws Of The Industrial Development Authority Of The Clarke County, Virginia 
 

Revision Date:  07-28-2016  Draft for Review 01-26-2018 Page 2 
 

 
Distribution: All Directors, County Administration, Director of Economic Development 

 
Record of Revision 

 
Revision 

No. 
Revision 

Date Description 

New 01/12/1999 New Document 
1 07/28/2016 Amend Section 204. Annual Meetings.  The annual meeting of the Board of 

Directors shall be held in January of each year and meetings held once per 
quarter, or at such time as needed, throughout the year in the Berryville Clarke 
County Government Center, 101 Chalmers Court, Second Floor, Berryville, 
Virginia or at such location as the Board of Directors may designate.   
Add Section 209: Removal of Director Before Their Terms in Office Expires:  
Should the Executive Committee, by a majority vote, deem that the attendance 
pattern of a Director at properly scheduled meetings is unacceptable, or should 
the performance of a Director be deemed unacceptable for any other reason by 
a majority vote of the Executive Committee, then the Chair of the Authority shall 
solicit the resignation of such a Director. 
In the event that no resignation is forthcoming, then the Executive Committee 
shall recommend the termination of such Director to the Clarke County Board of 
Supervisors. 
Amend Section 403. Public Attendance at Meetings: Inspection of Records.  All 
meetings of the Board of Directors at which formal action is taken shall be open 
to the public. The Board of Directors may hold executive or closed meetings in 
accordance with The Virginia Freedom of Information Act, Chapter 21, Title 2.1, 
Chapter 37 Title 2.2 Administration of Government Code of Virginia (1950, as 
amended), as may be in effect from time to time (the "Virginia Freedom of 
Information Act"). 
Section 404. Rules Regulations and Procedure:  Add to Format of Meeting 
Approval of agenda 
Correct name throughout to “Industrial Development Authority of the Clarke 
County, Virginia” 
Section 206. Notices.  Strike telegraph.  Add email. 
Add section 210 

2 01/26/2018 Staff Recommendations: 
Section 304:  Add Finance subcommittee section. 
Section 405:  Add “All check or money transfers exceeding $499 shall be 
countersigned by the Treasurer and Chair.” 
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Industrial Development Authority 
Of The Clarke County, Virginia 

Bylaws 
 
Article I 

 
Name. Purpose And Powers. 

 
Section 101. Name.  

 
The name of this body shall be the "Industrial Development Authority of the Clarke 
County, Virginia" (the "Authority"). 

 
Section 102. Purposes.  

 
The purposes of the Authority shall be as set forth in Section 15.2-490 I of the Code of 
Virginia (1950, as amended) and all other purposes as are now or may hereafter be set 
forth in the Industrial Development and Revenue Bond Act, Chapter 49, Title 15.2 of the 
Code of Virginia (1950, as amended) (the "Act").  

 
Section 103. Powers.  

 
The Authority shall be vested with all powers as set forth in Section 15.2-4905 of the 
Code of Virginia (1950, as amended) and all other powers as are now or may hereafter 
be set forth in the Act. 

 
 

Article II  
 

Directors. 
 

Section 201. Board of Directors.  
 

The Authority shall be governed by a Board of Directors in which all powers of the 
Authority shall be vested. 

 
Section 202. Number, Appointment and Terms of Directors.  

 
There shall be seven (7) Directors of the Authority who shall be appointed by the Board 
of Supervisors of Clarke County, Virginia (the "Board of Supervisors").  
 
Directors shall be appointed for a term of four (4) years, except appointments to fill 
vacancies, which shall be for the remainder of such un-expired term.  
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If at the end of any term of office of any Director or successor thereto has not been 
appointed, then the Director whose term of office has expired shall continue to hold 
office until a successor is appointed and qualified.  
 
Each Director, upon his initial appointment and any reappointment, shall take and 
subscribe the oath prescribed by Section 49-1 of the Code of Virginia (1950, as 
amended).  
 
No Director shall be an officer or employee of Clarke County, Virginia.  
 
Every Director shall, at the time of his appointment and thereafter, reside in Clarke 
County, Virginia or in an adjoining locality. 

 
Section 203. Vacancies.  

 
The Chairman of the Authority shall promptly notify the Board of Supervisors of any 
vacancy that may occur in the Board of Directors.  
 
The Board of Supervisors shall make any appointments necessary to fill any vacancies 
upon the Board of Directors of the Authority in accordance with the Act.  
 
In the event the term of any Director of the Authority shall expire without the Director 
being reappointed or a new Director being appointed by the Board of Supervisors, then 
the Director whose term has expired shall continue in office until his reappointment and 
qualification or until his successor shall have been appointed and qualified. 

 
Section 204. Annual Meetings.  

 
The annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held in January of each year and 
meetings held once per quarter, or at such time as needed throughout the year in the 
Berryville Clarke County Government Center, 101 Chalmers Court, Second Floor, 
Berryville, Virginia or at such location as the Board of Directors may designate.   

 
Section 205. Special Meetings.  

 
Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called at any time by the Chairman of 
the Board of Directors or by any two Directors of the Authority, to be held at the time and 
place designated in the notice of the meeting. 

 
Section 206. Notices.  

 
Notice specifying the time and place of any annual or special meeting of the Board of 
Directors shall be given to each Director of the Authority at least 24 hours before such 
meeting by delivering such notice to him or her or by telephoning, emailing or mailing 
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such notice to him or her at least 24 hours before the meeting.  Any notice postmarked 
the day before the meeting shall be deemed to have been mailed at least 24 hours 
before the meeting.  
 
Notices of special meetings of the Board of Directors shall specify generally the purposes 
thereof.  
 
The presence of any Director at a meeting shall be deemed an acknowledgment of the 
timely receipt of notice thereof or a waiver of any such notice, unless specific objection to 
the notice of such meeting shall be raised by any Director in attendance.  
 
Meetings may be held without notice if all of the Directors are present or if those 
Directors not present waive notice prior to the meeting, which waiver shall be in writing, 
signed either before or after the meeting. 

 
Section 207. Quorum.  

 
Four (4) members of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum of the Board of 
Directors for the purpose of conducting Authority business, exercising Authority powers 
and for all other purposes, except that no facilities owned by the Authority shall be leased 
or disposed of in any manner without a majority vote of the Directors of the Authority.  
 
No vacancy in the membership of the Board of Directors shall impair the right of a 
quorum to exercise all the powers and perform all the duties of the Authority. 

 
Section 208. Voting.  

 
Except as otherwise required in these Bylaws or by the Act, any question submitted to a 
vote of the Board of Directors shall be passed by simple majority of those Directors 
present and voting.   
 
No Director shall be allowed to vote by proxy at any meeting of the Authority. 
 

Section 209:  Removal of Directors Before Their Terms in Office Expires 
 

Should the Executive Committee, by a majority vote, deem that the attendance pattern of 
a Director at properly scheduled meetings is unacceptable, or should the performance of 
a Director be deemed unacceptable for any other reason by a majority vote of the 
Executive Committee, then the Chair of the Authority shall solicit the resignation of such 
Director.   
 
In the event that no resignation is forthcoming, then the Executive Committee shall 
recommend the termination of such Director to the Clarke County Board of Supervisors.  
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Section 210:  Remuneration for Meeting Attendance 
 
Each Director shall receive $50 for attending a quarterly meeting.  The Authority 
Treasurer shall be responsible for issuing payment.   
 
There shall be no remuneration for special meetings. 
 
 

Article III 
 

Officers 
 

Section 301. Officers.  
 

The officers of the Authority shall be a Chairman, a Vice-Chairman, and from their 
membership or not, as they desire, Secretary and Treasurer, or a Secretary-Treasurer, 
who shall continue to hold office until their respective successors are elected and 
qualified. 
 

Section 302. Duties of Officers.  
 
The duties of the officers of the Authority shall include, but shall not be limited to, the 
following: 
 
A. Chairman:  

− Preside at all meetings of the Authority;  
− Be responsible for notice of meetings to the Directors and officers of the 

Authority;  
− Be responsible for all correspondence;  
− Make committee appointments;  
− May appoint members of the Authority as liaison to any other governmental 

agencies, authorities and commissions;  
− Act as a signatory on behalf of the Authority when authorized; and,  
− Perform such other duties as are incident to his office or may properly be 

required of him by the Board of Directors. 
 
B. Vice Chairman shall, in the absence of the Chairman, 

− Exercise all of the Chairman's powers and duties;  
− In the event the office of Chairman shall become vacant, the Vice-Chairman 

shall immediately become the Chairman. 
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Revision Date:  07-28-2016  Draft for Review 01-26-2018 Page 5 
 

C. Secretary: 
− Transcribe detailed minutes of every meeting or proceeding of the Authority;  
− Issue notices for all meetings;  
− Keep the seal of the Authority and all books and records of the Authority; and  
− Perform such other duties as may be directed by the Board of Directors. 

 
D. Treasurer: 

− Custody of all funds and securities of the Authority and deposit the same in the 
name of the Authority in such bank or banks as the Directors may from time to 
time determine;  

− Shall sign all checks, drafts, notes and orders for the payment of moneys and 
shall payout and dispose of the same under the direction of the Chairman.  

− Keep suitable records of all financial transactions of the Authority and  
− Arrange to have the same audited following the end of each fiscal year of the 

Authority, subject to the approval of the Board of Directors.  Copies of each 
audit shall be furnished to the Board of Supervisors. 

 
Section 303.  Elections. 

 
Officers of the Authority shall be elected annually at the annual meeting of the Authority 
held in January of each year, shall commence their duties immediately upon election and 
shall continue in office thereafter until a successor shall have been elected and qualified.   
 
The Directors may elect at any annual or special meeting such officers as may be 
necessary to fill any vacancy created by resignation, expiration of term of appointment as 
a Director, or otherwise.  Any officer so elected shall serve until his successor shall have 
been elected at the next annual election and qualified. 
 

Section 304.  Finance Subcommittee 
 
The Finance Subcommittee shall consist of: 
− Chair 
− Treasurer 
− Member at large, as assigned by the Chair 

 
 

Article IV. 
 

General Provisions 
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Section 401.  Seal. 
 
The seal of the Authority shall be a flat-faced circular die with the name of the Authority 
engraved thereon and such other words and figures as my appear thereon as evidenced 
by a sample of such seal which appears on the margin of these Bylaws opposite this 
Section. 
 

Section 402. Compensation.  
 
The Directors and officers of the Authority shall receive no salary but may be 
compensated such amount per regular, special or committee meeting or per each official 
representation as may be approved by the Board of Supervisors, not to exceed the 
amount as provided in the Act for each meeting or official representation, and shall be 
reimbursed for necessary traveling and other expenses incurred in the performance of 
their duties. 
 

Section 403. Public Attendance at Meetings: Inspection of Records.  
 
All meetings of the Board of Directors at which formal action is taken shall be open to the 
public.  
 
The Board of Directors may hold executive or closed meetings in accordance with The 
Virginia Freedom of Information Act, Chapter 37 Title 2.2 Administration of Government 
Code of Virginia (1950, as amended), as may be in effect from time to time (the "Virginia 
Freedom of Information Act").  
 
All official records of the Authority shall be open for inspection and copying in accordance 
with the provisions of the Virginia Freedom of Information Act.  
 
Directors and officers of the Authority may inspect all Authority records at any reasonable 
time. 
 

Section 404. Rules Regulations and Procedure. 
 

A. Roberts Rules of Order, Newly Revised, shall govern all matters of procedure not 
specifically set forth in these Bylaws or the Act. 

 
B. The format of meetings of the Board of Directors may be as follows: 

(1) Call to order 
(2) Recording of attendance 
(3) Adoption of Agenda 
(4) Reading, approval, and correction of the minutes of the last meeting. 
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(5) Reports of officers and committee 
(6) Old Business 
(7) New Business 
(8) Adjournment 

 
C. The Board of Directors may adopt, amend and alter from time to time such rules, 

regulations or forms, which it deems necessary or expedient from the management 
of the affairs of the Authority and which shall not be inconsistent with the Act.   

 
The Secretary of the Authority shall maintain current copies of the Bylaws, and any 
rules, regulations and forms adopted by the Authority. 

 
Section 405.  Authorized Signatures. 

 
Checks, notes, drafts and other legal documents shall be signed by such Directors or 
officers of the Authority as may be specified in the act, these Bylaws, or as the Board of 
Directors may, from time to time, authorize by resolution.   
 
All check or money transfers exceeding $499 shall be countersigned by the Chair.  
 
The signature of any officer or Director may be by facsimile when authorized by the 
Board of Directors. 
 
 

Article V 
 

Amendments 
 

Section 501.  Amendment of Bylaws.  
 
These Bylaws may be amended, repealed or altered, in whole or in part, by a majority 
vote of the Board of Directors at any duly constituted meeting, provided notice of such 
amendment shall have been given to the Directors in the notice of such meeting.
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Industrial Development Authority 
Of The Clarke County, Virginia 
Rules and Procedures 

 
Article I 

 
Purpose and Scope 

 
Section 1.1   Purpose.  

 
These Rules shall govern the submission of Applications to the Authority, application and 
administrative fees, consideration of matters to be brought to the attention of the 
Authority relating to the authorization, issuance and sale of its Bonds, the adoption of 
Financing Documents, reports to be submitted to the Authority, and such other matters 
as are contained herein.  
 

Section 1.2   Scope.  
 
These Rules are supplementary to the Authority's Bylaws and the Act.  In the event of 
any conflict between the Authority's Bylaws, the Act and these Rules, the provisions of 
the Bylaws and the Act shall prevail. 
 
 

Article II 
 

Definitions 
 

Section 2.1 Definitions.  
 
As used in these rules and procedures, the following terms shall have the meaning as set 
forth herein, unless the context clearly requires otherwise: 
 
"Act" shall mean the Industrial Development and Revenue Bond Act, Chapter 49, Title 

15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended. 
 
"Applicant" shall mean any individual, person, firm, corporation, partnership or other 

entity applying for industrial development revenue bond financing, or for whose 
benefit the Authority has issued its Bonds, or who requests the Authority to take 
any action. 

 
"Application" shall mean the Authority's application for industrial development revenue 

bond financing as in effect from time to time. 
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"Authority" shall mean the Industrial Development Authority of the Clarke County, 
Virginia, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

 
"Bonds" shall mean any notes, bonds and other obligations authorized to be issued by 

the Authority pursuant to the Act. 
 
"Code" shall mean the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended. 
 
"Financing Documents" shall mean any resolutions, instruments, documents, papers, 

elections, certificates or financing statements required to be adopted or 
authorized, executed and delivered by the Authority in connection with the 
authorization, issuance and sale of its Bonds. 

 
"IRC" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 
 
"Project" shall mean any land, improvements, machinery, equipment or property financed 

by the issuance and sale of the Authority's Bonds. 
 
"Rules" shall mean these Rules and Procedures of the Authority, as may be in effect 

from time to time. 
 
 

Article III 
 

General 
 

Section 3.1 Copies to be Provided Applicants.  
 

A copy of these rules and procedures shall be furnished by the Authority's Secretary to 
each prospective Applicant. 

 
Section 3.2  Compliance with Rules and Procedures.  

 
Each Applicant shall comply with these rules and procedures in the submission of its 
Application or any Financing Documents to the Authority and in requesting that the 
Authority take any action, including the adoption of Financing Documents.  
 
Failure to comply with these rules and procedures shall constitute sufficient reason for 
the Authority to refuse to consider any Application, Financing Documents or any other 
matter to be brought before the Authority by or on behalf of any Applicant. 

 
Section 3.3   Amendments.  

 
These rules and procedures may be changed from time to time by the Authority by the 
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vote of a majority of its Directors present at any meeting of the Authority, provided notice 
of such change shall have been given to each Director before such meeting.  
 
These rules and procedures may, notwithstanding the foregoing, be amended without 
prior notice upon the affirmative vote of all Directors of the Authority. 
 

Section 3.4   Preparation and Distribution of Agenda and Minutes. 
 

(a) A preliminary agenda for the Authority's meetings shall be prepared and distributed 
by the Authority's Secretary [no later than three (3) days] before the Authority's 
scheduled meeting date.  The agenda may state that it is a preliminary agenda 
subject to change at or before the Authority's meeting.  
 
Failure to distribute the preliminary agenda as set forth above shall in no way affect 
the validity of any actions taken by the Authority at the meeting. 

 
(b) Preliminary drafts of the minutes of the Authority's meeting shall, as soon as 

practicable following the meeting, be mailed or delivered to each officer and director 
of the Authority and the Authority's counsel.  Each preliminary copy of the minutes 
so distributed shall be marked to indicate that it is a preliminary draft subject to 
additions or corrections at the Authority's next meeting. 

 
 
Article IV 
 

Applications Procedures, Fees and Requirements 
 

Section 4.1  Applications.  
 

At least twenty-one days before the Authority's meeting at which the Application is to be 
considered, each Applicant shall submit a fully and accurately completed Application to: 

− each Director of the Authority,  
− the Authority's Secretary and Counsel and  
− the Economic Development Director of the County of Clarke,  

 
Each Application shall include all requested exhibits.  In the event all requested exhibits 
are not available or not to be made part of the public record, a statement of explanation 
will be attached to the Application.  
 
The Authority recommends that each Applicant seek the advice of the Economic 
Development Director of the County of Clarke or the Authority's Counsel respecting 
completion of the Application before submitting it to the Authority. 
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Section 4.2   Administrative Fees.  
 
Each application submitted pursuant to Section 4.1 shall be accompanied with an 
application fee of $5,000; provided, however, that if the amount of the application is 
$1,000,000 or less, such fee shall be $1,000.  
 
The Authority also charges an annual administrative fee equal to: 

− 1/10th of one percent for transactions of $1,000,000 or less;  
− 1/15th of one percent for transactions between $1,000,001 and $5,000,000; and  
− 1/20th of one percent for transactions of more than $5,000,000.  

 
Such annual administrative fees shall be payable on the anniversary date of the closing 
of the transaction, and shall be computed by multiplying the applicable percentage 
by the outstanding principal balance of the bonds on such date.  
 
The Authority reserves the right to modify the fees described in this section on a case-by-
case basis, in the sole discretion of the Authority.  
 
Fees, upon acceptance by the Authority, are non-refundable. 

 
Section 4.3   Costs and Expenses.  

 
The Authority requires reimbursement of its costs and expenses incurred in connection 
with the issuance and sale of its Bonds and by virtue of its Bonds being outstanding. 
(See Section 5.2) 
 

Section 4.4   Modification Fee; Transaction Fee.  
 
(a) The Authority may, in its discretion, require payment of a $1,000 modification fee by 

any Applicant requesting the Authority to approve any modification or amendment to 
its Bonds or the applicable Financing Documents.  

 
The modification fee shall be due and payable on or before the date of execution and 
delivery of the modification or amendment. 

 
(b) The Authority may, in its discretion, charge a transaction fee in the amount of 

$1,000 to any Applicant requesting the Authority to take any action, regardless of 
whether the Authority has Bonds outstanding for the benefit of the Applicant.  

 
The transaction fee will be in addition to any other fees required hereunder. 

 
Section 4.5 Transcripts of Proceedings.  

 
Each Applicant receiving Bond financing through the Authority shall furnish to the 
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Authority upon the sale and delivery of the Bonds, two complete transcripts of the 
Financing Documents relating to such Bonds.  Bond transcripts shall be hardback bound 
in library standard quality binders at the cost and expense of the Applicant. 
 

Section 4.6  Bond Validation Proceedings. 
 
The Authority may require that before issuance, its Bonds be validated by the Circuit 
Court of the County of Clarke, Virginia, pursuant to the requirements of Article 6, 
Chapter 26, Title 15.2 of the Code.  The costs, expenses and fees incurred in 
connection with any bond validation proceedings required by the Authority, including 
attorneys’ fees, shall be paid by the Applicant. 
 

Section 4.7  Additional Information Required of Applicants 
 
(a) The Authority may adopt an inducement resolution conditioned upon the 

subsequent furnishing of certain information satisfactory to the Authority.  All 
required information shall be promptly furnished to the Authority and failure of any 
Applicant to furnish such information shall constitute a ground for rescission of any 
inducement resolution adopted pursuant to such conditions. 

 
(b) The Authority may, at its option, require the furnishing of appraisals, evaluations or 

reports respecting the Project or any portion thereof.  The Authority may retain 
advisors and consultants to advise it regarding any Project or other action that it is 
requested to undertake by any Applicant.  All costs, fees and expenses of such 
appraisals, reports, consultants and advisors incurred by the Authority after prior 
notification to the Applicant shall be paid by the Applicant. 

 
(c) Since the Authority usually acts based upon information furnished to it solely by the 

Applicant, the Authority reserves the right to require at any time the furnishing of 
additional information concerning the Applicant, its financial statements, and any 
other information deemed relevant by the Authority.  In instances where the 
Applicant has undergone changes in form or management or where the security to 
be given for payment of the Bonds has changed, the Applicant shall report such 
changes promptly to the Authority. 

 
Section 4.8  Notice of Public Hearing 

 
The Applicant shall publish a notice of public hearing with respect to each Application for 
which a public hearing is required by the Code once a week for two successive weeks, 
to be published in a newspaper having general circulation in the County of Clarke, 
Virginia and in such other newspapers as may be required.   
 
The notice shall be in a form approved by the Authority’s Counsel and Bond Counsel.   
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The second publication shall be not less than six nor more that twenty-one days before 
the Authority’s meeting at which the Application is to be considered.   
 
Persons who are interested in speaking at any public hearing held by the Authority are 
encouraged to submit their comments in writing.   
 
The Authority shall publish such additional notice or notices and hold such additional 
public hearings with respect to each Application as may be required by law or 
recommended by Counsel to the Authority. 
 

Section 4.9  Projects Outside of the County of Clarke, Virginia 
 
Any Applicant to finance a Project located outside the County of Clarke, Virginia shall be 
accompanied by evidence satisfactory to the Authority that the county, city or town in 
which the Project is proposed to be located approves the proposed financing of the 
Project by the Authority.  
 
Following the adoption of an inducement resolution for such Project, the Applicant shall 
furnish to the Authority a certified copy of a resolution duly adopted by the governing 
body of such county, city or town stating that such governing body concurs with the 
inducement resolution adopted by the Authority evidence satisfactory to the Authority 
that the county, city or town in which the Project is proposed to be located approves the 
proposed financing of the Project by the Authority.  
 
Following the adoption of an inducement resolution for such Project, the Applicant shall 
furnish to the Authority a certified copy of a resolution duly adopted by the governing 
body of such county, city or town stating that such governing body concurs with the 
inducement resolution adopted by the Authority. 
 
The Authority may also require additional evidence concerning the impact or effect of 
the Project on the area where it will be located, whether the Project has received 
appropriate local approvals or permits, and whether the Project is acceptable to the 
inhabitants where it will be located 

 
 

Article V 
 
PROVISIONS TO BE INCORPORATED INTO RESOLUTIONS AND FINANCING DOCUMENTS  
 

Section 5.1  Inducement Resolutions.  
 

Each inducement resolution adopted by the Authority shall provide that it shall continue 
in full force and effect for a period of two years unless specifically extended by the 
Authority.  
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Section 5.2  Payment of Authority Expenses.  

 
The Financing Documents adopted by the Authority for the benefit of any Applicant shall 
provide that the Applicant agrees to pay all costs, fees and expenses incurred by the 
Authority (including attorney's fees) in connection with: where it will be located.  

 
(a) the authorization, issuance and sale of the Authority's Bonds; 
 
(b) the ownership, occupation, operation or use of the Project being financed,  whether 

owned by the Authority or the Applicant;  
 

(c) prepayment or redemption of the Authority's Bonds;  
 

(d) administrative costs and expenses of the Authority, including the fees of attorneys, 
accountants, engineers, appraisers or consultants, paid or incurred by the Authority 
by reason of the Bonds being outstanding or pursuant to requirements of the 
Financing Documents; and 

 
(e) Such other fees and expenses of the Authority, not directly related to the Project 

being financed for the Applicant, but attributable to the Authority's financing of 
industrial or commercial Projects, including without limitation, a share of costs of the 
Authority's annual audit as required by Code Section 15.2-4904, determined as 
follows: 

 
(1) All costs and fees relating to the annual audit and directly attributable to a 

particular Applicant or Project, shall be charged to such Applicant; and 
 
(2) Any costs and fees of such audit not directly attributable to any Applicant or 

Project shall be allocated among all Applicants having Bonds outstanding, pro 
rata, as the amount of Bonds originally issued for such Applicant bears to the 
total face amount of Bonds issued by the Authority of which any portion of any 
issue remains outstanding and unpaid. 

 
Section 5.3  Indemnification of the Authority.  

 
Each Applicant shall agree to indemnify and save harmless the Authority, the County, 
the Board of Supervisors and their officers, directors, employees and agents (hereinafter 
the "Indemnitees") from and against all liabilities, obligations, claims, damages, 
penalties, fines, losses, costs and expenses (hereinafter referred to as "Damages"), 
including without limitation: 

 
(a) all amounts paid in settlement of any litigation commenced or threatened against the 

Indemnitees, if such settlement is effected with the written consent of the Applicant; 
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(b) all expenses reasonably incurred in the investigation of, preparation for or defense 

of any litigation, proceeding or investigation of any nature whatsoever, commenced 
or threatened against the Applicant, the Project or the Indemnitees; 

 
(c) any judgments, penalties, fines, damages, assessments, indemnities or 

contributions; and 
 
(c) the reasonable fees of attorneys, auditors, and consultants; provided that the 

damages arise out of:  
 

(i)  failure by the Applicant, or its officers, employees or agents, to comply with the 
terms of the Financing Documents and any agreements, covenants, obligations, 
or prohibitions set forth therein; 

 
(ii) any action, suit, claim or demand contesting or affecting the title of the Project;  

 
(iii) any breach of any representation or warranty set forth in the Financing 

Documents or any certificate delivered pursuant thereto, and any claim that any 
representation or warranty of the Applicant contains or contained any untrue or 
misleading statement of fact or omits or omitted to state any material facts 
necessary to make the statements made therein not misleading in light of the 
circumstances under which they were made; 

 
(iv) any action, suit, claim, proceeding or investigation of a judicial, legislative, 

administrative or regulatory nature arising from or in connection with the 
construction, acquisition, ownership, operation, occupation or use of the Project; 
or  

 
(v) any suit, action, administrative proceeding, enforcement action, or governmental 

or private action of any kind whatsoever commenced against the Applicant, the 
Project or the Indemnitees which might adversely affect the validity or 
enforceability of the Bonds, the Financing Documents, or the performance by 
the Applicant or any Indemnitee of any of their respective obligations 
thereunder. 

 
Section 5.4  Bond Counsel Opinion Required.  

 
Before issuing and delivering any of its Bonds, the Authority shall receive an unqualified 
approving opinion of recognized bond counsel licensed to practice law in Virginia and 
approved by the Authority stating, among other things, that the Bonds have been duly 
authorized, executed, issued and delivered, that the interest thereon is exempt from 
Federal income taxation under IRC §103 (or other applicable provision of law) and 
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taxation by the Commonwealth of Virginia, and that the Bonds are exempt from 
registration requirements under applicable state and Federal securities laws.  
 

Section 5.5  Covenants to Preserve Tax Exempt Status of Bonds.  
 
All Financing Documents presented for approval by the Authority shall contain 
appropriate covenants of the Applicant designed to insure compliance with the 
requirements of IRC §103 to preserve the tax exempt status of interest on the Bonds, 
including without limitation, "arbitrage" requirements, capital expenditure limitations and 
reporting requirements. 

 
Section 5.6   Payments in Lieu of Taxes.  

 
In event title to the Project is held by any person or entity not subject to real or personal 
property taxes, the Applicant and any user of the Project, unless specifically exempted by 
the Authority, shall enter into an agreement to pay all taxes, levies, assessments, 
charges or other impositions which may be levied by any taxing authority on the Project 
as if such Applicant or user held title to the Project or any portion thereof. 
 

Section 5.7  Restriction on Advertising.  
 
The Applicant and any purchaser or underwriter of the Authority's Bonds shall not publish 
any advertisement, tombstone or other information with respect to the Authority's Bonds 
unless: 
 
(a) such advertisement has been approved by the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the 

Authority and Counsel to the Authority and  
 
(b) (such advertisement contains the statement set forth below with respect to the 

limited nature of the obligations.  
 

Any bond purchase agreement entered into in connection with the Authority's Bonds shall 
contain a covenant in substantially the following form which shall be binding on the 
Applicant, any purchaser and any underwriter of such bonds: The undersigned agree that 
no advertisement, tombstone or other information with respect to the Bonds shall be 
published in any newspaper or other publication unless such advertisement:  
 
(a) is approved by the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Authority and Counsel to the 

Authority and  
 
(b)  clearly states that the Bonds are limited obligations of the Authority payable solely 

from revenues and that neither the Commonwealth of Virginia nor any political 
subdivision thereof, including the Authority and the County of Clarke, Virginia, shall 
be obligated to pay the principal of or the interest or premium, if any, on the Bonds 
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and neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the Commonwealth of Virginia 
or any political subdivision thereof, including the Authority and the County of Clarke, 
is pledged to payment of the Bonds. 

 
 

Article VI 
 

Reports 
 

Section 6.1 Interim Reports by Applicants.  
 
Each Applicant shall file with the Authority a written report describing the status of its 
proposed financing no later than ten (10) days after receipt of written request therefore. 
Such written report shall include the proposed purchaser of the Bonds, the proposed 
terms of the Bonds, the status of Financing Documents, and the current status of the 
Project. Each Applicant shall promptly notify the Authority of any significant or material 
changes to any information previously furnished by the Applicant to the Authority, 
including specific descriptions of new or changed plans for the placement of the bonds 
and the security to be offered. 
 

Section 6.2 Annual Reports of Applicants.  
 
Each Applicant, after the issuance and sale of the Authority's Bonds for the benefit of 
such Applicant, shall annually report to the Authority no later than June 30 the status of 
the Project, which shall include the outstanding and unpaid balance of Bonds issued for 
the Project, whether any event of default has occurred under the Financing Documents, 
and other information relating to the financing of the Project and benefits to the County of 
Clarke, Virginia. 
 

Section 6.3 Reports by Authority Chairman Directors etc.  
 
At each meeting of the Authority, the Chairman, each Director, the Secretary, the 
Treasurer and the Authority's Counsel shall report any action taken on behalf of the 
Authority since the last meeting, including receipt of reports required under Sections 4.7, 
6.1 and 6.2. 
 
 

Article VII 
 

Enforcement 
 

Section 7.1   Enforcement of Provisions.  
 
The Authority may refuse to consider or adopt any inducement resolutions, Financing 
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Documents or any other matters presented for its consideration if the Applicant has failed 
to comply with the requirements of these Rules. 
 

Section 7.2   Repeal of Actions Previously Taken.  
 
The Authority may rescind or repeal any inducement resolution previously adopted by it 
or any other action taken by the Authority because of failure of the Applicant to comply 
with the provisions of these Rules or because of substantial changes in the management, 
ownership, Project plan or financial circumstances of the Applicant; provided, however, 
no inducement resolution or action taken by the Authority shall be repealed or rescinded 
unless prior written notice of such proposed action shall have been mailed to the 
Applicant at least three weeks before the date upon which such action is proposed to be 
taken.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, no such action shall be taken by the Authority 
which will impair or adversely affect the interests of the holders of the Authority's Bonds. 

 
 

Article VIII 
 

Statements of Policy 
 

Section 8.1 Construction, Operation and Effect of Rules.  
 
These Rules are intended as guidelines to promote and insure the orderly and consistent 
consideration of Applications, Financing Documents and other matters brought before 
the Authority. For good cause, application of these Rules may be modified and waived 
upon a case by case basis upon the consent of the Authority. Any action taken by the 
Authority not in conformity with these Rules shall, nevertheless, be fully effective as if 
taken in compliance with these Rules. It is, however, the policy of the Authority that each 
Applicant comply fully and completely with these Rules, and failure to comply with these 
Rules may constitute grounds for refusal by the Authority to take any action requested. 
 

Section 8.2  Approval of Inducement Resolution not to Constitute an Endorsement of  
Applicant.  

 
The purpose of the Authority, as set forth in the Act, is to promote industry and develop 
trade by inducing manufacturing, industrial, governmental, commercial and non-profit 
enterprises to locate in or remain in the Commonwealth of Virginia. Pursuant to the Act, 
the Authority's powers shall be exercised for the benefit of the inhabitants of Virginia 
through the promotion of their safety, health, welfare, convenience or prosperity. 
Accordingly, the Authority's decision to adopt an inducement resolution or take other 
action will be based largely upon these factors. Further, the Act prohibits the Authority 
from operating any enterprise or Project. Since the Authority is a conduit for providing tax 
exempt financing to promote the commerce and industry of the Commonwealth of 
Virginia and the County of Clarke, Virginia, and given the express prohibition against 
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operating enterprises or Projects, the Authority believes it is improper for it to inquire into 
matters relating to the business judgment of the management of any Applicant not 
relevant to the foregoing factors. The Authority may, however, examine the business 
decisions and other aspects of management of the Applicant should it deem such 
matters relevant to the authorization, issuance and sale of its Bonds. 
 
In view of the foregoing limitations, the adoption of an inducement resolution or any other 
action taken by the Authority is not to be used by any Applicant in any manner 
whatsoever as an endorsement or approval of the Applicant, its policies or its 
management. 
 

Section 8.3  Securitv for Payment of Bonds.  
 
The Authority will require a showing that any issue of its Bonds is fully and adequately 
secured. 

 
Section 8.4 Compliance with Rules.  

 
These Rules were adopted by the Authority to assist in the orderly and expeditious 
conduct of its business.  As stated in Section 3.2 of these Rules, the Authority has 
reserved the right to require that any Applicant strictly conform to the requirements of the 
Rules. Among other things, the Rules require that each Applicant inform the Authority of 
any new developments or material changes in information which has been submitted to 
the Authority, either orally or in writing. Matters concerning the structure of the financing, 
the prospective purchasers of the Bonds and the security for payment of the Bonds are 
items of particular interest to the Authority; however, the Authority expects to be kept 
informed of all material changes to information submitted to it. 
 
By submitting an Application to the Authority, the Applicant agrees to abide by these 
Rules.  Thus, the burden is placed upon the Applicant to review and to comply with these 
Rules.  The principal sanction which may be applied by the Authority against any 
Applicant for failure to comply with the Rules would be a refusal to take any action 
requested by the applicant.  Such a refusal might result in embarrassment to or 
considerable financial expenses on the part of the Applicant.  To avoid such 
embarrassment or expense, the Authority urges each Applicant to keep the Authority fully 
informed of any new developments or material changes to information previously 
submitted to the Authority, including in particular, changes in the contemplated financing 
structure or the proposed security for the Bonds. As noted above, the burden is upon the 
Applicant to convey this information to the Authority in a timely manner. What constitutes 
"timely" depends upon the circumstances of each case; however, each Applicant is 
urged to provide all such information before considerable time and expense is incurred 
upon matters which may prove unacceptable to the Authority. Any such communications 
should be made directly to the Authority's officers, directors and counsel. 
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Approval of Minutes 
 

October 26, 2017, Regular Meeting  
 

Proposed Motion:  I move to approve the minutes of October 26, 2017, as [presented] 
or [as amended citing specific amendment]. 
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Industrial Development Authority of the Clarke County Virginia  
Board of Directors  

October 26, 2017 Minutes 
 
 
A meeting of the Board of Directors of the Industrial Development Authority of the Clarke County 
Virginia held in the Berryville/Clarke County Government Center, Berryville, Virginia, on Thursday, 
October 26, 2017, at 1:00 PM.  
 
Directors Present: Mark Cochran, Brian Ferrell, Paul Jones. David Juday, English Koontz, Rodney 

Pierce 
 
Directors Absent:  Allan Frederickson 
 
Board of Supervisors Liaison Present: David Weiss  
 
County Staff Present: David Ash, Len Capelli, Christy Dunkle, Mike Legge, Lora Walburn 
 
 
1. Call to Order  
 

At 1:02 pm, Chairman David Juday called the meeting to order. 
 
 
2. Adoption of Agenda 
 

Rod Pierce, seconded by English Koontz, moved to adopt the agenda as presented.  The 
motion carried by the following vote:  
 

Mark Cochran - Aye 
Brian Ferrell - Aye 
Allan Frederickson - Absent 
Paul Jones - Aye 
David Juday - Aye 
English Koontz - Aye 
Rodney Pierce - Aye 

 
 
3. Introduction of New Director William “Bill” Waite 

 
David Juday introduced Bill Waite, Director assuming the position previously held by Allan 
Frederickson. 
 
Mr. Waite added to his biography that he started building in Clarke County three years ago and 
moved to the County approximately eighteen months ago.  He opined that in his career he was a 
jack of all trades working in and out of many pieces of the business.  He stated that local 
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government was new for him but he did have some dealings with government in his corporate life.  
He expressed his appreciation for the opportunity to work with the Authority.  
 
David Juday thanked Mr. Waite for his willingness to serve.  Chairman Juday then asked if he would 
be willing to serve as interim treasurer until the organizational meeting in January 2018 to which Mr. 
Waite agreed. 
 
Following this exchange, the individual Directors briefly introduced themselves to Mr. Waite. 

 
William “Bill” Waite 

Board of Directors of the Industrial Development Authority of the Clarke County, Virginia 
Term: October 31, 2017 through October 30, 2021 

District:  Millwood 
 

Mr. Waite retired from ExxonMobil in March 2017 after 38 years.  He held various management positions in: 
 Treasurers:  Cash management and major project financing 
 Logistics:  Fuel product movement scheduling and labor negotiations 
 Retail:  Buying and selling retail markets globally 
 Planning:  Develop five-year retail strategic plans 
 Joint Ventures: Develop retail partnerships 

 
In his last position as Global Payment and Loyalty Solutions Manager, he was responsible for credit cards 
programs and processing worldwide. 

 
 
4. Presentation Resolution of Appreciation and Recognition of Service Allan Frederickson 

 
English Koontz, seconded by Mark Cochran, moved to approve a resolution of appreciation 
and recognition of service for Allan Frederickson.  The motion carried by the following vote: 
 

Mark Cochran - Aye 
Brian Ferrell - Aye 
Allan Frederickson - Absent 
Paul Jones - Aye 
David Juday - Aye 
English Koontz - Aye 
Rodney Pierce - Aye 

 
The resolution of appreciation and recognition of service presented was adopted by acclamation. 
 

Resolution of Appreciation and Recognition of Service 
Allan Frederickson 

 
WHEREAS on December 15, 2009, the Clarke County Board of Supervisors first appointed Allan L. 

Frederickson to the Board of Directors for the Industrial Development Authority of the Clarke 
County Virginia; and,  
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WHEREAS Mr. Frederickson served the Authority as Vice Chair in 
2011 and as Secretary / Treasurer from 2012 through the expiration 
of his term October 30, 2017; and,  

 
WHEREAS during Mr. Frederickson’s tenure on the Authority, he 
promoted the work of the Authority, actively participating in the 
bonding process for Grafton School, Shenandoah University, Lord 

Fairfax Community College, and United Methodist Senior Housing, as well as the loan process for the 
Town of Berryville to provide grant funds to aid expansion of Berryville Graphics; and, 

 
WHEREAS, he was also involved in the Authority’s development of its mission statement and 

investment policy, as well as development of the water and sewer subsidy program in conjunction 
with the Board of Supervisors and the Clarke County Sanitary Authority. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Directors of the Industrial Development 

Authority of the Clarke County Virginia publicly acknowledges his service and expresses 
appreciation to Mr. Frederickson for his efforts and dedication to the citizens of Clarke County, 
and; 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this resolution of appreciation and 

recognition of service be entered into the official record of the actions of 
the Industrial Development Authority of the Clarke County Virginia and 
that a copy of this action be provided to Mr. Frederickson as a token of 
the esteem in which he is held by the Authority. 

 
APPROVED by the unanimous vote of the Board of Directors for the 

Industrial Development Authority of the Clarke County Virginia assembled in 
regular session on the 26th day of October 2017. 

 
Attest:  
 David Juday, Chair 

 
 
5. Approval of Minutes  
 

English Koontz, seconded by Rod Pierce, moved to approve the July 27, 2017, minutes as 
written.  The motion carried as follows: 

 
Mark Cochran - Aye 
Brian Ferrell - Aye 
Allan Frederickson - Absent 
Paul Jones - Aye 
David Juday - Aye 
English Koontz - Aye 
Rodney Pierce - Aye 

 
 
6. Treasurer’s Report 
 

First Quarter FY2018 July 1 through September 30, 2017 
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Accounts: 

Brokerage Eagle Investment Group  
Beginning Balance July 1 $35,267.86 
Dividends, Interest and Other Income 94.49 
Net Change In Portfolio -29.13 
Ending Balance September 30 $35,333.22 

Estimated Annual Income $511.95 
  

Bank of Clarke County  

Checking Beginning Balance 07-01-2017 $66,061.93 

Income:  

Bond Revenue [Grafton, Inc.] $18,322.50 
Bond Revenue [LFCC] $16,147.00 
Total Income: $34,469.50 

Expense:   

Meeting Attendance $550 
Small Business Development Center $6,000 
VACorp $1,333 
Total Expense: $7,883 

Checking Ending Balance 09-30-2017 $92,648.43 
  
MMDA Beginning Balance 07-01-2017 $1,532.00 

Income:  
Interest MMDA  $0.15 

MMDA Ending Balance 09-30-2017 $1,532.15 
  

Total Public Deposits: $94,180.58 
 
In the absence of Allan Frederickson, IDA 2017 Treasurer, Lora Walburn, IDA Clerk, reviewed the 
1st Quarter FY2018 Treasurer’s Report. 
 
Paul Jones, seconded by Rod Pierce, moved to accept the 1st Quarter FY2018 Treasurer’s 
Report as presented.  The motion carried as follows: 
 

Mark Cochran - Aye 
Brian Ferrell - Aye 
Allan Frederickson - Absent 
Paul Jones - Aye 
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David Juday - Aye 
English Koontz - Aye 
Rodney Pierce - Aye 

 
Mark Cochran, seconded by English Koontz, moved to appoint William Waite to serve as 
interim Treasurer for the Industrial Development Authority of the Clarke County, Virginia 
until the annual organizational meeting scheduled for January 25, 2018.  The motion 
carried as follows: 
 

Mark Cochran - Aye 
Brian Ferrell - Aye 
Allan Frederickson - Absent 
Paul Jones - Aye 
David Juday - Aye 
English Koontz - Aye 
Rodney Pierce - Aye 

 
 
Rod Pierce, seconded by Mark Cochran, moved to authorize Lora B. Walburn, Clerk to 
the Industrial Development Authority of the Clarke County, Virginia, to send to the Bank 
of Clarke County notice of appointment of William “Bill” Waite to the position of 
Treasurer with a copy of the draft minutes for the October 26, 2017, Regular Meeting.  
The motion carried as follows: 
 

Mark Cochran - Aye 
Brian Ferrell - Aye 
Allan Frederickson - Absent 
Paul Jones - Aye 
David Juday - Aye 
English Koontz - Aye 
Rodney Pierce - Aye 

 
 
Chairman Juday stated that he had obtained the IDA bank statements for July, August, and 
September and would bring deliver them to County Administration with the receipt for payment. 
 
Further, Chairman Juday instructed staff to add to the January 2018 agenda modification of bylaws 
to include requirement for countersignature for checks of $500 or greater.  

 
 

English Koontz, seconded by Brian Ferrell, moved to reaffirm direction to the Treasurer 
to close the MMDA Public Fund and transfer remaining funds to Public Fund Chk.  The 
motion carried as follows: 

 
Mark Cochran - Aye 
Brian Ferrell - Aye 
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Allan Frederickson - Absent 
Paul Jones - Aye 
David Juday - Aye 
English Koontz - Aye 
Rodney Pierce - Aye 

 
 
7. Bond Balance Report 
 

Closed Bonds  
Organization Receiving 

Bonds Bond Type Original 
Amount 

Date 
Closed 

Powhatan School Educational Facility Revenue Bond 
Series 2002 $3,500,000  2/11/2010 

Winchester Medical Center, 
Inc. 

Hospital Facility Revenue Bond 
Series 2000;  Refinanced thru Econ 
Dev Authority of Winchester 12/2013 

$70,000,000  12/31/2013 

Heritage Child Development 
Center, Inc. Refunding Revenue Bond $450,000  6/30/2014 

Mary Hardesty United 
Methodist Housing, LP 

Multifamily Housing Revenue Bond 
Series 2014; Bonds Approved – 
Project Dropped Bonds Not Issued 

$4,300,000  8/25/2017 

 Total Closed: $78,250,000  
 

Outstanding Bonds  
Organization Receiving 

Bonds Bond Type Date Issued 
/ Resolution 

Original 
Amount 

Outstanding 
Amount 

BCCGC County of Clarke Lease Revenue Bond 5/16/2007 $4,822,000  $4,167,233  
BCCGC Town of Berryville Lease Revenue Bond 5/16/2007 $2,327,000  $2,117,968  

Grafton School, Inc. 
Tax-exempt 
Educational Facilities 
Revenue Refunding 
Bonds Series 2010 

5/1/2010; 
12/3/2010 $9,225,000  $5,305,000 

Lord Fairfax Community 
College Educational 
Foundation, Inc. 

Educational Facilities 
Revenue Bond Series 
2012A [Tax-exempt] 

11/14/2012; 
12/28/2012 $$8,400,000 $7,714,039 

Shenandoah University 
Project 

Educational Facilities 
Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2011 

12/27/2011 $7,815,000  $7,815,000 

   $32,589,000  $27,119,240  
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In the absence of Allan Frederickson, Lora Walburn reviewed the bond report.  Following review, by 
consensus the Authority instructed staff to seek from the County attorney written opinion, or 
conference call at the January meeting, on how to proceed with the Shenandoah University bonds. 
 
Chairman Juday commented that the IDA had processed several bonds in rapid succession during 
the period from 2010 through 2013. 

 
 
8. Economic Development Update 

 
Highlights of Len Capelli’s update include: 
− Apprentice Program:  working with the Workforce Development group on development through 

Lord Fairfax Community College. 
− Commercial Gardening:  C2M was nominated for and selected to receive funds to assist in 

increasing its marketing into Maryland, North Carolina, and West Virginia. 
− Shenandoah Valley Tourism Partnership: 

o Working with a public relations firm, tied into magazines and blogs, that helps writers find 
things to write about. 

o First review was “pick your own” at Mackintosh Fruit Farm, which was distributed to several 
million persons throughout the country through multiple media sources. 

o The president of the public relations firm will be visiting Berryville on December 11 to meet 
with several area businesses and to tour local attractions and assets.  

o Focusing on leveraging through the Top of Virginia Artisan Trail, Spirits Trail, and 
Shenandoah Valley Tourism Partnership, to get visibility outside the area.   

o Reaching a large number of people; and over the last six months, the greatest number of 
persons looking at our websites are from the Ukraine followed by Canada, the United 
Kingdom, India, China, and Brazil.   

o Persons looking to vacation in the Shenandoah Valley are finding Clarke via its websites 
and Facebook. 

− Agri-Tourism Revenue Reporting: 
o Discussed with persons and entities concerns about accuracy of agri-tourism revenue 

reporting. 
o The State asserts that tracking is difficult due to confidentiality. 
o State report includes towns within the County. 
o State suggests developing surveys for businesses and customers. 
o Would like to better determine the true dollars generated from agri-tourism. 
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9. New Business 
 

Investment Options Discussion 
 
Chairman Juday informed the Directors: 
− IDA Finance Committee [members English Koontz – Vice Chair, David Juday - Chair, and 

William Waite – Interim Treasurer] meeting scheduled with Janice Kuhn, Eagle 
Investments, on Thursday, November 16, 2017, at 10 am in the County Administration 
Conference Room.   

− Discussed with Ms. Kuhn options that she will present as potential strategies to the IDA 
Finance Committee including something that is a little more aggressive with the new 
money. 

− Considerations include how liquid does the IDA need to be and how many things might 
come up needing financial support.  

− All Directors are welcome to attend the November 16 Finance Committee meeting. 
− The Finance Committee will review the options presented at the January 2018 meeting.  
− Bonds: 

o The State assigns each jurisdiction a bond limit – Clarke’s is $10 million annually. 
o No defined percentage to remain in the locality. 
o Entities may seek bonds from other jurisdictions. 

 
 
10. Old Business 

 
Water and Sewer Subsidy Program Review 
 

Chairman Juday requested update from Mike Legge, CCSA Clerk, and Len Capelli, Economic 
Development Director.  Highlights include: 
− Received the first inquiry for subsidy from a group of businesses on the corner including the 

market and ice cream stand.   
− Requestor is having difficulty with water backing up in the septic system. 
− Mike Legge has explained in detail what is necessary to hook up to the sewer system. 
− Requestor is currently a commercial water customer.   
− Requestor has advised the Sanitary Authority that it does not intend on changing the 

amount of water used. 
− Currently using 10,000 to 20,000 gallons of water every two months. 
− CCSA determines availability fees on usage not meter size. 
− CCSA information is available on the County website. 
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− CCSA October 24 meeting: 
o Discussed technical aspects including connection to the lift station at McDonald’s or a 

direct connection to the public sewer system.   
o CCSA directed Mr. Legge to contact Hurtt and Profitt, contract engineer for the CCSA, 

to evaluate the connection to determine the most efficient way to connect. 
o Rough cost to connect with pump or lift station:  $25,000 
o Hookup fee estimated:  Up to $20,000 
o Total estimate:  $50,000 

 
Chairman Juday recapped the update opining that the requestor must define what it needs and 
seek assistance from the IDA. 
 
Len Capelli remarked that he has not yet shared any program information but the requestor is 
aware that funding may be available for application. 
 
Chairman Juday instructed staff to: 
− Create an information sheet on the water and sewer fee subsidy program.   
− Add program information to the IDA webpage on the County’s website. 
− Provide updated information to Mike Legge for review and forwarding / direction to the 

requestor. 
− Designate staff contact for program inquiries and include with program information. 
 
Chairman Juday remarked that water and sewer in Clarke was more expensive than 
surrounding jurisdictions for Clarke was one of the first to update its plant standards to meet 
State mandates for Chesapeake Bay initiatives. 
 
Chairman Juday thanked Mr. Legge for meeting with the Directors and assured that the IDA 
would provide him details of its subsidy program. 
 
 

Formal Notice of Handsome Brook Farms Withdrawal 
 

Chairman Juday acknowledged the final disposition of the Handsome Brook Farms investments 
funds ending in withdrawal and return to the State of $200,000.   
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Director Rod Pierce left the meeting to attend funeral services for Edythe Pifer, Clarke County Treasurer 
from 1972 through 1991. 

 
 
Set Date of 2018 Organizational Meeting 
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By consensus, the Directors set January 25, 2018, at 1:00 pm for its Organizational and 2nd 
Quarter FY2018 meeting, 

 
 
Miscellaneous 
 

Board of Supervisor Chair David Weiss distributed a zoning ordinance recently approved by the 
Board of Supervisors pertaining to §3-A-1 (Agricultural-Open Space-Conservation District –
AOC), §3-A-2 (Forestal-Open Space-Conservation District – FOC), §3-A-3 (Rural Residential 
District – RR), §3-A-12 (Neighborhood Commercial District – CN), §3-A-13 (Highway 
Commercial District – CH), §3-C (Supplementary Regulations), and Article 9 (Definitions) of the 
Zoning Ordinance primary highway intersections intended to encourage agricultural businesses 
in Clarke.   

 
 

Summary of Follow-up Items 
 

Item Description Responsibility 

1.  Forward resolution of appreciation to Allan Frederickson. Lora B. Walburn 

2.  Process approved minutes. Lora B. Walburn 

3.  To facilitate transition of banking authorization, provide Bank 
of Clarke County with copy of draft October 26, 2017, 
minutes. 

Lora B. Walburn 

4.  Execute signature cards at Bank of Clarke County. William Waite 

5.  Provide checkbook and other accounting documents to 
interim Treasurer. 

Allan Frederickson 

6.  Add January agenda by-law review of $500 and greater 
countersignature requirement. 

Lora B. Walburn 

7.  Request copies of July, August, September 2016 bank 
statements from Bank of Clarke County and provide to IDA 
Clerk. 

David Juday 

8.  Close MMDA account at Bank of Clarke County. William Waite 

9.  Seek legal opinion - how to proceed with the Shenandoah 
University bonds. 

Lora B. Walburn 

10.  Book County Administration Conference Room for 
November 16 IDA Finance Committee meeting. 

Lora B. Walburn 

11.  Add review of options discussed at the November 16 
Finance Committee meeting to January agenda. 

Lora B. Walburn 

12.  Create an information sheet on the water and sewer fee Lora B. Walburn 
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Item Description Responsibility 
subsidy program.   

13.  Add program information to the IDA webpage on the 
County’s website. 

Lora B. Walburn 

14.  Provide updated information to Mike Legge for review and 
forwarding / direction to the requestor. 

Lora B. Walburn 

15.  Designate staff contact for program inquiries and include 
with program information. 

Len Capelli /     
Lora B. Walburn 

16.  Coordinate scheduling of January organizational meeting 
with Central Reception. 

Lora B. Walburn 

 
 
11. Adjournment 
 

At 1:58 pm, English Koontz, seconded by Paul Jones, moved to adjourn the meeting.  The 
motion carried as follows: 

 
Mark Cochran - Aye 
Brian Ferrell - Aye 
Allan Frederickson - Absent 
Paul Jones - Aye 
David Juday - Aye 
English Koontz - Aye 
Rodney Pierce - Absent 

 
Minutes recorded and transcribed by: Lora B. Walburn, Executive Assistant - County Administration 
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Treasurer’s Report 
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IDA Check Log

CY Status Check No. Date Description Category  Credit  Debit  Balance  Additional Information 

2017 Y N/A 6/1/2017 Balance Balance  $  66,061.93  $             -    $     66,061.93 
2017 Y 536 6/28/2017 VACorp Insurance  $              -    $   1,333.00  $     64,728.93 
2017 Y 537 7/28/2017 Mark Cochran Director Fees  $              -    $      150.00  $     64,578.93 Meeting 02/20, 04/27, 7/27
2017 Y 538 7/28/2017 David Juday Director Fees  $              -    $      150.00  $     64,428.93 Meeting 02/20, 04/27, 7/27
2017 Y 539 7/28/2017 English Koontz Director Fees  $              -    $      100.00  $     64,328.93 Meeting 04/27, 7/27
2017 Y 540 7/28/2017 Rodney Pierce Director Fees  $              -    $      100.00  $     64,228.93 Meeting 02/20, 04/27
2017 541 7/28/2017 Brian Ferrell Director Fees  $              -    $      100.00  $     64,128.93 Meeting 02/20, 07/27
2017 Y 542 7/28/2017 Allan Frederickson Director Fees  $              -    $       50.00  $     64,078.93 Meeting 07/27
2017 Y 543 8/14/2017 LFSBDC Civic Contributions  $              -    $   6,000.00  $     58,078.93 
2017 Y Dep 9/13/2017 Grafton School Bond Fees  $  18,322.50  $             -    $     76,401.43 
2017 Y Dep 9/18/2017 LFCC Bond Fees  $  16,147.00  $             -    $     92,548.43 
2017 Y 544 11/16/2017 Mark Cochran Director Fees  $              -    $       50.00  $     92,498.43 Meeting 10/26/2017
2017 Y N/A 10/31/2017 Bank of Clarke County Bank Fees  $              -    $       18.00  $     92,480.43 Duplicate Bank Statements
2017 Y 545 11/16/2017 Robinson Farmer Cox Audit  $              -    $   1,635.00  $     90,845.43 FY16 Audit
2017 Y 546 11/16/2017 Brian Ferrell Director Fees  $              -    $       50.00  $     90,795.43 Meeting 10/26/2017
2017 Y 547 11/16/2017 Paul Jones Director Fees  $              -    $       50.00  $     90,745.43 Meeting 10/26/2017
2017 Y 548 11/16/2017 David Juday Director Fees  $              -    $       50.00  $     90,695.43 Meeting 10/26/2017
2017 Y 549 11/16/2017 English Koontz Director Fees  $              -    $       50.00  $     90,645.43 Meeting 10/26/2017
2017 Y 550 11/16/2017 Rodney Pierce Director Fees  $              -    $       50.00  $     90,595.43 Meeting 10/26/2017
2017 Y Transfer 11/16/2017 Checking to Infinex Investments Transfer  $              -    $ 50,000.00  $     40,595.43 
2017 Y Dep 12/5/2017 Shenandoah University Bond Fees  $  19,537.50  $             -    $     60,132.93 Outstanding
2017 Y Dep 12/29/2017 Shenandoah University Bond Fees  $   3,907.50  $             -    $     64,040.43 2017 Fees

1/22/2018
 Status Y = Cleared Lora B. Walburn, IDA Clerk 
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Industrial Development Authority of the Clarke County, Virginia
Outstanding Bonds

Borrower Bond Type Date Issued / 
Resolution

Original Amount 
$MM 2017 Fees $K

Outstanding 
Balance 2017 

$MM
Date OB

BCCGC County of Clarke Lease Revenue Bond 5/16/2007 $4,822,000 N/A 6/30/2016

BCCGC Town of Berryville Lease Revenue Bond 5/16/2007 $2,327,000 N/A 6/30/2016

Grafton School, Inc. Tax-exempt Educational Facilities Revenue
Refunding Bonds Series 2010

Loan 5/1/2010; 
Issued 5/28/2010 $9,225,000 12/3/2010

Lord Fairfax Community College Educational 
Foundation, Inc.

Educational Facilities Revenue Bond Series 2012A
[Tax-exempt] $8,400,000

11/14/2012; 
12/28/2012  $        8,400,000 12/28/2016

Shenandoah University Project Educational Facilities Revenue Bonds, Series 2011

12/08/2011; 
12/15/2011; 

12/27/2011; Issue 
Date 5/31/2012

$7,815,000 $3,908 $7,815,000 12/27/2017

$3,908
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Investment Options Review  
with Janice Kuhn 
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Guiding Principles  
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Draft Document – For Discussion Only – Revision Date 01-04-2017 

 

101 Chalmers Court, Suite B 
Berryville, VA  22611 

 Telephone: [540] 955-5175 
Fax:  [540] 955-5170 

 

County of Clarke 
Industrial Development Authority 

 

CLARKE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (IDA) INVESTMENT 
GUIDING PRINCIPLES 

 
BACKGROUND: 
 

The Clarke County Industrial Development Authority (IDA) issues bonds, refinances 
bonds, buys and sells property, and otherwise conducts appropriate and authorized 
business as set forth in the code of Virginia.  These activities can and do generate 
funds that the IDA maintains generally in the following two ways: 

1) A checking account with the Bank of Clarke County used primarily for financing 
annual operating costs, as well as the initial account for the receipt and 
distribution of funds. 

2) An investment account with Eagle Investment Group, a subsidiary of Bank of 
Clarke County, to maximize total return with prudent levels of risk during the 
pursuit of investment opportunities to achieve the stated IDA mission.  These 
funds are specifically endorsed by the IDA Finance Committee.  Average risk 
tolerance consistent with other investments made in the name of Clarke 
County.   

 
In order to fulfill its statutory mission to serve the citizens of Clarke County and the 
Commonwealth of Virginia “through the increase of the their commerce, or through 
the promotion of the safety, health, welfare, convenience or prosperity,” the IDA 
further considers reinvesting the proceeds from its activities to retain and recruit 
business and other qualifying enterprises, including manufacturing, industrial, 
governmental, nonprofit and commercial enterprises and institutions, and the 
further use of the County’s agricultural products and natural resources, the IDA 
follows certain investment guiding principles. 

 
 
INVESTMENT GUIDING PRINCIPLES: 
 

The amount of the funds vary according to distribution needs but are generally 
divided into 4 groups: 

1) Account balances under $50,000 of liquid funds in the checking account to 
provide flexibility for the IDA Committee to access funds promptly without 
penalty.   

2) Account balances in excess of $50,000 and less than $100,000 should be 
invested in financial instruments that can be accessed within 6 months without 
penalty.  This investment is intended to generate a satisfactory, safe return to 
focus on short term investment opportunities. 
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3) Account balances in excess of $100,000 and less than $150,000 should be 
invested in financial instruments that can be accessed within one year without 
penalty.  This investment, due to the term of the investment, is to generate 
slightly higher but safe returns to meet longer high-value investment 
opportunities. 

4) Account balances in excess of $150,000 should be referred immediately to the 
IDA committee for discussion.  Consistent with the mission of the IDA, special 
attention should paid to distribute these funds as soon as possible to promote 
worthy opportunities aligned with the IDA mission. 

 
 
In addition, the Authority’s Board of Directors should target being self-sufficient by 
generating enough investment income to offset annual operating expenses. 
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Industrial Development Authority of the Clarke County, Virginia ‐ FY2019 Budget Preliminary Draft for 

Discussion

Expenditures Category Amount
Advertising 400$            Public Hearings
Audit 1,635$         RFC
Civic Contributions 6,000$         SBDC LFCC
Director Fees 1,400$         Meeting Attendance
Insurance 1,333$         VACorp
Postage 25$              
Professional Services 1,000$         Legal

11,793$       

Revenues Estimated 
Amount Bond Balance 12/2016

Bonds:
Grafton School, Inc. Bond 1,758$         3,515,000$                    
LFCC Bond 3,857$         7,714,039$                    
Shenandoah University Bond 3,907$         7,815,000$                    

9,522$         

Investments - Infinex: DIOI Net Change
10/11/2016 thru 10/31/2016 22.88$         -$                               
11/1/2016 thru 11/30/2016 42.61$         (43.29)$                          
12/1/2016 thru 12/31/2016 81.49$         (28.74)$                          
01/01/2017 thru 03/31/2017 174.11$       57.73$                           
04/1/2017 thru 06/30/2017 91.30$         (29.10)$                          

412$            
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Preliminary Notification of Potential Funding 

for the Town of Berryville 
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Adjourn 

January 25, 2018, Industrial Development Authority Board of Directors Organizational Meeting Packet Page 56 of 141



Industrial Development Authority of the Clarke County Virginia 
Board of Directors 

 
Supporting Material: 
 Building Department YTD New Single Family Dwellings 

September 2017 

 IDA Follow-up Items 

 2017 Annual Report 

 FY2017 Financial Report by Robinson Farmer Cox 

 Annual Distribution: 
o Code of Clarke County, Virginia 1997 as amended Code of 

Clarke County, Virginia Chapter 36 Chapter 36 Industrial 
Development Authority 

o Code of Virginia Title 15.2. Counties, Cities and Towns 
Chapter 49.  Industrial Development and Revenue Bond Act 

o Title 2.2. Administration of Government Chapter 37. Virginia 
Freedom of Information Act 

o Title 42.1. Libraries Chapter 7. Virginia Public Records Act.   
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Battletown Berryville Boyce Chapel Greenway Longmarsh TOTAL         COMMENTS
January 3 3
February 2 1 2 2 7
March 1 2 1 1 5
April 1 2 2 5
May 1 1 3 1 6
June 2 1 1 1 5 Longmarsh house is a 576sf In-law-suite
July 1 1 2 Longmarsh house is a 591 sf Accessory Structure
August 6 6
September 1 1 1 1 4
October 1 2 1 1 5
November 1 1 1 3
December 1 1 2
TOTAL 6 20 9 9 9 53

Clarke County Building Department Monthly Report Single-family Dwellings Thru December 2018
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IDA Board of Directors 
Follow Up Items Status Report

Meeting Date Item Description Follow Up Status Date Complete
7/27/2017 1 Schedule meeting Janice Kuhn, Eagle Investment David Juday 10/6 schedule for October 23; Meeting held November 16 11/16/2017
7/27/2017 6 Farm grants - actively pursue inquiries into the programs. Len Capelli
7/27/2017 7 Develop email list from persons signing up at the Fair booth. Len Capelli

7/27/2017 8 Follow up on contact with railroad commission re grant to repair the infrastructure to 
facilitate bulk transport. Len Capelli

10/26/2017 9 Forward resolution of appreciation to Allan Frederickson. Lora B. Walburn Given to Brandon Stidham to deliver. 10/27/2017
10/26/2017 10 Process approved minutes. Lora B. Walburn Complete 10/30/2017
10/26/2017 11 To facilitate transition of banking authorization, provide Bank of Clarke County with

copy of draft October 26, 2017, minutes. Lora B. Walburn Complete 10/30/2017

10/26/2017 12 Execute signature cards at Bank of Clarke County. William Waite Complete 11/1/2017
10/26/2017 13 Provide checkbook and other accounting documents to interim Treasurer. Allan Frederickson Complete 10/30/2017
10/26/2017 14 Add January agenda by-law review of $500 and greater countersignature

requirement. Lora B. Walburn Complete 11/3/2017

10/26/2017 15 Request copies of July, August, September 2016 bank statements from Bank of
Clarke County and provide to IDA Clerk. David Juday Complete delivered 11/3, lbow emailed to RFC 11/3/2017

10/26/2017 16 Close MMDA account at Bank of Clarke County. William Waite Waiting on chair signature at BCC
10/26/2017 17 Seek legal opinion - how to proceed with the Shenandoah University bonds. Lora B. Walburn Update:  10/30 SU Jarrett new asked for addl time for review; 

Received
12/4/2018

10/26/2017 18 Book County Administration Conference Room for November 16 IDA Finance
Committee meeting. Lora B. Walburn Complete 10/30/2017

10/26/2017 19 Add review of options discussed at the November 16 Finance Committee meeting to
January agenda. Lora B. Walburn Added 11/3/2017

10/26/2017 20 Create an information sheet on the water and sewer fee subsidy program.  Lora B. Walburn Complete 10/27/2017
10/26/2017 21 Add program information to the IDA webpage on the County’s website. Lora B. Walburn Complete 10/30/2017
10/26/2017 22 Provide updated information to Mike Legge for review and forwarding / direction to

the requestor. Lora B. Walburn Complete 10/30/2017

10/26/2017 23 Designate staff contact for program inquiries and include with program information. Len Capelli /     Lora B. 
Walburn

Sfaff representatives as listed on webpage 10/30/2017

10/26/2017 24 Coordinate scheduling of January organizational meeting with Central Reception. Lora B. Walburn Complete - email sent 10/30/2017

Upon completion, please provide status update to Lora Walburn, lwalburn@clarkecounty.gov, 540-955-5175 1/22/2018
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2017 Industrial Development Authority of the Clarke County Virginia
Meetings 2/2/2017 4/19/2017 7/27/2017 10/26/2017
Cochran, Mark Yes Yes Yes Yes 4 of 4
Ferrell, Brian Yes No Yes Yes 3 of 4
Frederickson, Allan No No Yes No 1 of 4
Jones, Paul No No No Yes 1 of 4
Juday, David Yes Yes Yes Yes 4 of 4
Koontz, English No Yes Yes Yes 3 of 4
Pierce, Rodney Yes Yes Yes Yes 4 of 4
Waite, William N/A N/A N/A Yes N/A *
Weiss, David No Yes No Yes 2 of 4
Capelli, Len Yes Yes Yes Yes 4 of 4

Highlights:
April - Dale Maza Lord Fairfax Community College Small Business Development Corp
July - C. Wayne Armbrust Resolution of Appreciation and Recognition of Service
October -  Bond  Revenue Payments Recvd $34,469.50
October - William Waite joins Authority and appointed interim Treasurer
November - Allan Frederickson Resolution of Appreciation and Recognition of Service
November - Finance Subcommittee Meeting November 16, 2017
December - Bond Revenue Payment Recvd $19,537.50
*Term begins October 31, 2017
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Code of Clarke County, Virginia 1997 as amended 
 

Code of Clarke County, Virginia  Chapter 36 - 1  
 

 
Chapter  36  Industrial Development Authority 
 
 [History June 6, 1972, adopted an ordinance creating the Industrial 

Development Authority of Clarke County, Virginia] 
 

41BCode of Virginia 
References 
 

§ 15.2-4900. Industrial Development and Revenue Bond Act 

42B§ 36-1 Name The name of the authority shall be the Industrial Development authority 
of Clarke County, Virginia. 
 

43B§ 36-2 Definitions  All terms used herein shall have the meanings given them in the Act. 
 

44B§ 36-3 Powers The authority shall have all the powers set forth in and permitted by the 
Act, including, without limitation, all powers incidental thereto or 
necessary for the performance of those hereinafter stated: 
A) To sue and be sued and to prosecute and defend, at law or in 

equity, in any court having jurisdiction of the subject matter and 
of the parties; 

B) To adopt and use a corporate seal and to alter the same at 
pleasure; 

C) To enter into contracts; 
D) To acquire, whether by purchase, exchange, gift, lease or 

otherwise, and to improve, maintain, equip and furnish one or 
more authority facilities including all real and personal properties 
which the board of directors of the authority may deem necessary 
in connection therewith and regardless of whether any such 
facilities shall then be in existence; 

E) To lease to others any or all of its facilities and to charge and 
collect rent therefor and to terminate any such lease upon the 
failure of the lessee to comply with an of the obligations thereof; 
and to include in any such lease, if desired, a provision that the 
lessee thereof shall have options to renew such lease or to 
purchase any or all of the leased facilities, or that upon payment 
of all of the indebtedness of the authority it may lease or convey 
any or all of its facilities to the lessee thereof with or without 
consideration; 

F) To sell, exchange, donate, and convey any or all of its facilities 
or properties whenever its board of directors shall find any such 
action to be in furtherance of the purposes for which the authority 
was organized; 
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Code of Clarke County, Virginia 1997 as amended 
 

Code of Clarke County, Virginia  Chapter 36 - 2  
 

G) To issue its bonds for the purpose of carrying out any of its 
powers, including specifically, but without intending to limit any 
power conferred by this ordinance, the issuance of bonds to 
provide long-term financing of any pollution control facility, 
whether any such facility was constructed prior to or after the 
enactment hereof or the receipt of a commitment from the 
authority to undertake financing pursuant hereto, subject to 
limitations set forth in the Act; 

H) As security for the payment of the principal of and interest on any 
bonds so issued and any agreements made in connection 
therewith, to mortgage and pledge any or all of its facilities or any 
part or parts thereof, whether then owned or thereafter acquired, 
and to pledge the revenues therefrom or from any part thereof or 
from any loans made by the authority; 

I) To employ and pay compensation to such employees and 
agents, including attorneys and real estate brokers, whether 
engaged by the authority or otherwise, as the board of directors 
shall deem necessary in carrying on the business of the authority;  

J) To exercise all powers expressly given the authority by the Board 
of Supervisors, or its successor, and to establish bylaws and 
make all rules and regulations, not inconsistent with the 
provisions of this ordinance or of the Act, as it may be amended 
from time to time, deemed expedient for the management of the 
authority’s affairs; 

K) To appoint an industrial advisory committee or similar committee 
or committees to advise the authority, consisting of such number 
of persons as it may deem advisable.  Such persons may be 
compensated and reimbursed for expenses as permitted by the 
Act; 

L) To borrow money and to accept contributions, grants and other 
financial assistance from the United States of America and 
agencies or instrumentalities thereof, the Commonwealth of 
Virginia (the “Commonwealth”), or any political subdivision, 
agency, or public instrumentality of the Commonwealth, for or in 
aid of the construction, acquisition, ownership, maintenance or 
repair of the authority facilities, for the payment of principal of any 
bond of the authority, interest thereon, or other cost incident 
thereto, or in order to make loans in furtherance of the purposes 
of the Act of such money, contributions, grants, and other 
financial assistance, and to this end the authority shall have the 
power to comply with such conditions and to execute such 
agreements, trust indentures and other legal instruments as may 
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Code of Clarke County, Virginia 1997 as amended 
 

Code of Clarke County, Virginia  Chapter 36 - 3  
 

be necessary, convenient or desirable and to agree to such terms 
and conditions as may be imposed; and 

M) To make loans or grants to any person, partnership, association, 
corporation, business, or governmental entity in furtherance of 
the purposes of the Act, including for the purposes of promoting 
economic development, subject to the restrictions set forth in the 
Act and to enter into such contracts, instruments, and 
agreements as may be expedient to provide for such loans and 
any security therefore.  The authority is also permitted to forgive 
loans or other obligations, if it is deemed to further economic 
development. 

 
45B§ 36-4 Other Matters All matters regarding the authority, including, without limitation, the 

membership of its board of directors, its governance, the issuance by 
it of bonds, notes and other obligations, and the liability of the 
Commonwealth, its political subdivisions and the officers and directors 
of the authority with respect to bonds issued by the authority, shall be 
governed by the terms of the Act, subject to any restrictions set forth in 
the bylaws of the authority, as such bylaws may be amended from time 
to time. 
 

46B§ 36-5 Effective Date This ordinance shall take effect immediately upon its passage by the 
Board of Supervisors. 
 

47BAmendments Chapter 
36 
 

 

353B1999-10-22 Reestablish the Industrial Development Authority.  Number assigned 
by staff for consistency with other localities.  . 
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Code of Virginia
Title 15.2. Counties, Cities and Towns

§ 15.2-4900. Short title.

This chapter shall be known and may be cited as the "Industrial Development and Revenue Bond Act."

1966, c. 651, § 15.1-1373; 1997, c. 587.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4901. Purpose of chapter.

It is the intent of the legislature by the passage of this chapter to authorize the creation of industrial
development authorities by the localities in the Commonwealth so that such authorities may acquire, own,
lease, and dispose of properties and make loans to the end that such authorities may be able to promote
industry and develop trade by inducing manufacturing, industrial, governmental, nonprofit and commercial
enterprises and institutions of higher education to locate in or remain in the Commonwealth and further the
use of its agricultural products and natural resources, and to vest such authorities with all powers that may be
necessary to enable them to accomplish such purposes, which powers shall be exercised for the benefit of the
inhabitants of the Commonwealth, either through the increase of their commerce, or through the promotion of
their safety, health, welfare, convenience or prosperity. Such authority shall not itself be authorized to operate
any such manufacturing, industrial, nonprofit or commercial enterprise or any facility of an institution of
higher education.

It is the further intent of the legislature and shall be the policy of the Commonwealth to grant to industrial
development authorities the powers contained herein with respect to pollution control facilities to the end that
such authorities may protect and promote the health of the inhabitants of the Commonwealth and the
conservation, protection and improvement of its natural resources by exercising such powers for the control
or abatement of land, sewer, water, air, noise and general environmental pollution derived from the operation
of any industrial or medical facility and to vest such authorities with all powers that may be necessary to
enable them to accomplish such purpose, which powers shall be exercised for the benefit of the inhabitants of
the Commonwealth, either through the increase of their commerce, or through the promotion of their safety,
health, welfare, convenience or prosperity.

It is the further intent of the legislature and shall be the policy of the Commonwealth to grant to industrial
development authorities the powers contained herein with respect to medical facilities and facilities for the
residence or care of the aged to the end that such authorities may protect and promote the health and welfare
of the inhabitants of the Commonwealth by assisting in the acquisition, construction, equipping, expansion,
enlargement and improvement of medical facilities and facilities for the residence or care of the aged in order
to provide modern and efficient medical services to the inhabitants of the Commonwealth and care of the
aged of the Commonwealth in accordance with their special needs and also by assisting in the refinancing of
medical facilities and facilities for the residence or care of the aged owned and operated by organizations
which are exempt from taxation pursuant to § 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended,
in order to reduce the costs to residents of the Commonwealth of utilizing such facilities and to vest such
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authorities with all powers that may be necessary to enable them to accomplish such purposes, which powers
shall be exercised for the benefit of the inhabitants of the Commonwealth and for the promotion of their
health and welfare. It is not intended hereby that any such authority shall itself be authorized to operate any
such medical facility or facility for the residence or care of the aged.

It is the further intent of the legislature and shall be the policy of the Commonwealth to grant to industrial
development authorities the powers contained herein with respect to facilities for use by organizations (other
than institutions organized and operated exclusively for religious purposes) which are described in §
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, and which are exempt from federal income
taxation pursuant to § 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, to the end that such
authorities may protect or promote the safety, health, welfare, convenience, and prosperity of the inhabitants
of the Commonwealth by assisting in the acquisition, construction, equipping, expansion, enlargement,
improvement, financing, and refinancing of such facilities of the aforesaid entities and organizations in order
to provide operations, recreational, activity centers, and other facilities for the use of the inhabitants of the
Commonwealth and to vest such authorities with all powers that may be necessary to enable them to
accomplish such purposes, which powers shall be exercised for the benefit of the inhabitants of the
Commonwealth and for the promotion of their safety, health, welfare, convenience or prosperity. It is not
intended hereby that any such authority shall itself be authorized to operate any such facility.

It is the further intent of the legislature and shall be the policy of the Commonwealth to grant to industrial
development authorities the powers contained herein with respect to facilities for accredited nonprofit private
institutions of higher education in the Commonwealth whose primary purpose is to provide collegiate or
graduate education and not to provide religious training or theological education to the end that such
authorities may protect and promote the health and welfare of the inhabitants of the Commonwealth by
assisting in the acquisition, construction, equipping, expansion, enlargement, and improvement of facilities of
aforesaid institutions in order to provide improved educational facilities for the use of the inhabitants of the
Commonwealth and to vest such authorities with all powers that may be necessary to enable them to
accomplish such purposes, which powers shall be exercised for the benefit of the inhabitants of the
Commonwealth and for the promotion of their health, welfare, convenience or prosperity. It is not intended
hereby that any such authority shall itself be authorized to operate any such educational facility.

It is the further intent of the legislature and shall be the policy of the Commonwealth to grant industrial
development authorities the powers contained herein with respect to facilities for a locality, the
Commonwealth and its agencies, and governmental and nonprofit organizations and to vest such authorities
with all powers that may be necessary to enable them to accomplish such purposes, which powers shall be
exercised for the benefit of the inhabitants of the Commonwealth and for the promotion of their health,
welfare, convenience or prosperity.

It is further the intent of the legislature and shall be the policy of the Commonwealth to grant to industrial
development authorities the powers contained herein with respect to facilities for museums and historical
education, demonstration and interpretation, together with any and all buildings, structures or other facilities
necessary or desirable in connection with the foregoing, for use by nonprofit organizations in order to
promote tourism and economic development in the Commonwealth, to promote the knowledge of and
appreciation by the citizens of the Commonwealth of the historical and cultural development and heritage of
the Commonwealth and the United States and to promote thereby their health, welfare, convenience and
prosperity. It is not intended hereby that any such authority shall itself be authorized to operate any such
facility.

It is the further intent of the legislature and shall be the policy of the Commonwealth to grant to industrial
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development authorities the powers contained herein with respect to facilities devoted to the staging of
equine events and activities (other than racing) for use by governmental or nonprofit, nonreligious
organizations and operated by such governmental or nonprofit, nonreligious organizations in order to
promote the equine industry and equine-related activities (other than racing) which are integral to the
Commonwealth's economy and heritage and to promote thereby the safety, health, welfare, convenience, and
prosperity of the inhabitants of the Commonwealth.

It is the further intent of the legislature and shall be the policy of the Commonwealth to grant to industrial
development authorities the powers contained herein with respect to acquiring, developing, owning and
operating an industrial park and any utilities that are intended primarily to serve the park and to issue bonds
for such purposes. The bonds may be secured by revenues generated by the industrial park or the utilities
being financed or by any other funds of the authority.

It is the further intent of the legislature and shall be the policy of the Commonwealth to grant to industrial
development authorities created by one or more municipalities whose housing authorities have not been
activated as provided by §§ 36-4 and 36-4.1, in addition to the powers previously or hereafter granted in this
chapter, the powers contained herein with respect to facilities used primarily for single or multi-family
residences in order to promote safe and affordable housing in the Commonwealth and to benefit thereby the
safety, health, welfare and prosperity of the inhabitants of the Commonwealth. It is not intended hereby that
any such authority shall itself be authorized to operate any such facility or exercise any powers of eminent
domain set forth in § 36-27.

In any instance in this chapter where an industrial development authority may issue bonds through its
authority to finance, the authority may also refinance such bonds.

This chapter shall be liberally construed in conformity with these intentions.

1966, c. 651, § 15.1-1375; 1972, c. 783; 1975, c. 489; 1977, c. 619; 1978, cc. 276, 526; 1984, c. 700; 1985, c.
317, § 15.1-1392; 1986, c. 473; 1988, c. 211; 1990, c. 312; 1991, c. 6; 1997, cc. 587, 758, 763; 2002, cc. 680,
725; 2005, c. 928; 2012, c. 498.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4902. Definitions.

Wherever used in this chapter, unless a different meaning clearly appears in the context:

"Authority" means any political subdivision, a body politic and corporate, created, organized and operated
pursuant to the provisions of this chapter, or if the authority is abolished, the board, body, commission,
department or officer succeeding to the principal functions thereof or to whom the powers given by this
chapter are given by law.

"Authority facilities" or "facilities" means any or all (i) medical (including, but not limited to, office and
treatment facilities), pollution control or industrial facilities; (ii) facilities for the residence or care of the
aged; (iii) multi-state regional or national headquarters offices or operations centers; (iv) facilities for private,
accredited and nonprofit institutions of collegiate, elementary, or secondary education in the Commonwealth
whose primary purpose is to provide collegiate, elementary, secondary, or graduate education and not to
provide religious training or theological education, such facilities being for use as academic or administration
buildings or any other structure or application usual and customary to a college, elementary or secondary
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school campus other than chapels and their like; (v) parking facilities, including parking structures; (vi)
facilities for use as office space by nonprofit, nonreligious organizations; (vii) facilities for museums and
historical education, demonstration and interpretation, together with buildings, structures or other facilities
necessary or desirable in connection with the foregoing, for use by nonprofit organizations; (viii) facilities for
use by an organization (other than an organization organized and operated exclusively for religious purposes)
which is described in § 501(c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and which is exempt
from federal income taxation pursuant to § 501 (a) of such Internal Revenue Code; (ix) facilities for use by a
locality, the Commonwealth and its agencies, or other governmental organizations, provided that any such
facilities owned by a locality, the Commonwealth or its agencies or other public bodies subject to the Virginia
Public Procurement Act (§ 2.2-4300 et seq.) shall not be exempt from competitive procurement requirements,
under the exception granted in subsection B of § 2.2-4344; (x) facilities devoted to the staging of equine
events and activities (other than racing events); however, such facilities must be owned by a governmental or
nonprofit, nonreligious organization and operated by any such governmental or nonprofit, nonreligious
organization; (xi) facilities for commercial enterprises that are not enterprise zone facilities (as defined in §
1394 (b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended) now existing or hereafter acquired, constructed
or installed by or for the authority pursuant to the terms of this chapter; however, facilities for commercial
enterprise that are not enterprise zone facilities but which are taxable authority facilities shall constitute
authority facilities only if the interest on any bonds issued to finance such facilities is not exempt from
federal income taxation; (xii) enterprise zone facilities; and (xiii) facilities used primarily for single or multi-
family residences. Clause (xiii) applies only to industrial development authorities created by one or more
localities whose housing authorities have not been activated as provided by §§ 36-4 and 36-4.1. Any facility
may be located within or outside or partly within or outside the locality creating the authority. Any facility
may consist of or include any or all buildings, improvements, additions, extensions, replacements, machinery
or equipment, and may also include appurtenances, lands, rights in land, water rights, franchises, furnishings,
landscaping, utilities, approaches, roadways and other facilities necessary or desirable in connection
therewith or incidental thereto, acquired, constructed, or installed by or on behalf of the authority. A pollution
control facility shall include any facility acquired, constructed or installed or any expenditure made, including
the reconstruction, modernization or modification of any existing building, improvement, addition, extension,
replacement, machinery or equipment, and which is designed to further the control or abatement of land,
sewer, water, air, noise or general environmental pollution derived from the operation of any industrial or
medical facility. Any facility may be constructed on or installed in or upon lands, structures, rights-of-way,
easements, air rights, franchises or other property rights or interests whether owned by the authority or others.

"Bonds" or "revenue bonds" embraces notes, bonds and other obligations authorized to be issued by the
authority pursuant to the provisions of this chapter.

"Cost" means, as applied to authority facilities, the cost of construction; the cost of acquisition of all lands,
structures, rights-of-way, franchises, easements and other property rights and interests; the cost of
demolishing, removing or relocating any buildings or structures on lands acquired, including the cost of
acquiring any lands to which such buildings or structures may be moved or relocated; the cost of all labor,
materials, machinery and equipment; financing charges and interest on all bonds prior to and during
construction and, if deemed advisable by the authority, for a period not exceeding one year after completion
of such construction; cost of engineering, financial and legal services, plans, specifications, studies, surveys,
estimates of cost and of revenues, and other expenses necessary or incident to determining the feasibility or
practicability of constructing the authority facilities; administrative expenses, provisions for working capital,
reserves for interest and for extensions, enlargements, additions and improvements; and such other expenses
as may be necessary or incident to the construction of the authority facilities, the financing of such
construction and the placing of the authority facilities in operation. Any obligation or expense incurred by the
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Commonwealth or any agency thereof, with the approval of the authority, for studies, surveys, borings,
preparation of plans and specifications or other work or materials in connection with the construction of the
authority facilities may be regarded as a part of the cost of the authority facilities and may be reimbursed to
the Commonwealth or any agency thereof out of the proceeds of the bonds issued for such authority facilities
as hereinafter authorized.

"Enterprise" means any industry for manufacturing, processing, assembling, storing, warehousing,
distributing, or selling any products of agriculture, mining, or industry and for research and development or
scientific laboratories, including, but not limited to, the practice of medicine and all other activities related
thereto or for such other businesses or activities as will be in the furtherance of the public purposes of this
chapter.

"Loans" means any loans made by the authority in furtherance of the purposes of this chapter from the
proceeds of the issuance and sale of the authority's bonds and from any of its revenues or other moneys
available to it as provided herein.

"Revenues" means any or all fees, rates, rentals and receipts collected by, payable to or otherwise derived by
the authority from, and all other moneys and income of whatsoever kind or character collected by, payable to
or otherwise derived by the authority in connection with the ownership, leasing or sale of the authority
facilities or in connection with any loans made by the authority under this chapter.

"Taxable authority facilities" means any private or commercial golf course, country club, massage parlor,
tennis club, skating facility (including roller skating, skateboard and ice skating), racquet sports facility,
suntan facility, race track, or facility the primary purpose of which is one of the following: (i) retail food and
beverage services (excluding grocery stores), (ii) automobile sales and service, (iii) recreation or
entertainment, or (iv) banks, savings and loan institutions or mortgage loan companies. The foregoing
sentence notwithstanding, no facility financed as an enterprise zone facility using tax-exempt "enterprise
zone facility bonds" (as such term is used in § 1394 of the Internal Revenue Code ) shall constitute a taxable
authority facility.

"Trust indenture" means any trust agreement or mortgage under which bonds authorized pursuant to this
chapter may be secured.

1966, c. 651, § 15.1-1374; 1968, c. 687; 1970, c. 725; 1972, c. 783; 1973, c. 528; 1977, cc. 238, 619, 673;
1978, c. 526; 1980, c. 372; 1983, c. 514; 1984, c. 700; 1986, c. 473; 1988, c. 211; 1990, cc. 312, 469; 1991, c.
6; 1994, c. 737; 1997, cc. 587, 758, 763; 1999, c. 379; 2005, c. 928; 2006, c. 324.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4903. Creation of industrial development authorities.

A. The governing body of any locality in the Commonwealth is hereby authorized to create by ordinance a
political subdivision of the Commonwealth, with such public and corporate powers as are set forth in this
chapter. Any such ordinance may limit the type and number of facilities that the authority may otherwise
finance under this chapter, which ordinance of limitation may, from time to time, be amended. Louisa County
may, by ordinance, authorize an authority created or established under this chapter to acquire, own, operate,
and regulate the use of airports, landing fields, and facilities, and other property incident thereto, including
such facilities and property necessary for the servicing of aircraft. In the absence of any such limitation, an
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authority shall have all powers granted under this chapter.

B. The name of the authority shall be the Industrial Development Authority of (the blank spaces to be filled
in with the name of the locality which created the authority, including the proper designation thereof as a
county, city or town).

C. Notwithstanding subsection B, for any authority authorized by this section, the name of the authority may
be the Economic Development Authority of (the blank space to be filled in with the name of the locality that
created the authority), if the governing body of such locality so chooses.

D. The authority jointly created by the Town of South Boston and Halifax County pursuant to § 15.2-4916
may be named the Economic Development Authority of Halifax, Virginia, or such other name as the
governing bodies of the Town of South Boston and Halifax County shall choose in the concurrent resolutions
creating such authority.

1966, c. 651, § 15.1-1376; 1975, c. 254; 1997, c. 587; 1999, c. 157; 2000, c. 398; 2001, cc. 5, 6, 730; 2002,
cc. 169, 680, 725; 2003, cc. 159, 343, 345, 350, 357; 2004, cc. 292, 782, 933; 2016, cc. 164, 312; 2017, c.
560.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4904. Directors; qualifications; terms; vacancies; compensation and expenses; quorum; records;
certification and distribution of report concerning bond issuance.

A. The authority shall be governed by a board of directors in which all powers of the authority shall be vested
and which board shall be composed of seven directors, appointed by the governing body of the locality. The
seven directors shall be appointed initially for terms of one, two, three and four years; two being appointed
for one-year terms; two being appointed for two-year terms; two being appointed for three-year terms and
one being appointed for a four-year term. Subsequent appointments shall be for terms of four years, except
appointments to fill vacancies which shall be for the unexpired terms. All terms of office shall be deemed to
commence upon the date of the initial appointment to the authority, and thereafter, in accordance with the
provisions of the immediately preceding sentence. If at the end of any term of office of any director a
successor thereto has not been appointed, then the director whose term of office has expired shall continue to
hold office until his successor is appointed and qualified.

Notwithstanding the provisions of this subsection, the board of supervisors of Wise County may appoint eight
members to serve on the board of the authority, with terms staggered as agreed upon by the board of
supervisors, the board of supervisors of Henrico County may appoint 10 members to serve on the board of
the authority, two from each magisterial district, with terms staggered as agreed upon by the board of
supervisors, the board of supervisors of Roanoke County may appoint 10 members to serve on the board of
the authority, two from each magisterial district, with terms staggered as agreed upon by the board of
supervisors, the board of supervisors of Mathews County may appoint from five to seven members to serve
on the board of the authority, the town council of the Town of Saint Paul may appoint 10 members to serve
on the board of the authority, with terms staggered as agreed upon by the town council, however, the town
council may at its option return to a seven member board by removing the last three members appointed, the
board of supervisors of Russell County may appoint nine members, two of whom shall come from a town
that has used its borrowing capacity to borrow $2 million or more for industrial development, with terms
staggered as agreed upon by the board of supervisors and the town council of the Town of South Boston shall
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appoint two at-large members, Page County may appoint nine members, with one member from each
incorporated town, one member from each magisterial district, and one at-large, with terms staggered as
agreed upon by the board of supervisors, Halifax County shall appoint five at-large members to serve on the
board of the authority jointly created by the Town of South Boston and Halifax County pursuant to §
15.2-4916, with terms staggered as agreed upon by the governing bodies of the Town of South Boston and
Halifax County in the concurrent resolutions creating such authority, the town council of the Town of
Coeburn may appoint five members to serve on the board of the authority, with terms staggered as agreed
upon by the town council, the city council of Suffolk may appoint eight members to serve on the board of the
authority, with one member from each of the boroughs, and one at-large member, with terms staggered as
agreed upon by the city council, the City of Chesapeake may appoint nine members, with terms staggered as
agreed upon by the city council; however, in the City of Chesapeake, after July 1, 2017, no member shall
serve more than two consecutive terms. Any person who has served more than one and one-half terms as a
member of the Chesapeake Economic Development Authority as of July 1, 2017, shall not be eligible for
reappointment for another consecutive term. A member of the Chesapeake Economic Development Authority
shall serve at the pleasure of the city council of the City of Chesapeake. No Chesapeake Economic
Development Authority member shall work for the Authority within one year after serving as a member. The
city council of the City of Norfolk may appoint 11 members, with terms staggered as agreed upon by the city
council, and the board of supervisors of Louisa County may appoint directors to serve on the board of the
authority for terms coincident with members of the board of supervisors.

A member of the board of directors of the authority may be removed from office by the local governing body
without limitation in the event that the board member is absent from any three consecutive meetings of the
authority or is absent from any four meetings of the authority within any 12-month period or upon unanimous
vote of the board of supervisors. In any such event, a successor shall be appointed by the governing body for
the unexpired portion of the term of the member who has been removed.

B. Each director shall, upon appointment or reappointment, before entering upon his duties take and
subscribe the oath prescribed by § 49-1.

C. No director shall be an officer or employee of the locality except (i) in a town with a population of less
than 3,500 where members of the town governing body may serve as directors provided they do not
constitute a majority of the board, (ii) in Buchanan County where a constitutional officer who has previously
served on the board of directors may serve as a director provided the governing body of such county
approves, and (iii) in Frederick County where the board of supervisors may appoint one of its members to the
Economic Development Authority of the County of Frederick, Virginia. Every director shall, at the time of
his appointment and thereafter, reside in a locality within which the authority operates or in an adjoining
locality. When a director ceases to be a resident of such locality, the director's office shall be vacant and a
new director may be appointed for the remainder of the term.

D. The directors shall elect from their membership a chairman, a vice-chairman, and from their membership
or not, as they desire, a secretary and a treasurer, or a secretary-treasurer, who shall continue to hold such
office until their respective successors are elected. The directors shall receive no salary but may be
compensated such amount per regular, special, or committee meeting or per each official representation as
may be approved by the appointing authority, not to exceed $200 per meeting or official representation, and
shall be reimbursed for necessary traveling and other expenses incurred in the performance of their duties.

E. Four members of the board of directors shall constitute a quorum of the board for the purposes of
conducting its business and exercising its powers and for all other purposes, except that no facilities owned
by the authority shall be leased or disposed of in any manner without a majority vote of the members of the
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board of directors. No vacancy in the membership of the board shall impair the right of a quorum to exercise
all the powers and perform all the duties of the board.

F. The board shall keep detailed minutes of its proceedings, which shall be open to public inspection at all
times. It shall keep suitable records of its financial transactions and, unless exempted by § 30-140, it shall
arrange to have the records audited annually. Copies of each such audit shall be furnished to the governing
body of the locality and shall be open to public inspection.

Two copies of the report concerning issuance of bonds required to be filed with the United States Internal
Revenue Service shall be certified as true and correct copies by the secretary or assistant secretary of the
authority. One copy shall be furnished to the governing body of the locality and the other copy mailed to the
Department of Small Business and Supplier Diversity.

1966, c. 651, § 15.1-1377; 1979, c. 35; 1980, c. 304; 1982, c. 463; 1983, c. 514; 1984, c. 750; 1987, c. 368;
1990, c. 87; 1993, c. 896; 1996, cc. 589, 599; 1997, c. 587; 1999, cc. 337, 408, 414; 2000, c. 963; 2001, c.
121; 2003, cc. 347, 357; 2006, c. 687; 2007, cc. 283, 338; 2008, c. 619; 2009, cc. 199, 200, 460, 597; 2012,
cc. 337, 352; 2013, c. 482; 2014, cc. 381, 382; 2016, c. 414; 2017, cc. 541, 557, 560.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4905. Powers of authority.

The authority shall have the following powers together with all powers incidental thereto or necessary for the
performance of those hereinafter stated:

1. To sue and be sued and to prosecute and defend, at law or in equity, in any court having jurisdiction of the
subject matter and of the parties;

2. To adopt and use a corporate seal and to alter the same at pleasure;

3. To enter into contracts; however, any written contract of the authority shall contain provisions addressing
the issue of whether attorney's fees shall be recoverable by the prevailing party in the event the contract is
subject to litigation;

4. To acquire, whether by purchase, exchange, gift, lease or otherwise, and to improve, maintain, equip and
furnish one or more authority facilities including all real and personal properties which the board of directors
of the authority may deem necessary in connection therewith and regardless of whether any such facilities
shall then be in existence;

5. To lease to others any or all of its facilities and to charge and collect rent therefor and to terminate any such
lease upon the failure of the lessee to comply with any of the obligations thereof; and to include in any such
lease, if desired, a provision that the lessee thereof shall have options to renew such lease or to purchase any
or all of the leased facilities, or that upon payment of all of the indebtedness of the authority it may lease or
convey any or all of its facilities to the lessee thereof with or without consideration;

6. To sell, exchange, donate, and convey any or all of its facilities or properties whenever its board of
directors shall find any such action to be in furtherance of the purposes for which the authority was
organized;
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7. To issue its bonds for the purpose of carrying out any of its powers including specifically, but without
intending to limit any power conferred by this section or this chapter, the issuance of bonds to provide long-
term financing of any pollution control facility, whether any such facility was constructed prior to or after the
enactment hereof or the receipt of a commitment from an authority to undertake financing pursuant hereto,
unless the major part of the proceeds of such bonds will be used to redeem any prior long-term financing of
such facility other than financings pursuant to this chapter or any similar law;

8. As security for the payment of the principal of and interest on any bonds so issued and any agreements
made in connection therewith, to mortgage and pledge any or all of its facilities or any part or parts thereof,
whether then owned or thereafter acquired, and to pledge the revenues therefrom or from any part thereof or
from any loans made by the authority;

9. To employ and pay compensation to such employees and agents, including attorneys, and real estate
brokers whether engaged by the authority or otherwise, as the board of directors shall deem necessary in
carrying on the business of the authority;

10. To exercise all powers expressly given the authority by the governing body of the locality which
established the authority and to establish bylaws and make all rules and regulations, not inconsistent with the
provisions of this chapter, deemed expedient for the management of the authority's affairs;

11. To appoint an industrial advisory committee or similar committee or committees to advise the authority,
consisting of such number of persons as it may deem advisable. Such persons may be compensated such
amount per regular, special, or committee meeting as may be approved by the appointing authority, not to
exceed $50 per meeting day, and may be reimbursed for necessary traveling and other expenses incurred
while on the business of the authority;

12. To borrow money and to accept contributions, grants and other financial assistance from the United States
of America and agencies or instrumentalities thereof, the Commonwealth, or any political subdivision,
agency, or public instrumentality of the Commonwealth, for or in aid of the construction, acquisition,
ownership, maintenance or repair of the authority facilities, for the payment of principal of any bond of the
authority, interest thereon, or other cost incident thereto, or in order to make loans in furtherance of the
purposes of this chapter of such money, contributions, grants, and other financial assistance, and to this end
the authority shall have the power to comply with such conditions and to execute such agreements, trust
indentures, and other legal instruments as may be necessary, convenient or desirable and to agree to such
terms and conditions as may be imposed; and

13. To make loans or grants to any person, partnership, association, corporation, business, or governmental
entity in furtherance of the purposes of this chapter including for the purposes of promoting economic
development, provided that such loans or grants shall be made only from revenues of the authority which
have not been pledged or assigned for the payment of any of the authority's bonds, and to enter into such
contracts, instruments, and agreements as may be expedient to provide for such loans and any security
therefor. An authority may also be permitted to forgive loans or other obligations if it is deemed to further
economic development. The word "revenues" as used in this subdivision includes contributions, grants and
other financial assistance, as set out in subdivision 12.

The authority shall not have power to operate any facility as a business other than as lessor and shall not have
the power to operate any single or multi-family housing facilities. However, the authority shall have the
power to apply for, establish, operate and maintain a foreign-trade zone in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 14 (§ 62.1-159 et seq.) of Title 62.1. Any meeting held by the board of directors at which formal
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action is taken shall be open to the public.

If a locality has created an industrial development authority pursuant to this chapter or any other provision of
law, no other such authority, not created by such locality, shall finance facilities, except pollution control
facilities, within the boundaries of such locality, unless the governing body of such locality in which the
facilities are located or are proposed to be located, concurs with the inducement resolution adopted by the
authority, and shows such concurrence in a duly adopted resolution. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing
contained herein shall be deemed to invalidate or otherwise impair any existing financing by an authority or
the financing of any facilities for which application has been made to an authority prior to July 1, 1981.

1966, c. 651, § 15.1-1378; 1970, c. 598; 1972, c. 783; 1973, c. 528; 1981, c. 3; 1991, c. 6; 1993, c. 896; 1994,
c. 317; 1997, cc. 587, 758, 763; 1998, c. 728; 2005, c. 575.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4906. Public hearing and approval.

A. Whenever federal law requires public hearings and public approval as a prerequisite to obtaining federal
tax exemption for the interest paid on industrial development bonds, unless otherwise specified by federal
law or regulation, the public hearing shall be conducted by the authority and the procedure for the public
hearing and public approval shall be in accordance with this section.

B. For a public hearing by the authority, notice of the hearing shall be published once a week for two
successive weeks in a newspaper having general circulation in the locality in which the facility to be financed
is to be located of intention to provide financing for a named individual or business entity. The applicant shall
pay the cost of publication. The notice shall specify the time and place of hearing at which persons may
appear and present their views. The hearing shall be held not less than six days nor more than twenty-one
days after the second notice shall appear in such newspaper.

The notice shall contain: (i) the name and address of the authority; (ii) the name and address (principal place
of business, if any) of the party seeking financing; (iii) the maximum dollar amount of financing sought; and
(iv) the type of business and purpose and specific location, if known, of the facility to be financed.

If after the hearing has been held the authority approves the financing, a reasonably detailed summary of the
comments expressed at the hearing shall be conveyed promptly to the locality's governing body together with
the recommendation of the authority.

C. For public approval, the governing body of the locality on behalf of which the bonds of the authority are
issued shall within sixty calendar days from the public hearing held by the authority either approve or
disapprove financing of any facility recommended by the authority.

Action of the governing body shall be by a majority of a quorum set out in a resolution. Such vote shall be
recorded and disclose how each member voted.

In case of a joint authority the approval required by the governing body of the locality shall be that governing
body of the area where the facility will be located, if permitted by federal law or regulation.

The provisions of this section shall not apply to bonds, notes or other obligations issued pursuant to hearings
held and governmental approvals obtained prior to the effective date of this act in compliance with federal
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law or regulation.

1983, c. 514, § 15.1-1378.1; 1997, c. 587.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4907. Fiscal impact statement.

Every request for industrial development (facility) financing when submitted to the governing body of the
locality for approval shall be accompanied by a statement in the following form:

____________________
Date

________________________________________
(Name of Applicant)
________________________________________
(Facility)

1. Maximum amount of financing sought $_____
2. Estimated taxable value of the facility's real property to be constructed in
the locality

$_____

3. Estimated real property tax per year using present tax rates $_____
4. Estimated personal property tax per year using present tax rates $_____
5. Estimated merchants' capital tax per year using present tax rates $_____
6. a. Estimated dollar value per year of goods that will be purchased from
Virginia companies within the locality

$_____

b. Estimated dollar value per year of goods that will be purchased from non-
Virginia companies within the locality

$_____

c. Estimated dollar value per year of services that will be purchased from
Virginia companies within the locality

$_____

d. Estimated dollar value per year of services that will be purchased from
non-Virginia companies within the
locality

$_____

7. Estimated number of regular employees on year round basis $_____
8. Average annual salary per employee $_____

Signature

________________________________________
Authority Chairman
________________________________________
Name of Authority

If one or more of the above questions do not apply to the facility indicate by writing N/A (not applicable) on
the appropriate line.

The provisions of this section shall not apply to bonds, notes or other obligations issued pursuant to hearings
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held and governmental approvals obtained prior to the effective date of this act in compliance with federal
law or regulation.

1983, c. 514, § 15.1-1378.2; 1997, c. 587; 1998, c. 728.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4908. Issuance of bonds, notes and other obligations of authority.

A. Subject to the limitations of Chapter 50 (§ 15.2-5000 et seq.) of this title, the authority may issue bonds
from time to time in its discretion, for any of its purposes, including the payment of all or any part of the cost
of authority facilities and including the payment or retirement of bonds previously issued by it. All bonds
issued by the authority shall be payable solely from the revenues and receipts derived from the leasing or sale
by the authority of its facilities or any part thereof or from payments received by the authority in connection
with its loans, and the authority may issue such types of bonds as it may determine, including, without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, bonds payable, both as to principal and interest: (i) from its revenues
and receipts generally; (ii) exclusively from the revenues and receipts of a particular facility or loan; or (iii)
exclusively from the revenues and receipts of certain designated facilities or loans whether or not they are
financed in whole or in part from the proceeds of such bonds. Unless otherwise provided in the proceeding
authorizing the issuance of the bonds, or in the trust indenture securing the bonds, all bonds shall be payable
solely and exclusively from the revenues and receipts of a particular facility or loan. Bonds may be executed
and delivered by the authority at any time and from time to time, may be in such form and denominations and
of such terms and maturities, may be in registered or bearer form either as to principal or interest or both,
may be payable in such installments and at such time or times not exceeding 40 years from the date thereof,
may be payable at such place or places whether within or outside the Commonwealth, may bear interest at
such rate or rates, may be payable at such time or times, may be evidenced in such manner, and may contain
such provisions not inconsistent herewith, all as shall be determined by the board of directors. If deemed
advisable by the board of directors, there may be retained in the proceedings under which any bonds of the
authority are authorized to be issued an option to redeem all or any part thereof, at such price or prices and
after such notice or notices and on such terms and conditions as may be determined by the board of directors
and as may be briefly recited on the face of the bonds, but nothing herein contained shall be construed to
confer on the authority any right or option to redeem any bonds except as may be provided in the proceedings
under which they shall be issued. Any bonds of the authority may be sold at public or private sale in such
manner and from time to time as may be determined by the board of directors of the authority to be most
advantageous, and the authority may pay all costs, premiums and commissions which its board of directors
may deem necessary or advantageous in connection with the issuance thereof. Issuance by the authority of
one or more series of bonds for one or more purposes shall not preclude it from issuing other bonds in
connection with the same facility or any other facility, but the proceedings whereunder any subsequent bonds
may be issued shall recognize and protect any prior pledge or mortgage made for any prior issue of bonds.
Any bonds of the authority at any time outstanding may from time to time be refunded by the authority by the
issuance of its refunding bonds in such amount as the board of directors may deem necessary, but not
exceeding an amount sufficient to refund the principal of the bonds so to be refunded, together with any
unpaid interest thereon and any costs, premiums or commissions necessary to be paid in connection
therewith. Any such refunding may be effected whether the bonds to be refunded shall have then matured or
shall thereafter mature, either by sale of the refunding bonds and the application of the proceeds thereof to the
payment of the bonds to be refunded thereby, or by the exchange of the refunding bonds for the bonds to be
refunded thereby, with the consent of the holders of the bonds so to be refunded, and regardless of whether
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the bonds to be refunded were issued in connection with the same facilities or separate facilities, and
regardless of whether the bonds proposed to be refunded are payable on the same date or on different dates or
are due serially or otherwise. The determination of the form, denominations, maturities, redemption
provisions, places of payment, interest rate or rates, payment installations, dates and all other terms and
provisions of bonds as authorized in this section may be made by the board of directors in such manner as the
board may provide, including the determination by reference to indices and formulas or by agents designated
by the board of directors under guidelines established by it.

B. All bonds shall be signed by the chairman or vice-chairman of the authority or shall bear his facsimile
signature, and the corporate seal of the authority or a facsimile thereof shall be impressed or imprinted
thereon and attested by the signature of the secretary (or the secretary-treasurer) or the assistant secretary (or
assistant secretary-treasurer) of the authority or shall bear his facsimile signature, and any coupons attached
thereto shall bear the facsimile signature of the chairman. In case any officer whose signature or a facsimile
signature appears on any bonds or coupons ceases to be an officer before delivery of such bonds, such
signature or such facsimile shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all purposes the same as if he had
remained in office until such delivery. When the signatures of both the chairman or the vice-chairman and the
secretary (or the secretary-treasurer) or the assistant secretary (or the assistant secretary-treasurer) are
facsimiles, the bonds shall be authenticated by a corporate trustee or other authenticating agent approved by
the authority.

C. If the proceeds derived from a particular bond issue, due to error of estimates or otherwise, are less than
the cost of the authority facilities for which such bonds were issued, additional bonds may in like manner be
issued to provide the amount of such deficit and, unless otherwise provided in the proceedings authorizing
the issuance of the bonds of such issue or in the trust indenture securing the same, shall be deemed to be of
the same issue and shall be entitled to payment from the same fund without preference or priority of the
bonds of the first issue. If the proceeds of the bonds of any issue shall exceed such cost, the surplus may be
deposited to the credit of the sinking fund for such bonds or may be applied to the payment of the cost of any
additions, improvements or enlargements of the authority facilities for which such bonds shall have been
issued.

D. Prior to the preparation of definitive bonds, the authority may, under like restrictions, issue interim
receipts or temporary bonds with or without coupons, exchangeable for definitive bonds when such bonds
shall have been executed and are available for delivery. The authority may also provide for the replacement
of any bonds which are mutilated, destroyed or lost. Bonds may be issued under the provisions of this chapter
without obtaining the consent of any department, division, commission, board, bureau or agency of the
Commonwealth, and without any other proceedings or the happening of any other conditions or things other
than those proceedings, conditions or things which are specifically required by this chapter; however, nothing
contained in this chapter shall be construed as affecting the powers and duties now conferred by law upon the
State Corporation Commission.

E. All bonds issued under the provisions of this chapter shall have and are hereby declared to have all the
qualities and incidents of and shall be and are hereby made negotiable instruments under the Uniform
Commercial Code of Virginia (§ 8.1A-101 et seq.), subject only to provisions respecting registration of the
bonds.

F. In addition to all other powers granted to the authority by this chapter, the authority may issue, from time
to time, notes or other obligations of the authority for any of its authorized purposes. The provisions of this
chapter which relate to bonds or revenue bonds shall apply to such notes or other obligations insofar as such
provisions may be appropriate.
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1966, c. 651, § 15.1-1379; 1968, c. 687; 1983, c. 514; 1991, c. 6; 1997, c. 587; 2003, cc. 353, 683.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4909. Liability of Commonwealth, political subdivisions, directors and officers.

A. Bonds issued pursuant to this chapter shall not be deemed to constitute a debt or a pledge of the faith and
credit of the Commonwealth, or any political subdivision thereof, including the locality which created the
authority issuing such bonds, but such bonds shall be payable solely from the funds provided therefor as
herein authorized. All such bonds shall contain on the face thereof a statement to the effect that neither the
Commonwealth, nor any political subdivision thereof, nor the authority shall be obligated to pay the same or
the interest thereon or other costs incident thereto except from the revenues and moneys pledged therefor and
that neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the Commonwealth, or any political subdivision
thereof, is pledged to the payment of the principal of such bonds or the interest thereon or other costs incident
thereto.

B. Neither the directors of the authority nor any person executing the bonds shall be liable personally on the
bonds by reason of the issuance thereof.

C. All expenses incurred in carrying out the provisions of this chapter shall be payable solely from the funds
of the authority and no liability or obligation shall be incurred by the authority hereunder beyond the extent to
which moneys shall be available to the authority.

D. Bonds issued pursuant to the provisions of this chapter shall not constitute an indebtedness within the
meaning of any debt limitation or restriction.

1966, c. 651, § 15.1-1380; 1997, c. 587.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4910. Security for payment of bonds; default.

The principal of and interest on any bonds issued by the authority shall be secured by a pledge of the
revenues and receipts out of which the same shall be made payable, and may be secured by a trust indenture
covering all or any part of the authority facilities from which revenues or receipts so pledged may be derived,
including any enlargements of and additions to any such projects thereafter made. The resolution under which
the bonds are authorized to be issued and any such trust indenture may contain any agreements and
provisions respecting the maintenance of the projects covered thereby, the fixing and collection of rents for
any portions thereof leased by the authority to others, the creation and maintenance of special funds from
such revenues and the rights and remedies available in the event of default, all as the board of directors shall
deem advisable not in conflict with the provisions hereof. Each pledge, agreement and trust indenture made
for the benefit or security of any of the bonds of the authority shall continue effective until the principal of
and interest on such bonds have been fully paid. In the event of default in such payment or in any agreements
of the authority made as a part of the contract under which the bonds were issued, whether contained in the
proceedings authorizing the bonds or in any trust indenture executed as security therefor, such payment or
agreements may be enforced by writ of mandamus, or by a suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity to
compel the authority and the directors, officers, agents or employees thereof to perform the terms, provisions,
and covenants contained in any trust indenture of the authority, by the appointment of a receiver in equity or
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by foreclosure of any such trust indenture or any one or more of said remedies.

1966, c. 651, § 15.1-1381; 1997, c. 587.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4911. Rents, fees and other charges.

The authority shall fix and revise from time to time the rents, fees and other charges to be paid to it in
connection with the lease or sale of various authority facilities and for any other services furnished or
provided by the authority. Such rents, fees and charges shall provide at least sufficient funds to pay the cost of
maintaining, repairing and operating such projects and the principal and interest of any bonds issued by the
authority or other debts contracted as the bonds become due and payable. The authority and the political
subdivision in which all or any part of a particular authority facility is located may agree on payment by the
authority on account of governmental services to be rendered by the political subdivision in such amounts as
the authority may find to be consistent with the purposes of this chapter. A reserve may be accumulated and
maintained out of the revenues and receipts of the authority for extraordinary repairs and expenses and for
such other purposes as may be provided in any resolution authorizing a bond issue or in any trust indenture
securing the authority's bonds. Subject to such provisions and restrictions as may be set forth in the resolution
or in the trust indenture authorizing or securing any of the bonds or other obligations hereunder, the authority
shall have exclusive control of the revenues and receipts derived from the lease or sale of any authority
facility and the right to use the revenues and receipts in the exercise of its powers and duties set forth in this
chapter.

1966, c. 651, § 15.1-1382; 1968, c. 687; 1973, c. 528; 1997, c. 587.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4912. Exemption from taxation.

The authority is hereby declared to be performing a public function in behalf of the locality with respect to
which the authority is created and to be a public instrumentality of such locality. Accordingly, the income,
including any profit made on the sale thereof from all bonds issued by the authority, shall at all times be
exempt from all taxation by the Commonwealth or any political subdivision thereof.

1966, c. 651, § 15.1-1383; 1997, c. 587.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4913. Authority to be nonprofit; excess earnings.

The authority shall be nonprofit and no part of its net earnings remaining after payment of its expenses shall
enure to the benefit of any individual, firm or corporation, except that if the board of directors of the authority
determines that sufficient provision has been made for the full payment of the expenses, bonds and other
obligations of the authority then any net earnings of the authority thereafter accruing shall be paid to the
locality with respect to which the authority was created. However, nothing herein contained shall prevent the
board of directors from transferring all or any part of its facilities or properties in accordance with the terms
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of any contract entered into by the authority.

1966, c. 651, § 15.1-1384; 1973, c. 528; 1997, c. 587.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4914. Dissolution of authority; disposition of property.

Whenever the board of directors of the authority by resolution determines that the purposes for which the
authority was formed have been substantially complied with and all bonds theretofore issued and all
obligations theretofore incurred by the authority have been fully paid, the then members of the board of
directors of the authority shall thereupon execute and file for record with the governing body of the locality
which created the authority, a resolution declaring such facts. If the governing body of the locality which
created the authority is of the opinion that the facts stated in the authority's resolution are true and that the
authority should be dissolved, it shall so resolve and the authority shall stand dissolved. Upon such
dissolution, the title to all funds and properties owned by the authority at the time of such dissolution shall
vest in the locality creating the authority and possession of such funds and properties shall forthwith be
delivered to such locality.

1966, c. 651, § 15.1-1385; 1997, c. 587.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4915. Bonds as legal investments and lawful security.

The bonds issued pursuant to this chapter shall be and are hereby declared to be legal and authorized
investments for banks, savings banks, trust companies, building and loan associations, insurance companies,
fiduciaries, trustees, guardians and for all public funds of the Commonwealth or other political corporations
or subdivisions of the Commonwealth. Such bonds shall be eligible to secure the deposit of public funds of
the Commonwealth, localities, school districts or other political corporations or subdivisions of the
Commonwealth, and shall be security for such deposits to the extent of their value when accompanied by all
unmatured coupons appertaining thereto.

1966, c. 651, § 15.1-1386; 1997, c. 587.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4916. Authorities acting jointly.

The powers herein conferred upon authorities created under this chapter may be exercised by two or more
authorities acting jointly. Two or more localities may jointly create an authority, in which case each of the
directors of such authority shall be appointed by the governing body of the respective locality which the
director represents.

1966, c. 651, § 15.1-1387; 1982, c. 463; 1997, c. 587.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not

https://law.lis.virginia.gov/report/0pofC/

16 of 18 1/16/2018, 10:55 AM

January 25, 2018, Industrial Development Authority Board of Directors Organizational Meeting Packet Page 79 of 141



constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4917. Facility sites.

Any locality may acquire, pursuant to § 15.2-1800, but not by condemnation, a facility site and may likewise
transfer any facility site to an authority. Such transfer may be authorized by a resolution of the governing
body of the locality without submission of the question to the voters and without regard to the requirements,
restrictions, limitations or other provisions contained in any other general, special or local law. Such facility
sites may be located within or outside or partially within or outside the locality creating the authority. If a real
estate broker licensed under § 54.1-2100 represents a party in a transaction through which a facility site is
acquired, the locality may pay a reasonable brokerage fee to such real estate broker.

1966, c. 651, § 15.1-1388; 1997, c. 587; 1998, c. 728.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4918. Provisions of chapter cumulative; construction.

This chapter neither limits nor restricts any powers which the authority might otherwise have under any laws
of this Commonwealth. No proceedings, notice or approval shall be required for the organization of the
authority or the issuance of any bonds or any instrument as security therefor, except as herein provided.
However, nothing herein shall be construed to deprive the Commonwealth and its political subdivisions of
their respective police powers over properties of the authority or to impair any power thereover of any
official or agency of the Commonwealth and its political subdivisions which may be otherwise provided by
law. Nothing contained in this chapter shall be deemed to authorize the authority to occupy or use any land,
streets, buildings, structures or other property of any kind, owned or used by any political subdivision within
its jurisdiction, or any public improvement or facility maintained by such political subdivision for the use of
its inhabitants, without first obtaining the consent of the governing body thereof.

1966, c. 651, § 15.1-1389; 1997, c. 587.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4919. Provisions of chapter controlling over other statutes and charters.

Any provision of this chapter which is found to be in conflict with any other statute or charter shall be
controlling and shall supersede such other statute or charter to the extent of such conflict.

1966, c. 651, § 15.1-1390; 1997, c. 587; 2015, c. 709.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 15.2-4920. Validation of creation of authorities, appointment of directors and proceedings; curative
resolutions.

All proceedings heretofore taken with respect to the creation of authorities by any locality pursuant to this
chapter are hereby validated and confirmed and all such authorities are declared to be legally created. All
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incumbent directors of authorities are declared to be and are lawfully appointed directors of authorities,
notwithstanding any failure to conform to the requirements of this chapter, and all such appointments are
hereby ratified, validated and confirmed. However, all terms of incumbent directors shall conform to §
15.2-4904. The governing body of any locality is hereby authorized to adopt such corrective resolutions as
may be necessary to carry out the requirements of the immediately preceding sentence. All proceedings
heretofore taken to provide for or with respect to the authorization, issuance, sale, execution or delivery of
bonds by or on behalf of any authority are hereby validated, ratified, approved and confirmed, and any such
bonds so issued shall be valid, legal, binding and enforceable obligations of such authority.

1980, c. 304, § 15.1-1391; 1997, c. 587.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.
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Code of Virginia
Title 2.2. Administration of Government

§ 2.2-3700. Short title; policy.

A. This chapter may be cited as "The Virginia Freedom of Information Act."

B. By enacting this chapter, the General Assembly ensures the people of the Commonwealth ready access to
public records in the custody of a public body or its officers and employees, and free entry to meetings of
public bodies wherein the business of the people is being conducted. The affairs of government are not
intended to be conducted in an atmosphere of secrecy since at all times the public is to be the beneficiary of
any action taken at any level of government. Unless a public body or its officers or employees specifically
elect to exercise an exemption provided by this chapter or any other statute, every meeting shall be open to
the public and all public records shall be available for inspection and copying upon request. All public
records and meetings shall be presumed open, unless an exemption is properly invoked.

The provisions of this chapter shall be liberally construed to promote an increased awareness by all persons
of governmental activities and afford every opportunity to citizens to witness the operations of government.
Any exemption from public access to records or meetings shall be narrowly construed and no record shall be
withheld or meeting closed to the public unless specifically made exempt pursuant to this chapter or other
specific provision of law. This chapter shall not be construed to discourage the free discussion by government
officials or employees of public matters with the citizens of the Commonwealth.

All public bodies and their officers and employees shall make reasonable efforts to reach an agreement with a
requester concerning the production of the records requested.

Any ordinance adopted by a local governing body that conflicts with the provisions of this chapter shall be
void.

1968, c. 479, § 2.1-340; 1976, c. 467, § 2.1-340.1; 1989, c. 358; 1990, c. 538; 1999, cc. 703, 726; 2001, c.
844; 2002, c. 393.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3701. Definitions.

As used in this chapter, unless the context requires a different meaning:

"Closed meeting" means a meeting from which the public is excluded.

"Electronic communication" means any audio or combined audio and visual communication method.

"Emergency" means an unforeseen circumstance rendering the notice required by this chapter impossible or
impracticable and which circumstance requires immediate action.

"Information" as used in the exclusions established by §§ 2.2-3705.1 through 2.2-3705.7, means the content
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within a public record that references a specifically identified subject matter, and shall not be interpreted to
require the production of information that is not embodied in a public record.

"Meeting" or "meetings" means the meetings including work sessions, when sitting physically, or through
telephonic or video equipment pursuant to § 2.2-3708 or 2.2-3708.1, as a body or entity, or as an informal
assemblage of (i) as many as three members or (ii) a quorum, if less than three, of the constituent
membership, wherever held, with or without minutes being taken, whether or not votes are cast, of any public
body. Neither the gathering of employees of a public body nor the gathering or attendance of two or more
members of a public body (i) at any place or function where no part of the purpose of such gathering or
attendance is the discussion or transaction of any public business, and such gathering or attendance was not
called or prearranged with any purpose of discussing or transacting any business of the public body, or (ii) at
a public forum, candidate appearance, or debate, the purpose of which is to inform the electorate and not to
transact public business or to hold discussions relating to the transaction of public business, even though the
performance of the members individually or collectively in the conduct of public business may be a topic of
discussion or debate at such public meeting, shall be deemed a "meeting" subject to the provisions of this
chapter.

"Open meeting" or "public meeting" means a meeting at which the public may be present.

"Public body" means any legislative body, authority, board, bureau, commission, district or agency of the
Commonwealth or of any political subdivision of the Commonwealth, including cities, towns and counties,
municipal councils, governing bodies of counties, school boards and planning commissions; governing
boards of public institutions of higher education; and other organizations, corporations or agencies in the
Commonwealth supported wholly or principally by public funds. It shall include (i) the Virginia Birth-
Related Neurological Injury Compensation Program and its board of directors established pursuant to
Chapter 50 (§ 38.2-5000 et seq.) of Title 38.2 and (ii) any committee, subcommittee, or other entity however
designated, of the public body created to perform delegated functions of the public body or to advise the
public body. It shall not exclude any such committee, subcommittee or entity because it has private sector or
citizen members. Corporations organized by the Virginia Retirement System are "public bodies" for purposes
of this chapter.

For the purposes of the provisions of this chapter applicable to access to public records, constitutional
officers and private police departments as defined in § 9.1-101 shall be considered public bodies and, except
as otherwise expressly provided by law, shall have the same obligations to disclose public records as other
custodians of public records.

"Public records" means all writings and recordings that consist of letters, words or numbers, or their
equivalent, set down by handwriting, typewriting, printing, photostatting, photography, magnetic impulse,
optical or magneto-optical form, mechanical or electronic recording or other form of data compilation,
however stored, and regardless of physical form or characteristics, prepared or owned by, or in the possession
of a public body or its officers, employees or agents in the transaction of public business.

"Regional public body" means a unit of government organized as provided by law within defined boundaries,
as determined by the General Assembly, which unit includes two or more localities.

"Scholastic records" means those records containing information directly related to a student or an applicant
for admission and maintained by a public body that is an educational agency or institution or by a person
acting for such agency or institution.
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1968, c. 479, § 2.1-341; 1970, c. 456; 1974, c. 332; 1975, c. 307; 1977, c. 677; 1978, cc. 573, 826; 1979, cc.
369, 687; 1980, c. 754; 1984, c. 252; 1989, c. 358; 1990, c. 538; 1993, cc. 270, 720; 1994, cc. 845, 931; 1996,
c. 609; 1997, c. 641; 1999, cc. 703, 726; 2001, c. 844; 2002, c. 393; 2003, c. 897; 2007, c. 945; 2008, cc. 233,
789; 2010, c. 706; 2011, c. 242; 2015, cc. 131, 195, 224; 2016, cc. 620, 716; 2017, cc. 616, 778.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3702. Notice of chapter.

Any person elected, reelected, appointed or reappointed to any body not excepted from this chapter shall (i)
be furnished by the public body's administrator or legal counsel with a copy of this chapter within two weeks
following election, reelection, appointment or reappointment and (ii) read and become familiar with the
provisions of this chapter.

1976, c. 467, § 2.1-341.1; 1999, cc. 703, 726; 2001, c. 844; 2002, c. 393.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3703. Public bodies and records to which chapter inapplicable; voter registration and election
records; access by persons incarcerated in a state, local, or federal correctional facility.

A. The provisions of this chapter shall not apply to:

1. The Virginia Parole Board, except that (i) information from the Virginia Parole Board providing the
number of inmates considered by the Board for discretionary parole, the number of inmates granted or denied
parole, and the number of parolees returned to the custody of the Department of Corrections solely as a result
of a determination by the Board of a violation of parole shall be open to inspection and available for release,
on a monthly basis, as provided by § 2.2-3704; (ii) all guidance documents, as defined in § 2.2-4101, shall be
public records and subject to the provisions of this chapter; and (iii) all records concerning the finances of the
Virginia Parole Board shall be public records and subject to the provisions of this chapter. The information
required by clause (i) shall be furnished by offense, sex, race, age of the inmate, and the locality in which the
conviction was obtained, upon the request of the party seeking the information. The information required by
clause (ii) shall include all documents establishing the policy of the Board or any change in or clarification of
such policy with respect to grant, denial, deferral, revocation, or supervision of parole or geriatric release or
the process for consideration thereof, and shall be clearly and conspicuously posted on the Board's website.
However, such information shall not include any portion of any document reflecting the application of any
policy or policy change or clarification of such policy to an individual inmate;

2. Petit juries and grand juries;

3. Family assessment and planning teams established pursuant to § 2.2-5207;

4. The Virginia State Crime Commission; and

5. The records required by law to be maintained by the clerks of the courts of record, as defined in § 1-212,
and courts not of record, as defined in § 16.1-69.5. However, other records maintained by the clerks of such
courts shall be public records and subject to the provisions of this chapter.
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B. Public access to voter registration and election records shall be governed by the provisions of Title 24.2
and this chapter. The provisions of Title 24.2 shall be controlling in the event of any conflict.

C. No provision of this chapter or Chapter 21 (§ 30-178 et seq.) of Title 30 shall be construed to afford any
rights to any person (i) incarcerated in a state, local or federal correctional facility, whether or not such
facility is (a) located in the Commonwealth or (b) operated pursuant to the Corrections Private Management
Act (§ 53.1-261 et seq.) or (ii) civilly committed pursuant to the Sexually Violent Predators Act (§ 37.2-900
et seq.). However, this subsection shall not be construed to prevent such persons from exercising their
constitutionally protected rights, including, but not limited to, their right to call for evidence in their favor in
a criminal prosecution.

1999, cc. 703, 726, § 2.1-341.2; 2001, c. 844; 2003, cc. 989, 1018; 2004, cc. 398, 690; 2007, cc. 438, 548,
626; 2017, c. 620.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3703.1. Disclosure pursuant to court order or subpoena.

Nothing contained in this chapter shall have any bearing upon disclosures required to be made pursuant to
any court order or subpoena. No discretionary exemption from mandatory disclosure shall be construed to
make records covered by such discretionary exemption privileged under the rules of discovery, unless
disclosure is otherwise prohibited by law.

2014, c. 319.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3704. Public records to be open to inspection; procedure for requesting records and responding to
request; charges; transfer of records for storage, etc.

A. Except as otherwise specifically provided by law, all public records shall be open to citizens of the
Commonwealth, representatives of newspapers and magazines with circulation in the Commonwealth, and
representatives of radio and television stations broadcasting in or into the Commonwealth during the regular
office hours of the custodian of such records. Access to such records shall be provided by the custodian in
accordance with this chapter by inspection or by providing copies of the requested records, at the option of
the requester. The custodian may require the requester to provide his name and legal address. The custodian
of such records shall take all necessary precautions for their preservation and safekeeping.

B. A request for public records shall identify the requested records with reasonable specificity. The request
need not make reference to this chapter in order to invoke the provisions of this chapter or to impose the time
limits for response by a public body. Any public body that is subject to this chapter and that is the custodian
of the requested records shall promptly, but in all cases within five working days of receiving a request,
provide the requested records to the requester or make one of the following responses in writing:

1. The requested records are being entirely withheld. Such response shall identify with reasonable
particularity the volume and subject matter of withheld records, and cite, as to each category of withheld
records, the specific Code section that authorizes the withholding of the records.
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2. The requested records are being provided in part and are being withheld in part. Such response shall
identify with reasonable particularity the subject matter of withheld portions, and cite, as to each category of
withheld records, the specific Code section that authorizes the withholding of the records.

3. The requested records could not be found or do not exist. However, if the public body that received the
request knows that another public body has the requested records, the response shall include contact
information for the other public body.

4. It is not practically possible to provide the requested records or to determine whether they are available
within the five-work-day period. Such response shall specify the conditions that make a response impossible.
If the response is made within five working days, the public body shall have an additional seven work days in
which to provide one of the four preceding responses.

C. Any public body may petition the appropriate court for additional time to respond to a request for records
when the request is for an extraordinary volume of records or requires an extraordinarily lengthy search, and
a response by the public body within the time required by this chapter will prevent the public body from
meeting its operational responsibilities. Before proceeding with the petition, however, the public body shall
make reasonable efforts to reach an agreement with the requester concerning the production of the records
requested.

D. Subject to the provisions of subsection G, no public body shall be required to create a new record if the
record does not already exist. However, a public body may abstract or summarize information under such
terms and conditions as agreed between the requester and the public body.

E. Failure to respond to a request for records shall be deemed a denial of the request and shall constitute a
violation of this chapter.

F. A public body may make reasonable charges not to exceed its actual cost incurred in accessing,
duplicating, supplying, or searching for the requested records. No public body shall impose any extraneous,
intermediary, or surplus fees or expenses to recoup the general costs associated with creating or maintaining
records or transacting the general business of the public body. Any duplicating fee charged by a public body
shall not exceed the actual cost of duplication. The public body may also make a reasonable charge for the
cost incurred in supplying records produced from a geographic information system at the request of anyone
other than the owner of the land that is the subject of the request. However, such charges shall not exceed the
actual cost to the public body in supplying such records, except that the public body may charge, on a pro rata
per acre basis, for the cost of creating topographical maps developed by the public body, for such maps or
portions thereof, which encompass a contiguous area greater than 50 acres. All charges for the supplying of
requested records shall be estimated in advance at the request of the citizen.

G. Public records maintained by a public body in an electronic data processing system, computer database, or
any other structured collection of data shall be made available to a requester at a reasonable cost, not to
exceed the actual cost in accordance with subsection F. When electronic or other databases are combined or
contain exempt and nonexempt records, the public body may provide access to the exempt records if not
otherwise prohibited by law, but shall provide access to the nonexempt records as provided by this chapter.

Public bodies shall produce nonexempt records maintained in an electronic database in any tangible medium
identified by the requester, including, where the public body has the capability, the option of posting the
records on a website or delivering the records through an electronic mail address provided by the requester, if
that medium is used by the public body in the regular course of business. No public body shall be required to
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produce records from an electronic database in a format not regularly used by the public body. However, the
public body shall make reasonable efforts to provide records in any format under such terms and conditions
as agreed between the requester and public body, including the payment of reasonable costs. The excision of
exempt fields of information from a database or the conversion of data from one available format to another
shall not be deemed the creation, preparation, or compilation of a new public record.

H. In any case where a public body determines in advance that charges for producing the requested records
are likely to exceed $200, the public body may, before continuing to process the request, require the requester
to agree to payment of a deposit not to exceed the amount of the advance determination. The deposit shall be
credited toward the final cost of supplying the requested records. The period within which the public body
shall respond under this section shall be tolled for the amount of time that elapses between notice of the
advance determination and the response of the requester.

I. Before processing a request for records, a public body may require the requester to pay any amounts owed
to the public body for previous requests for records that remain unpaid 30 days or more after billing.

J. In the event a public body has transferred possession of public records to any entity, including but not
limited to any other public body, for storage, maintenance, or archiving, the public body initiating the transfer
of such records shall remain the custodian of such records for purposes of responding to requests for public
records made pursuant to this chapter and shall be responsible for retrieving and supplying such public
records to the requester. In the event a public body has transferred public records for storage, maintenance, or
archiving and such transferring public body is no longer in existence, any public body that is a successor to
the transferring public body shall be deemed the custodian of such records. In the event no successor entity
exists, the entity in possession of the public records shall be deemed the custodian of the records for purposes
of compliance with this chapter, and shall retrieve and supply such records to the requester. Nothing in this
subsection shall be construed to apply to records transferred to the Library of Virginia for permanent
archiving pursuant to the duties imposed by the Virginia Public Records Act (§ 42.1-76 et seq.). In
accordance with § 42.1-79, the Library of Virginia shall be the custodian of such permanently archived
records and shall be responsible for responding to requests for such records made pursuant to this chapter.

1968, c. 479, § 2.1-342; 1973, c. 461; 1974, c. 332; 1975, cc. 307, 312; 1976, cc. 640, 709; 1977, c. 677;
1978, c. 810; 1979, cc. 682, 684, 686, 689; 1980, cc. 678, 754; 1981, cc. 456, 464, 466, 589; 1982, cc. 225,
449, 452, 560, 635; 1983, cc. 372, 462, 607; 1984, cc. 85, 395, 433, 513, 532; 1985, cc. 81, 155, 502, 618;
1986, cc. 273, 291, 383, 469, 592; 1987, cc. 401, 491, 581; 1988, cc. 39, 151, 395, 411, 891, 902; 1989, cc.
56, 358, 478; 1990, cc. 217, 538, 721, 819, 968; 1991, cc. 213, 561; 1992, cc. 40, 150, 167, 200, 203, 207,
593, 612; 1993, cc. 205, 270, 296, 537, 552, 638, 750, 883; 1994, cc. 485, 532, 606, 839, 853, 918; 1995, cc.
299, 362, 499, 562, 638, 722, 812, 837; 1996, cc. 168, 469, 589, 599, 783, 786, 794, 855, 862, 902, 905,
1001, 1046; 1997, cc. 198, 295, 439, 567, 636, 641, 777, 782, 785, 838, 861; 1998, cc. 427, 891; 1999, cc.
438, 703, 726; 2001, c. 844; 2002, cc. 715, 830; 2003, cc. 275, 981, 1021; 2007, c. 439; 2009, c. 626; 2010, c.
627; 2011, c. 604; 2016, cc. 620, 716; 2017, c. 778.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3704.01. Records containing both excluded and nonexcluded information; duty to redact.

No provision of this chapter is intended, nor shall it be construed or applied, to authorize a public body to
withhold a public record in its entirety on the grounds that some portion of the public record is excluded from
disclosure by this chapter or by any other provision of law. A public record may be withheld from disclosure
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in its entirety only to the extent that an exclusion from disclosure under this chapter or other provision of law
applies to the entire content of the public record. Otherwise, only those portions of the public record
containing information subject to an exclusion under this chapter or other provision of law may be withheld,
and all portions of the public record that are not so excluded shall be disclosed.

2016, cc. 620, 716.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3704.1. Posting of notice of rights and responsibilities by state and local public bodies; assistance
by the Freedom of Information Advisory Council.

A. All state public bodies subject to the provisions of this chapter, any county or city, any town with a
population of more than 250, and any school board shall make available the following information to the
public upon request and shall post a link to such information on the homepage of their respective official
public government websites:

1. A plain English explanation of the rights of a requester under this chapter, the procedures to obtain public
records from the public body, and the responsibilities of the public body in complying with this chapter. For
purposes of this section, "plain English" means written in nontechnical, readily understandable language
using words of common everyday usage and avoiding legal terms and phrases or other terms and words of art
whose usage or special meaning primarily is limited to a particular field or profession;

2. Contact information for the FOIA officer designated by the public body pursuant to § 2.2-3704.2 to (i)
assist a requester in making a request for records or (ii) respond to requests for public records;

3. A general description, summary, list, or index of the types of public records maintained by such public
body;

4. A general description, summary, list, or index of any exemptions in law that permit or require such public
records to be withheld from release;

5. Any policy the public body has concerning the type of public records it routinely withholds from release as
permitted by this chapter or other law; and

6. The following statement: "A public body may make reasonable charges not to exceed its actual cost
incurred in accessing, duplicating, supplying, or searching for the requested records. No public body shall
impose any extraneous, intermediary, or surplus fees or expenses to recoup the general costs associated with
creating or maintaining records or transacting the general business of the public body. Any duplicating fee
charged by a public body shall not exceed the actual cost of duplication. All charges for the supplying of
requested records shall be estimated in advance at the request of the citizen as set forth in subsection F of §
2.2-3704 of the Code of Virginia."

B. Any state public body subject to the provisions of this chapter and any county or city, and any town with a
population of more than 250, shall post a link on its official public government website to the online public
comment form on the Freedom of Information Advisory Council's website to enable any requester to
comment on the quality of assistance provided to the requester by the public body.

C. The Freedom of Information Advisory Council, created pursuant to § 30-178, shall assist in the
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development and implementation of the provisions of subsection A, upon request.

2004, c. 730; 2009, c. 626; 2014, c. 421; 2016, c. 748; 2017, cc. 645, 778.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3704.2. Public bodies to designate FOIA officer.

A. All state public bodies, including state authorities, that are subject to the provisions of this chapter and all
local public bodies that are subject to the provisions of this chapter, shall designate and publicly identify one
or more Freedom of Information Act officers (FOIA officer) whose responsibility is to serve as a point of
contact for members of the public in requesting public records and to coordinate the public body's
compliance with the provisions of this chapter.

B. For such state public bodies, the name and contact information of the public body's FOIA officer to whom
members of the public may direct requests for public records and who will oversee the public body's
compliance with the provisions of this chapter shall be made available to the public upon request and be
posted on the respective public body's official public government website at the time of designation and
maintained thereafter on such website for the duration of the designation.

C. For such local public bodies, the name and contact information of the public body's FOIA officer to whom
members of the public may direct requests for public records and who will oversee the public body's
compliance with the provisions of this chapter shall be made available in a way reasonably calculated to
provide notice to the public, including posting at the public body's place of business, posting on its official
public government website, or including such information in its publications.

D. For the purposes of this section, local public bodies shall include constitutional officers.

E. Any such FOIA officer shall possess specific knowledge of the provisions of this chapter and be trained at
least annually by legal counsel for the public body or the Virginia Freedom of Information Advisory Council
(the Council) or through an online course offered by the Council. Any such training shall document that the
training required by this subsection has been fulfilled.

F. The name and contact information of a FOIA officer trained by legal counsel of a public body shall be (i)
submitted to the Council by July 1 of each year on a form developed by the Council for that purpose and (ii)
updated in a timely manner in the event of any changes to such information.

G. The Council shall maintain on its website a listing of all FOIA officers, including name, contact
information, and the name of the public body such FOIA officers serve.

2016, c. 748; 2017, cc. 290, 778.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3705. Repealed.

Repealed by Acts 2004, c. 690.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
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constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3705.1. Exclusions to application of chapter; exclusions of general application to public bodies.

The following information contained in a public record is excluded from the mandatory disclosure provisions
of this chapter but may be disclosed by the custodian in his discretion, except where such disclosure is
prohibited by law. Redaction of information excluded under this section from a public record shall be
conducted in accordance with § 2.2-3704.01.

1. Personnel information concerning identifiable individuals, except that access shall not be denied to the
person who is the subject thereof. Any person who is the subject of such information and who is 18 years of
age or older may waive, in writing, the protections afforded by this subdivision. If the protections are so
waived, such information shall be disclosed. Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed to authorize the
withholding of any resumes or applications submitted by persons who are appointed by the Governor
pursuant to § 2.2-106 or 2.2-107.

No provision of this chapter or any provision of Chapter 38 (§ 2.2-3800 et seq.) shall be construed as denying
public access to (i) contracts between a public body and its officers or employees, other than contracts
settling public employee employment disputes held confidential as personnel records under § 2.2-3705.1; (ii)
records of the name, position, job classification, official salary, or rate of pay of, and records of the
allowances or reimbursements for expenses paid to, any officer, official, or employee of a public body; or (iii)
the compensation or benefits paid by any corporation organized by the Virginia Retirement System or its
officers or employees. The provisions of this subdivision, however, shall not require public access to records
of the official salaries or rates of pay of public employees whose annual rate of pay is $10,000 or less.

2. Written advice of legal counsel to state, regional or local public bodies or the officers or employees of such
public bodies, and any other information protected by the attorney-client privilege.

3. Legal memoranda and other work product compiled specifically for use in litigation or for use in an active
administrative investigation concerning a matter that is properly the subject of a closed meeting under §
2.2-3711.

4. Any test or examination used, administered or prepared by any public body for purposes of evaluation of
(i) any student or any student's performance, (ii) any employee or employment seeker's qualifications or
aptitude for employment, retention, or promotion, or (iii) qualifications for any license or certificate issued by
a public body.

As used in this subdivision, "test or examination" shall include (a) any scoring key for any such test or
examination and (b) any other document that would jeopardize the security of the test or examination.
Nothing contained in this subdivision shall prohibit the release of test scores or results as provided by law, or
limit access to individual records as provided by law. However, the subject of such employment tests shall be
entitled to review and inspect all records relative to his performance on such employment tests.

When, in the reasonable opinion of such public body, any such test or examination no longer has any
potential for future use, and the security of future tests or examinations will not be jeopardized, the test or
examination shall be made available to the public. However, minimum competency tests administered to
public school children shall be made available to the public contemporaneously with statewide release of the
scores of those taking such tests, but in no event shall such tests be made available to the public later than six
months after the administration of such tests.
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5. Records recorded in or compiled exclusively for use in closed meetings lawfully held pursuant to §
2.2-3711. However, no record that is otherwise open to inspection under this chapter shall be deemed exempt
by virtue of the fact that it has been reviewed or discussed in a closed meeting.

6. Vendor proprietary information software that may be in the public records of a public body. For the
purpose of this subdivision, "vendor proprietary information software" means computer programs acquired
from a vendor for purposes of processing data for agencies or political subdivisions of the Commonwealth.

7. Computer software developed by or for a state agency, public institution of higher education in the
Commonwealth, or political subdivision of the Commonwealth.

8. Appraisals and cost estimates of real property subject to a proposed purchase, sale, or lease, prior to the
completion of such purchase, sale, or lease.

9. Information concerning reserves established in specific claims administered by the Department of the
Treasury through its Division of Risk Management as provided in Article 5 (§ 2.2-1832 et seq.) of Chapter
18, or by any county, city, or town; and investigative notes, correspondence and information furnished in
confidence with respect to an investigation of a claim or a potential claim against a public body's insurance
policy or self-insurance plan. However, nothing in this subdivision shall prevent the disclosure of information
taken from inactive reports upon expiration of the period of limitations for the filing of a civil suit.

10. Personal contact information furnished to a public body for the purpose of receiving electronic mail from
the public body, provided that the electronic mail recipient has requested that the public body not disclose
such information. However, access shall not be denied to the person who is the subject of the record. As used
in this subdivision, "personal contact information" means the information provided to the public body for the
purpose of receiving electronic mail from the public body and includes home or business (i) address, (ii)
email address, or (iii) telephone number or comparable number assigned to any other electronic
communication device.

11. Communications and materials required to be kept confidential pursuant to § 2.2-4119 of the Virginia
Administrative Dispute Resolution Act (§ 2.2-4115 et seq.).

12. Information relating to the negotiation and award of a specific contract where competition or bargaining
is involved and where the release of such information would adversely affect the bargaining position or
negotiating strategy of the public body. Such information shall not be withheld after the public body has
made a decision to award or not to award the contract. In the case of procurement transactions conducted
pursuant to the Virginia Public Procurement Act (§ 2.2-4300 et seq.), the provisions of this subdivision shall
not apply, and any release of information relating to such transactions shall be governed by the Virginia
Public Procurement Act.

13. Account numbers or routing information for any credit card, debit card, or other account with a financial
institution of any person or public body. However, access shall not be denied to the person who is the subject
of the information. For the purposes of this subdivision, "financial institution" means any organization
authorized to do business under state or federal laws relating to financial institutions, including, without
limitation, banks and trust companies, savings banks, savings and loan companies or associations, and credit
unions.

1999, cc. 485, 518, 703, 726, 793, 849, 852, 867, 868, 881, § 2.1-342.01; 2000, cc. 66, 237, 382, 400, 430,
583, 589, 592, 594, 618, 632, 657, 720, 932, 933, 947, 1006, 1064; 2001, cc. 288, 518, 844, § 2.2-3705;
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2002, cc. 87, 155, 242, 393, 478, 481, 499, 522, 571, 572, 633, 655, 715, 798, 830; 2003, cc. 274, 307, 327,
332, 358, 704, 801, 884, 891, 893, 897, 968; 2004, c. 690; 2010, c. 553; 2016, cc. 620, 716, 729; 2017, cc.
140, 778.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3705.2. Exclusions to application of chapter; records relating to public safety.

The following information contained in a public record is excluded from the mandatory disclosure provisions
of this chapter but may be disclosed by the custodian in his discretion, except where such disclosure is
prohibited by law. Redaction of information excluded under this section from a public record shall be
conducted in accordance with § 2.2-3704.01.

1. Confidential information, including victim identity, provided to or obtained by staff in a rape crisis center
or a program for battered spouses.

2. Information that describes the design, function, operation, or access control features of any security
system, whether manual or automated, which is used to control access to or use of any automated data
processing or telecommunications system.

3. Information that would disclose the security aspects of a system safety program plan adopted pursuant to
49 C.F.R. Part 659 by the Commonwealth's designated Rail Fixed Guideway Systems Safety Oversight
agency; and information in the possession of such agency, the release of which would jeopardize the success
of an ongoing investigation of a rail accident or other incident threatening railway safety.

4. Information concerning security plans and specific assessment components of school safety audits, as
provided in § 22.1-279.8.

Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed to prevent the disclosure of information relating to the
effectiveness of security plans after (i) any school building or property has been subjected to fire, explosion,
natural disaster, or other catastrophic event or (ii) any person on school property has suffered or been
threatened with any personal injury.

5. Information concerning the mental health assessment of an individual subject to commitment as a sexually
violent predator under Chapter 9 (§ 37.2-900 et seq.) of Title 37.2 held by the Commitment Review
Committee; except that in no case shall information identifying the victims of a sexually violent predator be
disclosed.

6. Subscriber data provided directly or indirectly by a communications services provider to a public body that
operates a 911 or E-911 emergency dispatch system or an emergency notification or reverse 911 system if the
data is in a form not made available by the communications services provider to the public generally. Nothing
in this subdivision shall prevent the disclosure of subscriber data generated in connection with specific calls
to a 911 emergency system, where the requester is seeking to obtain public records about the use of the
system in response to a specific crime, emergency or other event as to which a citizen has initiated a 911 call.

For the purposes of this subdivision:

"Communications services provider" means the same as that term is defined in § 58.1-647.
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"Subscriber data" means the name, address, telephone number, and any other information identifying a
subscriber of a communications services provider.

7. Subscriber data collected by a local governing body in accordance with the Enhanced Public Safety
Telephone Services Act (§ 56-484.12 et seq.) and other identifying information of a personal, medical, or
financial nature provided to a local governing body in connection with a 911 or E-911 emergency dispatch
system or an emergency notification or reverse 911 system if such records are not otherwise publicly
available.

Nothing in this subdivision shall prevent the disclosure of subscriber data generated in connection with
specific calls to a 911 emergency system, where the requester is seeking to obtain public records about the
use of the system in response to a specific crime, emergency or other event as to which a citizen has initiated
a 911 call.

For the purposes of this subdivision:

"Communications services provider" means the same as that term is defined in § 58.1-647.

"Subscriber data" means the name, address, telephone number, and any other information identifying a
subscriber of a communications services provider.

8. Information held by the Virginia Military Advisory Council or any commission created by executive order
for the purpose of studying and making recommendations regarding preventing closure or realignment of
federal military and national security installations and facilities located in Virginia and relocation of such
facilities to Virginia, or a local or regional military affairs organization appointed by a local governing body,
that would (i) reveal strategies under consideration or development by the Council or such commission or
organizations to prevent the closure or realignment of federal military installations located in Virginia or the
relocation of national security facilities located in Virginia, to limit the adverse economic effect of such
realignment, closure, or relocation, or to seek additional tenant activity growth from the Department of
Defense or federal government or (ii) disclose trade secrets, as defined in the Uniform Trade Secrets Act (§
59.1-336 et seq.), provided to the Council or such commission or organizations in connection with their work.

In order to invoke the trade secret protection provided by clause (ii), the submitting entity shall, in writing
and at the time of submission (a) invoke this exclusion, (b) identify with specificity the information for which
such protection is sought, and (c) state the reason why such protection is necessary. Nothing in this
subdivision shall be construed to prevent the disclosure of all or part of any record, other than a trade secret
that has been specifically identified as required by this subdivision, after the Department of Defense or
federal agency has issued a final, unappealable decision, or in the event of litigation, a court of competent
jurisdiction has entered a final, unappealable order concerning the closure, realignment, or expansion of the
military installation or tenant activities, or the relocation of the national security facility, for which records
are sought.

9. Information, as determined by the State Comptroller, that describes the design, function, operation, or
implementation of internal controls over the Commonwealth's financial processes and systems, and the
assessment of risks and vulnerabilities of those controls, including the annual assessment of internal controls
mandated by the State Comptroller, if disclosure of such information would jeopardize the security of the
Commonwealth's financial assets. However, records relating to the investigation of and findings concerning
the soundness of any fiscal process shall be disclosed in a form that does not compromise internal controls.
Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed to prohibit the Auditor of Public Accounts or the Joint
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Legislative Audit and Review Commission from reporting internal control deficiencies discovered during the
course of an audit.

10. Information relating to the Statewide Agencies Radio System (STARS) or any other similar local or
regional public safety communications system that (i) describes the design, function, programming,
operation, or access control features of the overall system, components, structures, individual networks, and
subsystems of the STARS or any other similar local or regional communications system or (ii) relates to radio
frequencies assigned to or utilized by STARS or any other similar local or regional communications system,
code plugs, circuit routing, addressing schemes, talk groups, fleet maps, encryption, or programming
maintained by or utilized by STARS or any other similar local or regional public safety communications
system.

11. Information concerning a salaried or volunteer Fire/EMS company or Fire/EMS department if disclosure
of such information would reveal the telephone numbers for cellular telephones, pagers, or comparable
portable communication devices provided to its personnel for use in the performance of their official duties.

12. Information concerning the disaster recovery plans or the evacuation plans in the event of fire, explosion,
natural disaster, or other catastrophic event for hospitals and nursing homes regulated by the Board of Health
pursuant to Chapter 5 (§ 32.1-123 et seq.) of Title 32.1 provided to the Department of Health. Nothing in this
subdivision shall be construed to prevent the disclosure of information relating to the effectiveness of
executed evacuation plans after the occurrence of fire, explosion, natural disaster, or other catastrophic event.

13. Records received by the Department of Criminal Justice Services pursuant to §§ 9.1-184, 22.1-79.4, and
22.1-279.8 or for purposes of evaluating threat assessment teams established by a public institution of higher
education pursuant to § 23.1-805 or by a private nonprofit institution of higher education, to the extent such
records reveal security plans, walk-through checklists, or vulnerability and threat assessment components.

14. Information contained in (i) engineering, architectural, or construction drawings; (ii) operational,
procedural, tactical planning, or training manuals; (iii) staff meeting minutes; or (iv) other records that reveal
any of the following, the disclosure of which would jeopardize the safety or security of any person;
governmental facility, building, or structure or persons using such facility, building, or structure; or public or
private commercial office, multifamily residential, or retail building or its occupants:

a. Critical infrastructure information or the location or operation of security equipment and systems of any
public building, structure, or information storage facility, including ventilation systems, fire protection
equipment, mandatory building emergency equipment or systems, elevators, electrical systems,
telecommunications equipment and systems, or utility equipment and systems;

b. Vulnerability assessments, information not lawfully available to the public regarding specific cybersecurity
threats or vulnerabilities, or security plans and measures of an entity, facility, building structure, information
technology system, or software program;

c. Surveillance techniques, personnel deployments, alarm or security systems or technologies, or operational
or transportation plans or protocols; or

d. Interconnectivity, network monitoring, network operation centers, master sites, or systems related to the
Statewide Agencies Radio System (STARS) or any other similar local or regional public safety
communications system.

The same categories of records of any person or entity submitted to a public body for the purpose of
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antiterrorism response planning or cybersecurity planning or protection may be withheld from disclosure if
such person or entity in writing (a) invokes the protections of this subdivision, (b) identifies with specificity
the records or portions thereof for which protection is sought, and (c) states with reasonable particularity why
the protection of such records from public disclosure is necessary to meet the objective of antiterrorism,
cybersecurity planning or protection, or critical infrastructure information security and resilience. Such
statement shall be a public record and shall be disclosed upon request.

Any public body receiving a request for records excluded under clauses (a) and (b) of this subdivision 14
shall notify the Secretary of Public Safety and Homeland Security or his designee of such request and the
response made by the public body in accordance with § 2.2-3704.

Nothing in this subdivision 14 shall prevent the disclosure of records relating to (1) the structural or
environmental soundness of any such facility, building, or structure or (2) an inquiry into the performance of
such facility, building, or structure after it has been subjected to fire, explosion, natural disaster, or other
catastrophic event.

As used in this subdivision, "critical infrastructure information" means the same as that term is defined in 6
U.S.C. § 131.

1999, cc. 485, 518, 703, 726, 793, 849, 852, 867, 868, 881, § 2.1-342.01; 2000, cc. 66, 237, 382, 400, 430,
583, 589, 592, 594, 618, 632, 657, 720, 932, 933, 947, 1006, 1064; 2001, cc. 288, 518, 844, § 2.2-3705;
2002, cc. 87, 155, 242, 393, 478, 481, 499, 522, 571, 572, 633, 655, 715, 798, 830; 2003, cc. 274, 307, 327,
332, 358, 704, 801, 884, 891, 893, 897, 968; 2004, cc. 398, 482, 690, 770; 2005, c. 410; 2008, c. 721; 2009,
c. 418; 2010, c. 672; 2011, cc. 111, 536; 2012, cc. 617, 803, 835; 2013, c. 600; 2015, c. 183; 2016, cc. 554,
620, 716, 717; 2017, c. 778.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3705.3. Exclusions to application of chapter; records relating to administrative investigations.

The following information contained in a public record is excluded from the mandatory disclosure provisions
of this chapter but may be disclosed by the custodian in his discretion, except where such disclosure is
prohibited by law. Redaction of information excluded under this section from a public record shall be
conducted in accordance with § 2.2-3704.01.

1. (Effective until January 15, 2018) Information relating to investigations of applicants for licenses and
permits, and of all licensees and permittees, made by or submitted to the Alcoholic Beverage Control Board,
the Virginia Lottery, the Virginia Racing Commission, the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services
relating to investigations and applications pursuant to Article 1.1:1 (§ 18.2-340.15 et seq.) of Chapter 8 of
Title 18.2, or the Private Security Services Unit of the Department of Criminal Justice Services.

1. (Effective January 15, 2018) Information relating to investigations of applicants for licenses and permits,
and of all licensees and permittees, made by or submitted to the Virginia Alcoholic Beverage Control
Authority, the Virginia Lottery, the Virginia Racing Commission, the Department of Agriculture and
Consumer Services relating to investigations and applications pursuant to Article 1.1:1 (§ 18.2-340.15 et
seq.) of Chapter 8 of Title 18.2, or the Private Security Services Unit of the Department of Criminal Justice
Services.

2. Records of active investigations being conducted by the Department of Health Professions or by any health
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regulatory board in the Commonwealth pursuant to § 54.1-108.

3. Investigator notes, and other correspondence and information, furnished in confidence with respect to an
active investigation of individual employment discrimination complaints made to the Department of Human
Resource Management, to such personnel of any local public body, including local school boards, as are
responsible for conducting such investigations in confidence, or to any public institution of higher education.
However, nothing in this subdivision shall prevent the disclosure of information taken from inactive reports
in a form that does not reveal the identity of charging parties, persons supplying the information, or other
individuals involved in the investigation.

4. Records of active investigations being conducted by the Department of Medical Assistance Services
pursuant to Chapter 10 (§ 32.1-323 et seq.) of Title 32.1.

5. Investigative notes and other correspondence and information furnished in confidence with respect to an
investigation or conciliation process involving an alleged unlawful discriminatory practice under the Virginia
Human Rights Act (§ 2.2-3900 et seq.) or under any local ordinance adopted in accordance with the authority
specified in § 2.2-524, or adopted pursuant to § 15.2-965, or adopted prior to July 1, 1987, in accordance with
applicable law, relating to local human rights or human relations commissions. However, nothing in this
subdivision shall prevent the distribution of information taken from inactive reports in a form that does not
reveal the identity of the parties involved or other persons supplying information.

6. Information relating to studies and investigations by the Virginia Lottery of (i) lottery agents, (ii) lottery
vendors, (iii) lottery crimes under §§ 58.1-4014 through 58.1-4018, (iv) defects in the law or regulations that
cause abuses in the administration and operation of the lottery and any evasions of such provisions, or (v) the
use of the lottery as a subterfuge for organized crime and illegal gambling where such information has not
been publicly released, published or copyrighted. All studies and investigations referred to under clauses (iii),
(iv), and (v) shall be open to inspection and copying upon completion of the study or investigation.

7. Investigative notes, correspondence and information furnished in confidence, and records otherwise
exempted by this chapter or any Virginia statute, provided to or produced by or for (i) the Auditor of Public
Accounts; (ii) the Joint Legislative Audit and Review Commission; (iii) an appropriate authority as defined in
§ 2.2-3010 with respect to an allegation of wrongdoing or abuse under the Fraud and Abuse Whistle Blower
Protection Act (§ 2.2-3009 et seq.); (iv) the Office of the State Inspector General with respect to an
investigation initiated through the Fraud, Waste and Abuse Hotline or an investigation initiated pursuant to
Chapter 3.2 (§ 2.2-307 et seq.); (v) internal auditors appointed by the head of a state agency or by any public
institution of higher education; (vi) the committee or the auditor with respect to an investigation or audit
conducted pursuant to § 15.2-825; or (vii) the auditors, appointed by the local governing body of any county,
city, or town or a school board, who by charter, ordinance, or statute have responsibility for conducting an
investigation of any officer, department, or program of such body. Information contained in completed
investigations shall be disclosed in a form that does not reveal the identity of the complainants or persons
supplying information to investigators. Unless disclosure is excluded by this subdivision, the information
disclosed shall include the agency involved, the identity of the person who is the subject of the complaint, the
nature of the complaint, and the actions taken to resolve the complaint. If an investigation does not lead to
corrective action, the identity of the person who is the subject of the complaint may be released only with the
consent of the subject person. Local governing bodies shall adopt guidelines to govern the disclosure required
by this subdivision.

8. The names, addresses, and telephone numbers of complainants furnished in confidence with respect to an
investigation of individual zoning enforcement complaints or complaints relating to the Uniform Statewide
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Building Code (§ 36-97 et seq.) or the Statewide Fire Prevention Code (§ 27-94 et seq.) made to a local
governing body.

9. Records of active investigations being conducted by the Department of Criminal Justice Services pursuant
to Article 4 (§ 9.1-138 et seq.), Article 4.1 (§ 9.1-150.1 et seq.), Article 11 (§ 9.1-185 et seq.), and Article 12
(§ 9.1-186 et seq.) of Chapter 1 of Title 9.1.

10. Information furnished to or prepared by the Board of Education pursuant to subsection D of §
22.1-253.13:3 in connection with the review or investigation of any alleged breach in security, unauthorized
alteration, or improper administration of tests by local school board employees responsible for the
distribution or administration of the tests. However, this section shall not prohibit the disclosure of such
information to (i) a local school board or division superintendent for the purpose of permitting such board or
superintendent to consider or to take personnel action with regard to an employee or (ii) any requester, after
the conclusion of a review or investigation, in a form that (a) does not reveal the identity of any person
making a complaint or supplying information to the Board on a confidential basis and (b) does not
compromise the security of any test mandated by the Board.

11. Information contained in (i) an application for licensure or renewal of a license for teachers and other
school personnel, including transcripts or other documents submitted in support of an application, and (ii) an
active investigation conducted by or for the Board of Education related to the denial, suspension,
cancellation, revocation, or reinstatement of teacher and other school personnel licenses including
investigator notes and other correspondence and information, furnished in confidence with respect to such
investigation. However, this subdivision shall not prohibit the disclosure of such (a) application information
to the applicant at his own expense or (b) investigation information to a local school board or division
superintendent for the purpose of permitting such board or superintendent to consider or to take personnel
action with regard to an employee. Information contained in completed investigations shall be disclosed in a
form that does not reveal the identity of any complainant or person supplying information to investigators.
The completed investigation information disclosed shall include information regarding the school or facility
involved, the identity of the person who was the subject of the complaint, the nature of the complaint, and the
actions taken to resolve the complaint. If an investigation fails to support a complaint or does not lead to
corrective action, the identity of the person who was the subject of the complaint may be released only with
the consent of the subject person. No personally identifiable information regarding a current or former
student shall be released except as permitted by state or federal law.

12. Information provided in confidence and related to an investigation by the Attorney General under Article
1 (§ 3.2-4200 et seq.) or Article 3 (§ 3.2-4204 et seq.) of Chapter 42 of Title 3.2, Article 10 (§ 18.2-246.6 et
seq.) of Chapter 6 or Chapter 13 (§ 18.2-512 et seq.) of Title 18.2, or Article 1 (§ 58.1-1000) of Chapter 10 of
Title 58.1. However, information related to an investigation that has been inactive for more than six months
shall, upon request, be disclosed provided such disclosure is not otherwise prohibited by law and does not
reveal the identity of charging parties, complainants, persons supplying information, witnesses, or other
individuals involved in the investigation.

1999, cc. 485, 518, 703, 726, 793, 849, 852, 867, 868, 881, § 2.1-342.01; 2000, cc. 66, 237, 382, 400, 430,
583, 589, 592, 594, 618, 632, 657, 720, 932, 933, 947, 1006, 1064; 2001, cc. 288, 518, 844, § 2.2-3705;
2002, cc. 87, 155, 242, 393, 478, 481, 499, 522, 571, 572, 633, 655, 715, 798, 830; 2003, cc. 274, 307, 327,
332, 358, 704, 801, 884, 891, 893, 897, 968; 2004, cc. 605, 690, 766; 2005, c. 601; 2006, cc. 25, 95; 2008, cc.
387, 668, 689, 758; 2009, cc. 237, 326, 340; 2011, cc. 798, 871; 2012, cc. 476, 507, 803, 835; 2013, cc. 571,
572, 690, 717, 723; 2014, cc. 225, 414, 609, 788; 2015, cc. 38, 730; 2016, cc. 272, 620, 716; 2017, c. 778.
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The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3705.4. Exclusions to application of chapter; educational records and certain records of
educational institutions.

The following information contained in a public record is excluded from the mandatory disclosure provisions
of this chapter but may be disclosed by the custodian in his discretion, except where such disclosure is
prohibited by law. Redaction of information excluded under this section from a public record shall be
conducted in accordance with § 2.2-3704.01.

1. Scholastic records containing information concerning identifiable individuals, except that such access shall
not be denied to the person who is the subject thereof, or the parent or legal guardian of the student. However,
no student shall have access to (i) financial records of a parent or guardian or (ii) records of instructional,
supervisory, and administrative personnel and educational personnel ancillary thereto, that are in the sole
possession of the maker thereof and that are not accessible or revealed to any other person except a substitute.

The parent or legal guardian of a student may prohibit, by written request, the release of any individual
information regarding that student until the student reaches the age of 18 years. For scholastic records of
students under the age of 18 years, the right of access may be asserted only by his legal guardian or parent,
including a noncustodial parent, unless such parent's parental rights have been terminated or a court of
competent jurisdiction has restricted or denied such access. For scholastic records of students who are
emancipated or attending a public institution of higher education in the Commonwealth, the right of access
may be asserted by the student.

Any person who is the subject of any scholastic record and who is 18 years of age or older may waive, in
writing, the protections afforded by this subdivision. If the protections are so waived, such records shall be
disclosed.

2. Confidential letters and statements of recommendation placed in the records of educational agencies or
institutions respecting (i) admission to any educational agency or institution, (ii) an application for
employment or promotion, or (iii) receipt of an honor or honorary recognition.

3. Information held by the Brown v. Board of Education Scholarship Committee that would reveal personally
identifiable information, including scholarship applications, personal financial information, and confidential
correspondence and letters of recommendation.

4. Information of a proprietary nature produced or collected by or for faculty or staff of public institutions of
higher education, other than the institutions' financial or administrative records, in the conduct of or as a
result of study or research on medical, scientific, technical or scholarly issues, whether sponsored by the
institution alone or in conjunction with a governmental body or a private concern, where such information
has not been publicly released, published, copyrighted or patented.

5. Information held by the University of Virginia or the University of Virginia Medical Center or Eastern
Virginia Medical School, as the case may be, that contain proprietary, business-related information pertaining
to the operations of the University of Virginia Medical Center or Eastern Virginia Medical School, as the case
may be, including business development or marketing strategies and activities with existing or future joint
venturers, partners, or other parties with whom the University of Virginia Medical Center or Eastern Virginia
Medical School, as the case may be, has formed, or forms, any arrangement for the delivery of health care, if
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disclosure of such information would be harmful to the competitive position of the University of Virginia
Medical Center or Eastern Virginia Medical School, as the case may be.

6. Personal information, as defined in § 2.2-3801, provided to the Board of the Virginia College Savings Plan
or its employees by or on behalf of individuals who have requested information about, applied for, or entered
into prepaid tuition contracts or savings trust account agreements pursuant to Chapter 7 (§ 23.1-700 et seq.)
of Title 23.1, including personal information related to (i) qualified beneficiaries as that term is defined in §
23.1-700, (ii) designated survivors, or (iii) authorized individuals. Nothing in this subdivision shall be
construed to prevent disclosure or publication of information in a statistical or other form that does not
identify individuals or provide personal information. Individuals shall be provided access to their own
personal information.

For purposes of this subdivision:

"Authorized individual" means an individual who may be named by the account owner to receive information
regarding the account but who does not have any control or authority over the account.

"Designated survivor" means the person who will assume account ownership in the event of the account
owner's death.

7. Information maintained in connection with fundraising activities by or for a public institution of higher
education that would reveal (i) personal fundraising strategies relating to identifiable donors or prospective
donors or (ii) wealth assessments; estate, financial, or tax planning information; health-related information;
employment, familial, or marital status information; electronic mail addresses, facsimile or telephone
numbers; birth dates or social security numbers of identifiable donors or prospective donors. Nothing in this
subdivision, however, shall be construed to prevent the disclosure of information relating to the amount, date,
purpose, and terms of the pledge or donation, or the identity of the donor unless the donor has requested
anonymity in connection with or as a condition of making a pledge or donation. The exclusion provided by
this subdivision shall not apply to protect from disclosure (i) the identities of sponsors providing grants to or
contracting with the institution for the performance of research services or other work or (ii) the terms and
conditions of such grants or contracts.

8. Information held by a threat assessment team established by a local school board pursuant to § 22.1-79.4 or
by a public institution of higher education pursuant to § 23.1-805 relating to the assessment or intervention
with a specific individual. However, in the event an individual who has been under assessment commits an
act, or is prosecuted for the commission of an act that has caused the death of, or caused serious bodily injury,
including any felony sexual assault, to another person, such information of the threat assessment team
concerning the individual under assessment shall be made available as provided by this chapter, with the
exception of any criminal history records obtained pursuant to § 19.2-389 or 19.2-389.1, health records
obtained pursuant to § 32.1-127.1:03, or scholastic records as defined in § 22.1-289. The public body
providing such information shall remove personally identifying information of any person who provided
information to the threat assessment team under a promise of confidentiality.

1999, cc. 485, 518, 703, 726, 793, 849, 852, 867, 868, 881, § 2.1-342.01; 2000, cc. 66, 237, 382, 400, 430,
583, 589, 592, 594, 618, 632, 657, 720, 932, 933, 947, 1006, 1064; 2001, cc. 288, 518, 844, § 2.2-3705;
2002, cc. 87, 155, 242, 393, 478, 481, 499, 522, 571, 572, 633, 655, 715, 798, 830; 2003, cc. 274, 307, 327,
332, 358, 704, 801, 884, 891, 893, 897, 968; 2004, c. 690; 2006, c. 518; 2008, cc. 561, 665; 2010, cc. 456,
524; 2014, c. 313; 2016, cc. 554, 620, 716; 2017, c. 778.
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The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3705.5. Exclusions to application of chapter; health and social services records.

The following information contained in a public record is excluded from the mandatory disclosure provisions
of this chapter but may be disclosed by the custodian in his discretion, except where such disclosure is
prohibited by law. Redaction of information excluded under this section from a public record shall be
conducted in accordance with § 2.2-3704.01.

1. Health records, except that such records may be personally reviewed by the individual who is the subject
of such records, as provided in subsection F of § 32.1-127.1:03.

Where the person who is the subject of health records is confined in a state or local correctional facility, the
administrator or chief medical officer of such facility may assert such confined person's right of access to the
health records if the administrator or chief medical officer has reasonable cause to believe that such confined
person has an infectious disease or other medical condition from which other persons so confined need to be
protected. Health records shall only be reviewed and shall not be copied by such administrator or chief
medical officer. The information in the health records of a person so confined shall continue to be
confidential and shall not be disclosed by the administrator or chief medical officer of the facility to any
person except the subject or except as provided by law.

Where the person who is the subject of health records is under the age of 18, his right of access may be
asserted only by his guardian or his parent, including a noncustodial parent, unless such parent's parental
rights have been terminated, a court of competent jurisdiction has restricted or denied such access, or a parent
has been denied access to the health record in accordance with § 20-124.6. In instances where the person who
is the subject thereof is an emancipated minor, a student in a public institution of higher education, or is a
minor who has consented to his own treatment as authorized by § 16.1-338 or 54.1-2969, the right of access
may be asserted by the subject person.

For the purposes of this chapter, statistical summaries of incidents and statistical data concerning abuse of
individuals receiving services compiled by the Commissioner of Behavioral Health and Developmental
Services shall be disclosed. No such summaries or data shall include any information that identifies specific
individuals receiving services.

2. Applications for admission to examinations or for licensure and scoring records maintained by the
Department of Health Professions or any board in that department on individual licensees or applicants;
information required to be provided to the Department of Health Professions by certain licensees pursuant to
§ 54.1-2506.1; information held by the Health Practitioners' Monitoring Program Committee within the
Department of Health Professions that identifies any practitioner who may be, or who is actually, impaired to
the extent that disclosure is prohibited by § 54.1-2517; and information relating to the prescribing and
dispensing of covered substances to recipients and any abstracts from such information that are in the
possession of the Prescription Monitoring Program (Program) pursuant to Chapter 25.2 (§ 54.1-2519 et seq.)
of Title 54.1 and any material relating to the operation or security of the Program.

3. Reports, documentary evidence, and other information as specified in §§ 51.5-122 and 51.5-141 and
Chapter 1 (§ 63.2-100 et seq.) of Title 63.2 and information and statistical registries required to be kept
confidential pursuant to Chapter 1 (§ 63.2-100 et seq.) of Title 63.2.
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4. Investigative notes; proprietary information not published, copyrighted or patented; information obtained
from employee personnel records; personally identifiable information regarding residents, clients or other
recipients of services; other correspondence and information furnished in confidence to the Department of
Social Services in connection with an active investigation of an applicant or licensee pursuant to Chapters 17
(§ 63.2-1700 et seq.) and 18 (§ 63.2-1800 et seq.) of Title 63.2; and information furnished to the Office of the
Attorney General in connection with an investigation or litigation pursuant to Article 19.1 (§ 8.01-216.1 et
seq.) of Chapter 3 of Title 8.01 and Chapter 9 (§ 32.1-310 et seq.) of Title 32.1. However, nothing in this
subdivision shall prevent the disclosure of information from the records of completed investigations in a form
that does not reveal the identity of complainants, persons supplying information, or other individuals
involved in the investigation.

5. Information collected for the designation and verification of trauma centers and other specialty care centers
within the Statewide Emergency Medical Services System and Services pursuant to Article 2.1 (§ 32.1-111.1
et seq.) of Chapter 4 of Title 32.1.

6. Reports and court documents relating to involuntary admission required to be kept confidential pursuant to
§ 37.2-818.

7. Information acquired (i) during a review of any child death conducted by the State Child Fatality Review
team established pursuant to § 32.1-283.1 or by a local or regional child fatality review team to the extent that
such information is made confidential by § 32.1-283.2; (ii) during a review of any death conducted by a
family violence fatality review team to the extent that such information is made confidential by § 32.1-283.3;
or (iii) during a review of any adult death conducted by the Adult Fatality Review Team to the extent made
confidential by § 32.1-283.5 or by a local or regional adult fatality review team to the extent that such
information is made confidential by § 32.1-283.6.

8. Patient level data collected by the Board of Health and not yet processed, verified, and released, pursuant
to § 32.1-276.9, to the Board by the nonprofit organization with which the Commissioner of Health has
contracted pursuant to § 32.1-276.4.

9. Information relating to a grant application, or accompanying a grant application, submitted to the
Commonwealth Neurotrauma Initiative Advisory Board pursuant to Article 12 (§ 51.5-178 et seq.) of Chapter
14 of Title 51.5 that would (i) reveal (a) medical or mental health records or other data identifying individual
patients or (b) proprietary business or research-related information produced or collected by the applicant in
the conduct of or as a result of study or research on medical, rehabilitative, scientific, technical, or scholarly
issues, when such information has not been publicly released, published, copyrighted, or patented, and (ii) be
harmful to the competitive position of the applicant.

10. Any information copied, recorded, or received by the Commissioner of Health in the course of an
examination, investigation, or review of a managed care health insurance plan licensee pursuant to §§
32.1-137.4 and 32.1-137.5, including books, records, files, accounts, papers, documents, and any or all
computer or other recordings.

11. Records of the Virginia Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Program required to be kept
confidential pursuant to § 38.2-5002.2.

12. Information held by the State Health Commissioner relating to the health of any person subject to an
order of quarantine or an order of isolation pursuant to Article 3.02 (§ 32.1-48.05 et seq.) of Chapter 2 of
Title 32.1. However, nothing in this subdivision shall be construed to prevent the disclosure of statistical
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summaries, abstracts, or other information in aggregate form.

13. The names and addresses or other contact information of persons receiving transportation services from a
state or local public body or its designee under Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act, (42 U.S.C. §
12131 et seq.) or funded by Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) created under § 63.2-600.

14. Information held by certain health care committees and entities that may be withheld from discovery as
privileged communications pursuant to § 8.01-581.17.

15. Data and information specified in § 37.2-308.01 relating to proceedings provided for in Article 16 (§
16.1-335 et seq.) of Chapter 11 of Title 16.1 and Chapter 8 (§ 37.2-800 et seq.) of Title 37.2.

16. (For contingent effective date, see Editor's note.) Records of and information held by the Emergency
Department Care Coordination Program required to be kept confidential pursuant to § 32.1-372.

1999, cc. 485, 518, 703, 726, 793, 849, 852, 867, 868, 881, § 2.1-342.01; 2000, cc. 66, 237, 382, 400, 430,
583, 589, 592, 594, 618, 632, 657, 720, 932, 933, 947, 1006, 1064; 2001, cc. 288, 518, 844, § 2.2-3705;
2002, cc. 87, 155, 242, 393, 478, 481, 499, 522, 571, 572, 633, 655, 715, 798, 830; 2003, cc. 274, 307, 327,
332, 358, 704, 801, 884, 891, 893, 897, 968; 2004, cc. 65, 666, 690, 773, 1014, 1021; 2005, cc. 181, 227,
716; 2008, c. 539; 2009, cc. 472, 813, 840; 2011, cc. 110, 175, 535; 2012, cc. 476, 479, 507, 803, 835; 2015,
cc. 22, 108, 127; 2016, cc. 620, 716; 2017, cc. 188, 475, 600, 719, 778.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3705.6. Exclusions to application of chapter; proprietary records and trade secrets.

The following information contained in a public record is excluded from the mandatory disclosure provisions
of this chapter but may be disclosed by the custodian in his discretion, except where such disclosure is
prohibited by law. Redaction of information excluded under this section from a public record shall be
conducted in accordance with § 2.2-3704.01.

1. Proprietary information gathered by or for the Virginia Port Authority as provided in § 62.1-132.4 or
62.1-134.1.

2. Financial statements not publicly available filed with applications for industrial development financings in
accordance with Chapter 49 (§ 15.2-4900 et seq.) of Title 15.2.

3. Proprietary information, voluntarily provided by private business pursuant to a promise of confidentiality
from a public body, used by the public body for business, trade, and tourism development or retention; and
memoranda, working papers, or other information related to businesses that are considering locating or
expanding in Virginia, prepared by a public body, where competition or bargaining is involved and where
disclosure of such information would adversely affect the financial interest of the public body.

4. Information that was filed as confidential under the Toxic Substances Information Act (§ 32.1-239 et seq.),
as such Act existed prior to July 1, 1992.

5. Fisheries data that would permit identification of any person or vessel, except when required by court order
as specified in § 28.2-204.
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6. Confidential financial statements, balance sheets, trade secrets, and revenue and cost projections provided
to the Department of Rail and Public Transportation, provided such information is exempt under the federal
Freedom of Information Act or the federal Interstate Commerce Act or other laws administered by the
Surface Transportation Board or the Federal Railroad Administration with respect to data provided in
confidence to the Surface Transportation Board and the Federal Railroad Administration.

7. Proprietary information related to inventory and sales, voluntarily provided by private energy suppliers to
the Department of Mines, Minerals and Energy, used by that Department for energy contingency planning
purposes or for developing consolidated statistical information on energy supplies.

8. Confidential proprietary information furnished to the Board of Medical Assistance Services or the
Medicaid Prior Authorization Advisory Committee pursuant to Article 4 (§ 32.1-331.12 et seq.) of Chapter
10 of Title 32.1.

9. Proprietary, commercial or financial information, balance sheets, trade secrets, and revenue and cost
projections provided by a private transportation business to the Virginia Department of Transportation and the
Department of Rail and Public Transportation for the purpose of conducting transportation studies needed to
obtain grants or other financial assistance under the Transportation Equity Act for the 21st Century (P.L.
105-178) for transportation projects if disclosure of such information is exempt under the federal Freedom of
Information Act or the federal Interstate Commerce Act or other laws administered by the Surface
Transportation Board or the Federal Railroad Administration with respect to data provided in confidence to
the Surface Transportation Board and the Federal Railroad Administration. However, the exclusion provided
by this subdivision shall not apply to any wholly owned subsidiary of a public body.

10. Confidential information designated as provided in subsection F of § 2.2-4342 as trade secrets or
proprietary information by any person in connection with a procurement transaction or by any person who
has submitted to a public body an application for prequalification to bid on public construction projects in
accordance with subsection B of § 2.2-4317.

11. a. Memoranda, staff evaluations, or other information prepared by the responsible public entity, its staff,
outside advisors, or consultants exclusively for the evaluation and negotiation of proposals filed under the
Public-Private Transportation Act of 1995 (§ 33.2-1800 et seq.) or the Public-Private Education Facilities and
Infrastructure Act of 2002 (§ 56-575.1 et seq.) where (i) if such information was made public prior to or after
the execution of an interim or a comprehensive agreement, § 33.2-1820 or 56-575.17 notwithstanding, the
financial interest or bargaining position of the public entity would be adversely affected and (ii) the basis for
the determination required in clause (i) is documented in writing by the responsible public entity; and

b. Information provided by a private entity to a responsible public entity, affected jurisdiction, or affected
local jurisdiction pursuant to the provisions of the Public-Private Transportation Act of 1995 (§ 33.2-1800 et
seq.) or the Public-Private Education Facilities and Infrastructure Act of 2002 (§ 56-575.1 et seq.) if
disclosure of such information would reveal (i) trade secrets of the private entity as defined in the Uniform
Trade Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.); (ii) financial information of the private entity, including balance sheets
and financial statements, that are not generally available to the public through regulatory disclosure or
otherwise; or (iii) other information submitted by the private entity where if such information was made
public prior to the execution of an interim agreement or a comprehensive agreement, the financial interest or
bargaining position of the public or private entity would be adversely affected. In order for the information
specified in clauses (i), (ii), and (iii) to be excluded from the provisions of this chapter, the private entity shall
make a written request to the responsible public entity:
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(1) Invoking such exclusion upon submission of the data or other materials for which protection from
disclosure is sought;

(2) Identifying with specificity the data or other materials for which protection is sought; and

(3) Stating the reasons why protection is necessary.

The responsible public entity shall determine whether the requested exclusion from disclosure is necessary to
protect the trade secrets or financial information of the private entity. To protect other information submitted
by the private entity from disclosure, the responsible public entity shall determine whether public disclosure
prior to the execution of an interim agreement or a comprehensive agreement would adversely affect the
financial interest or bargaining position of the public or private entity. The responsible public entity shall
make a written determination of the nature and scope of the protection to be afforded by the responsible
public entity under this subdivision. Once a written determination is made by the responsible public entity,
the information afforded protection under this subdivision shall continue to be protected from disclosure
when in the possession of any affected jurisdiction or affected local jurisdiction.

Except as specifically provided in subdivision 11 a, nothing in this subdivision shall be construed to authorize
the withholding of (a) procurement records as required by § 33.2-1820 or 56-575.17; (b) information
concerning the terms and conditions of any interim or comprehensive agreement, service contract, lease,
partnership, or any agreement of any kind entered into by the responsible public entity and the private entity;
(c) information concerning the terms and conditions of any financing arrangement that involves the use of
any public funds; or (d) information concerning the performance of any private entity developing or
operating a qualifying transportation facility or a qualifying project.

For the purposes of this subdivision, the terms "affected jurisdiction," "affected local jurisdiction,"
"comprehensive agreement," "interim agreement," "qualifying project," "qualifying transportation facility,"
"responsible public entity," and "private entity" shall mean the same as those terms are defined in the Public-
Private Transportation Act of 1995 (§ 33.2-1800 et seq.) or in the Public-Private Education Facilities and
Infrastructure Act of 2002 (§ 56-575.1 et seq.).

12. Confidential proprietary information or trade secrets, not publicly available, provided by a private person
or entity pursuant to a promise of confidentiality to the Virginia Resources Authority or to a fund
administered in connection with financial assistance rendered or to be rendered by the Virginia Resources
Authority where, if such information were made public, the financial interest of the private person or entity
would be adversely affected.

13. Trade secrets, as defined in the Uniform Trade Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.), or confidential
proprietary information that is not generally available to the public through regulatory disclosure or
otherwise, provided by a (i) bidder or applicant for a franchise or (ii) franchisee under Chapter 21 (§
15.2-2100 et seq.) of Title 15.2 to the applicable franchising authority pursuant to a promise of confidentiality
from the franchising authority, to the extent the information relates to the bidder's, applicant's, or franchisee's
financial capacity or provision of new services, adoption of new technologies or implementation of
improvements, where such new services, technologies, or improvements have not been implemented by the
franchisee on a nonexperimental scale in the franchise area, and where, if such information were made
public, the competitive advantage or financial interests of the franchisee would be adversely affected.

In order for trade secrets or confidential proprietary information to be excluded from the provisions of this
chapter, the bidder, applicant, or franchisee shall (a) invoke such exclusion upon submission of the data or
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other materials for which protection from disclosure is sought, (b) identify the data or other materials for
which protection is sought, and (c) state the reason why protection is necessary.

No bidder, applicant, or franchisee may invoke the exclusion provided by this subdivision if the bidder,
applicant, or franchisee is owned or controlled by a public body or if any representative of the applicable
franchising authority serves on the management board or as an officer of the bidder, applicant, or franchisee.

14. Information of a proprietary or confidential nature furnished by a supplier or manufacturer of charitable
gaming supplies to the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services (i) pursuant to subsection E of §
18.2-340.34 and (ii) pursuant to regulations promulgated by the Charitable Gaming Board related to approval
of electronic and mechanical equipment.

15. Information related to Virginia apple producer sales provided to the Virginia State Apple Board pursuant
to § 3.2-1215.

16. Trade secrets, as defined in the Uniform Trade Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.) of Title 59.1, submitted by
CMRS providers as defined in § 56-484.12 to the Wireless Carrier E-911 Cost Recovery Subcommittee
created pursuant to § 56-484.15, relating to the provision of wireless E-911 service.

17. Information relating to a grant or loan application, or accompanying a grant or loan application, to the
Innovation and Entrepreneurship Investment Authority pursuant to Article 3 (§ 2.2-2233.1 et seq.) of Chapter
22 of Title 2.2 or to the Commonwealth Health Research Board pursuant to Chapter 5.3 (§ 32.1-162.23 et
seq.) of Title 32.1 if disclosure of such information would (i) reveal proprietary business or research-related
information produced or collected by the applicant in the conduct of or as a result of study or research on
medical, rehabilitative, scientific, technical, technological, or scholarly issues, when such information has not
been publicly released, published, copyrighted, or patented, and (ii) be harmful to the competitive position of
the applicant.

18. Confidential proprietary information and trade secrets developed and held by a local public body (i)
providing telecommunication services pursuant to § 56-265.4:4 and (ii) providing cable television services
pursuant to Article 1.1 (§ 15.2-2108.2 et seq.) of Chapter 21 of Title 15.2 if disclosure of such information
would be harmful to the competitive position of the locality.

In order for confidential proprietary information or trade secrets to be excluded from the provisions of this
chapter, the locality in writing shall (a) invoke the protections of this subdivision, (b) identify with specificity
the information for which protection is sought, and (c) state the reasons why protection is necessary.
However, the exemption provided by this subdivision shall not apply to any authority created pursuant to the
BVU Authority Act (§ 15.2-7200 et seq.).

19. Confidential proprietary information and trade secrets developed by or for a local authority created in
accordance with the Virginia Wireless Service Authorities Act (§ 15.2-5431.1 et seq.) to provide qualifying
communications services as authorized by Article 5.1 (§ 56-484.7:1 et seq.) of Chapter 15 of Title 56, where
disclosure of such information would be harmful to the competitive position of the authority, except that
information required to be maintained in accordance with § 15.2-2160 shall be released.

20. Trade secrets as defined in the Uniform Trade Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.) or financial information of
a business, including balance sheets and financial statements, that are not generally available to the public
through regulatory disclosure or otherwise, provided to the Department of Small Business and Supplier
Diversity as part of an application for certification as a small, women-owned, or minority-owned business in

https://law.lis.virginia.gov/report/02wfe/

24 of 51 1/16/2018, 10:49 AM

January 25, 2018, Industrial Development Authority Board of Directors Organizational Meeting Packet Page 105 of 141



accordance with Chapter 16.1 (§ 2.2-1603 et seq.). In order for such trade secrets or financial information to
be excluded from the provisions of this chapter, the business shall (i) invoke such exclusion upon submission
of the data or other materials for which protection from disclosure is sought, (ii) identify the data or other
materials for which protection is sought, and (iii) state the reasons why protection is necessary.

21. Information of a proprietary or confidential nature disclosed by a carrier to the State Health
Commissioner pursuant to §§ 32.1-276.5:1 and 32.1-276.7:1.

22. Trade secrets, as defined in the Uniform Trade Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.), including, but not limited
to, financial information, including balance sheets and financial statements, that are not generally available to
the public through regulatory disclosure or otherwise, and revenue and cost projections supplied by a private
or nongovernmental entity to the State Inspector General for the purpose of an audit, special investigation, or
any study requested by the Office of the State Inspector General in accordance with law.

In order for the information specified in this subdivision to be excluded from the provisions of this chapter,
the private or nongovernmental entity shall make a written request to the State Inspector General:

a. Invoking such exclusion upon submission of the data or other materials for which protection from
disclosure is sought;

b. Identifying with specificity the data or other materials for which protection is sought; and

c. Stating the reasons why protection is necessary.

The State Inspector General shall determine whether the requested exclusion from disclosure is necessary to
protect the trade secrets or financial information of the private entity. The State Inspector General shall make
a written determination of the nature and scope of the protection to be afforded by it under this subdivision.

23. Information relating to a grant application, or accompanying a grant application, submitted to the Tobacco
Region Revitalization Commission that would (i) reveal (a) trade secrets as defined in the Uniform Trade
Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.), (b) financial information of a grant applicant that is not a public body,
including balance sheets and financial statements, that are not generally available to the public through
regulatory disclosure or otherwise, or (c) research-related information produced or collected by the applicant
in the conduct of or as a result of study or research on medical, rehabilitative, scientific, technical,
technological, or scholarly issues, when such information has not been publicly released, published,
copyrighted, or patented, and (ii) be harmful to the competitive position of the applicant; and memoranda,
staff evaluations, or other information prepared by the Commission or its staff exclusively for the evaluation
of grant applications. The exclusion provided by this subdivision shall apply to grants that are consistent with
the powers of and in furtherance of the performance of the duties of the Commission pursuant to § 3.2-3103.

In order for the information specified in this subdivision to be excluded from the provisions of this chapter,
the applicant shall make a written request to the Commission:

a. Invoking such exclusion upon submission of the data or other materials for which protection from
disclosure is sought;

b. Identifying with specificity the data, information or other materials for which protection is sought; and

c. Stating the reasons why protection is necessary.
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The Commission shall determine whether the requested exclusion from disclosure is necessary to protect the
trade secrets, financial information, or research-related information of the applicant. The Commission shall
make a written determination of the nature and scope of the protection to be afforded by it under this
subdivision.

24. a. Information held by the Commercial Space Flight Authority relating to rate structures or charges for
the use of projects of, the sale of products of, or services rendered by the Authority if disclosure of such
information would adversely affect the financial interest or bargaining position of the Authority or a private
entity providing the information to the Authority; or

b. Information provided by a private entity to the Commercial Space Flight Authority if disclosure of such
information would (i) reveal (a) trade secrets of the private entity as defined in the Uniform Trade Secrets Act
(§ 59.1-336 et seq.); (b) financial information of the private entity, including balance sheets and financial
statements, that are not generally available to the public through regulatory disclosure or otherwise; or (c)
other information submitted by the private entity and (ii) adversely affect the financial interest or bargaining
position of the Authority or private entity.

In order for the information specified in clauses (a), (b), and (c) of subdivision 24 b to be excluded from the
provisions of this chapter, the private entity shall make a written request to the Authority:

(1) Invoking such exclusion upon submission of the data or other materials for which protection from
disclosure is sought;

(2) Identifying with specificity the data or other materials for which protection is sought; and

(3) Stating the reasons why protection is necessary.

The Authority shall determine whether the requested exclusion from disclosure is necessary to protect the
trade secrets or financial information of the private entity. To protect other information submitted by the
private entity from disclosure, the Authority shall determine whether public disclosure would adversely affect
the financial interest or bargaining position of the Authority or private entity. The Authority shall make a
written determination of the nature and scope of the protection to be afforded by it under this subdivision.

25. Information of a proprietary nature furnished by an agricultural landowner or operator to the Department
of Conservation and Recreation, the Department of Environmental Quality, the Department of Agriculture
and Consumer Services, or any political subdivision, agency, or board of the Commonwealth pursuant to §§
10.1-104.7, 10.1-104.8, and 10.1-104.9, other than when required as part of a state or federal regulatory
enforcement action.

26. Trade secrets, as defined in the Uniform Trade Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.), provided to the
Department of Environmental Quality pursuant to the provisions of § 10.1-1458. In order for such trade
secrets to be excluded from the provisions of this chapter, the submitting party shall (i) invoke this exclusion
upon submission of the data or materials for which protection from disclosure is sought, (ii) identify the data
or materials for which protection is sought, and (iii) state the reasons why protection is necessary.

27. Information of a proprietary nature furnished by a licensed public-use airport to the Department of
Aviation for funding from programs administered by the Department of Aviation or the Virginia Aviation
Board, where if such information was made public, the financial interest of the public-use airport would be
adversely affected.
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In order for the information specified in this subdivision to be excluded from the provisions of this chapter,
the public-use airport shall make a written request to the Department of Aviation:

a. Invoking such exclusion upon submission of the data or other materials for which protection from
disclosure is sought;

b. Identifying with specificity the data or other materials for which protection is sought; and

c. Stating the reasons why protection is necessary.

28. Information relating to a grant or loan application, or accompanying a grant or loan application, submitted
to the Virginia Research Investment Committee established pursuant to Article 8 (§ 23.1-3130 et seq.) of
Chapter 31 of Title 23.1, to the extent that such records would (i) reveal (a) trade secrets as defined in the
Uniform Trade Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.); (b) financial information of a party to a grant or loan
application that is not a public body, including balance sheets and financial statements, that are not generally
available to the public through regulatory disclosure or otherwise; or (c) research-related information
produced or collected by a party to the application in the conduct of or as a result of study or research on
medical, rehabilitative, scientific, technical, technological, or scholarly issues, when such information has not
been publicly released, published, copyrighted, or patented, and (ii) be harmful to the competitive position of
a party to a grant or loan application; and memoranda, staff evaluations, or other information prepared by the
Committee or its staff, or a reviewing entity pursuant to subsection D of § 23.1-3133, exclusively for the
evaluation of grant or loan applications, including any scoring or prioritization documents prepared for and
forwarded to the Committee pursuant to subsection D of § 23.1-3133.

In order for the information submitted by the applicant and specified in this subdivision to be excluded from
the provisions of this chapter, the applicant shall make a written request to the Committee:

a. Invoking such exclusion upon submission of the data or other materials for which protection from
disclosure is sought;

b. Identifying with specificity the data, information, or other materials for which protection is sought; and

c. Stating the reasons why protection is necessary.

The Virginia Research Investment Committee shall determine whether the requested exclusion from
disclosure is necessary to protect the trade secrets, financial information, or research-related information of
the party to the application. The Committee shall make a written determination of the nature and scope of the
protection to be afforded by it under this subdivision.

29. Proprietary information, voluntarily provided by a private business pursuant to a promise of
confidentiality from a public body, used by the public body for a solar services agreement, where disclosure
of such information would (i) reveal (a) trade secrets of the private business as defined in the Uniform Trade
Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.); (b) financial information of the private business, including balance sheets
and financial statements, that are not generally available to the public through regulatory disclosure or
otherwise; or (c) other information submitted by the private business and (ii) adversely affect the financial
interest or bargaining position of the public body or private business.

In order for the information specified in clauses (i)(a), (b), and (c) to be excluded from the provisions of this
chapter, the private business shall make a written request to the public body:
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a. Invoking such exclusion upon submission of the data or other materials for which protection from
disclosure is sought;

b. Identifying with specificity the data or other materials for which protection is sought; and

c. Stating the reasons why protection is necessary.

30. Information contained in engineering and construction drawings and plans submitted for the sole purpose
of complying with the Building Code in obtaining a building permit if disclosure of such information would
identify specific trade secrets or other information that would be harmful to the competitive position of the
owner or lessee. However, such information shall be exempt only until the building is completed. Information
relating to the safety or environmental soundness of any building shall not be exempt from disclosure.

1999, cc. 485, 518, 703, 726, 793, 849, 852, 867, 868, 881, § 2.1-342.01; 2000, cc. 66, 237, 382, 400, 430,
583, 589, 592, 594, 618, 632, 657, 720, 932, 933, 947, 1006, 1064; 2001, cc. 288, 518, 844, § 2.2-3705;
2002, cc. 87, 155, 242, 393, 478, 481, 499, 522, 571, 572, 633, 655, 715, 798, 830; 2003, cc. 274, 307, 327,
332, 358, 704, 801, 884, 891, 893, 897, 968; 2004, cc. 593, 690; 2005, cc. 258, 411; 2006, cc. 73, 76, 467,
831, 921, 936; 2006, Sp. Sess. I, c. 1; 2007, cc. 374, 693; 2008, cc. 71, 102, 266, 387, 633, 689, 736, 743;
2009, cc. 246, 311, 325, 765, 810, 869; 2010, cc. 310, 808; 2011, cc. 541, 781, 798, 871; 2012, cc. 693, 709;
2013, cc. 54, 482, 574; 2015, cc. 696, 697; 2016, cc. 620, 716, 724, 725, 775; 2017, cc. 662, 737, 778, 796,
816.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3705.7. Exclusions to application of chapter; records of specific public bodies and certain other
limited exclusions.

The following information contained in a public record is excluded from the mandatory disclosure provisions
of this chapter but may be disclosed by the custodian in his discretion, except where such disclosure is
prohibited by law. Redaction of information excluded under this section from a public record shall be
conducted in accordance with § 2.2-3704.01.

1. State income, business, and estate tax returns, personal property tax returns, and confidential records held
pursuant to § 58.1-3.

2. Working papers and correspondence of the Office of the Governor, the Lieutenant Governor, or the
Attorney General; the members of the General Assembly, the Division of Legislative Services, or the Clerks
of the House of Delegates or the Senate of Virginia; the mayor or chief executive officer of any political
subdivision of the Commonwealth; or the president or other chief executive officer of any public institution
of higher education in the Commonwealth. However, no information that is otherwise open to inspection
under this chapter shall be deemed excluded by virtue of the fact that it has been attached to or incorporated
within any working paper or correspondence. Further, information publicly available or not otherwise subject
to an exclusion under this chapter or other provision of law that has been aggregated, combined, or changed
in format without substantive analysis or revision shall not be deemed working papers. Nothing in this
subdivision shall be construed to authorize the withholding of any resumes or applications submitted by
persons who are appointed by the Governor pursuant to § 2.2-106 or 2.2-107.

As used in this subdivision:
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"Members of the General Assembly" means each member of the Senate of Virginia and the House of
Delegates and their legislative aides when working on behalf of such member.

"Office of the Governor" means the Governor; the Governor's chief of staff, counsel, director of policy, and
Cabinet Secretaries; the Assistant to the Governor for Intergovernmental Affairs; and those individuals to
whom the Governor has delegated his authority pursuant to § 2.2-104.

"Working papers" means those records prepared by or for a public official identified in this subdivision for
his personal or deliberative use.

3. Information contained in library records that can be used to identify (i) both (a) any library patron who has
borrowed material from a library and (b) the material such patron borrowed or (ii) any library patron under 18
years of age. For the purposes of clause (ii), access shall not be denied to the parent, including a noncustodial
parent, or guardian of such library patron.

4. Contract cost estimates prepared for the confidential use of the Department of Transportation in awarding
contracts for construction or the purchase of goods or services, and records and automated systems prepared
for the Department's Bid Analysis and Monitoring Program.

5. Lists of registered owners of bonds issued by a political subdivision of the Commonwealth, whether the
lists are maintained by the political subdivision itself or by a single fiduciary designated by the political
subdivision.

6. Information furnished by a member of the General Assembly to a meeting of a standing committee, special
committee, or subcommittee of his house established solely for the purpose of reviewing members' annual
disclosure statements and supporting materials filed under § 30-110 or of formulating advisory opinions to
members on standards of conduct, or both.

7. Customer account information of a public utility affiliated with a political subdivision of the
Commonwealth, including the customer's name and service address, but excluding the amount of utility
service provided and the amount of money charged or paid for such utility service.

8. Personal information, as defined in § 2.2-3801, (i) filed with the Virginia Housing Development Authority
concerning individuals who have applied for or received loans or other housing assistance or who have
applied for occupancy of or have occupied housing financed, owned or otherwise assisted by the Virginia
Housing Development Authority; (ii) concerning persons participating in or persons on the waiting list for
federally funded rent-assistance programs; (iii) filed with any local redevelopment and housing authority
created pursuant to § 36-4 concerning persons participating in or persons on the waiting list for housing
assistance programs funded by local governments or by any such authority; or (iv) filed with any local
redevelopment and housing authority created pursuant to § 36-4 or any other local government agency
concerning persons who have applied for occupancy or who have occupied affordable dwelling units
established pursuant to § 15.2-2304 or 15.2-2305. However, access to one's own information shall not be
denied.

9. Information regarding the siting of hazardous waste facilities, except as provided in § 10.1-1441, if
disclosure of such information would have a detrimental effect upon the negotiating position of a governing
body or on the establishment of the terms, conditions, and provisions of the siting agreement.

10. Information on the site-specific location of rare, threatened, endangered, or otherwise imperiled plant and
animal species, natural communities, caves, and significant historic and archaeological sites if, in the opinion
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of the public body that has the responsibility for such information, disclosure of the information would
jeopardize the continued existence or the integrity of the resource. This exclusion shall not apply to requests
from the owner of the land upon which the resource is located.

11. Memoranda, graphics, video or audio tapes, production models, data, and information of a proprietary
nature produced by or for or collected by or for the Virginia Lottery relating to matters of a specific lottery
game design, development, production, operation, ticket price, prize structure, manner of selecting the
winning ticket, manner of payment of prizes to holders of winning tickets, frequency of drawings or
selections of winning tickets, odds of winning, advertising, or marketing, where such information not been
publicly released, published, copyrighted, or patented. Whether released, published, or copyrighted, all game-
related information shall be subject to public disclosure under this chapter upon the first day of sales for the
specific lottery game to which it pertains.

12. Information held by the Virginia Retirement System, acting pursuant to § 51.1-124.30, or a local
retirement system, acting pursuant to § 51.1-803, or by a local finance board or board of trustees of a trust
established by one or more local public bodies to invest funds for post-retirement benefits other than
pensions, acting pursuant to Article 8 (§ 15.2-1544 et seq.) of Chapter 15 of Title 15.2, or by the board of
visitors of the University of Virginia, acting pursuant to § 23.1-2210, or by the Virginia College Savings Plan,
acting pursuant to § 23.1-704, relating to the acquisition, holding, or disposition of a security or other
ownership interest in an entity, where such security or ownership interest is not traded on a governmentally
regulated securities exchange, if disclosure of such information would (i) reveal confidential analyses
prepared for the board of visitors of the University of Virginia, prepared by the retirement system, a local
finance board or board of trustees, or the Virginia College Savings Plan, or provided to the retirement system,
a local finance board or board of trustees, or the Virginia College Savings Plan under a promise of
confidentiality of the future value of such ownership interest or the future financial performance of the entity
and (ii) have an adverse effect on the value of the investment to be acquired, held, or disposed of by the
retirement system, a local finance board or board of trustees, the board of visitors of the University of
Virginia, or the Virginia College Savings Plan. Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed to prevent the
disclosure of information relating to the identity of any investment held, the amount invested, or the present
value of such investment.

13. Financial, medical, rehabilitative, and other personal information concerning applicants for or recipients
of loan funds submitted to or maintained by the Assistive Technology Loan Fund Authority under Chapter 11
(§ 51.5-53 et seq.) of Title 51.5.

14. Information held by the Virginia Commonwealth University Health System Authority pertaining to any of
the following: an individual's qualifications for or continued membership on its medical or teaching staffs;
proprietary information gathered by or in the possession of the Authority from third parties pursuant to a
promise of confidentiality; contract cost estimates prepared for confidential use in awarding contracts for
construction or the purchase of goods or services; information of a proprietary nature produced or collected
by or for the Authority or members of its medical or teaching staffs; financial statements not publicly
available that may be filed with the Authority from third parties; the identity, accounts, or account status of
any customer of the Authority; consulting or other reports paid for by the Authority to assist the Authority in
connection with its strategic planning and goals; the determination of marketing and operational strategies
where disclosure of such strategies would be harmful to the competitive position of the Authority; and
information of a proprietary nature produced or collected by or for employees of the Authority, other than the
Authority's financial or administrative records, in the conduct of or as a result of study or research on
medical, scientific, technical, or scholarly issues, whether sponsored by the Authority alone or in conjunction
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with a governmental body or a private concern, when such information has not been publicly released,
published, copyrighted, or patented. This exclusion shall also apply when such information is in the
possession of Virginia Commonwealth University.

15. Information held by the Department of Environmental Quality, the State Water Control Board, the State
Air Pollution Control Board, or the Virginia Waste Management Board relating to (i) active federal
environmental enforcement actions that are considered confidential under federal law and (ii) enforcement
strategies, including proposed sanctions for enforcement actions. Upon request, such information shall be
disclosed after a proposed sanction resulting from the investigation has been proposed to the director of the
agency. This subdivision shall not be construed to prevent the disclosure of information related to inspection
reports, notices of violation, and documents detailing the nature of any environmental contamination that may
have occurred or similar documents.

16. Information related to the operation of toll facilities that identifies an individual, vehicle, or travel
itinerary, including vehicle identification data or vehicle enforcement system information; video or
photographic images; Social Security or other identification numbers appearing on driver's licenses; credit
card or bank account data; home addresses; phone numbers; or records of the date or time of toll facility use.

17. Information held by the Virginia Lottery pertaining to (i) the social security number, tax identification
number, state sales tax number, home address and telephone number, personal and lottery banking account
and transit numbers of a retailer, and financial information regarding the nonlottery operations of specific
retail locations and (ii) individual lottery winners, except that a winner's name, hometown, and amount won
shall be disclosed.

18. Information held by the Board for Branch Pilots relating to the chemical or drug testing of a person
regulated by the Board, where such person has tested negative or has not been the subject of a disciplinary
action by the Board for a positive test result.

19. Information pertaining to the planning, scheduling, and performance of examinations of holder records
pursuant to the Uniform Disposition of Unclaimed Property Act (§ 55-210.1 et seq.) prepared by or for the
State Treasurer or his agents or employees or persons employed to perform an audit or examination of holder
records.

20. Information held by the Virginia Department of Emergency Management or a local governing body
relating to citizen emergency response teams established pursuant to an ordinance of a local governing body
that reveal the name, address, including e-mail address, telephone or pager numbers, or operating schedule of
an individual participant in the program.

21. Information held by state or local park and recreation departments and local and regional park authorities
concerning identifiable individuals under the age of 18 years. However, nothing in this subdivision shall
operate to prevent the disclosure of information defined as directory information under regulations
implementing the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1232g, unless the public body has
undertaken the parental notification and opt-out requirements provided by such regulations. Access shall not
be denied to the parent, including a noncustodial parent, or guardian of such person, unless the parent's
parental rights have been terminated or a court of competent jurisdiction has restricted or denied such access.
For such information of persons who are emancipated, the right of access may be asserted by the subject
thereof. Any parent or emancipated person who is the subject of the information may waive, in writing, the
protections afforded by this subdivision. If the protections are so waived, the public body shall open such
information for inspection and copying.
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22. Information submitted for inclusion in the Statewide Alert Network administered by the Department of
Emergency Management that reveal names, physical addresses, email addresses, computer or internet
protocol information, telephone numbers, pager numbers, other wireless or portable communications device
information, or operating schedules of individuals or agencies, where the release of such information would
compromise the security of the Statewide Alert Network or individuals participating in the Statewide Alert
Network.

23. Information held by the Judicial Inquiry and Review Commission made confidential by § 17.1-913.

24. Information held by the Virginia Retirement System acting pursuant to § 51.1-124.30, a local retirement
system acting pursuant to § 51.1-803 (hereinafter collectively referred to as the retirement system), or the
Virginia College Savings Plan, acting pursuant to § 23.1-704 relating to:

a. Internal deliberations of or decisions by the retirement system or the Virginia College Savings Plan on the
pursuit of particular investment strategies, or the selection or termination of investment managers, prior to the
execution of such investment strategies or the selection or termination of such managers, if disclosure of such
information would have an adverse impact on the financial interest of the retirement system or the Virginia
College Savings Plan; and

b. Trade secrets, as defined in the Uniform Trade Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.), provided by a private
entity to the retirement system or the Virginia College Savings Plan if disclosure of such records would have
an adverse impact on the financial interest of the retirement system or the Virginia College Savings Plan.

For the records specified in subdivision b to be excluded from the provisions of this chapter, the entity shall
make a written request to the retirement system or the Virginia College Savings Plan:

(1) Invoking such exclusion prior to or upon submission of the data or other materials for which protection
from disclosure is sought;

(2) Identifying with specificity the data or other materials for which protection is sought; and

(3) Stating the reasons why protection is necessary.

The retirement system or the Virginia College Savings Plan shall determine whether the requested exclusion
from disclosure meets the requirements set forth in subdivision b.

Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed to prevent the disclosure of the identity or amount of any
investment held or the present value and performance of all asset classes and subclasses.

25. Information held by the Department of Corrections made confidential by § 53.1-233.

26. Information maintained by the Department of the Treasury or participants in the Local Government
Investment Pool (§ 2.2-4600 et seq.) and required to be provided by such participants to the Department to
establish accounts in accordance with § 2.2-4602.

27. Personal information, as defined in § 2.2-3801, contained in the Veterans Care Center Resident Trust
Funds concerning residents or patients of the Department of Veterans Services Care Centers, except that
access shall not be denied to the person who is the subject of the information.

28. Information maintained in connection with fundraising activities by the Veterans Services Foundation
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pursuant to § 2.2-2716 that reveal the address, electronic mail address, facsimile or telephone number, social
security number or other identification number appearing on a driver's license, or credit card or bank account
data of identifiable donors, except that access shall not be denied to the person who is the subject of the
information. Nothing in this subdivision, however, shall be construed to prevent the disclosure of information
relating to the amount, date, purpose, and terms of the pledge or donation or the identity of the donor, unless
the donor has requested anonymity in connection with or as a condition of making a pledge or donation. The
exclusion provided by this subdivision shall not apply to protect from disclosure (i) the identities of sponsors
providing grants to or contracting with the foundation for the performance of services or other work or (ii) the
terms and conditions of such grants or contracts.

29. Information prepared for and utilized by the Commonwealth's Attorneys' Services Council in the training
of state prosecutors or law-enforcement personnel, where such information is not otherwise available to the
public and the disclosure of such information would reveal confidential strategies, methods, or procedures to
be employed in law-enforcement activities or materials created for the investigation and prosecution of a
criminal case.

30. Information provided to the Department of Aviation by other entities of the Commonwealth in connection
with the operation of aircraft where the information would not be subject to disclosure by the entity providing
the information. The entity providing the information to the Department of Aviation shall identify the specific
information to be protected and the applicable provision of this chapter that excludes the information from
mandatory disclosure.

31. Information created or maintained by or on the behalf of the judicial performance evaluation program
related to an evaluation of any individual justice or judge made confidential by § 17.1-100.

32. Information reflecting the substance of meetings in which (i) individual sexual assault cases are discussed
by any sexual assault team established pursuant to § 15.2-1627.4 or (ii) individual child abuse or neglect
cases or sex offenses involving a child are discussed by multidisciplinary child abuse teams established
pursuant to § 15.2-1627.5. The findings of any such team may be disclosed or published in statistical or other
aggregated form that does not disclose the identity of specific individuals.

33. Information contained in the strategic plan, marketing plan, or operational plan prepared by the Virginia
Economic Development Partnership Authority pursuant to § 2.2-2237.1 regarding target companies, specific
allocation of resources and staff for marketing activities, and specific marketing activities that would reveal
to the Commonwealth's competitors for economic development projects the strategies intended to be
deployed by the Commonwealth, thereby adversely affecting the financial interest of the Commonwealth.
The executive summaries of the strategic plan, marketing plan, and operational plan shall not be redacted or
withheld pursuant to this subdivision.

1999, cc. 485, 518, 703, 726, 793, 849, 852, 867, 868, 881, § 2.1-342.01; 2000, cc. 66, 237, 382, 400, 430,
583, 589, 592, 594, 618, 632, 657, 720, 932, 933, 947, 1006, 1064; 2001, cc. 288, 518, 844, § 2.2-3705;
2002, cc. 87, 155, 242, 393, 478, 481, 499, 522, 571, 572, 633, 655, 715, 798, 830; 2003, cc. 274, 307, 327,
332, 358, 704, 801, 884, 891, 893, 897, 968; 2004, cc. 426, 690, 832; 2005, cc. 165, 508; 2007, cc. 406, 652,
660, 737, 739; 2008, cc. 16, 739; 2009, cc. 223, 827, 845; 2010, c. 300; 2011, cc. 827, 867; 2012, c. 726;
2013, cc. 199, 481, 554, 574; 2014, cc. 225, 808; 2015, cc. 38, 137, 549, 730; 2016, cc. 550, 620, 716, 729;
2017, cc. 587, 642, 778, 804, 824.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.
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§ 2.2-3705.8. Limitation on record exclusions.

Nothing in this chapter shall be construed as denying public access to the nonexempt portions of a report of a
consultant hired by or at the request of a local public body or the mayor or chief executive or administrative
officer of such public body if (i) the contents of such report have been distributed or disclosed to members of
the local public body or (ii) the local public body has scheduled any action on a matter that is the subject of
the consultant's report.

1999, cc. 485, 518, 703, 726, 793, 849, 852, 867, 868, 881, § 2.1-342.01; 2000, cc. 66, 237, 382, 400, 430,
583, 589, 592, 594, 618, 632, 657, 720, 932, 933, 947, 1006, 1064; 2001, cc. 288, 518, 844, § 2.2-3705;
2002, cc. 87, 155, 242, 393, 478, 481, 499, 522, 571, 572, 633, 655, 715, 798, 830; 2003, cc. 274, 307, 327,
332, 358, 704, 801, 884, 891, 893, 897, 968; 2004, c. 690; 2017, c. 778.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3706. Disclosure of criminal records; limitations.

A. All public bodies engaged in criminal law-enforcement activities shall provide requested records in
accordance with this chapter as follows:

1. Records required to be released:

a. Criminal incident information relating to felony offenses, which shall include:

(1) A general description of the criminal activity reported;

(2) The date the alleged crime was committed;

(3) The general location where the alleged crime was committed;

(4) The identity of the investigating officer or other point of contact; and

(5) A general description of any injuries suffered or property damaged or stolen.

A verbal response as agreed to by the requester and the public body is sufficient to satisfy the requirements of
subdivision a.

Where the release of criminal incident information, however, is likely to jeopardize an ongoing investigation
or prosecution or the safety of an individual, cause a suspect to flee or evade detection, or result in the
destruction of evidence, such information may be withheld until the above-referenced damage is no longer
likely to occur from release of the information. Nothing in subdivision a shall be construed to authorize the
withholding of those portions of such information that are not likely to cause the above-referenced damage;

b. Adult arrestee photographs taken during the initial intake following the arrest and as part of the routine
booking procedure, except when necessary to avoid jeopardizing an investigation in felony cases until such
time as the release of the photograph will no longer jeopardize the investigation;

c. Information relative to the identity of any individual, other than a juvenile, who is arrested and charged,
and the status of the charge or arrest; and
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d. Records of completed unattended death investigations to the parent or spouse of the decedent or, if there is
no living parent or spouse, to the most immediate family member of the decedent, provided the person is not
a person of interest or a suspect. For the purposes of this subdivision, "unattended death" means a death
determined to be a suicide, accidental or natural death where no criminal charges will be initiated, and
"immediate family" means the decedent's personal representative or, if no personal representative has
qualified, the decedent's next of kin in order of intestate succession as set forth in § 64.2-200.

2. Discretionary releases. The following records are excluded from the mandatory disclosure provisions of
this chapter, but may be disclosed by the custodian, in his discretion, except where such disclosure is
prohibited by law:

a. Criminal investigative files, defined as any documents and information, including complaints, court orders,
memoranda, notes, diagrams, maps, photographs, correspondence, reports, witness statements, and evidence
relating to a criminal investigation or prosecution, other than criminal incident information subject to release
in accordance with subdivision 1 a;

b. Reports submitted in confidence to (i) state and local law-enforcement agencies, (ii) investigators
authorized pursuant to Chapter 3.2 (§ 2.2-307 et seq.), and (iii) campus police departments of public
institutions of higher education established pursuant to Article 3 (§ 23.1-809 et seq.) of Chapter 8 of Title
23.1;

c. Records of local law-enforcement agencies relating to neighborhood watch programs that include the
names, addresses, and operating schedules of individual participants in the program that are provided to such
agencies under a promise of anonymity;

d. All records of persons imprisoned in penal institutions in the Commonwealth provided such records relate
to the imprisonment;

e. Records of law-enforcement agencies, to the extent that such records contain specific tactical plans, the
disclosure of which would jeopardize the safety or security of law-enforcement personnel or the general
public;

f. All records of adult persons under (i) investigation or supervision by a local pretrial services agency in
accordance with Article 5 (§ 19.2-152.2 et seq.) of Chapter 9 of Title 19.2; (ii) investigation, probation
supervision, or monitoring by a local community-based probation services agency in accordance with Article
9 (§ 9.1-173 et seq.) of Chapter 1 of Title 9.1; or (iii) investigation or supervision by state probation and
parole services in accordance with Article 2 (§ 53.1-141 et seq.) of Chapter 4 of Title 53.1;

g. Records of a law-enforcement agency to the extent that they disclose the telephone numbers for cellular
telephones, pagers, or comparable portable communication devices provided to its personnel for use in the
performance of their official duties;

h. Those portions of any records containing information related to undercover operations or protective details
that would reveal the staffing, logistics, or tactical plans of such undercover operations or protective details.
Nothing in this subdivision shall operate to allow the withholding of information concerning the overall costs
or expenses associated with undercover operations or protective details;

i. Records of (i) background investigations of applicants for law-enforcement agency employment, (ii)
administrative investigations relating to allegations of wrongdoing by employees of a law-enforcement
agency, and (iii) other administrative investigations conducted by law-enforcement agencies that are made
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confidential by law;

j. The identity of any victim, witness, or undercover officer, or investigative techniques or procedures.
However, the identity of any victim or witness shall be withheld if disclosure is prohibited or restricted under
§ 19.2-11.2; and

k. Records of the Sex Offender and Crimes Against Minors Registry maintained by the Department of State
Police pursuant to Chapter 9 (§ 9.1-900 et seq.) of Title 9.1, including information obtained from state, local,
and regional officials, except to the extent that information is required to be posted on the Internet pursuant to
§ 9.1-913; and

3. Prohibited releases. The identity of any individual providing information about a crime or criminal activity
under a promise of anonymity shall not be disclosed.

B. Noncriminal records. Those portions of noncriminal incident or other noncriminal investigative reports or
materials that contain identifying information of a personal, medical, or financial nature may be withheld
where the release of such information would jeopardize the safety or privacy of any person. Access to
personnel records of persons employed by a law-enforcement agency shall be governed by the provisions of
subdivision A 2 i of this section and subdivision 1 of § 2.2-3705.1, as applicable.

C. Records of any call for service or other communication to an emergency 911 system or communicated
with any other equivalent reporting system shall be subject to the provisions of this chapter.

D. Conflict resolution. In the event of conflict between this section as it relates to requests made under this
section and other provisions of law, this section shall control.

1999, cc. 703, 726, § 2.1-342.2; 2000, c. 227; 2001, c. 844; 2002, cc. 393, 715, 769, 830; 2004, cc. 685, 735;
2006, cc. 857, 914; 2007, c. 133; 2010, c. 627; 2011, cc. 798, 871; 2013, c. 695; 2016, cc. 184, 546; 2017, c.
828.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3707. Meetings to be public; notice of meetings; recordings; minutes.

A. All meetings of public bodies shall be open, except as provided in §§ 2.2-3707.01 and 2.2-3711.

B. No meeting shall be conducted through telephonic, video, electronic or other communication means where
the members are not physically assembled to discuss or transact public business, except as provided in §
2.2-3708, 2.2-3708.1 or as may be specifically provided in Title 54.1 for the summary suspension of
professional licenses.

C. Every public body shall give notice of the date, time, and location of its meetings by:

1. Posting such notice on its official public government website, if any;

2. Placing such notice in a prominent public location at which notices are regularly posted; and

3. Placing such notice at the office of the clerk of the public body or, in the case of a public body that has no
clerk, at the office of the chief administrator.
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All state public bodies subject to the provisions of this chapter shall also post notice of their meetings on a
central, publicly available electronic calendar maintained by the Commonwealth. Publication of meeting
notices by electronic means by other public bodies shall be encouraged.

The notice shall be posted at least three working days prior to the meeting.

D. Notice, reasonable under the circumstance, of special, emergency, or continued meetings shall be given
contemporaneously with the notice provided to the members of the public body conducting the meeting.

E. Any person may annually file a written request for notification with a public body. The request shall
include the requester's name, address, zip code, daytime telephone number, electronic mail address, if
available, and organization, if any. The public body receiving such request shall provide notice of all
meetings directly to each such person. Without objection by the person, the public body may provide
electronic notice of all meetings in response to such requests.

F. At least one copy of the proposed agenda and all agenda packets and, unless exempt, all materials
furnished to members of a public body for a meeting shall be made available for public inspection at the same
time such documents are furnished to the members of the public body. The proposed agendas for meetings of
state public bodies where at least one member has been appointed by the Governor shall state whether or not
public comment will be received at the meeting and, if so, the approximate point during the meeting when
public comment will be received.

G. Any person may photograph, film, record or otherwise reproduce any portion of a meeting required to be
open. The public body conducting the meeting may adopt rules governing the placement and use of
equipment necessary for broadcasting, photographing, filming or recording a meeting to prevent interference
with the proceedings, but shall not prohibit or otherwise prevent any person from photographing, filming,
recording, or otherwise reproducing any portion of a meeting required to be open. No public body shall
conduct a meeting required to be open in any building or facility where such recording devices are prohibited.

H. Minutes shall be recorded at all open meetings. However, minutes shall not be required to be taken at
deliberations of (i) standing and other committees of the General Assembly; (ii) legislative interim study
commissions and committees, including the Virginia Code Commission; (iii) study committees or
commissions appointed by the Governor; or (iv) study commissions or study committees, or any other
committees or subcommittees appointed by the governing bodies or school boards of counties, cities and
towns, except where the membership of any such commission, committee or subcommittee includes a
majority of the governing body of the county, city or town or school board.

Minutes, including draft minutes, and all other records of open meetings, including audio or audio/visual
records shall be deemed public records and subject to the provisions of this chapter.

Minutes shall be in writing and shall include (i) the date, time, and location of the meeting; (ii) the members
of the public body recorded as present and absent; and (iii) a summary of the discussion on matters proposed,
deliberated or decided, and a record of any votes taken. In addition, for electronic communication meetings
conducted in accordance with § 2.2-3708, minutes of state public bodies shall include (a) the identity of the
members of the public body at each remote location identified in the notice who participated in the meeting
through electronic communications means, (b) the identity of the members of the public body who were
physically assembled at the primary or central meeting location, and (c) the identity of the members of the
public body who were not present at the locations identified in clauses (a) and (b), but who monitored such
meeting through electronic communications means.
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1968, c. 479, § 2.1-343; 1973, c. 461; 1976, c. 467; 1977, c. 677; 1982, c. 333; 1989, c. 358; 1990, c. 538;
1993, c. 720; 1995, c. 562; 1999, cc. 696, 703, 726; 2000, c. 227; 2001, c. 844; 2004, cc. 730, 768; 2005, c.
352; 2007, c. 300; 2009, c. 628; 2010, c. 309; 2015, c. 131; 2017, c. 616.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3707.01. Meetings of the General Assembly.

A. Except as provided in subsection B, public access to any meeting of the General Assembly or a portion
thereof shall be governed by rules established by the Joint Rules Committee and approved by a majority vote
of each house at the next regular session of the General Assembly. At least 60 days before the adoption of
such rules, the Joint Rules Committee shall (i) hold regional public hearings on such proposed rules and (ii)
provide a copy of such proposed rules to the Virginia Freedom of Information Advisory Council.

B. Floor sessions of either house of the General Assembly; meetings, including work sessions, of any
standing or interim study committee of the General Assembly; meetings, including work sessions, of any
subcommittee of such standing or interim study committee; and joint committees of conference of the
General Assembly; or a quorum of any such committees or subcommittees, shall be open and governed by
this chapter.

C. Meetings of the respective political party caucuses of either house of the General Assembly, including
meetings conducted by telephonic or other electronic communication means, without regard to (i) whether
the General Assembly is in or out of regular or special session or (ii) whether such caucuses invite staff or
guests to participate in their deliberations, shall not be deemed meetings for the purposes of this chapter.

D. No regular, special, or reconvened session of the General Assembly held pursuant to Article IV, Section 6
of the Constitution of Virginia shall be conducted using electronic communication means pursuant §
2.2-3708.

2004, c. 768; 2005, c. 352.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3707.1. Posting of minutes for state boards and commissions.

All boards, commissions, councils, and other public bodies created in the executive branch of state
government and subject to the provisions of this chapter shall post minutes of their meetings on such body's
official public government website and on a central electronic calendar maintained by the Commonwealth.
Draft minutes of meetings shall be posted as soon as possible but no later than 10 working days after the
conclusion of the meeting. Final approved meeting minutes shall be posted within three working days of final
approval of the minutes.

2002, cc. 580, 618; 2006, cc. 474, 595; 2007, c. 300; 2017, c. 616.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3708. Electronic communication meetings; applicability; physical quorum required; exceptions;
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notice; report.

A. Except as expressly provided in subsection G of this section or § 2.2-3708.1, no local governing body,
school board, or any authority, board, bureau, commission, district or agency of local government, any
committee thereof, or any entity created by a local governing body, school board, or any local authority,
board, or commission shall conduct a meeting wherein the public business is discussed or transacted through
telephonic, video, electronic or other communication means where the members are not physically
assembled. Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit the use of interactive audio or video means
to expand public participation.

B. Except as provided in subsection G or H of this section or subsection D of § 2.2-3707.01, state public
bodies may conduct any meeting wherein the public business is discussed or transacted through electronic
communication means, provided (i) a quorum of the public body is physically assembled at one primary or
central meeting location, (ii) notice of the meeting has been given in accordance with subsection C, and (iii)
the remote locations, from which additional members of the public body participate through electronic
communication means, are open to the public. All persons attending the meeting at any of the meeting
locations shall be afforded the same opportunity to address the public body as persons attending the primary
or central location.

If an authorized public body holds an electronic meeting pursuant to this section, it shall also hold at least one
meeting annually where members in attendance at the meeting are physically assembled at one location and
where no members participate by electronic communication means.

C. Notice of any regular meeting held pursuant to this section shall be provided at least three working days in
advance of the date scheduled for the meeting. Notice, reasonable under the circumstance, of special,
emergency, or continued meetings held pursuant to this section shall be given contemporaneously with the
notice provided to members of the public body conducting the meeting. For the purposes of this subsection,
"continued meeting" means a meeting that is continued to address an emergency or to conclude the agenda of
a meeting for which proper notice was given.

The notice shall include the date, time, place, and purpose for the meeting; shall identify the locations for the
meeting; and shall include a telephone number that may be used at remote locations to notify the primary or
central meeting location of any interruption in the telephonic or video broadcast of the meeting to the remote
locations. Any interruption in the telephonic or video broadcast of the meeting shall result in the suspension
of action at the meeting until repairs are made and public access restored.

D. A copy of the proposed agenda and agenda packets and, unless exempt, all materials that will be
distributed to members of the public body and that have been made available to the staff of the public body in
sufficient time for duplication and forwarding to all locations where public access will be provided shall be
made available to the public at the time of the meeting. Minutes of all meetings held by electronic
communication means shall be recorded as required by § 2.2-3707. Votes taken during any meeting
conducted through electronic communication means shall be recorded by name in roll-call fashion and
included in the minutes.

E. Three working days' notice shall not be required for meetings authorized under this section held in
accordance with subsection G. Public bodies conducting emergency meetings through electronic
communication means shall comply with the provisions of subsection D requiring minutes of the meeting.
The nature of the emergency shall be stated in the minutes.
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F. Any authorized public body that meets by electronic communication means shall make a written report of
the following to the Virginia Freedom of Information Advisory Council by December 15 of each year:

1. The total number of electronic communication meetings held that year;

2. The dates and purposes of the meetings;

3. A copy of the agenda for the meeting;

4. The number of sites for each meeting;

5. The types of electronic communication means by which the meetings were held;

6. The number of participants, including members of the public, at each meeting location;

7. The identity of the members of the public body recorded as absent and those recorded as present at each
meeting location;

8. A summary of any public comment received about the electronic communication meetings; and

9. A written summary of the public body's experience using electronic communication meetings, including its
logistical and technical experience.

In addition, any authorized public body shall make available to the public at any meeting conducted in
accordance with this section a public comment form prepared by the Virginia Freedom of Information
Advisory Council in accordance with § 30-179.

G. Any public body may meet by electronic communication means without a quorum of the public body
physically assembled at one location when the Governor has declared a state of emergency in accordance
with § 44-146.17, provided that (i) the catastrophic nature of the declared emergency makes it impracticable
or unsafe to assemble a quorum in a single location and (ii) the purpose of the meeting is to address the
emergency. The public body convening a meeting in accordance with this subsection shall (a) give public
notice using the best available method given the nature of the emergency, which notice shall be given
contemporaneously with the notice provided members of the public body conducting the meeting; (b) make
arrangements for public access to such meeting; and (c) otherwise comply with the provisions of this section.
The nature of the emergency, the fact that the meeting was held by electronic communication means, and the
type of electronic communication means by which the meeting was held shall be stated in the minutes.

1984, c. 252, § 2.1-343.1; 1989, c. 358; 1991, c. 473; 1992, c. 153; 1993, c. 270; 1995, c. 278; 1996, c. 289;
1999, cc. 703, 726; 2001, c. 844; 2003, cc. 981, 1021; 2005, c. 352; 2007, cc. 512, 945; 2008, cc. 233, 789;
2013, c. 694; 2017, c. 616.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3708.1. Participation in meetings due to personal matter; certain disabilities; distance from
meeting location for certain public bodies.

A. A member of a public body may participate in a meeting governed by this chapter through electronic
communication means from a remote location that is not open to the public only as follows and subject to the
requirements of subsection B:
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1. If, on or before the day of a meeting, a member of the public body holding the meeting notifies the chair of
the public body that such member is unable to attend the meeting due to a personal matter and identifies with
specificity the nature of the personal matter, and the public body holding the meeting records in its minutes
the specific nature of the personal matter and the remote location from which the member participated. If a
member's participation from a remote location is disapproved because such participation would violate the
policy adopted pursuant to subsection B, such disapproval shall be recorded in the minutes with specificity.

Such participation by the member shall be limited each calendar year to two meetings;

2. If a member of a public body notifies the chair of the public body that such member is unable to attend a
meeting due to a temporary or permanent disability or other medical condition that prevents the member's
physical attendance and the public body records this fact and the remote location from which the member
participated in its minutes; or

3. If, on the day of a meeting, a member of a regional public body notifies the chair of the public body that
such member's principal residence is more than 60 miles from the meeting location identified in the required
notice for such meeting and the public body holding the meeting records in its minutes the remote location
from which the member participated. If a member's participation from a remote location is disapproved
because such participation would violate the policy adopted pursuant to subsection B, such disapproval shall
be recorded in the minutes with specificity.

B. Participation by a member of a public body as authorized under subsection A shall be only under the
following conditions:

1. The public body has adopted a written policy allowing for and governing participation of its members by
electronic communication means, including an approval process for such participation, subject to the express
limitations imposed by this section. Once adopted, the policy shall be applied strictly and uniformly, without
exception, to the entire membership and without regard to the identity of the member requesting remote
participation or the matters that will be considered or voted on at the meeting;

2. A quorum of the public body is physically assembled at the primary or central meeting location; and

3. The public body makes arrangements for the voice of the remote participant to be heard by all persons at
the primary or central meeting location.

2007, c. 945; 2013, cc. 119, 694; 2014, cc. 492, 524; 2017, c. 616.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3709. Expired.

Expired.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3710. Transaction of public business other than by votes at meetings prohibited.

A. Unless otherwise specifically provided by law, no vote of any kind of the membership, or any part thereof,
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of any public body shall be taken to authorize the transaction of any public business, other than a vote taken
at a meeting conducted in accordance with the provisions of this chapter. No public body shall vote by secret
or written ballot, and unless expressly provided by this chapter, no public body shall vote by telephone or
other electronic communication means.

B. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing contained herein shall be construed to prohibit (i) separately
contacting the membership, or any part thereof, of any public body for the purpose of ascertaining a
member's position with respect to the transaction of public business, whether such contact is done in person,
by telephone or by electronic communication, provided the contact is done on a basis that does not constitute
a meeting as defined in this chapter or (ii) the House of Delegates or the Senate of Virginia from adopting
rules relating to the casting of votes by members of standing committees. Nothing in this subsection shall
operate to exclude any public record from the provisions of this chapter.

1987, c. 71, § 2.1-343.2; 1999, cc. 703, 726; 2000, c. 932; 2001, cc. 710, 844; 2002, c. 491.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3711. Closed meetings authorized for certain limited purposes.

A. Public bodies may hold closed meetings only for the following purposes:

1. Discussion, consideration, or interviews of prospective candidates for employment; assignment,
appointment, promotion, performance, demotion, salaries, disciplining, or resignation of specific public
officers, appointees, or employees of any public body; and evaluation of performance of departments or
schools of public institutions of higher education where such evaluation will necessarily involve discussion
of the performance of specific individuals. Any teacher shall be permitted to be present during a closed
meeting in which there is a discussion or consideration of a disciplinary matter that involves the teacher and
some student and the student involved in the matter is present, provided the teacher makes a written request
to be present to the presiding officer of the appropriate board. Nothing in this subdivision, however, shall be
construed to authorize a closed meeting by a local governing body or an elected school board to discuss
compensation matters that affect the membership of such body or board collectively.

2. Discussion or consideration of admission or disciplinary matters or any other matters that would involve
the disclosure of information contained in a scholastic record concerning any student of any public institution
of higher education in the Commonwealth or any state school system. However, any such student, legal
counsel and, if the student is a minor, the student's parents or legal guardians shall be permitted to be present
during the taking of testimony or presentation of evidence at a closed meeting, if such student, parents, or
guardians so request in writing and such request is submitted to the presiding officer of the appropriate board.

3. Discussion or consideration of the acquisition of real property for a public purpose, or of the disposition of
publicly held real property, where discussion in an open meeting would adversely affect the bargaining
position or negotiating strategy of the public body.

4. The protection of the privacy of individuals in personal matters not related to public business.

5. Discussion concerning a prospective business or industry or the expansion of an existing business or
industry where no previous announcement has been made of the business' or industry's interest in locating or
expanding its facilities in the community.
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6. Discussion or consideration of the investment of public funds where competition or bargaining is involved,
where, if made public initially, the financial interest of the governmental unit would be adversely affected.

7. Consultation with legal counsel and briefings by staff members or consultants pertaining to actual or
probable litigation, where such consultation or briefing in open meeting would adversely affect the
negotiating or litigating posture of the public body. For the purposes of this subdivision, "probable litigation"
means litigation that has been specifically threatened or on which the public body or its legal counsel has a
reasonable basis to believe will be commenced by or against a known party. Nothing in this subdivision shall
be construed to permit the closure of a meeting merely because an attorney representing the public body is in
attendance or is consulted on a matter.

8. Consultation with legal counsel employed or retained by a public body regarding specific legal matters
requiring the provision of legal advice by such counsel. Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed to
permit the closure of a meeting merely because an attorney representing the public body is in attendance or is
consulted on a matter.

9. Discussion or consideration by governing boards of public institutions of higher education of matters
relating to gifts, bequests and fund-raising activities, and of grants and contracts for services or work to be
performed by such institution. However, the terms and conditions of any such gifts, bequests, grants, and
contracts made by a foreign government, a foreign legal entity, or a foreign person and accepted by a public
institution of higher education in the Commonwealth shall be subject to public disclosure upon written
request to the appropriate board of visitors. For the purpose of this subdivision, (i) "foreign government"
means any government other than the United States government or the government of a state or a political
subdivision thereof, (ii) "foreign legal entity" means any legal entity (a) created under the laws of the United
States or of any state thereof if a majority of the ownership of the stock of such legal entity is owned by
foreign governments or foreign persons or if a majority of the membership of any such entity is composed of
foreign persons or foreign legal entities or (b) created under the laws of a foreign government, and (iii)
"foreign person" means any individual who is not a citizen or national of the United States or a trust territory
or protectorate thereof.

10. Discussion or consideration by the boards of trustees of the Virginia Museum of Fine Arts, the Virginia
Museum of Natural History, the Jamestown-Yorktown Foundation, and The Science Museum of Virginia of
matters relating to specific gifts, bequests, and grants from private sources.

11. Discussion or consideration of honorary degrees or special awards.

12. Discussion or consideration of tests, examinations, or other information used, administered, or prepared
by a public body and subject to the exclusion in subdivision 4 of § 2.2-3705.1.

13. Discussion, consideration, or review by the appropriate House or Senate committees of possible
disciplinary action against a member arising out of the possible inadequacy of the disclosure statement filed
by the member, provided the member may request in writing that the committee meeting not be conducted in
a closed meeting.

14. Discussion of strategy with respect to the negotiation of a hazardous waste siting agreement or to consider
the terms, conditions, and provisions of a hazardous waste siting agreement if the governing body in open
meeting finds that an open meeting will have an adverse effect upon the negotiating position of the governing
body or the establishment of the terms, conditions and provisions of the siting agreement, or both. All
discussions with the applicant or its representatives may be conducted in a closed meeting.
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15. Discussion by the Governor and any economic advisory board reviewing forecasts of economic activity
and estimating general and nongeneral fund revenues.

16. Discussion or consideration of medical and mental health records subject to the exclusion in subdivision 1
of § 2.2-3705.5.

17. Deliberations of the Virginia Lottery Board in a licensing appeal action conducted pursuant to subsection
D of § 58.1-4007 regarding the denial or revocation of a license of a lottery sales agent; and discussion,
consideration or review of Virginia Lottery matters related to proprietary lottery game information and
studies or investigations excluded from disclosure under subdivision 6 of § 2.2-3705.3 and subdivision 11 of
§ 2.2-3705.7.

18. Those portions of meetings in which the Board of Corrections discusses or discloses the identity of, or
information tending to identify, any prisoner who (i) provides information about crimes or criminal activities,
(ii) renders assistance in preventing the escape of another prisoner or in the apprehension of an escaped
prisoner, or (iii) voluntarily or at the instance of a prison official renders other extraordinary services, the
disclosure of which is likely to jeopardize the prisoner's life or safety.

19. Discussion of plans to protect public safety as it relates to terrorist activity or specific cybersecurity
threats or vulnerabilities and briefings by staff members, legal counsel, or law-enforcement or emergency
service officials concerning actions taken to respond to such matters or a related threat to public safety;
discussion of information subject to the exclusion in subdivision 2 or 14 of § 2.2-3705.2, where discussion in
an open meeting would jeopardize the safety of any person or the security of any facility, building, structure,
information technology system, or software program; or discussion of reports or plans related to the security
of any governmental facility, building or structure, or the safety of persons using such facility, building or
structure.

20. Discussion by the Board of the Virginia Retirement System, acting pursuant to § 51.1-124.30, or of any
local retirement system, acting pursuant to § 51.1-803, or by a local finance board or board of trustees of a
trust established by one or more local public bodies to invest funds for postemployment benefits other than
pensions, acting pursuant to Article 8 (§ 15.2-1544 et seq.) of Chapter 15 of Title 15.2, or by the board of
visitors of the University of Virginia, acting pursuant to § 23.1-2210, or by the Board of the Virginia College
Savings Plan, acting pursuant to § 23.1-706, regarding the acquisition, holding or disposition of a security or
other ownership interest in an entity, where such security or ownership interest is not traded on a
governmentally regulated securities exchange, to the extent that such discussion (i) concerns confidential
analyses prepared for the board of visitors of the University of Virginia, prepared by the retirement system, or
a local finance board or board of trustees, or the Virginia College Savings Plan or provided to the retirement
system, a local finance board or board of trustees, or the Virginia College Savings Plan under a promise of
confidentiality, of the future value of such ownership interest or the future financial performance of the entity,
and (ii) would have an adverse effect on the value of the investment to be acquired, held, or disposed of by
the retirement system, a local finance board or board of trustees, the board of visitors of the University of
Virginia, or the Virginia College Savings Plan. Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed to prevent the
disclosure of information relating to the identity of any investment held, the amount invested or the present
value of such investment.

21. Those portions of meetings in which individual child death cases are discussed by the State Child Fatality
Review team established pursuant to § 32.1-283.1, those portions of meetings in which individual child death
cases are discussed by a regional or local child fatality review team established pursuant to § 32.1-283.2,
those portions of meetings in which individual death cases are discussed by family violence fatality review
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teams established pursuant to § 32.1-283.3, those portions of meetings in which individual adult death cases
are discussed by the state Adult Fatality Review Team established pursuant to § 32.1-283.5, and those
portions of meetings in which individual adult death cases are discussed by a local or regional adult fatality
review team established pursuant to § 32.1-283.6.

22. Those portions of meetings of the board of visitors of the University of Virginia or the Eastern Virginia
Medical School Board of Visitors, as the case may be, and those portions of meetings of any persons to
whom management responsibilities for the University of Virginia Medical Center or Eastern Virginia Medical
School, as the case may be, have been delegated, in which there is discussed proprietary, business-related
information pertaining to the operations of the University of Virginia Medical Center or Eastern Virginia
Medical School, as the case may be, including business development or marketing strategies and activities
with existing or future joint venturers, partners, or other parties with whom the University of Virginia
Medical Center or Eastern Virginia Medical School, as the case may be, has formed, or forms, any
arrangement for the delivery of health care, if disclosure of such information would adversely affect the
competitive position of the Medical Center or Eastern Virginia Medical School, as the case may be.

23. Discussion or consideration by the Virginia Commonwealth University Health System Authority or the
board of visitors of Virginia Commonwealth University of any of the following: the acquisition or disposition
by the Authority of real property, equipment, or technology software or hardware and related goods or
services, where disclosure would adversely affect the bargaining position or negotiating strategy of the
Authority; matters relating to gifts or bequests to, and fund-raising activities of, the Authority; grants and
contracts for services or work to be performed by the Authority; marketing or operational strategies plans of
the Authority where disclosure of such strategies or plans would adversely affect the competitive position of
the Authority; and members of the Authority's medical and teaching staffs and qualifications for
appointments thereto.

24. Those portions of the meetings of the Health Practitioners' Monitoring Program Committee within the
Department of Health Professions to the extent such discussions identify any practitioner who may be, or
who actually is, impaired pursuant to Chapter 25.1 (§ 54.1-2515 et seq.) of Title 54.1.

25. Meetings or portions of meetings of the Board of the Virginia College Savings Plan wherein personal
information, as defined in § 2.2-3801, which has been provided to the Board or its employees by or on behalf
of individuals who have requested information about, applied for, or entered into prepaid tuition contracts or
savings trust account agreements pursuant to Chapter 7 (§ 23.1-700 et seq.) of Title 23.1 is discussed.

26. Discussion or consideration, by the Wireless Carrier E-911 Cost Recovery Subcommittee created
pursuant to § 56-484.15, of trade secrets, as defined in the Uniform Trade Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.),
submitted by CMRS providers as defined in § 56-484.12, related to the provision of wireless E-911 service.

27. Those portions of disciplinary proceedings by any regulatory board within the Department of Professional
and Occupational Regulation, Department of Health Professions, or the Board of Accountancy conducted
pursuant to § 2.2-4019 or 2.2-4020 during which the board deliberates to reach a decision or meetings of
health regulatory boards or conference committees of such boards to consider settlement proposals in pending
disciplinary actions or modifications to previously issued board orders as requested by either of the parties.

28. Discussion or consideration of information subject to the exclusion in subdivision 11 of § 2.2-3705.6 by a
responsible public entity or an affected locality or public entity, as those terms are defined in § 33.2-1800, or
any independent review panel appointed to review information and advise the responsible public entity
concerning such records.

https://law.lis.virginia.gov/report/02wfe/

45 of 51 1/16/2018, 10:49 AM

January 25, 2018, Industrial Development Authority Board of Directors Organizational Meeting Packet Page 126 of 141



29. Discussion of the award of a public contract involving the expenditure of public funds, including
interviews of bidders or offerors, and discussion of the terms or scope of such contract, where discussion in
an open session would adversely affect the bargaining position or negotiating strategy of the public body.

30. Discussion or consideration of grant or loan application information subject to the exclusion in
subdivision 17 of § 2.2-3705.6 by (i) the Commonwealth Health Research Board or (ii) the Innovation and
Entrepreneurship Investment Authority or the Research and Technology Investment Advisory Committee
appointed to advise the Innovation and Entrepreneurship Investment Authority.

31. Discussion or consideration by the Commitment Review Committee of information subject to the
exclusion in subdivision 5 of § 2.2-3705.2 relating to individuals subject to commitment as sexually violent
predators under Chapter 9 (§ 37.2-900 et seq.) of Title 37.2.

32. Discussion or consideration of confidential proprietary information and trade secrets developed and held
by a local public body providing certain telecommunication services or cable television services and subject
to the exclusion in subdivision 18 of § 2.2-3705.6. However, the exemption provided by this subdivision shall
not apply to any authority created pursuant to the BVU Authority Act (§ 15.2-7200 et seq.).

33. Discussion or consideration by a local authority created in accordance with the Virginia Wireless Service
Authorities Act (§ 15.2-5431.1 et seq.) of confidential proprietary information and trade secrets subject to the
exclusion in subdivision 19 of § 2.2-3705.6.

34. Discussion or consideration by the State Board of Elections or local electoral boards of voting security
matters made confidential pursuant to § 24.2-625.1.

35. Discussion or consideration by the Forensic Science Board or the Scientific Advisory Committee created
pursuant to Article 2 (§ 9.1-1109 et seq.) of Chapter 11 of Title 9.1 of criminal investigative files subject to
the exclusion in subdivision A 2 a of § 2.2-3706.

36. Discussion or consideration by the Brown v. Board of Education Scholarship Committee of information
or confidential matters subject to the exclusion in subdivision 3 of § 2.2-3705.4, and meetings of the
Committee to deliberate concerning the annual maximum scholarship award, review and consider scholarship
applications and requests for scholarship award renewal, and cancel, rescind, or recover scholarship awards.

37. Discussion or consideration by the Virginia Port Authority of information subject to the exclusion in
subdivision 1 of § 2.2-3705.6 related to certain proprietary information gathered by or for the Virginia Port
Authority.

38. Discussion or consideration by the Board of Trustees of the Virginia Retirement System acting pursuant
to § 51.1-124.30, by the Investment Advisory Committee appointed pursuant to § 51.1-124.26, by any local
retirement system, acting pursuant to § 51.1-803, by the Board of the Virginia College Savings Plan acting
pursuant to § 23.1-706, or by the Virginia College Savings Plan's Investment Advisory Committee appointed
pursuant to § 23.1-702 of information subject to the exclusion in subdivision 24 of § 2.2-3705.7.

39. Discussion or consideration of information subject to the exclusion in subdivision 3 of § 2.2-3705.6
related to economic development.

40. Discussion or consideration by the Board of Education of information relating to the denial, suspension,
or revocation of teacher licenses subject to the exclusion in subdivision 11 of § 2.2-3705.3.
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41. Those portions of meetings of the Virginia Military Advisory Council or any commission created by
executive order for the purpose of studying and making recommendations regarding preventing closure or
realignment of federal military and national security installations and facilities located in Virginia and
relocation of such facilities to Virginia, or a local or regional military affairs organization appointed by a local
governing body, during which there is discussion of information subject to the exclusion in subdivision 8 of §
2.2-3705.2.

42. Discussion or consideration by the Board of Trustees of the Veterans Services Foundation of information
subject to the exclusion in subdivision 28 of § 2.2-3705.7 related to personally identifiable information of
donors.

43. Discussion or consideration by the Virginia Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission of information
subject to the exclusion in subdivision 23 of § 2.2-3705.6 related to certain information contained in grant
applications.

44. Discussion or consideration by the board of directors of the Commercial Space Flight Authority of
information subject to the exclusion in subdivision 24 of § 2.2-3705.6 related to rate structures or charges for
the use of projects of, the sale of products of, or services rendered by the Authority and certain proprietary
information of a private entity provided to the Authority.

45. Discussion or consideration of personal and proprietary information related to the resource management
plan program and subject to the exclusion in (i) subdivision 25 of § 2.2-3705.6 or (ii) subsection E of §
10.1-104.7. This exclusion shall not apply to the discussion or consideration of records that contain
information that has been certified for release by the person who is the subject of the information or
transformed into a statistical or aggregate form that does not allow identification of the person who supplied,
or is the subject of, the information.

46. (Effective January 15, 2018) Discussion or consideration by the Board of Directors of the Virginia
Alcoholic Beverage Control Authority of information subject to the exclusion in subdivision 1 of §
2.2-3705.3 related to investigations of applicants for licenses and permits and of licensees and permittees.

47. Discussion or consideration of grant or loan application records subject to the exclusion in subdivision 28
of § 2.2-3705.6 related to the submission of an application for an award from the Virginia Research
Investment Fund pursuant to Article 8 (§ 23.1-3130 et seq.) of Chapter 31 of Title 23.1 or interviews of
parties to an application by a reviewing entity pursuant to subsection D of § 23.1-3133 or by the Virginia
Research Investment Committee.

48. Discussion or development of grant proposals by a regional council established pursuant to Article 26 (§
2.2-2484 et seq.) of Chapter 24 to be submitted for consideration to the Virginia Growth and Opportunity
Board.

49. Discussion or consideration of (i) individual sexual assault cases by a sexual assault team established
pursuant to § 15.2-1627.4 or (ii) individual child abuse or neglect cases or sex offenses involving a child by a
child abuse team established pursuant to § 15.2-1627.5.

50. Discussion or consideration by the Board of the Virginia Economic Development Partnership Authority,
or any subcommittee thereof, of the portions of the strategic plan, marketing plan, or operational plan exempt
from disclosure pursuant to subdivision 33 of § 2.2-3705.7.

51. Those portions of meetings of the subcommittee of the Board of the Virginia Economic Development
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Partnership Authority established pursuant to subsection F of § 2.2-2237.3 to review and discuss information
received from the Virginia Employment Commission pursuant to subdivision C 2 of § 60.2-114.

B. No resolution, ordinance, rule, contract, regulation or motion adopted, passed or agreed to in a closed
meeting shall become effective unless the public body, following the meeting, reconvenes in open meeting
and takes a vote of the membership on such resolution, ordinance, rule, contract, regulation, or motion that
shall have its substance reasonably identified in the open meeting.

C. Public officers improperly selected due to the failure of the public body to comply with the other
provisions of this section shall be de facto officers and, as such, their official actions are valid until they
obtain notice of the legal defect in their election.

D. Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent the holding of conferences between two or more
public bodies, or their representatives, but these conferences shall be subject to the same procedures for
holding closed meetings as are applicable to any other public body.

E. This section shall not be construed to (i) require the disclosure of any contract between the Department of
Health Professions and an impaired practitioner entered into pursuant to Chapter 25.1 (§ 54.1-2515 et seq.) of
Title 54.1 or (ii) require the board of directors of any authority created pursuant to the Industrial
Development and Revenue Bond Act (§ 15.2-4900 et seq.), or any public body empowered to issue industrial
revenue bonds by general or special law, to identify a business or industry to which subdivision A 5 applies.
However, such business or industry shall be identified as a matter of public record at least 30 days prior to the
actual date of the board's authorization of the sale or issuance of such bonds.

1968, c. 479, § 2.1-344; 1970, c. 456; 1973, c. 461; 1974, c. 332; 1976, cc. 467, 709; 1979, cc. 369, 684;
1980, cc. 221, 475, 476, 754; 1981, cc. 35, 471; 1982, cc. 497, 516; 1984, cc. 473, 513; 1985, c. 277; 1988, c.
891; 1989, cc. 56, 358, 478; 1990, cc. 435, 538; 1991, c. 708; 1992, c. 444; 1993, cc. 270, 499; 1995, c. 499;
1996, cc. 855, 862, 902, 905, 1046; 1997, cc. 439, 641, 785, 861; 1999, cc. 485, 518, 703, 726, 849, 867, 868;
2000, cc. 382, 400, 720, 1064; 2001, cc. 231, 844; 2002, cc. 87, 393, 455, 478, 499, 655, 715, 830; 2003, cc.
274, 291, 332, 618, 703; 2004, cc. 398, 690, 770; 2005, cc. 258, 411, 568; 2006, cc. 430, 499, 518, 560; 2007,
cc. 133, 374, 566, 739; 2008, cc. 626, 633, 668, 721, 743; 2009, cc. 223, 325, 472, 765, 810, 827, 845; 2010,
cc. 310, 630, 808; 2011, cc. 89, 111, 147, 536, 541, 816, 874; 2012, cc. 476, 507, 803, 835; 2013, cc. 571,
580, 695; 2014, c. 225; 2015, cc. 27, 38, 108, 169, 182, 549, 730; 2016, cc. 544, 620, 716, 724, 725, 775,
778, 779; 2017, cc. 587, 616, 778, 796, 804, 816, 824.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3712. Closed meetings procedures; certification of proceedings.

A. No closed meeting shall be held unless the public body proposing to convene such meeting has taken an
affirmative recorded vote in an open meeting approving a motion that (i) identifies the subject matter, (ii)
states the purpose of the meeting as authorized in subsection A of § 2.2-3711 or other provision of law and
(iii) cites the applicable exemption from open meeting requirements provided in subsection A of § 2.2-3711
or other provision of law. The matters contained in such motion shall be set forth in detail in the minutes of
the open meeting. A general reference to the provisions of this chapter, the authorized exemptions from open
meeting requirements, or the subject matter of the closed meeting shall not be sufficient to satisfy the
requirements for holding a closed meeting.
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B. The notice provisions of this chapter shall not apply to closed meetings of any public body held solely for
the purpose of interviewing candidates for the position of chief administrative officer. Prior to any such
closed meeting for the purpose of interviewing candidates, the public body shall announce in an open
meeting that such closed meeting shall be held at a disclosed or undisclosed location within 15 days
thereafter.

C. The public body holding a closed meeting shall restrict its discussion during the closed meeting only to
those matters specifically exempted from the provisions of this chapter and identified in the motion required
by subsection A.

D. At the conclusion of any closed meeting, the public body holding such meeting shall immediately
reconvene in an open meeting and shall take a roll call or other recorded vote to be included in the minutes of
that body, certifying that to the best of each member's knowledge (i) only public business matters lawfully
exempted from open meeting requirements under this chapter and (ii) only such public business matters as
were identified in the motion by which the closed meeting was convened were heard, discussed or considered
in the meeting by the public body. Any member of the public body who believes that there was a departure
from the requirements of clauses (i) and (ii), shall so state prior to the vote, indicating the substance of the
departure that, in his judgment, has taken place. The statement shall be recorded in the minutes of the public
body.

E. Failure of the certification required by subsection D to receive the affirmative vote of a majority of the
members of the public body present during a meeting shall not affect the validity or confidentiality of such
meeting with respect to matters considered therein in compliance with the provisions of this chapter. The
recorded vote and any statement made in connection therewith, shall upon proper authentication, constitute
evidence in any proceeding brought to enforce the provisions of this chapter.

F. A public body may permit nonmembers to attend a closed meeting if such persons are deemed necessary or
if their presence will reasonably aid the public body in its consideration of a topic that is a subject of the
meeting.

G. A member of a public body shall be permitted to attend a closed meeting held by any committee or
subcommittee of that public body, or a closed meeting of any entity, however designated, created to perform
the delegated functions of or to advise that public body. Such member shall in all cases be permitted to
observe the closed meeting of the committee, subcommittee or entity. In addition to the requirements of §
2.2-3707, the minutes of the committee or other entity shall include the identity of the member of the parent
public body who attended the closed meeting.

H. Except as specifically authorized by law, in no event may any public body take action on matters
discussed in any closed meeting, except at an open meeting for which notice was given as required by §
2.2-3707.

I. Minutes may be taken during closed meetings of a public body, but shall not be required. Such minutes
shall not be subject to mandatory public disclosure.

1989, c. 358, § 2.1-344.1; 1999, cc. 703, 726; 2001, c. 844; 2012, c. 428; 2017, c. 616.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3713. Proceedings for enforcement of chapter.
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A. Any person, including the attorney for the Commonwealth acting in his official or individual capacity,
denied the rights and privileges conferred by this chapter may proceed to enforce such rights and privileges
by filing a petition for mandamus or injunction, supported by an affidavit showing good cause. Such petition
may be brought in the name of the person notwithstanding that a request for public records was made by the
person's attorney in his representative capacity. Venue for the petition shall be addressed as follows:

1. In a case involving a local public body, to the general district court or circuit court of the county or city
from which the public body has been elected or appointed to serve and in which such rights and privileges
were so denied;

2. In a case involving a regional public body, to the general district or circuit court of the county or city where
the principal business office of such body is located; and

3. In a case involving a board, bureau, commission, authority, district, institution, or agency of the state
government, including a public institution of higher education, or a standing or other committee of the
General Assembly, to the general district court or the circuit court of the residence of the aggrieved party or
of the City of Richmond.

B. In any action brought before a general district court, a corporate petitioner may appear through its officer,
director or managing agent without the assistance of counsel, notwithstanding any provision of law or Rule of
the Supreme Court of Virginia to the contrary.

C. Notwithstanding the provisions of § 8.01-644, the petition for mandamus or injunction shall be heard
within seven days of the date when the same is made, provided the party against whom the petition is brought
has received a copy of the petition at least three working days prior to filing. The hearing on any petition
made outside of the regular terms of the circuit court of a locality that is included in a judicial circuit with
another locality or localities shall be given precedence on the docket of such court over all cases that are not
otherwise given precedence by law.

D. The petition shall allege with reasonable specificity the circumstances of the denial of the rights and
privileges conferred by this chapter. A single instance of denial of the rights and privileges conferred by this
chapter shall be sufficient to invoke the remedies granted herein. If the court finds the denial to be in
violation of the provisions of this chapter, the petitioner shall be entitled to recover reasonable costs,
including costs and reasonable fees for expert witnesses, and attorneys' fees from the public body if the
petitioner substantially prevails on the merits of the case, unless special circumstances would make an award
unjust. In making this determination, a court may consider, among other things, the reliance of a public body
on an opinion of the Attorney General or a decision of a court that substantially supports the public body's
position.

E. In any action to enforce the provisions of this chapter, the public body shall bear the burden of proof to
establish an exclusion by a preponderance of the evidence. No court shall be required to accord any weight to
the determination of a public body as to whether an exclusion applies. Any failure by a public body to follow
the procedures established by this chapter shall be presumed to be a violation of this chapter.

F. Failure by any person to request and receive notice of the time and place of meetings as provided in §
2.2-3707 shall not preclude any person from enforcing his rights and privileges conferred by this chapter.

1968, c. 479, § 2.1-346; 1976, c. 709; 1978, c. 826; 1989, c. 358; 1990, c. 217; 1996, c. 578; 1999, cc. 703,
726; 2001, c. 844; 2007, c. 560; 2009, c. 634; 2010, c. 299; 2011, cc. 133, 783; 2016, cc. 620, 716.
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The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 2.2-3714. Violations and penalties.

In a proceeding commenced against any officer, employee, or member of a public body under § 2.2-3713 for
a violation of § 2.2-3704, 2.2-3705.1 through 2.2-3705.7, 2.2-3706, 2.2-3707, 2.2-3708, 2.2-3708.1,
2.2-3710, 2.2-3711 or 2.2-3712, the court, if it finds that a violation was willfully and knowingly made, shall
impose upon such officer, employee, or member in his individual capacity, whether a writ of mandamus or
injunctive relief is awarded or not, a civil penalty of not less than $500 nor more than $2,000, which amount
shall be paid into the State Literary Fund. For a second or subsequent violation, such civil penalty shall be not
less than $2,000 nor more than $5,000.

1976, c. 467, § 2.1-346.1; 1978, c. 826; 1984, c. 252; 1989, c. 358; 1996, c. 578; 1999, cc. 703, 726; 2001, c.
844; 2003, c. 319; 2004, c. 690; 2008, cc. 233, 789; 2011, c. 327; 2017, c. 778.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.
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Code of Virginia
Title 42.1. Libraries

§ 42.1-76. Legislative intent; title of chapter.

The General Assembly intends by this chapter to establish a single body of law applicable to all public
officers and employees on the subject of public records management and preservation and to ensure that the
procedures used to manage and preserve public records will be uniform throughout the Commonwealth.

This chapter may be cited as the Virginia Public Records Act.

1976, c. 746.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 42.1-76.1. Notice of Chapter.

Any person elected, reelected, appointed, or reappointed to the governing body of any agency subject to this
chapter shall (i) be furnished by the agency or public body's administrator or legal counsel with a copy of this
chapter within two weeks following election, reelection, appointment, or reappointment and (ii) read and
become familiar with the provisions of this chapter.

2006, c. 60.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 42.1-77. Definitions.

As used in this chapter:

"Agency" means all boards, commissions, departments, divisions, institutions, authorities, or parts thereof, of
the Commonwealth or its political subdivisions and includes the offices of constitutional officers.

"Archival quality" means a quality of reproduction consistent with established standards specified by state
and national agencies and organizations responsible for establishing such standards, such as the Association
for Information and Image Management, the American National Standards Institute, and the National
Institute of Standards and Technology.

"Archival record" means a public record of continuing and enduring value useful to the citizens of the
Commonwealth and necessary to the administrative functions of public agencies in the conduct of services
and activities mandated by law that is identified on a Library of Virginia approved records retention and
disposition schedule as having sufficient informational value to be permanently maintained by the
Commonwealth.

"Archives" means the program administered by The Library of Virginia for the preservation of archival
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records.

"Board" means the State Library Board.

"Conversion" means the act of moving electronic records to a different format, especially data from an
obsolete format to a current format.

"Custodian" means the public official in charge of an office having public records.

"Disaster plan" means the information maintained by an agency that outlines recovery techniques and
methods to be followed in case of an emergency that impacts the agency's records.

"Electronic record" means a public record whose creation, storage, and access require the use of an
automated system or device. Ownership of the hardware, software, or media used to create, store, or access
the electronic record has no bearing on a determination of whether such record is a public record.

"Essential public record" means records that are required for recovery and reconstruction of any agency to
enable it to resume its core operations and functions and to protect the rights and interests of persons.

"Librarian of Virginia" means the State Librarian of Virginia or his designated representative.

"Lifecycle" means the creation, use, maintenance, and disposition of a public record.

"Metadata" means data describing the context, content, and structure of records and their management
through time.

"Migration" means the act of moving electronic records from one information system or medium to another
to ensure continued access to the records while maintaining the records' authenticity, integrity, reliability, and
usability.

"Original record" means the first generation of the information and is the preferred version of a record.
Archival records should to the maximum extent possible be original records.

"Preservation" means the processes and operations involved in ensuring the technical and intellectual survival
of authentic records through time.

"Private record" means a record that does not relate to or affect the carrying out of the constitutional,
statutory, or other official ceremonial duties of a public official, including the correspondence, diaries,
journals, or notes that are not prepared for, utilized for, circulated, or communicated in the course of
transacting public business.

"Public official" means all persons holding any office created by the Constitution of Virginia or by any act of
the General Assembly, the Governor and all other officers of the executive branch of the state government,
and all other officers, heads, presidents or chairmen of boards, commissions, departments, and agencies of the
state government or its political subdivisions.

"Public record" or "record" means recorded information that documents a transaction or activity by or with
any public officer, agency or employee of an agency. Regardless of physical form or characteristic, the
recorded information is a public record if it is produced, collected, received or retained in pursuance of law or
in connection with the transaction of public business. The medium upon which such information is recorded
has no bearing on the determination of whether the recording is a public record.
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For purposes of this chapter, "public record" shall not include nonrecord materials, meaning materials made
or acquired and preserved solely for reference use or exhibition purposes, extra copies of documents
preserved only for convenience or reference, and stocks of publications.

"Records retention and disposition schedule" means a Library of Virginia-approved timetable stating the
required retention period and disposition action of a records series. The administrative, fiscal, historical, and
legal value of a public record shall be considered in appraising its appropriate retention schedule. The terms
"administrative," "fiscal," "historical," and "legal" value shall be defined as:

1. "Administrative value": Records shall be deemed of administrative value if they have continuing utility in
the operation of an agency.

2. "Fiscal value": Records shall be deemed of fiscal value if they are needed to document and verify financial
authorizations, obligations, and transactions.

3. "Historical value": Records shall be deemed of historical value if they contain unique information,
regardless of age, that provides understanding of some aspect of the government and promotes the
development of an informed and enlightened citizenry.

4. "Legal value": Records shall be deemed of legal value if they document actions taken in the protection and
proving of legal or civil rights and obligations of individuals and agencies.

1976, c. 746; 1977, c. 501; 1981, c. 637; 1987, c. 217; 1990, c. 778; 1994, cc. 390, 955; 1998, cc. 427, 470;
2005, c. 787; 2006, c. 60.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 42.1-78. Confidentiality safeguarded.

Any records made confidential by law shall be so treated. Records which by law are required to be closed to
the public shall not be deemed to be made open to the public under the provisions of this chapter. Records in
the custody of The Library of Virginia which are required to be closed to the public shall be open for public
access 75 years after the date of creation of the record. No provision of this chapter shall be construed to
authorize or require the opening of any records ordered to be sealed by a court. All records deposited in the
archives that are not made confidential by law shall be open to public access.

1976, c. 746; 1979, c. 110; 1990, c. 778; 1994, c. 64; 2006, c. 60.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 42.1-79. Records management function vested in The Library of Virginia.

A. The archival and records management function shall be vested in The Library of Virginia. The Library of
Virginia shall be the official custodian and trustee for the Commonwealth of all public records of whatever
kind, and regardless of physical form or characteristics, that are transferred to it from any agency. As the
Commonwealth's official repository of public records, The Library of Virginia shall assume ownership and
administrative control of such records on behalf of the Commonwealth. The Library of Virginia shall own
and operate any equipment necessary to manage and retain control of electronic archival records in its
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custody, but may, at its discretion, contract with third-party entities to provide any or all services related to
managing archival records on equipment owned by the contractor, by other third parties, or by The Library of
Virginia.

B. The Librarian of Virginia shall name a State Archivist who shall perform such functions as the Librarian
of Virginia assigns.

C. Whenever legislation affecting public records management and preservation is under consideration, The
Library of Virginia shall review the proposal and advise the General Assembly on the effects of its proposed
implementation.

1976, c. 746; 1986, c. 565; 1990, c. 778; 1994, c. 64; 1998, c. 427; 2005, c. 787; 2006, c. 60.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 42.1-79.1. Repealed.

Repealed by Acts 2005, c. 787, cl. 2.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§§ 42.1-80, 42.1-81. Repealed.

Repealed by Acts 2003, c. 177.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 42.1-82. Duties and powers of Library Board.

A. The State Library Board shall:

1. Issue regulations concerning procedures for the disposal, physical destruction or other disposition of public
records containing social security numbers. The procedures shall include all reasonable steps to destroy such
documents by (i) shredding, (ii) erasing, or (iii) otherwise modifying the social security numbers in those
records to make them unreadable or undecipherable by any means.

2. Issue regulations and guidelines designed to facilitate the creation, preservation, storage, filing,
reformatting, management, and destruction of public records by agencies. Such regulations shall mandate
procedures for records management and include recommendations for the creation, retention, disposal, or
other disposition of public records.

B. The State Library Board may establish advisory committees composed of persons with expertise in the
matters under consideration to assist the Library Board in developing regulations and guidelines.

1976, c. 746; 1977, c. 501; 1981, c. 637; 1990, c. 778; 1994, cc. 64, 955; 2003, cc. 914, 918; 2005, c. 787;
2006, c. 60.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
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constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 42.1-83. Repealed.

Repealed by Acts 2006, c. 60, cl. 2.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 42.1-84. Repealed.

Repealed by Acts 2005, c. 787, cl. 2.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 42.1-85. Records Management Program; agencies to cooperate; agencies to designate records officer.

A. The Library of Virginia shall administer a records management program for the application of efficient
and economical methods for managing the lifecycle of public records consistent with regulations and
guidelines promulgated by the State Library Board, including operation of a records center or centers. The
Library of Virginia shall establish procedures and techniques for the effective management of public records,
make continuing surveys of records and records keeping practices, and recommend improvements in current
records management practices, including the use of space, equipment, software, and supplies employed in
creating, maintaining, and servicing records.

B. Any agency with public records shall cooperate with The Library of Virginia in conducting surveys. Each
agency shall establish and maintain an active, continuing program for the economical and efficient
management of the records of such agency. The agency shall be responsible for ensuring that its public
records are preserved, maintained, and accessible throughout their lifecycle, including converting and
migrating electronic records as often as necessary so that information is not lost due to hardware, software, or
media obsolescence or deterioration. Any public official who converts or migrates an electronic record shall
ensure that it is an accurate copy of the original record. The converted or migrated record shall have the force
of the original.

C. Each state agency and political subdivision of this Commonwealth shall designate as many as appropriate,
but at least one, records officer to serve as a liaison to The Library of Virginia for the purposes of
implementing and overseeing a records management program, and coordinating legal disposition, including
destruction, of obsolete records. Designation of state agency records officers shall be by the respective
agency head. Designation of a records officer for political subdivisions shall be by the governing body or
chief administrative official of the political subdivision. Each entity responsible for designating a records
officer shall provide The Library of Virginia with the name and contact information of the designated records
officer, and shall ensure that such information is updated in a timely manner in the event of any changes.

D. The Library of Virginia shall develop and make available training and education opportunities concerning
the requirements of and compliance with this chapter for records officers in the Commonwealth.

1976, c. 746; 1990, c. 778; 1994, c. 64; 1998, c. 427; 2006, c. 60.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
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constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 42.1-86. Essential public records; security recovery copies; disaster plans.

A. In cooperation with the head of each agency, The Library of Virginia shall establish and maintain a
program for the selection and preservation of essential public records. The program shall provide for
preserving, classifying, arranging, and indexing essential public records so that such records are made
available to the public. The program shall provide for making recovery copies or designate as recovery copies
existing copies of such essential public records.

B. Recovery copies shall meet quality standards established by The Library of Virginia and shall be made by
a process that accurately reproduces the record and forms a durable medium. A recovery copy may also be
made by creating a paper or electronic copy of an original electronic record. Recovery copies shall have the
same force and effect for all purposes as the original record and shall be as admissible in evidence as the
original record whether the original record is in existence or not. Recovery copies shall be preserved in the
place and manner prescribed by the State Library Board and the Governor.

C. The Library of Virginia shall develop a plan to ensure preservation of public records in the event of
disaster or emergency as defined in § 44-146.16. This plan shall be coordinated with the Department of
Emergency Management and copies shall be distributed to all agency heads. The plan shall be reviewed and
updated at least once every five years. The personnel of the Library shall be responsible for coordinating
emergency recovery operations when public records are affected. Each agency shall ensure that a plan for the
protection and recovery of public records is included in its comprehensive disaster plan.

1976, c. 746; 1980, c. 365; 1990, c. 778; 1994, c. 64; 1998, c. 427; 2005, c. 787; 2006, c. 60.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 42.1-86.1. Disposition of public records.

A. No agency shall sell or give away public records. No agency shall destroy or discard a public record
unless (i) the record appears on a records retention and disposition schedule approved pursuant to § 42.1-82
and the record's retention period has expired; (ii) a certificate of records destruction, as designated by the
Librarian of Virginia, has been properly completed and approved by the agency's designated records officer;
and (iii) there is no litigation, audit, investigation, request for records pursuant to the Virginia Freedom of
Information Act (§ 2.2-3700 et seq.), or renegotiation of the relevant records retention and disposition
schedule pending at the expiration of the retention period for the applicable records series. After a record is
destroyed or discarded, the agency shall forward the original certificate of records destruction to The Library
of Virginia.

B. No agency shall destroy any public record created before 1912 without first offering it to The Library of
Virginia.

C. Each agency shall ensure that records created after July 1, 2006 and authorized to be destroyed or
discarded in accordance with subsection A, are destroyed or discarded in a timely manner in accordance with
the provisions of this chapter; provided, however, such records that contain identifying information as
defined in clauses (iii) through (ix), or clause (xii) of subsection C of § 18.2-186.3, shall be destroyed within
six months of the expiration of the records retention period.
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1990, c. 778; 1998, c. 427; 2005, c. 787; 2006, cc. 60, 909.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 42.1-87. Archival public records.

A. Custodians of archival public records shall keep them in fire-resistant, environmentally controlled,
physically secure rooms designed to ensure proper preservation and in such arrangement as to be easily
accessible. Current public records should be kept in the buildings in which they are ordinarily used. It shall be
the duty of each agency to consult with The Library of Virginia to determine the best manner in which to
store long-term or archival electronic records. In entering into a contract with a third-party storage provider
for the storage of public records, an agency shall require the third-party to cooperate with The Library of
Virginia in complying with rules and regulations promulgated by the Board.

B. Public records deemed unnecessary for the transaction of the business of any state agency, yet deemed to
be of archival value, may be transferred with the consent of the Librarian of Virginia to the custody of the
Library of Virginia.

C. Public records deemed unnecessary for the transaction of the business of any county, city, or town, yet
deemed to be of archival value, shall be stored either in The Library of Virginia or in the locality, at the
decision of the local officials responsible for maintaining public records. Archival public records shall be
returned to the locality upon the written request of the local officials responsible for maintaining local public
records. Microfilm shall be stored in The Library of Virginia but the use thereof shall be subject to the control
of the local officials responsible for maintaining local public records.

D. Record books deemed archival should be copied or repaired, renovated or rebound if worn, mutilated,
damaged or difficult to read. Whenever the public records of any public official are in need of repair,
restoration or rebinding, a judge of the court of record or the head of such agency or political subdivision of
the Commonwealth may authorize that the records in need of repair be removed from the building or office in
which such records are ordinarily kept, for the length of time necessary to repair, restore or rebind them,
provided such restoration and rebinding preserves the records without loss or damage to them. Before any
restoration or repair work is initiated, a treatment proposal from the contractor shall be submitted and
reviewed in consultation with The Library of Virginia. Any public official who causes a record book to be
copied shall attest it and shall certify an oath that it is an accurate copy of the original book. The copy shall
then have the force of the original.

E. Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to divest agency heads of the authority to determine the nature
and form of the records required in the administration of their several departments or to compel the removal
of records deemed necessary by them in the performance of their statutory duty.

1976, c. 746; 1994, cc. 64, 955; 2005, c. 787; 2006, c. 60.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 42.1-88. Custodians to deliver all records at expiration of term; penalty for noncompliance.

Any custodian of any public records shall, at the expiration of his term of office, appointment or employment,
deliver to his successor, or, if there be none, to The Library of Virginia, all books, writings, letters,
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documents, public records, or other information, recorded on any medium kept or received by him in the
transaction of his official business; and any such person who shall refuse or neglect for a period of ten days
after a request is made in writing by the successor or Librarian of Virginia to deliver the public records as
herein required shall be guilty of a Class 3 misdemeanor.

1976, c. 746; 1994, c. 64; 1998, c. 427.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 42.1-89. Petition and court order for return of public records not in authorized possession.

The Librarian of Virginia or his designated representative such as the State Archivist or any public official
who is the custodian of public records in the possession of a person or agency not authorized by the custodian
or by law to possess such public records shall petition the circuit court in the city or county in which the
person holding such records resides or in which the materials in issue, or any part thereof, are located for the
return of such records. The court shall order such public records be delivered to the petitioner upon finding
that the materials in issue are public records and that such public records are in the possession of a person not
authorized by the custodian of the public records or by law to possess such public records. If the order of
delivery does not receive compliance, the plaintiff shall request that the court enforce such order through its
contempt power and procedures.

1975, c. 180; 1976, c. 746; 1998, c. 427.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 42.1-90. Seizure of public records not in authorized possession.

A. At any time after the filing of the petition set out in § 42.1-89 or contemporaneous with such filing, the
person seeking the return of the public records may by ex parte petition request the judge or the court in
which the action was filed to issue an order directed at the sheriff or other proper officer, as the case may be,
commanding him to seize the materials which are the subject of the action and deliver the same to the court
under the circumstances hereinafter set forth.

B. The judge aforesaid shall issue an order of seizure upon receipt of an affidavit from the petitioner which
alleges that the material at issue may be sold, secreted, removed out of this Commonwealth or otherwise
disposed of so as not to be forthcoming to answer the final judgment of the court respecting the same; or that
such property may be destroyed or materially damaged or injured if permitted to remain out of the petitioner's
possession.

C. The aforementioned order of seizure shall issue without notice to the respondent and without the posting
of any bond or other security by the petitioner.

1975, c. 180; 1976, c. 746.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 42.1-90.1. Auditing.
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The Librarian may, in his discretion, conduct an audit of the records management practices of any agency.
Any agency subject to the audit shall cooperate and provide the Library with any records or assistance that it
requests. The Librarian shall compile a written summary of the findings of the audit and any actions
necessary to bring the agency into compliance with this chapter. The summary shall be a public record, and
shall be made available to the agency subject to the audit, the Governor, and the chairmen of the House and
Senate Committees on General Laws and the House Appropriations and Senate Finance Committees of the
General Assembly.

2006, c. 60.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

§ 42.1-91. Repealed.

Repealed by Acts 2006, c. 60, cl. 2.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not
constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.
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ROBINSON, FARMER, COX ASSOCIATES 
 


CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS           A PROFESSIONAL LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 


Independent Auditors’ Report 


To the Honorable Members of  
the Board of Supervisors 
County of Clarke, Virginia  


Report on the Financial Statements 


We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the discretely 
presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the County 
of Clarke, Virginia, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2017, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the County’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents.   


Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 


Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 


Auditors’ Responsibility 


Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States; and the Specifications for Audits of Counties, Cities, and Towns,
issued by the Auditor of Public Accounts of the Commonwealth of Virginia. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.   


An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.   


We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions. 


1







Opinions


In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the discretely presented component units, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the County of Clarke, Virginia, as of June 30, 
2017, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable,  cash flows thereof for the 
year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America.


Other Matters 


Required Supplementary Information


Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information, and schedules related to pension and OPEB 
funding on pages 4-10, 70-71, and 72-76 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such 
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our 
audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion 
or provide any assurance.  The budgetary comparison information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all 
material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.   


Other Information 


Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the County of Clarke, Virginia’s basic financial statements.  The other supplementary information 
and other statistical information are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required 
part of the basic financial statements.  The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, 
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and is 
also not a required part of the basic financial statements.  


The other supplementary information and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are the 
responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and 
other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  Such information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, 
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and 
other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America.  In our opinion, the other supplementary information and the schedule of expenditures of 
federal awards are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a 
whole.   


The other statistical information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of 
the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on 
them.
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards


In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 24, 
2017, on our consideration of the County of Clarke, Virginia’s internal control over financial reporting and 
on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements 
and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal 
control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the County of Clarke, Virginia’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance.


Charlottesville, Virginia 
November 24, 2017 
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County of Clarke, Virginia 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 


As management of the County of Clarke (the “County”), we offer readers of the County’s financial 
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the County for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2017.   


Financial Highlights 


The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the County (excluding component units) 
exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows of resources at the close of the most recent fiscal 
year by $37.0 million (net position).  Of this amount, $10.5 million (unrestricted net position)
may be used to meet the County’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.   


The County’s total net position increased by $0.9 million, of which the governmental activities 
accounted for 100% of the increase. 


At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was 
$347,108. The Fiscal Policy of Clarke County requires that certain financial designations of 
General Fund balance be maintained.  These financial designations are reported as assigned 
fund balance of $11,081,558 and are comprised of the numerous designations.  Liquidity and 
stabilization funds comprise $4,288,396.  Saving for pay-as-you-go capital expenditures 
comprises $4,411,471. A total of ($50,762) is assigned for carryover requests from unexpended 
FY 16 funds.  $100,000 is assigned for compensated absences. 


The County’s total long-term obligations decreased by $1,914,783 (5%) during the current fiscal 
year.  


Overview of the Financial Statements 


This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the County’s basic financial 
statements.  The County’s basic financial statements comprise three components:  1) government-
wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements.  This 
report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements 
themselves.


Government-wide financial statements 


The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide the readers with a broad overview 
of the County’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business.  The statement of net 
position presents information on all of the County’s assets, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 
with the difference between the two reported as net position.  Over time, increases or decreases in 
net position may serve as a useful indicator of how the financial position of the County may be 
changing.  Increases in net position may indicate an improved financial position; however, even 
decreases in net position may reflect a changing manner in which the County may have used previously 
accumulated funds. 


The statement of activities presents information showing how the County’s net position changed 
during the most recent fiscal year.  All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying 
event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenues 
and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future 
fiscal periods, (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave). 
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Overview of the Financial Statements (Continued) 


Government-wide financial statements:  (Continued) 


Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the County that are 
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other 
functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and 
charges (business-type activities).  The governmental activities of the County include general 
government administration, judicial administration, public safety, public works, health and welfare, 
parks, recreation and cultural, community development, and education.  The County did not operate 
any business-type activities. 


The government-wide financial statements include not only the County itself (known as the primary 
government), but also a legally separate school board, a legally separate industrial development 
authority and a legally separate sanitary authority for which the County is financially accountable.  
Financial information for these component units is reported separately from the financial information 
presented for the primary government itself.  The government-wide financial statements can be found 
on pages 11 through 13 of this report. 


Fund financial statements


A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 
segregated for specific activities or objectives.  The County, like other state and local governments, 
uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements.  
All of the funds of the County can be divided into three categories:  governmental funds, proprietary 
funds, and fiduciary funds. 


Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental 
activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, unlike the government-wide 
financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows 
of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the 
fiscal year.  Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing 
requirements.  


Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  By 
doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the County’s near-term financing 
decisions.  Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of 
revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this 
comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.


The County reports ten individual governmental funds.  Information is presented separately in the 
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, 
and changes in fund balances for the General Fund, the Virginia Public Assistance Fund and the School 
Debt Service Fund, all of which are considered to be major funds.  Data from the other County funds 
are combined into a single, aggregated presentation.  Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor 
governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.   
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Overview of the Financial Statements (Continued) 


Fund financial statements:  (Continued)


The County adopts an annual appropriated budget for its General Fund.  A budgetary comparison 
statement has been provided for the General Fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget.  The 
basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 15 through 17 of this report. 


Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the County.  
Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statement because the resources of 
those funds are not available to support the County’s own programs.  The accounting used for 
fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds.  The basic fiduciary fund statement can be 
found on page 18 of this report. 


Notes to the financial statements   


The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided 
in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to the financial statements can be 
found on pages 19 through 69 of this report. 


Other information


In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents 
required supplementary information concerning budgetary comparisons for the general fund and VPA 
special revenue fund.  Required supplementary information can be found on page 70 through 76 of this 
report. 


The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor governmental funds are 
presented immediately following the required supplementary information.  Combining and individual 
fund statements and schedules can be found starting on page 77 of this report. 


Government-Wide Financial Analysis 


As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial 
position.  In the case of the County, assets exceeded liabilities by $37.0 million at the close of the 
most recent fiscal year.  A large portion of the County’s net position ($26.5 million, 72% of total) 
reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, machinery, and equipment), less any 
related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding.  The County uses these capital 
assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending.  
Although the County’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be 
noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the 
capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities (i.e., the County’s investment in 
capital assets are of a permanent nature as assets acquired are generally not sold or otherwise 
disposed of during their useful life). 


6







Government-Wide Financial Analysis (Continued) 


The following table provides a comparative summary of the County’s Statement of Net Position: 


2017 2016


Current and other assets $ 26,785,355 $ 29,871,095
Capital assets 56,441,951 55,264,369


Total assets $ 83,227,306 $ 85,135,464


Deferred outflows of resources $ 838,498 $ 466,768


Long-term liabilities outstanding $ 33,296,996 $ 35,211,779
Other liabilities 2,940,090 3,047,048


Total liabilities $ 36,237,086 $ 38,258,827


Deferred inflows of resources $ 10,837,859 $ 11,284,227


Net position:
Net investment in capital assets $ 26,494,520 $ 22,639,790
Restricted 6,510 5,255
Unrestricted 10,490,112 13,414,133


Total net position $ 36,991,142 $ 36,059,178


County of Clarke, Virginia


Governmental Activities


Summary of Net Position
As of June 30, 2017 and 2016


An additional portion of the County’s net position ($6,510) represents resources that are subject to 
external restrictions on how they may be used.  The remaining balance of unrestricted net position
($10.5 million) may be used to meet the County’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 


At the end of the current fiscal year, the County is able to report positive balances in all three 
categories of net position.  


As noted previously, the County’s net position increased by $0.9 million during the current fiscal year.  
This is largely attributable to paying principal due on long-term debt obligations.   
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Government-Wide Financial Analysis (Continued) 


Governmental activities increased the County’s net position by $0.9 million.  The following table 
summarizes the County’s Statement of Activities: 


2017 2016


Revenues:
Program revenues:
  Charges for services $ 1,747,773   $ 1,562,964    
  Operating grants and contributions 2,795,014   2,706,176    
  Capital grants and contributions 1,088,052   371,215       
General revenues:
  Property taxes 19,862,341 19,814,919
  Other taxes 1,969,108   1,921,422    
  Unrestricted revenues from the use of money and property 125,089      87,662         
  Miscellaneous 254,982      205,626       
  Grants and contributions not restricted to
    specific programs 3,002,922   3,018,096    
  Total revenues $ 30,845,281 $ 29,688,080


Expenses:
  General governmental administration $ 1,756,158   $ 2,236,563    
  Judicial administration 691,496      602,451       
  Public safety 4,312,322   4,094,648    
  Public works 1,149,657   1,076,881    
  Health and welfare 2,859,737   2,646,112    
  Parks, recreation, and cultural 1,740,882   1,046,408    
  Community development 1,786,425   866,154       
  Interest on long-term debt 1,333,403   1,453,276    
  Education 14,283,237 12,342,621
  Total expenses $ 29,913,317 $ 26,365,114
  Increase (decrease) in net position $ 931,964      $ 3,322,966    
  Net position - beginning of year 36,059,178 32,736,212
  Net position - end of year $ 36,991,142 $ 36,059,178


Governmental Activities


County of Clarke, Virginia
Changes in Net Position


Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016


Generally, net asset changes are for the difference between revenues and expenses.  Key elements of 
this net increase are as follows: 


Overall stabilization in operating expenses. 
Increase in capital grants. 
Increase in transfers out to School Board reported as education expense.  These transfers 
represent a change in long-term assets and liability transferred between Component Unit 
School Board and the County, as well as unexpended local transfer at year end. 
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Financial Analysis of the County’s Funds 


As noted earlier, the County uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with 
finance-related legal requirements. 


Governmental funds:  The focus of the County’s governmental funds is to provide information on 
near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources.  Such information is useful in 
assessing the County’s financing requirements.  In particular unassigned fund balance may serve as a 
useful measure of a government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 


As of the end of the current fiscal year, the County’s governmental funds reported combined ending 
fund balances of $12.2 million, a decrease of 2.9 million in comparison with the prior year.  Of this 
total amount, $11.5 million or 95% constitutes assigned and unassigned fund balance, which is 
available for spending at the County’s discretion.  The remainder of fund balance is nonspendable,
restricted, or committed to indicate that it is not available for new spending because it has already 
been committed to a specific purpose. 


The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the County.  At the end of the current fiscal year, 
assigned and unassigned fund balance of the General Fund was $11.4 million.  As a measure of the 
General Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare both unassigned fund balance and total fund 
balance to total fund expenditures.  Assigned and unassigned fund balance represents 44% of total 
General Fund expenditures. This is a common measure for the strength of the County’s equity and an 
overall indicator of a healthy financial condition. 


Restricted fund balance of $6,510 for the swim team and pool in the Parks Construction Fund is 
included in other governmental funds. 


General Fund Budgetary Highlights 


There was an increase of $2,965,238 between the original budget and the final amended budgeted 
expenditures.  The majority of this increase was for local  transfer to the School Board. 


Capital Asset and Debt Administration 


Capital assets:  The County’s investment in capital assets for its governmental activities as of June 30, 
2017 amounts to $56.4 million (net of accumulated depreciation).  This investment in capital assets 
includes land, buildings, improvements, machinery and equipment and construction in progress.  Major 
capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following: 


Purchase of several Sheriff and administrative vehicles and radio equipment. 
Park and courts updates 
Spout Run Improvements 
Systems integration 
Citizens Convenience Center 
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Capital Asset and Debt Administration (Continued) 


Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, are illustrated in the following table: 


2017 2016


Land $ 857,713           $ 745,500           
Buildings 43,849,522 44,595,496
Improvements 659,403           632,446           
Machinery & Equipment 863,922           934,341           
Construction in progress 10,211,391 8,356,586        


Total $ 56,441,951 $ 55,264,369


Governmental Activities


Additional information on the County’s capital assets can be found in note 6 on pages 36 through 37 of 
this report.   


Long-term debt:  At the end of the current fiscal year, the County had total outstanding debt of $33.3 
million and details are summarized in the following table: 


2017 2016


Bonds payable:
General obligation bonds $ 24,995,000      $ 27,400,000      
Premiums and discounts 207,475           237,185            


Lease revenue bond 4,085,905        4,167,233         
Note payable -                     -                      
Capital leases 659,051           820,161            
Net pension liability 2,691,562        1,969,166         
Compensated absences 658,003           618,034            


Total $ 33,296,996      $ 35,211,779      


Governmental Activities


Additional information on the County’s long-term debt can be found in Note 8. 


Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates 


Revenue from the Commonwealth and Federal Government will continue to be weak. 


Employee benefit costs will continue to rise. 


Requests for Information 


This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the County’s finances for all those 
with an interest in the government’s finances.  Questions concerning any of the information provided 
in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Director of 
Joint Administrative Services, County of Clarke, 524 Westwood Road, Berryville, VA  22611. 
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 1


Statement of Net Position


Primary
Clarke County Industrial


Governmental School Sanitary Development
Activities Board Authority Authority


ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,915,971 $ 6,040 $ 256,370           $ 101,529
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles):


Taxes receivable 12,404,069 - - -
Accounts receivable 157,035 38,952 120,127           -
Notes receivable 3,079 - - -


Due from other funds 386,110 - - -
Due from primary government -                    1,961,089 - -
Due from other governmental units 1,629,336 959,573 - -


Inventories 20,432 - - -
Prepaid items 56,434 117,798 - 1,333
Restricted assets:


Cash and cash equivalents 201,360 - - -
Notes receivable - net of current portion 11,529 - - -
Net pension asset - 8 - -
Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation):


Land 857,713 3,054,699 13,200             -
Buildings 43,849,522 2,977,581 - -
Improvements other than buildings 659,403 444,929 - -
Equipment 863,922 1,925,519 - -
Utility plant in service - -                   8,001,941        -
Construction in progress 10,211,391 -                   1,289,842        -


Total assets $ 83,227,306 $ 11,486,188 $ 9,681,480        $ 102,862


DEFERRED OUTFLOW OF RESOURCES
Pension contribution subsequent to measurement date $ 388,862          $ 1,714,897       $ 3,770              $ -
Net difference between projected and actual pension earnings 449,636          1,309,757       4,358              -


Total deferred outflows of resurces $ 838,498          $ 3,024,654       $ 8,128              $ -


LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 210,042 $ 719,770 $ 45,161             $ 1,635
Accrued liabilities 6,103 2,358,468 - -
Customers' deposits - - 6,150 -
Accrued interest payable 538,929 - 4,418 -
Due to other funds 2,184,733 - - -
Long-term liabilities:


Due within one year 1,997,370 49,926 329,617           -
Due in more than one year 31,299,626 21,885,335 3,917,976        -


Total liabilities $ 36,236,803 $ 25,013,499 $ 4,303,322        $ 1,635


DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred property tax revenue $ 10,719,192 $ -                   $ - $ -
Changes to proportionate share of net pension liability - 208,000 - -
Items related to measurement of net pension liability 118,667 753,341 1,151              -


Total deferred inflows of resurces $ 10,837,859 $ 961,341 $ 1,151              $ -


NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets $ 26,494,520 $ 8,402,728 $ 5,083,480        $ -
Restricted


Swim team 4,851 - - -
Pool 1,659 - - -


Unrestricted 10,490,112 (19,866,726) 301,655           101,227


Total net position $ 36,991,142 $ (11,463,998) $ 5,385,135        $ 101,227


The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.


Government
Component Units


June 30, 2017
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA


Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and


Expenses Services Contributions Contributions


PRIMARY GOVERNMENT:
Governmental activities:


General government administration $ 1,756,158 $ 101,072 $ 206,943 $ -
Judicial administration 691,496 1,835 354,461 -
Public safety 4,312,322 908,773 939,339 200,000
Public works 1,149,657 337,774 - -
Health and welfare 2,859,737 - 1,289,271      -
Education 14,283,238 - - 123,526
Parks, recreation, and cultural 1,740,882 398,319 - -
Community development 1,786,425 - 5,000 764,526
Interest on long-term debt 1,333,403 - - -


Total governmental activities $ 29,913,317     $ 1,747,773      $ 2,795,014       $ 1,088,052       


Total primary government $ 29,913,317 $ 1,747,773 $ 2,795,014      $ 1,088,052


COMPONENT UNITS:
School Board $ 26,735,256 $ 654,795 $ 9,981,538      $ -
Clarke County Sanitary Authority 864,755 571,935 - 23,661
Clarke County Industrial Development Authority 9,484             -                    -                     -                    


Total component units $ 27,609,495 $ 1,226,730 $ 9,981,538      $ 23,661


General revenues:
 General property taxes
 Other local taxes:
    Local sales and use tax
    Consumer utility tax
    Taxes on recordation and wills
    Motor vehicle licenses
    Other local taxes
 Unrestricted revenues from use of money and property
 Miscellaneous
 Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs
 Contribution from County of Clarke


 Total general revenues


Change in net position
Net position - beginning


Net position - ending


The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.


Functions/Programs


Program Revenues
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Exhibit 2


Primary


Clarke
County Industrial


Governmental School Sanitary Development
Activities Board Authority Authority


$ (1,448,143) $ - $ - $ -
(335,200) - - -


(2,264,210) - - -
(811,883) - - -


(1,570,466) - - -
(14,159,712)       - - -
(1,342,563) - - -
(1,016,899) - - -
(1,333,403) - - -


$ (24,282,478)       $ -                      $ -                  $ -                   


$ (24,282,478)       $ - $ - $ -


$ - $ (16,098,923)     $ - $ -
- - (269,159)      -
-                        -                      -                  (9,484)          


$ - $ (16,098,923)     $ (269,159)      $ (9,484)


$ 19,862,341 $ - $ - $ -


898,361 - - -
346,094 - - -
315,886 - - -
325,439 - - -
83,328 - - -


125,089 61,058 1,358 451
254,982 103,328 135,679       -


3,002,922 - - -
- 16,075,854      207,000       -


$ 25,214,442 $ 16,240,240      $ 344,037       $ 451


931,964 141,317 74,878 (9,033)
36,059,178 (11,605,315)     5,310,257    110,260


$ 36,991,142 $ (11,463,998)     $ 5,385,135    $ 101,227


Changes in Net Position
Net (Expense) Revenue and


 Government Component Units
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 3


Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds


Other
Virginia School Govern-
Public Debt mental


General Assistance Service Funds Total


ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,426,127 $ -                $ -              $ 489,844 $ 11,915,971
Receivables (net of allowance


for uncollectibles):
Taxes receivable 12,404,069 -                -              -                12,404,069
Accounts receivable 152,035         -                -              5,000         157,035


Due from other funds 370,765 -                -              15,345 386,110
Due from other governmental units 1,431,048 135,296 -              62,992 1,629,336
Inventories 20,432 -                -              -                20,432
Prepaid items 33,695 8,475 14,264 - 56,434
Restricted assets:


Cash and cash equivalents 201,360 - -             - 201,360


Total assets $ 26,039,531 $ 143,771 $ 14,264 $ 573,181 $ 26,770,747


LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 108,270 $ 14,267 $ -             $ 87,505 $ 210,042
Accrued liabilities 6,103 - -             - 6,103
Due to other funds 2,040,965 129,504 14,264 - 2,184,733


Total liabilities $ 2,155,338 $ 143,771     $ 14,264     $ 87,505 $ 2,400,878


DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable property tax revenue $ 12,200,240 $ -                $ -              $ -                $ 12,200,240


FUND BALANCES:
Nonspendable:


Prepaid items $ 33,695 $ 8,475 $ 14,264 $ - $ 56,434
Inventory 20,432 - -             - 20,432


Restricted:
Swim team - - -             4,851         4,851
Pool - - -             1,659         1,659
Debt service 201,360         -                -              -                201,360        


Committed:
Animal care expenditures - - -             - -
Commnity development - - -             226,970      226,970
Public safety expenditures - - -             118,739      118,739


Assigned:
Capital projects - - -             133,457      133,457
Other (Note 15) 11,081,358 - -             - 11,081,358


Unassigned 347,108 (8,475) (14,264) - 324,369


Total fund balances $ 11,683,953 $ -                $ -              $ 485,676 $ 12,169,629


Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources,
 and fund balances $ 26,039,531 $ 143,771 $ 14,264 $ 573,181 $ 26,770,747


The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.


June 30, 2017
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 4


Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different
because:


Total fund balances per Exhibit 3 - Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds $ 12,169,629      


Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore, are not
reported in the funds. 56,441,951      


Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period expenditures and, therefore, are
deferred in the funds.
  Unavailable property taxes $ 1,481,048      
  Items related to measurement of net pension liability (118,667)        1,362,381        


Long-term note receivable is not available to pay for current period expenditures and, therefore, is
not reported in the funds. 14,608            


Interest on long-term debt is not accrued in governmental funds, but rather is recognized 
when paid. (538,929)         


Pension contribution subsequent to measurement date - deferred outflow 388,862          


Net difference between projected and actual pension earnings - deferred outflow 449,636          


Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds. (33,296,996)     


Net position of governmental activities $ 36,991,142


The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.


Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds
To the Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2017
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 5


Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Total
Virginia School Nonmajor
Public Debt Governmental


General Assistance Service Funds Total
REVENUES
General property taxes $ 19,911,438    $ -                 $ -                     $ 70,077            $ 19,981,515   
Other local taxes 1,969,108      -                 -                     -                     1,969,108     
Permits, privilege fees, and regulatory
 licenses 393,891         -                 -                     -                     393,891        
Fines and forfeitures 352,279         -                 -                     -                     352,279        
Revenue from the use of money and
 property 123,924         -                 -                     1,165             125,089        
Charges for services 1,001,603      -                 -                     -                     1,001,603     
Miscellaneous 68,845           -                 58,075            131,051          257,971        
Recovered costs 83,926           50,004        -                     -                     133,930        
Intergovernmental:


Commonwealth 4,373,592      277,301      -                     797,694          5,448,587     
Federal 128,421         712,855      123,526          472,599          1,437,401     


Total revenues $ 28,407,027    $ 1,040,160   $ 181,601          $ 1,472,586       $ 31,101,374   


EXPENDITURES
Current:


General government administration $ 1,903,602      $ -                 $ -                     $ -                     $ 1,903,602     
Judicial administration 698,294         -                 -                     -                     698,294        
Public safety 4,194,952      -                 -                     70,635            4,265,587     
Public works 1,169,117      -                 -                     -                     1,169,117     
Health and welfare 656,708         1,478,944   -                     756,714          2,892,366     
Education 15,707,544    -                 -                     -                     15,707,544   
Parks, recreation, and cultural 973,326         -                 -                     -                     973,326        
Community development 577,600         -                 -                     695,891          1,273,491     
Nondepartmental 5,144             -                 -                     -                     5,144           


Capital projects -                    -                 -                     1,045,735       1,045,735     
Debt service:


Principal retirement -                    -                 2,566,110       81,328            2,647,438     
Interest and other fiscal charges -                    -                 1,249,001       170,372          1,419,373     


Total expenditures $ 25,886,287    $ 1,478,944   $ 3,815,111       $ 2,820,675       $ 34,001,017   


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures $ 2,520,740      $ (438,784)     $ (3,633,510)      $ (1,348,089)      $ (2,899,643)   


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in $ 12,125           $ 438,174      $ 3,633,510       $ 1,279,731       $ 5,363,540     
Transfers out (5,351,415)     -                 -                     (12,125)          (5,363,540)   


Total other financing sources (uses) $ (5,339,290)     $ 438,174      $ 3,633,510       $ 1,267,606       $ -                  


Net change in fund balances $ (2,818,550)     $ (610)            $ -                     $ (80,483)          $ (2,899,643)   
Fund balances - beginning 14,502,503    610             -                     566,159          15,069,272   


Fund balances - ending $ 11,683,953    $ -                 $ -                     $ 485,676          $ 12,169,629   


The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 6


Reconciliation of Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
To the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds $ (2,899,643)


Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the Statement of
Activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported
as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which the capital outlays exceeded
depreciation in the current period.


Capital outlay $ 2,275,110
Depreciation expense (747,896)
Joint tenancy asset transfer (384,750)         1,142,464


The net effect of various miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets (i.e., sales, trade-
ins, and donations) is to increase net position. 35,118


Revenues in the Statement of Activities that do not provide current financial resources are
not reported as revenues in the funds.
  Property taxes $ (119,174)


(Increase) decrease in deferred inflows related to 
  pension expected and actual experience and earnings 433,415


The issuance of notes receivable requires the use of current financial resources, while the
receipt of payments on these notes provides current financial resources to governmental
funds. However, these transactions have no effect on net position. This amount is the net
effect of these differences in the treatment of long-term assets.


Principal payments received (2,989)


The issuance of long-term debt (e.g. bonds, leases) provides current financial resources to
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the
current financial resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction, however, has any
effect on net position. Also, governmental funds report the effect of premiums, discounts,
and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and
amortized in the statement of activities. This amount is the net effect of these differences in
the treatment of long-term debt and related items.


Principal retired $ 2,647,438
Bond discount amortization (2,404)
Bond premium amortization 32,114            2,677,148


Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and, therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.


(Increase)/decrease in compensated absences $ (39,969)
(Increase)/decrease in net pension liability (722,396)
Increase (decrease) in deferred outflows related to 
  pension contributions subsequent to measurment date (77,906)
Increase (decrease) in deferred outflows related to 
  projected and actual pension earnings 449,636
(Increase)/decrease in accrued interest payable 56,260            (334,375)


Change in net position of governmental activities $ 931,964


The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.


Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 7


Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds


Agency
Funds


ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 224,686
Accounts receivable 294
Due from other governments 205,492


Total assets $ 430,472


LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 2,560
Amounts held for Town 92,083
Sales tax payable to other towns 42,732
Due to other funds 162,760
Amounts held for social services clients 43,194
Accrued liabilities 87,143


Total liabilities $ 430,472


The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.


June 30, 2017
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA 


Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2017 


Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 


The County of Clarke, Virginia (the "County") is governed by an elected five member Board of Supervisors.  
The County provides a full range of services for its citizens.  These services include police and volunteer fire 
protection and rescue service, sanitation services, recreational activities, cultural events, education, and 
social services. 


The financial statements of the County of Clarke, Virginia have been prepared in conformity with the 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States as specified by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board and the specifications promulgated by the Auditor of Public Accounts (APA) of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia.  The more significant of the government’s accounting policies are described 
below.


Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 


Management’s Discussion and Analysis - GASB Statement No. 34 requires the financial statements be 
accompanied by a narrative introduction and analytical overview of the government’s financial activities in 
the form of “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” (MD&A). 


Government-wide financial statements - The reporting model includes financial statements prepared using 
full accrual accounting for all of the government’s activities.  This approach includes not just current assets 
and liabilities but also capital assets and long-term liabilities (such as buildings and general obligation debt). 


The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of 
Activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its 
component units.  For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these 
statements.  Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental 
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees 
and charges for support.  Likewise, the primary government is reported separately from certain legally 
separate component units for which the primary government is financially accountable. 


Statement of Net Position - The Statement of Net Position is designed to display the financial position of the 
primary government (governmental and business-type activities) and its discretely presented component 
units.  Governments will report all capital assets in the government-wide Statement of Net Position and will 
report depreciation expense - the cost of “using up” capital assets - in the Statement of Activities.  The net 
position of a government will be broken down into three categories – 1) net investment in capital assets; 2) 
restricted; and 3) unrestricted. 


Statement of Activities - The government-wide Statement of Activities reports expenses and revenues in a 
format that focuses on the cost of each of the government’s functions.  The expense of individual functions 
is compared to the revenues generated directly by the function (for instance, through user charges or 
intergovernmental grants). 


The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or 
segment is offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific function or segment.  Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who 
purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or 
segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular function or segment.  Taxes and other items not properly included among 
program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA 


Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2017 (Continued) 


Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 


Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, 
even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements.  Major individual 
governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund 
financial statements. 


Budgetary comparison schedules - Demonstrating compliance with the adopted budget is an important 
component of a government’s accountability to the public.  Many citizens participate in one way or another 
in the process of establishing the annual operating budgets of state and local governments, and have a keen 
interest in following the actual financial progress of their governments over the course of the year.  Many 
governments revise their original budgets over the course of the year for a variety of reasons.  Under the 
GASB 34 reporting model, governments provide budgetary comparison information in their annual reports, 
including the original budget and a comparison of final budget and actual results. 


A. Financial Reporting Entity 


The basic criterion for determining whether a governmental department, agency, institution, 
commission, public authority, or other governmental organization should be included in a primary 
governmental unit's reporting entity for the basic financial statements is financial accountability.  
Financial accountability includes the appointment of a voting majority of the organization’s governing 
body and the ability of the primary government to impose its will on the organization or if there is a 
financial benefit/burden relationship.  In addition, an organization which is fiscally dependent on the 
primary government should be included in its reporting entity.  These financial statements present the 
County of Clarke (the primary government) and its component units.  Blended component units, although 
legally separate entities, are, in substance, part of the government's operations and so data from these 
units are combined with data of the primary government.  Each discretely presented component unit, on 
the other hand, is reported in a separate column in the combined financial statements to emphasize it is 
legally separate from the government.   


B. Individual Component Unit Disclosures 


Blended Component Unit:  The Conservation Easement Authority is reported as a blended component 
unit.


Discretely Presented Component Units:   


The School Board members are elected by the citizens of Clarke County.  The School Board is responsible 
for the operations of the County's School System within the County boundaries.  The School Board is 
fiscally dependent on the County.  The County has the ability to approve its budget and any 
amendments.  The primary funding of the School Board is from the General Fund of the County.  The 
School Board does not issue a separate financial report.  The financial statements of the School Board 
are presented as a discrete presentation of the County financial statements for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2017. 


The Clarke County Sanitary Authority is responsible for water and sewer treatment for many citizens in 
Clarke County.  The Sanitary Authority consists of five members appointed by the Board of Supervisors.  
The Board of Supervisors has the ability to impose its will on the Sanitary Authority and therefore it is 
included in the County’s financial statements as a discrete presentation for the year ended June 30, 
2017.  The Sanitary Authority does not issue a separate financial report. 
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA 


Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2017 (Continued) 


Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 


B. Individual Component Unit Disclosures:  (Continued) 


Discretely Presented Component Units:  (Continued)   


The Clarke County Industrial Development Authority is responsible for industrial and commercial 
development in the County.  The Authority consists of seven members appointed by the Board of 
Supervisors.  The Authority is fiscally dependent on the County, and therefore, it is included in the 
County’s financial statements as a discrete presentation for the year ended June 30, 2017.  The 
Authority does not issue a separate financial report. 


C. Other Related Organizations 


Included in the County's Financial Report 


 None 


D. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 


The accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with pronouncements issued by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board. The principles prescribed by GASB represent generally 
accepted accounting principles applicable to governmental units.  


The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement 
focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as does the proprietary fund.  The fiduciary fund financial 
statements have no measurement focus but utilize the accrual basis of accounting for reporting its assets 
and liabilities.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is 
incurred, regardless of timing of related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the 
year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all 
eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 


The government-wide Statement of Activities reflects both the gross and net cost per functional 
category (public safety, public works, health and welfare, etc.) which are otherwise being supported by 
general government revenues (property, sales and use taxes, certain intergovernmental revenues, fines, 
permits and charges, etc).  The Statement of Activities reduces gross expenses (including depreciation) 
by related program revenues, operating and capital grants, and contributions.  The program revenues 
must be directly associated with the function (public safety, public works, health and welfare, etc.) or a 
business-type activity. 


Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  This is the manner in which these funds are 
normally budgeted.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available.  
Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon 
enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.  For this purpose, the government considers 
revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period.  All 
other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the 
government.  Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting.  However, debt service expenditures as well as expenditures related to compensated 
absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. 
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA 


Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2017 (Continued) 


Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 


D. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation:  (Continued) 


The County’s fiduciary funds are presented in the fund financial statements by type.  Since by definition 
these assets are being held for the benefit of a third party and cannot be used to address activities or 
obligations of the government, these funds are not incorporated into the government-wide financial 
statements.


Property taxes, franchise taxes, licenses, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all 
considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal 
period. Accordingly, real and personal property taxes are recorded as revenues and receivables when 
billed, net of allowances for uncollectible amounts.  Property taxes not collected within 60 days after 
year-end are reflected as unavailable revenues.  Sales and utility taxes, which are collected by the state 
or utilities and subsequently remitted to the County, are recognized as revenues and receivables upon 
collection by the state or utility, which is generally within two months preceding receipt by the County. 


Licenses, permits, fines and rents are recorded as revenues when received.  Intergovernmental 
revenues, consisting primarily of federal, state, and other grants for the purpose of funding specific 
expenditures are either recognized when earned, at the time other specific expenditures are recognized 
or at the time of the specific expenditure.  Revenues from general purpose grants are recognized in the 
period to which the grant applies.  All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and 
available only when cash is received by the government. 


In the fund financial statements, financial transactions and accounts of the County are organized on the 
basis of funds.  The operation of each fund is considered to be an independent fiscal and separate 
accounting entity, with a self-balancing set of accounts recording cash and/or other financial resources 
together with all related liabilities and residual equities or balances, and changes therein, which are 
segregated for the purpose of carrying on specific activities or attaining certain objectives in accordance 
with special regulations, restrictions, or limitations. 


1. Governmental Funds 


Governmental Funds are those through which most governmental functions typically are financed.  
The government reports the following governmental funds. 


a. General Fund 


The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the County.  This fund is used to account for 
and report all financial resources except those required to be accounted for and reported in 
another fund.   Revenues are derived primarily from property and other local taxes, state and 
federal distributions, licenses, permits, charges for service, and interest income.  A significant 
part of the General Fund’s revenues are used principally to finance the operations of the 
Component Unit School Board.  The General Fund is considered a major fund for reporting 
purposes.
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA 


Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2017 (Continued) 


Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 


D. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation:  (Continued) 


1. Governmental Funds:  (Continued) 


b. Special Revenue Funds 


Special revenue funds account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are 
restricted or committed to expenditure for specified purposes other than debt service or capital 
projects.  The Virginia Public Assistance Fund is considered a major fund.  The CSA Fund, Drug 
Enforcement Fund, Animal Care Fund, Shenandoah Farms Sanitary District, and Conservation 
Easement Fund are considered nonmajor funds. 


c. Capital Projects Fund 


The Capital Projects Fund accounts for and reports financial resources that are restricted, 
committed or assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, except for those financed by 
proprietary funds or for assets held in trust for individuals, private organizations, or other 
governments.  The General Government Capital Projects Fund and Parks Construction Fund are 
considered nonmajor funds. 


d. Debt Service Funds 


The Debt Service Funds account for and report financial resources that are restricted, 
committed, or assigned to expenditure for principal and interest. Debt service funds should also 
be used to report financial resources being accumulated for future debt service. The School Debt 
Service Fund is considered a major fund.  The Primary Government Debt Service Fund is 
considered a nonmajor fund. 


2. Fiduciary Funds (Trust and Agency Funds)    


Fiduciary Funds (Trust and Agency Funds) account for assets held by the County in a trustee capacity 
or as an agent or custodian for individuals, private organizations, other governmental units, or other 
funds.  These funds include Agency Funds consisting of the Special Welfare Fund, Town of Berryville, 
Undistributed Local Sales Tax, Cafeteria Plan Withholding, and the Unemployment Compensation 
Benefits.  Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the 
resources of those funds are not available to support the County’s own programs.  These funds utilize 
the accrual basis of accounting. 
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA 


Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2017 (Continued) 


Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 


D. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation:  (Continued) 


3. Component Unit:    


The Clarke County School Board has the following funds:   


Governmental Funds:   


School Operating Fund – This fund is the primary operating fund of the School Board and accounts for 
and reports all revenues and expenditures applicable to the general operations of the public school 
system.  Revenues are derived primarily from charges for services, appropriations from the County of 
Clarke and state and federal grants.  The School Operating Fund is considered a major fund of the 
School Board for financial reporting purposes.   


School Food Service Fund – This fund accounts for the operations of the School Board’s food service 
program. Financing is provided primarily by food and beverage sales and state and federal grants.  
This fund is considered a major fund.   


School Capital Projects Proffers Fund: Capital projects funds account for and report financial 
resources that are restricted, committed or assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, except for 
those financed by proprietary funds or for assets held in trust for individuals, private organizations, 
or other governments.  This fund is considered a nonmajor fund. 


School Capital Projects Fund – This fund accounts for all financial resources used for the acquisition 
or construction of major capital needs.  This fund is considered a major fund. 


E. Cash and Cash Equivalents:


Cash and cash equivalents include amounts in demand deposits as well as short-term investments with a 
maturity date within three months of the date acquired by the government. 


State statutes authorize the government to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, commercial paper, 
corporate bonds and repurchase agreements. 


F. Investments 


Money market investments, participating interest-earning investment contracts (repurchase agreements) 
that have a remaining maturity at time of purchase of one year or less, nonparticipating interest-earning 
investment contracts (nonnegotiable certificates of deposit (CDs) and external investment pools are 
measured at amortized cost. All other investments are reported at fair value. 


G. Receivables and Payables 


Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the 
end of the fiscal year are referred to as either “due to/from other funds” (i.e. the current portion of the 
interfund loans).  All other outstanding balances between funds are reported as “advances to/from other 
funds” (i.e. the noncurrent portion of interfund loans). 
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA 


Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2017 (Continued) 


Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 


G. Receivables and Payables:  (Continued) 


All trade and property tax receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles.  The County 
calculates its allowance for uncollectible accounts using historical collection data and, in certain cases, 
specific account analysis.  The allowance amounted to approximately $337,950 at June 30, 2017 and is 
comprised solely of property taxes. 


Real and Personal Property Tax Data: 


The tax calendars for real and personal property taxes are summarized below. 


Real Property Personal Property


Levy January 1 January 1
Due Date June 5/December 5 June 5/December 5


(50% each date) (50% each date)
Lien Date January 1 January 1


The County bills and collects its own property taxes. 


H. Capital Assets 


Capital assets, which include property, plant and equipment, are reported in the applicable 
governmental columns in the government-wide financial statements.  Capital assets are defined by the 
County and Component Unit School Board as land, buildings, and equipment with an initial individual 
cost of more than $5,000 (amount not rounded) and an estimated useful life in excess of two years.  The 
County does not have any infrastructure in its capital assets since roads, streets, bridges and similar 
assets within its boundaries are the property of the Commonwealth of Virginia.  Such assets are recorded 
at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed.  Donated capital assets are 
recorded at acquisition value at the date of donation.   


The Component Unit, Clarke County Sanitary Authority, a proprietary fund type, is required to capitalize 
its capital assets including the infrastructure constructed. 


The Component Unit, Industrial Development Authority of Clarke County, does not have any capital 
assets to report. 


The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially 
extend the asset’s life are not capitalized. 


Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed.  Interest 
incurred during the construction phase of capital assets of business-type activities is included as part of 
the capitalized value of the assets constructed.  Interest attributable to capitalized assets as of June 30, 
2017 was immaterial. 
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA 


Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2017 (Continued) 


Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 


H. Capital Assets:  (Continued) 


Property, plant and equipment of the primary government, as well as the component units, are 
depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives. 


Assets Years


Buildings and improvements 20-40
Plant, equipment and system 20-45
Motor vehicles 5-10
Equipment 5-15
Infrastructure 25-50


I. Compensated Absences 


Vested or accumulated vacation leave that is expected to be liquidated with expendable available 
financial resources is reported as an expenditure and a fund liability of the governmental fund that will 
pay it.  Amounts of vested or accumulated vacation leave that are not expected to be liquidated with 
expendable available financial resources are reported as an expense in the Statement of Activities and a 
long-term obligation in the Statement of Net Position.  In accordance with the provisions of 
Governmental Accounting Standards No. 16, Accounting for Compensated Absences, no liability is 
recorded for nonvesting accumulating rights to receive sick pay benefits.  However, a liability is 
recognized for that portion of accumulating sick leave benefits that is estimated will be taken as 
“terminal leave” prior to retirement. 


J. Use of Estimates 


The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and 
disclosures.  Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 


K. Net Position 


Net position is the difference between (a) assets and deferred outflows of resources and (b) liabilities 
and deferred inflows of resources.  Net investment in capital assets represents capital assets, less 
accumulated depreciation, less any outstanding debt related to the acquisition, construction or 
improvement of those assets.  Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources that are 
attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets or related debt are also 
included in this component of net position. 


L. Net Position Flow Assumption 


Sometimes the County will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted (e.g., restricted 
bond or grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to calculate the amounts to report as 
restricted – net position and unrestricted – net position in the government-wide and proprietary fund 
financial statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are 
considered to be applied. It is the County’s policy to consider restricted – net position to have been 
depleted before unrestricted – net position is applied. 
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA 


Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2017 (Continued) 


Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 


M. Long-term Obligations 


In the government-wide financial statements, long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the 
applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net 
position.  Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. 


In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, 
during the current period.  The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources.  
Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt 
issuances are reported as other financing uses.   


N. Prepaid Items 


Certain payments to vendors represent costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as 
prepaid items in both the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The cost of prepaid items is 
recorded as expenditures/expenses when consumed rather than when purchased.  


O. Fund Equity 


The County reports fund balance in accordance with GASB Statement 54, Fund Balance Reporting and 
Governmental Fund Type Definitions.  The following classifications describe the relative strength of the 
spending constraints placed on the purposes for which resources can be used: 


Nonspendable fund balance – amounts that are not in spendable form (such as inventory and 
prepaids) or are required to be maintained intact (corpus of a permanent fund); 


Restricted fund balance – amounts constrained to specific purposes by their providers (such as 
grantors, bondholders, and higher levels of government), through constitutional provisions, or by 
enabling legislation; 


Committed fund balance – amounts constrained to specific purposes by a government itself, using its 
highest level of decision-making authority; to be reported as committed, amounts cannot be used for 
any other purpose unless the government takes the same highest level action to remove or change 
the constraint; 


Assigned fund balance – amounts a government intends to use for a specific purpose; intent can be 
expressed by the governing body or by an official or body to which the governing body delegates the 
authority; 


Unassigned fund balance – amounts that are available for any purpose; positive amounts are only 
reported in the general fund. 


In accordance with GASB Statement 54, when fund balance resources are available for a specific purpose 
in more than one classification, it is the County’s policy to use the most restrictive funds first in the 
following order: restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned as they are needed. 


27







COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA 


Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2017 (Continued) 


Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 


O. Fund Equity:  (Continued) 


The Board of Supervisors establishes (and modifies or rescinds) fund balance commitments by passage of 
a resolution. This is typically done through adoption and amendment of the budget. A fund balance 
commitment is further indicated in the budget document as a designation or commitment of the fund 
(such as for special incentives). Assigned fund balance is established by the Board through adoption or 
amendment of the budget as intended for specific purpose (such as the purchase of capital assets, 
construction, debt service, or for other purposes). 


P. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources  


In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of 
resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be 
recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then.  The County has two types that 
qualify for reporting in this category.  Pension contributions made subsequent to the measurement date 
of the net pension liability will be recognized as a reduction to the net pension liability next fiscal year.  
It is also comprised of certain items related to the net pension liability.  These include differences 
between expected and actual experience, the net difference between projected and actual earnings on 
pension plan investments, and changes in proportionate share of employer contributions. 


In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, 
represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized 
as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The County has two types of items that qualify for 
reporting in this category.  Under a modified accrual basis of accounting, unavailable revenue 
representing property taxes receivable is reported in the governmental funds balance sheet.  This 
amount is comprised of uncollected property taxes due prior to June 30, 2nd half installments levied 
during the fiscal year but due after June 30th, and amounts prepaid on the 2nd half installments and is 
deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amount becomes available. 
Under the accrual basis, 2nd half installments levied during the fiscal year but due after June 30th and 
amounts prepaid on the 2nd half installments are reported as deferred inflows of resources.  In addition, 
certain items related to the measurement of the net pension liability are reported as deferred inflows of 
resources.  These include differences between expected and actual experience, change in assumptions, 
and the net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments.  For more 
detailed information on these items, reference the pension note.   


Q. Pensions


For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of 
the County of Clarke, Virginia’s Retirement Plan and the additions to/deductions from the County of 
Clarke, Virginia’s Retirement Plan net fiduciary position have been determined on the same basis as they 
were reported by the Virginia Retirement System (VRS). For this purpose, benefit payments (including 
refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit 
terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA 


Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2017 (Continued) 


Note 2—Stewardship, Compliance, and Accounting: 


The following procedures are used by the County in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the 
financial statements: 


1. Prior to March 15th, the County Administrator submits to the Board of Supervisors a proposed operating 
and capital budget for the fiscal year commencing the following July 1.  The operating and capital 
budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing them. 


2. Public hearings are conducted to obtain citizen comments. 


3. Prior to June 30, the budget is legally enacted through passage of an Appropriations Resolution. 


4. The Appropriations Resolution places legal restrictions on expenditures at the department or category 
level.  The appropriation for each department or category can be revised only by the Board of 
Supervisors.  The County Administrator is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts within general 
government departments; however, the Component Unit School Board is authorized to transfer budgeted 
amounts within the school system’s categories. 


5. Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during the year and budgets 
are legally adopted for the General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, Debt Service Funds, and Capital 
Projects Funds of the Primary Government and Component Unit – School Board. 


6. All budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). 


7. Appropriations lapse on June 30, for all County units.  Several Supplemental Appropriations were 
necessary during the fiscal year. 


Note 3—Deposits and Investments: 


Deposits 


Deposits with banks are covered by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) and collateralized in 
accordance with the Virginia Security for Public Deposits Act (the “Act”) Section 2.2-4400 et. seq. of the 
Code of Virginia. Under the Act, banks and savings institutions holding public deposits in excess of the 
amount insured by the FDIC must pledge collateral to the Commonwealth of Virginia Treasury Board. 
Financial Institutions may choose between two collateralization methodologies and depending upon that 
choice, will pledge collateral that ranges in the amounts from 50% to 130% of excess deposits.  Accordingly, 
all deposits are considered fully collateralized. 


Investments 


Statutes authorize the County to invest in obligations of the United States or agencies thereof, obligations of 
the Commonwealth of Virginia or political subdivisions thereof, obligations of the International Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development (World Bank), the Asian Development Bank, the African Development Bank, 
“prime quality” commercial paper and certain corporate notes, banker’s acceptances, repurchase 
agreements and the State Treasurer’s Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP). 


As of June 30, 2017 the County does not have a formal investment policy addressing the various types of 
risks related to investments. 
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA 


Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2017 (Continued) 


Note 3—Deposits and Investments:  (Continued) 


Credit Risk of Debt Securities 


The County’s rated debt investments as of June 30, 2017 were rated by Standard and Poor's and the ratings 
are presented below using the Standard and Poor’s rating scale. 


Fair Quality
Rated Debt Investments


AAAm


Local Government Investment Pool $ 1,408,269


Total $ 1,408,269


County's Rated Debt Investments' Values


Ratings


External Investment Pools 


The value of the positions in the external investment pools (Local Government Investment Pool is the same 
as the value of the pool shares. As LGIP is not SEC registered, regulatory oversight of the pool rests with the 
Virginia State Treasury. LGIP is an amortized cost basis portfolio under the provisions of GASB Statement No. 
79.  There are no withdrawal limitations or restrictions imposed on participants. 


Interest Rate Risk 


Interest rate risk is defined as the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of 
an investment.   


Investment Type
Fair Value 1


Local Government Investment Pool $ 1,408,269 $     1,408,269 


Total $ 1,408,269     $ 1,408,269


Investment Maturity (in years)
Maturity
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA 


Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2017 (Continued) 


Note 4—Due from Other Governments: 


At June 30, 2017, the County has receivables from other governments as follows: 


Component


Primary School
Government Board


Commonwealth of Virginia:
  Virginia Public Assistance funds $ 44,429       $ -               
  State sales tax -                419,289
  Constitutional officer reimbursements 107,706 -               
  PPTRA 1,212,896 -               
  Communication taxes 66,632       -               


Comprehensive Services Act 62,145       -               
School fund grants -                257,663


  Other general grants 8,449         -               


Federal Government:
  Virginia Public Assistance funds 90,867       -               
  Other general grants 36,212         -                
  School fund grants -                282,621


    Total due from other governments $ 1,629,336    $ 959,573      


Unit


Note 5—Interfund Obligations: 


Details of the Primary Government's interfund receivables and payables as of June 30, 2017, are as follows: 


Interfund Interfund
Fund Receivable Payable


Primary Government:
  General $ 370,765    $ 2,040,965   
  Comprehensive Services Act 3,261       -                 
  County Capital Projects Fund 12,084      -                 
  Virginia Public Assistance -              129,504      
  School Debt Service Fund -              14,264        


Total Primary Government $ 386,110      $ 2,184,733   


Component Unit:
  School Fund $ 1,699,393 $ -                 
  School Capital Projects Fund 261,696    -                 


Total Component Unit $ 1,961,089   $ -                 


Agency Funds:
  Unemployment Compensation Fund $ 294          $ -                 
  Undistributed Local Sales Tax Fund -              162,760      


Total Agency Funds $ 294            $ 162,760      


Grand Total 2,347,493 2,347,493   


The above interfund obligations represent temporary advances between funds or amounts allocable to one 
fund and not yet transferred between the funds. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2017 (Continued) 


Note 6—Capital Assets: 


The following is a summary of changes in capital assets for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017: 


Joint
Balance Tenancy Balance
July 1, Transfer June 30,
2016 Additions Deletions (Net) 2017


Primary Government:
Capital assets not being depreciated:


Land $ 877,713 $ -               $ 20,000        $ -              $ 857,713
Construction in Progress 8,356,586 1,854,805 -                 -              10,211,391


  Total capital assets not being depreciated $ 9,234,299 $ 1,854,805 $ 20,000        $ -              $ 11,069,104


Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings $ 51,601,818 $ 52,002      $ 86,175        $ (405,000)   $ 51,162,645
Improvements other than buildings 1,717,587 119,272    102,523      -              1,734,336
Equipment 4,386,984 249,031 913,053 -              3,722,962


  Total capital assets being depreciated $ 57,706,389 $ 420,305 $ 1,101,751 $ (405,000)   $ 56,619,943


Accumulated depreciation:
Buildings $ 7,006,322 $ 395,598 $ (68,547)       $ (20,250)     $ 7,313,123
Improvements other than buildings 1,217,354 64,900 (207,321)     -              1,074,933
Equipment 3,452,643 287,398 (881,001) -              2,859,040


Total accumulated depreciation $ 11,676,319 $ 747,896 $ (1,156,869) $ (20,250)     $ 11,247,096


Total capital assets being depreciated, net $ 46,030,070 $ (327,591) $ (55,118)       $ (384,750)   $ 45,372,847


Net capital assets governmental activities $ 55,264,369 $ 1,527,214 $ (35,118)       $ (384,750)   $ 56,441,951


Component Unit-School Board:


Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land $ 3,054,699 $ -               $ -                 $ -              $ 3,054,699


  Total capital assets not being depreciated $ 3,054,699 $ -               $ -                 $ -              $ 3,054,699


Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings $ 16,319,198 $ 470,036 $ 726,201      $ 405,000 $ 16,468,033
Improvements other than buildings 503,534 50,021      -                 -              553,555
Equipment 5,403,477 1,091,610 863,876      -              5,631,211


  Total capital assets being depreciated $ 22,226,209 $ 1,611,667 $ 1,590,077   $ 405,000     $ 22,652,799


Accumulated depreciation:
Buildings $ 12,811,179 $ 1,160,509 $ (501,486)     $ 20,250 $ 13,490,452
Improvements other than buildings 89,630 18,996 -                 -              108,626
Equipment 4,209,828 303,029 (807,165)     -              3,705,692


Total accumulated depreciation $ 17,110,637 $ 1,482,534 $ (1,308,651) $ 20,250 $ 17,304,770


Total capital assets being depreciated, net $ 5,115,572 $ 129,133 $ 281,426      $ 384,750 $ 5,348,029


Net capital assets component
unit school board $ 8,170,271 $ 129,133 $ 281,426      $ 384,750 $ 8,402,728
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Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2017 (Continued) 


Note 6—Capital Assets:  (Continued) 


Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs as follows: 


Governmental activities:


  General government administration $ 354,272            
  Public safety 216,788            
  Public works 15,100              
  Health and welfare 5,789                
  Parks, recreation and cultural 121,642            
  Community development 34,306              


Total Governmental activities $ 747,896             


Component Unit School Board $ 1,482,534          


Legislation enacted during the year ended June 30, 2002, Section 15.2-1800.1 of the Code of Virginia, 1950, 
as amended, has changed the reporting of local school capital assets and related debt for financial 
statement purposes.  Historically, debt incurred by local governments “on-behalf” of school boards was 
reported in the school board’s discrete column along with the related capital assets.  Under the new law, 
local governments have a “tenancy in common” with the school board whenever the locality incurs any 
financial obligation for any school property which is payable over more than one fiscal year.  For financial 
reporting purposes, the legislation permits the locality to report the portion of school property related to 
any outstanding financial obligation eliminating any potential deficit from capitalizing assets financed with 
debt.  The effect on the County of Clarke, Virginia for the year ended June 30, 2016 is that school financed 
assets in the amount of $36,738,288 are reported in the Primary Government for financial reporting 
purposes.  Unspent bond proceeds reported as restricted cash and proceeds from the issuance of long-term 
debt are reported in the School Capital Projects Fund of the Component Unit School Board in the fund 
financial statements, and are reported within the Primary Government in the government-wide financial 
statements.


Component Unit-Sanitary Authority: 


A summary of the component unit Sanitary Authority property, plant, and equipment at June 30, 2017 
follows:


Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance


Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land $ 13,200       $ -              $ -              $ 13,200        
Construction in progress 1,260,980 28,862     -              1,289,842


Total capital assets not being depreciated $ 1,274,180 $ 28,862     $ -              $ 1,303,042


Capital Assets being depreciated:
Utility plant and equipment $ 12,085,222 $ -              $ -              $ 12,085,222
Accumulated depreciation (3,780,784) (302,497) -              (4,083,281)


Total capital assets being depreciated, net $ 8,304,438 $ (302,497) $ -              $ 8,001,941


Capital assets, net $ 9,578,618   $ (273,635) $ -             $ 9,304,983
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June 30, 2017 (Continued) 


Note 7—Interfund Transfers:   


Interfund transfers for the year ended June 30, 2017, consisted of the following: 


Fund Transfers In Transfers Out


Primary Government:
General Fund $ 12,125        $ 5,351,415      
Conservation Easement Fund 10,000        2,500            
Animal Care Fund -                 9,625            
School Debt Service 3,633,510 -                  
Public Safety Fund 4,760          -                  
County Capital Improvements 555,672       -                  
Virginia Public Assistance 438,174       -                  
Comprehensive Services Act 457,599       -                  
General Debt Service 251,700       -                  


Total $ 5,363,540      $ 5,363,540      


Transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to 
the fund that statute or budget requires to expend them and (2) use unrestricted revenues collected in the 
General Fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgeting 
authorization. 


Note 8—Long-Term Obligations:  


Primary Government: 


A summary of long-term obligations is as follows: 


Amounts
Balance Balance Due
July 1, Issuances/ Retirements/ June 30, Within
2016 Increases Decreases 2017 One Year


Governmental Activities Obligations:
Incurred by County:
 Compensated absences $ 618,034 $ 39,969        $ -                    $ 658,003 $ 65,800
 Net pension liability 1,969,166 1,761,951   1,039,555       2,691,562 -                
 Lease revenue bond 4,167,233 -                81,328 4,085,905 84,747


Total incurred by County $ 6,754,433 $ 1,801,920   $ 1,120,883 $ 7,435,470 $ 150,547


Incurred by School Board:
 General obligation bonds $ 27,400,000 $ -                $ 2,405,000 $ 24,995,000 $ 1,655,000
 Capital leases 820,161 -                161,110 659,051 167,709


Total Incurred by School Board $ 28,220,161 $ -                $ 2,566,110 $ 25,654,051 $ 1,822,709


Premiums on bonds issued $ 258,686 $ -                $ 32,114 $ 226,572 $ 26,518
Discount on bonds issued (21,501) -                (2,404) (19,097) (2,404)


Total Governmental Activities Obligations $ 35,211,779 $ 1,801,920 $ 3,716,703 $ 33,296,996 $ 1,997,370
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June 30, 2017 (Continued) 


Note 8—Long-Term Obligations:  (Continued) 


Primary Government:  (Continued) 


Annual requirements to amortize long-term obligations and related interest are as follows: 


Year
Ending


June 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest


2018 $ 84,747 $ 166,953 $ 1,655,000 $ 1,122,592 $ 167,709 $ 24,363
2019 88,310 163,390 1,700,000 1,048,292 174,579 17,493
2020 92,022 159,678 1,345,000 980,535 181,751 10,323
2021 95,891 155,809 1,395,000 920,349 52,145 4,909    
2022 99,922 151,778 1,450,000 856,051 54,402 2,652    


2023-2027 566,263 692,237 8,160,000 3,193,705 28,465 450       
2028-2032 695,726 562,774 9,290,000 1,063,525 -              -           
2033-2037 854,787 403,713 -                -               -              -           
2038-2042 1,050,213 208,287 -                -               -              -           
2043-2044 458,024 18,926 -                -               -              -           


Total $ 4,085,905 2,683,545 $ 24,995,000 $ 9,185,049 $ 659,051 $ 60,190


Revenue Bond Literary Loans Capital Leases


School BoardCounty
RDA Lease Bonds and


Details of long-term indebtedness: 


Amount
Outstanding


Lease Revenue Bond:


$4,822,000 lease revenue bond for capital projects issued May 16, 2007 due in
monthly installments of $20,975 commencing May 16, 2009 payable through May
16, 2044 including interest at 4.125%. $ 4,085,905        


Virginia Public School Authority (VPSA) Bonds:


$410,000 Series A issued November 10, 2004 due in annual principal installments
of varying amounts through July 15, 2024, and interest payments between 4.6%
and 5.6% due July 15 and January 15 of each year through July 15, 2024 $ 160,000           


$29,200,000 plus a premium of $635,208 Series 2006B issued November 9, 2006 due
in annual principal installments varying from $800,000 to $1,565,000 through
January 26, 2026; interest payable at rates between 4.225% to 5.1% due January
15 and July 15 each year through January 26, 2026 16,630,000       


$8,185,000 Series B bonds issued November 20, 1998, due in annual principal
installments of varying amounts on July 15 of each year and interest payments
between 4.10% and 5.10% due July 15 and January 15 of each year through July 15,
2018 810,000           
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Note 8—Long-Term Obligations:  (Continued) 


Primary Government:  (Continued) 


Details of long-term indebtedness: 


Amount
Outstanding


Virginia Public School Authority (VPSA) Bonds:  (Continued)


$7,395,000 less a discount of $35,137 Series 2010 B Build America Bonds issued
under the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 on May 13, 2010.
Interest only payments due semi-annually through January 15, 2017; principal and
interest payments due semi-annually begining July 15, 2017 through July 15, 2030.
Interest rate varies between 3.854% to 5.562% and is offset by a 35% federal
interest subsidy received semi-annually. $ 7,395,000        


Total Virginia Public School Authority Bonds $ 24,995,000       


Capital Leases:


$1,525,605 School Energy Management Lease dated June 21, 2005 due in quarterly
installments of principal and interest of $33,755, interest at 3.95% $ 380,229           


$630,000 capital lease for elementary school gym, dated October 4, 2007 due in
quarterly installments of principal and interest of $14,264, interest at 4.26% 278,822           


Total Capital Leases $ 659,051           


Compensated absences $ 658,003           


Net pension liability $ 2,691,562        


Premium on bonds issued $ 226,572           


Discount on bonds issued $ (19,097)            


Total Primary Government $ 33,296,996      


The assets acquired through capital leases are as follows: 


Asset:
Machinery and equipment $ 284,380                 
Building improvements 2,155,605              


Less: Accumulated depreciation (1,522,763)             


Total $ 917,222                
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Note 8—Long-Term Obligations:  (Continued) 


Primary Government:  (Continued) 


The future minimum lease obligations and the net present value of these minimum lease payments as of 
June 30, 2017, were as follows: 


Component Unit -
Year ending June 30 School Board


2018 $ 192,073                 
2019 192,073                 
2020 192,073                 
2021 57,054                   
2022-2023 85,968                   
Total minimum lease payments 719,241                 
Less: amount representing interest (60,190)                 
Present value of minimum lease payments $ 659,051                


Component Unit—School Board: 


The following is a summary of long-term debt transactions of the Component Unit—School Board for the year 
ended June 30, 2017: 


Amounts
Balance Balance Due
July 1, June 30, Within
2016 Increases Decreases 2017 One Year


Compensated absences $ 500,297        $ -             $ 1,036       $ 499,261       $ 49,926
Net pension liability 19,319,000   4,698,413 2,581,413 21,436,000   -       


Total $ 19,819,297 $ 4,698,413      $ 2,582,449   $ 21,935,261 $ 49,926
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Note 8—Long-Term Obligations:  (Continued) 


Component Unit—Sanitary Authority:  


The following is a summary of long-term debt transactions of the Component Unit—Sanitary Authority for the 
year ended June 30, 2017: 


Changes in Long-Term Obligations: 


Balance Issuances/ Retirements/ Balance
July 1, 2016 Increases Decreases June 30, 2017


General Obligation Bond $ 530,238 $ -             $ 33,140         $ 497,098          
Net pension liability 19,090          17,079 10,079         26,090            
Notes payable 4,019,670 -             295,265       3,724,405       


Totals $ 4,568,998 $ 17,079      $ 338,484         $ 4,247,593        


Details of long-term indebtedness: 


Amount
Total Due Within


Amount One Year
Water Operating Fund:


General Obligation Bond:


$997,000 water system revenue bonds issued August 21, 2001 due in semi-
annual installments of $16,570 beginning September 1, 2002 through
August 1, 2031. No interest. $ 497,098      $ 33,140      


Notes Payable:


Note payable to VRA for the grouting project. Due June 2032. $940
payable semiannually. No interest. 29,141       1,880        


Note payable to VRA for new Boyce to Millwood line. Due June 2032.
$3,125 payable semiannually. No interest. 100,000      6,250        


$600,000 note payable to Bank of Clarke County issued February 27, 2015,
due in semiannual installments of $27,647 - $20,259 payable through
February 27, 2030, including 2.57% interest 520,000      40,000


$787,546 note payable to VRA issued September 2, 2005 due in
semiannual installments of $26,792 payable through July 1, 2026,
including 3.00% interest 419,901      41,295


Net pension liability 13,045       -               


Total Water Fund $ 1,579,185   $ 122,565
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Note 8—Long-Term Obligations:  (Continued) 


Component Unit—Sanitary Authority:  (Continued) 


Details of long-term indebtedness:  (Continued) 


Amount
Total Due Within


Amount One Year
Boyce Wastewater Facility


Note payable to VRA for the Millwood Sewer project. Due June 2032.
$9,602 payable semiannually. No interest. $ 307,272      $ 19,205      


$3,761,429 note payable to VRA issued October 1, 2008 due in semi-
annual installments of $93,924 payable through November 1, 2029. No 
interest. 2,348,091   187,847


Net pension liability 13,045       -               


Total Boyce Wastewater Facility $ 2,668,408   $ 207,052


Total Clarke County Sanitary Authority $ 4,247,593   $ 329,617


Annual requirements to amortize the long-term obligations and the related interest are as follows: 


Year Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest


2018 $ 33,140        $ -                 $ 296,477      $ 25,394        
2019 33,140        -                 297,725      23,118        
2020 33,140        -                 299,011      20,805        
2021 33,140        -                 300,335      18,453        
2022 33,140        -                 301,700      16,059        


2023-2027 165,700      -                 1,476,474   43,318        
2028-2032 165,698      -                 726,291      5,391          


2033 -                 -                 26,393        -                 
Total $ 497,098      $ -               $ 3,724,405 $ 152,538


General Obligation Bond Notes Payable
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Note 9—Unearned/Deferred/Unavailable Revenue: 


The following is a summary of unearned/deferred/unavailable revenue for the year ended June 30, 2017: 


Government-
wide Balance


Statements Sheet
Governmental Governmental


Activities Funds
Primary Government:
General Fund:


Deferred/unavailable property tax revenue:


Deferred/unavailable property tax revenue representing
uncollected property tax billings that are not available for the
funding of current expenditures $ -                     $ 1,481,048         


2nd half assessments due in December 2017 10,705,639      10,705,639        


Prepaid property taxes due in December 2017, but paid in
advance by the taxpayers 13,553            13,553              


Total deferred/unavailable revenue $ 10,719,192 $ 12,200,240       


Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies: 


Federal programs in which the County and all discretely presented component units participate were 
audited in accordance with the provisions of U.S. Office of Management and Budget Uniform Guidance.  
Pursuant to the provisions of this circular all major programs and certain other programs were tested for 
compliance with applicable grant requirements.   


While no matters of noncompliance were disclosed by audit, the Federal Government may subject grant 
programs to additional compliance tests which may result in disallowed expenditures.  In the opinion of 
management, any future disallowance of current grant program expenditures, if any, would be immaterial. 


Note 11—Pension Plan: 


Plan Description  


All full-time, salaried permanent employees of the County and (nonprofessional) employees of public school 
divisions are automatically covered by VRS Retirement Plan upon employment. This is an agent multiple-
employer plan administered by the Virginia Retirement System (the System) along with plans for other 
employer groups in the Commonwealth of Virginia. Members earn one month of service credit for each 
month they are employed and for which they and their employer pay contributions to VRS. Members are 
eligible to purchase prior service, based on specific criteria as defined in the Code of Virginia, as amended.  
Eligible prior service that may be purchased includes prior public service, active military service, certain 
periods of leave, and previously refunded service.  
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Note 11—Pension Plan: 


Plan Description 


The System administers three different benefit structures for covered employees – Plan 1, Plan 2, and, 
Hybrid. Each of these benefit structures has different eligibility criteria. The specific information for each 
plan and the eligibility for covered groups within each plan are set out in the table below:


RETIREMENT PLAN PROVISIONS
PLAN 1 PLAN 2 HYBRID RETIREMENT PLAN


About Plan 1  
Plan 1 is a defined benefit plan. 
The retirement benefit is based 
on a member’s age, creditable 
service and average final 
compensation at retirement using 
a formula. Employees are eligible 
for Plan 1 if their membership 
date is before July 1, 2010, and 
they were vested as of January 1, 
2013.


About Plan 2  
Plan 2 is a defined benefit plan. 
The retirement benefit is based 
on a member’s age, creditable 
service and average final 
compensation at retirement using 
a formula. Employees are eligible 
for Plan 2 if their membership 
date is on or after July 1, 2010, 
or their membership date is 
before July 1, 2010, and they 
were not vested as of January 1, 
2013.


About the Hybrid Retirement 
Plan
The Hybrid Retirement Plan 
combines the features of a 
defined benefit plan and a 
defined contribution plan. Most 
members hired on or after 
January 1, 2014 are in this plan, 
as well as Plan 1 and Plan 2 
members who were eligible and 
opted into the plan during a 
special election window. (see 
“Eligible Members”)  


• The defined benefit is based on 
a member’s age, creditable 
service and average final 
compensation at retirement 
using a formula. 


• The benefit from the defined 
contribution component of the 
plan depends on the member 
and employer contributions 
made to the plan and the 
investment performance of 
those contributions.  


• In addition to the monthly 
benefit payment payable from 
the defined benefit plan at 
retirement, a member may 
start receiving distributions 
from the balance in the 
defined contribution account, 
reflecting the contributions, 
investment gains or losses, and 
any required fees. 
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Plan Description (Continued) 


RETIREMENT PLAN PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
PLAN 1 PLAN 2 HYBRID RETIREMENT PLAN


Eligible Members
Employees are in Plan 1 if their 
membership date is before July 1, 
2010, and they were vested as of 
January 1, 2013.  


Hybrid Opt-In Election  
VRS non-hazardous duty covered 
Plan 1 members were allowed to 
make an irrevocable decision to 
opt into the Hybrid Retirement 
Plan during a special election 
window held January 1 through 
April 30, 2014.  


The Hybrid Retirement Plan’s 
effective date for eligible Plan 1 
members who opted in was July 
1, 2014.


If eligible deferred members 
returned to work during the 
election window, they were also 
eligible to opt into the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan. 


Members who were eligible for an 
optional retirement plan (ORP) 
and had prior service under Plan 
1 were not eligible to elect the 
Hybrid Retirement Plan and 
remain as Plan 1 or ORP.


Eligible Members
Employees are in Plan 2 if their 
membership date is on or after 
July 1, 2010, or their membership 
date is before July 1, 2010, and 
they were not vested as of 
January 1, 2013.  


Hybrid Opt-In Election  
Eligible Plan 2 members were 
allowed to make an irrevocable 
decision to opt into the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan during a special 
election window held January 1 
through April 30, 2014.  


The Hybrid Retirement Plan’s 
effective date for eligible Plan 2 
members who opted in was July 
1, 2014. 


If eligible deferred members 
returned to work during the 
election window, they were also 
eligible to opt into the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan. 


Members who were eligible for an 
optional retirement plan (ORP) 
and have prior service under Plan 
2 were not eligible to elect the 
Hybrid Retirement Plan and 
remain as Plan 2 or ORP.


Eligible Members
Employees are in the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan if their 
membership date is on or after 
January 1, 2014. This includes: 


• Political subdivision
employees*


• School division employees
• Members in Plan 1 or Plan 2


who elected to opt into the
plan during the election
window held January 1-April
30, 2014; the plan’s
effective date for opt-in
members was July 1, 2014.


*Non-Eligible Members
Some employees are not eligible 
to participate in the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan. They include:  


• Political subdivision
employees who are covered 
by enhanced benefits for 
hazardous duty employees.  


Those employees eligible for an 
optional retirement plan (ORP) 
must elect the ORP plan or the 
Hybrid Retirement Plan. If these 
members have prior service under 
Plan 1 or Plan 2, they are not 
eligible to elect the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan and must select 
Plan 1 or Plan 2 (as applicable) or 
ORP.
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Plan Description (Continued) 


RETIREMENT PLAN PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
PLAN 1 PLAN 2 HYBRID RETIREMENT PLAN


Retirement Contributions
Employees contribute 5% of their 
compensation each month to 
their member contribution 
account through a pre-tax salary 
reduction. Some political 
subdivisions and school divisions 
elected to phase in the required 
5% member contribution but all 
employees are paying the full 5% 
as of July 1, 2016. Member 
contributions are tax-deferred 
until they are withdrawn as part 
of a retirement benefit or as a 
refund. The employer makes a 
separate actuarially determined 
contribution to VRS for all 
covered employees. VRS invests 
both member and employer 
contributions to provide funding 
for the future benefit payment. 


Retirement Contributions 
Employees contribute 5% of their 
compensation each month to 
their member contribution 
account through a pre-tax salary 
reduction. Some political 
subdivisions and school divisions 
elected to phase in the required 
5% member contribution but all 
employees are paying the full 5% 
as of July 1, 2016. 


Retirement Contributions 
A member’s retirement benefit is 
funded through mandatory and 
voluntary contributions made by 
the member and the employer to 
both the defined benefit and the 
defined contribution components 
of the plan. Mandatory 
contributions are based on a 
percentage of the employee’s 
creditable compensation and are 
required from both the member 
and the employer. Additionally, 
members may choose to make 
voluntary contributions to the 
defined contribution component 
of the plan, and the employer is 
required to match those 
voluntary contributions according 
to specified percentages. 


Creditable Service 
Creditable service includes active 
service. Members earn creditable 
service for each month they are 
employed in a covered position. 
It also may include credit for 
prior service the member has 
purchased or additional 
creditable service the member 
was granted. A member’s total 
creditable service is one of the 
factors used to determine their 
eligibility for retirement and to 
calculate their retirement 
benefit. It also may count toward 
eligibility for the health insurance 
credit in retirement, if the 
employer offers the health 
insurance credit.


Creditable Service 
Same as Plan 1.


Creditable Service 
Defined Benefit Component: 
Under the defined benefit 
component of the plan, 
creditable service includes active 
service. Members earn creditable 
service for each month they are 
employed in a covered position. 
It also may include credit for 
prior service the member has 
purchased or additional 
creditable service the member 
was granted. A member’s total 
creditable service is one of the 
factors used to determine their 
eligibility for retirement and to 
calculate their retirement 
benefit. It also may count toward 
eligibility for the health insurance 
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Plan Description (Continued) 


RETIREMENT PLAN PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
PLAN 1 PLAN 2 HYBRID RETIREMENT PLAN


Creditable Service (Cont.) Creditable Service (Cont.)
Same as Plan 1.


Creditable Service (Cont.)
Defined Benefit Component: 
(Cont.)
credit in retirement, if the 
employer offers the health 
insurance credit.  


Defined Contributions 
Component:
Under the defined contribution 
component, creditable service is 
used to determine vesting for the 
employer contribution portion of 
the plan.


Vesting
Vesting is the minimum length of 
service a member needs to 
qualify for a future retirement 
benefit. Members become vested 
when they have at least five 
years (60 months) of creditable 
service. Vesting means members 
are eligible to qualify for 
retirement if they meet the age 
and service requirements for 
their plan. Members also must be 
vested to receive a full refund of 
their member contribution 
account balance if they leave 
employment and request a 
refund.


Members are always 100% vested 
in the contributions that they 
make.


Vesting
Same as Plan 1.


Vesting
Defined Benefit Component: 
Defined benefit vesting is the 
minimum length of service a 
member needs to qualify for a 
future retirement benefit.  
Members are vested under the 
defined benefit component of the 
Hybrid Retirement Plan when 
they reach five years (60 months) 
of creditable service.  
Plan 1 or Plan 2 members with at 
least five years (60 months) of 
creditable service who opted into 
the Hybrid Retirement Plan 
remain vested in the defined 
benefit component.  
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Plan Description (Continued) 


RETIREMENT PLAN PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
PLAN 1 PLAN 2 HYBRID RETIREMENT PLAN


Vesting: (Cont.) Vesting: (Cont.) Vesting: (Cont.)
Defined Contributions 
Component:
Defined contribution vesting 
refers to the minimum length of 
service a member needs to be 
eligible to withdraw the employer 
contributions from the defined 
contribution component of the 
plan.


Members are always 100% vested 
in the contributions that they 
make.


Upon retirement or leaving 
covered employment, a member 
is eligible to withdraw a 
percentage of employer 
contributions to the defined 
contribution component of the 
plan, based on service.  


• After two years, a member 
is 50% vested and may 
withdraw 50% of employer 
contributions.


• After three years, a member 
is 75% vested and may 
withdraw 75% of employer 
contributions.


• After four or more years, a 
member is 100% vested and 
may withdraw 100% of 
employer contributions.  


Distribution is not required by law 
until age 70½. 
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Plan Description (Continued) 


RETIREMENT PLAN PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
PLAN 1 PLAN 2 HYBRID RETIREMENT PLAN


Calculating the Benefit 
The Basic Benefit is calculated 
based on a formula using the 
member’s average final 
compensation, a retirement 
multiplier and total service credit 
at retirement. It is one of the 
benefit payout options available 
to a member at retirement.  


An early retirement reduction 
factor is applied to the Basic 
Benefit if the member retires 
with a reduced retirement 
benefit or selects a benefit 
payout option other than the 
Basic Benefit.


Calculating the Benefit 
See definition under Plan 1. 


Calculating the Benefit 
Defined Benefit Component: 
See definition under Plan 1.  


Defined Contribution 
Component:
The benefit is based on 
contributions made by the 
member and any matching 
contributions made by the 
employer, plus net investment 
earnings on those contributions.  


Average Final Compensation 
A member’s average final 
compensation is the average of 
the 36 consecutive months of 
highest compensation as a 
covered employee.


Average Final Compensation 
A member’s average final 
compensation is the average of 
their 60 consecutive months of 
highest compensation as a 
covered employee.


Average Final Compensation 
Same as Plan 2. It is used in the 
retirement formula for the 
defined benefit component of the 
plan.


Service Retirement Multiplier 
VRS: The retirement multiplier is 
a factor used in the formula to 
determine a final retirement 
benefit. The retirement 
multiplier for non-hazardous duty 
members is 1.70%.  


Sheriffs and regional jail 
superintendents: The retirement 
multiplier for sheriffs and 
regional jail superintendents is 
1.85%.


Service Retirement Multiplier 
VRS: Same as Plan 1 for service 
earned, purchased or granted 
prior to January 1, 2013. For non-
hazardous duty members the 
retirement multiplier is 1.65% for 
creditable service earned, 
purchased or granted on or after 
January 1, 2013.  


Sheriffs and regional jail 
superintendents: Same as Plan 1.


Service Retirement Multiplier 
Defined Benefit Component: 
VRS: The retirement multiplier 
for the defined benefit 
component is 1.00%.  


For members who opted into the 
Hybrid Retirement Plan from Plan 
1 or Plan 2, the applicable 
multipliers for those plans will be 
used to calculate the retirement 
benefit for service credited in 
those plans.  


Sheriffs and regional jail 
superintendents: Not applicable.
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Plan Description (Continued) 


RETIREMENT PLAN PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
PLAN 1 PLAN 2 HYBRID RETIREMENT PLAN


Service Retirement Multiplier 
(Cont.)


Political subdivision hazardous 
duty employees: The retirement 
multiplier of eligible political 
subdivision hazardous duty 
employees other than sheriffs and 
regional jail superintendents is 
1.70% or 1.85% as elected by the 
employer.


Service Retirement Multiplier 
(Cont.)


Political subdivision hazardous 
duty employees: Same as Plan 1. 


Service Retirement Multiplier 
(Cont.)


Political subdivision hazardous 
duty employees: Not applicable.


Defined Contribution 
Component:
Not applicable. 


Normal Retirement Age 
VRS: Age 65.  


Political subdivisions hazardous 
duty employees: Age 60.


Normal Retirement Age 
VRS: Normal Social Security 
retirement age.


Political subdivisions hazardous 
duty employees: Same as Plan 1.


Normal Retirement Age 
Defined Benefit Component: 
VRS: Same as Plan 2.  


Political subdivisions hazardous 
duty employees: Not applicable.


Defined Contribution 
Component:
Members are eligible to receive 
distributions upon leaving 
employment, subject to 
restrictions.


Earliest Unreduced Retirement 
Eligibility
VRS: Age 65 with at least five 
years (60 months) of creditable 
service or at age 50 with at least 
30 years of creditable service.  


Political subdivisions hazardous 
duty employees: Age 60 with at 
least five years of creditable 
service or age 50 with at least 25 
years of creditable service.


Earliest Unreduced Retirement 
Eligibility
VRS: Normal Social Security 
retirement age with at least five 
years (60 months) of creditable 
service or when their age and 
service equal 90.  


Political subdivisions hazardous 
duty employees: Same as Plan 1.


Earliest Unreduced Retirement 
Eligibility
Defined Benefit Component: 
VRS: Normal Social Security 
retirement age and have at least 
five years (60 months) of 
creditable service or when their 
age and service equal 90.  


Political subdivisions hazardous 
duty employees: Not applicable.
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Plan Description (Continued) 


RETIREMENT PLAN PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
PLAN 1 PLAN 2 HYBRID RETIREMENT PLAN


Earliest Unreduced Retirement 
Eligibility (Cont.)


Earliest Unreduced Retirement 
Eligibility (Cont.)


Earliest Unreduced Retirement 
Eligibility (Cont.) 
Defined Contribution 
Component:
Members are eligible to receive 
distributions upon leaving 
employment, subject to 
restrictions. 


Earliest Reduced Retirement 
Eligibility
VRS: Age 55 with at least five 
years (60 months) of creditable 
service or age 50 with at least 10 
years of creditable service. 


Political subdivisions hazardous 
duty employees: 50 with at least 
five years of creditable service.


Earliest Reduced Retirement 
Eligibility
VRS: Age 60 with at least five 
years (60 months) of creditable 
service.


Political subdivisions hazardous 
duty employees: Same as Plan 1.


Earliest Reduced Retirement 
Eligibility
Defined Benefit Component: 
VRS: Members may retire with a 
reduced benefit as early as age 
60 with at least five years (60 
months) of creditable service. 


Political subdivisions hazardous 
duty employees: Not applicable.


Defined Contribution 
Component:
Members are eligible to receive 
distributions upon leaving 
employment, subject to 
restrictions. 
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Plan Description (Continued) 


RETIREMENT PLAN PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
PLAN 1 PLAN 2 HYBRID RETIREMENT PLAN


Cost-of-Living Adjustment 
(COLA) in Retirement 
The Cost-of-Living Adjustment 
(COLA) matches the first 3% 
increase in the Consumer Price 
Index for all Urban Consumers 
(CPI-U) and half of any additional 
increase (up to 4%) up to a 
maximum COLA of 5%.  


Eligibility:
For members who retire with an 
unreduced benefit or with a 
reduced benefit with at least 20 
years of creditable service, the 
COLA will go into effect on July 1 
after one full calendar year from 
the retirement date.  


For members who retire with a 
reduced benefit and who have 
less than 20 years of creditable 
service, the COLA will go into 
effect on July 1 after one 
calendar year following the 
unreduced retirement eligibility 
date.


Exceptions to COLA Effective 
Dates:
The COLA is effective July 1 
following one full calendar year 
(January 1 to December 31) under 
any of the following 
circumstances:  


• The member is within five 
years of qualifying for an 
unreduced retirement benefit 
as of January 1, 2013.  


• The member retires on 
disability. 


Cost-of-Living Adjustment 
(COLA) in Retirement 
The Cost-of-Living Adjustment 
(COLA) matches the first 2% 
increase in the CPI-U and half of 
any additional increase (up to 
2%), for a maximum COLA of 3%. 


Eligibility:
Same as Plan 1. 


Exceptions to COLA Effective 
Dates:
Same as Plan 1.


Cost-of-Living Adjustment 
(COLA) in Retirement 
Defined Benefit Component: 
Same as Plan 2.  


Defined Contribution 
Component:
Not applicable.


Eligibility:
Same as Plan 1 and Plan 2. 


Exceptions to COLA Effective 
Dates:
Same as Plan 1 and Plan 2.
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RETIREMENT PLAN PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
PLAN 1 PLAN 2 HYBRID RETIREMENT PLAN 


Cost-of-Living Adjustment 
(COLA) in Retirement (Cont.) 


Exceptions to COLA Effective 
Dates: (Cont.)


• The member retires directly
from short-term or long-term
disability under the Virginia
Sickness and Disability
Program (VSDP).


• The member is involuntarily
separated from employment
for causes other than job
performance or misconduct
and is eligible to retire under
the Workforce Transition Act
or the Transitional Benefits
Program.


• The member dies in service
and the member’s survivor or
beneficiary is eligible for a
monthly death-in-service
benefit. The COLA will go into
effect on July 1 following one
full calendar year (January 1
to December 31) from the
date the monthly benefit
begins.


Cost-of-Living Adjustment 
(COLA) in Retirement (Cont.) 


Exceptions to COLA Effective 
Dates: (Cont.) 
Same as Plan 1.


Cost-of-Living Adjustment 
(COLA) in Retirement (Cont.) 


Exceptions to COLA Effective 
Dates: (Cont.)
Same as Plan 1 and Plan 2.


Disability Coverage 
Members who are eligible to be 
considered for disability 
retirement and retire on 
disability, the retirement 
multiplier is 1.7% on all service, 
regardless of when it was earned, 
purchased or granted.  


Disability Coverage 
Members who are eligible to be 
considered for disability 
retirement and retire on 
disability, the retirement 
multiplier is 1.65% on all service, 
regardless of when it was earned, 
purchased or granted.  


Disability Coverage 
Employees of political 
subdivisions and School divisions 
(including Plan 1 and Plan 2 opt-
ins) participate in the Virginia 
Local Disability Program (VLDP) 
unless their local governing body 
provides an employer-paid 
comparable program for its 
members.
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Plan Description (Continued) 


RETIREMENT PLAN PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
PLAN 1 PLAN 2 HYBRID RETIREMENT PLAN


Disability Coverage 


VSDP members are subject to a 
one-year waiting period before 
becoming eligible for non-work-
related disability benefits. 


Disability Coverage 


VSDP members are subject to a 
one-year waiting period before 
becoming eligible for non-work 
related disability benefits.


Disability Coverage 


Hybrid members (including Plan 1 
and Plan 2 opt-ins) covered under 
VLDP are subject to a one-year 
waiting period before becoming 
eligible for non-work-related 
disability benefits.


Purchase of Prior Service 
Members may be eligible to 
purchase service from previous 
public employment, active duty 
military service, an eligible 
period of leave or VRS refunded 
service as creditable service in 
their plan. Prior creditable 
service counts toward vesting, 
eligibility for retirement and the 
health insurance credit. Only 
active members are eligible to 
purchase prior service. When 
buying service, members must 
purchase their most recent period 
of service first. Members also 
may be eligible to purchase 
periods of leave without pay.


Purchase of Prior Service 
Same as Plan 1.


Purchase of Prior Service 
Defined Benefit Component: 
Same as Plan 1, with the 
following exceptions:  


• Hybrid Retirement Plan
members are ineligible for 
ported service.  


• The cost for purchasing
refunded service is the higher 
of 4% of creditable 
compensation or average final 
compensation.  


• Plan members have one year
from their date of hire or 
return from leave to purchase 
all but refunded prior service 
at approximate normal cost. 
After that one-year period, 
the rate for most categories 
of service will change to 
actuarial cost.  


Defined Contribution 
Component: Not applicable. 


Pension Plan Data 


Information about the VRS Political Subdivision Retirement Plan is also available in the separately issued VRS 
2016 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR).  A copy of the 2016 VRS CAFR may be downloaded 
from the VRS website at http://www.varetire.org/Pdf/Publications/2016-annual-report.pdf, or by writing to 
the System’s Chief Financial Officer at P.O. Box 2500, Richmond, VA 23218-2500.  
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Employees Covered by Benefit Terms


As of the June 30, 2015 actuarial valuation, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms of 
the pension plan: 


Component Unit
Primary School Board


Government (1) Nonprofessional
Inactive members or their beneficiaries currently


receiving benefits 58 38


Inactive members:
Vested inactive members 17 13


Non-vested inactive members 15 25


Inactive members active elsewhere in VRS 39 3


Total inactive members 71 41


Active members 86 42


Total covered employees 215 121


(1) Includes Component Unit Clarke County Sanitary Authority


Contributions


The contribution requirement for active employees is governed by §51.1-145 of the Code of Virginia, as 
amended, but may be impacted as a result of funding options provided to political subdivisions by the 
Virginia General Assembly. Employees are required to contribute 5.00% of their compensation toward their 
retirement. Prior to July 1, 2012, all or part of the 5.00% member contribution may have been assumed by 
the employer. Beginning July 1, 2012, new employees were required to pay the 5% member contribution. In 
addition, for existing employees, employers were required to begin making the employee pay the 5.00% 
member contribution. This could be phased in over a period of up to 5 years and the employer is required to 
provide a salary increase equal to the amount of the increase in the employee-paid member contribution.


The County’s and Component Unit Clarke County Sanitary Authority’s contractually required contribution 
rate for the year ended June 30, 2017 was 8.49% of covered employee compensation.  This rate was based 
on an actuarially determined rate from an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2015. 


This rate, when combined with employee contributions, was expected to finance the costs of benefits 
earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. 
Contributions to the pension plan from the Primary Government were $388,862 and $462,287 and 
Component Unit Clarke County Sanitary Authority were $3,770 and $4,481 for the years ended June 30, 2017 
and June 30, 2016, respectively.  


The Component Unit School Board’s contractually required contribution rate for nonprofessional employees 
for the year ended June 30, 2017 was 5.21% of covered employee compensation.  This rate was based on an 
actuarially determined rate from an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2015. 
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Contributions (Continued)


This rate, when combined with employee contributions, was expected to finance the costs of benefits
earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. 
Contributions to the pension plan from the Component Unit School Board’s nonprofessional employees were 
$35,810 and $55,293 for the years ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, respectively.  


Net Pension Liability (Assets)


The County’s, Component Unit Sanitary Authority and Component Unit School Board’s (nonprofessional) net 
pension liabilities (assets) were measured as of June 30, 2016. The total pension liabilities used to calculate 
the net pension liabilities (assets) were determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of June 30, 2015, 
using updated actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward 
to the measurement date of June 30, 2016.  


Actuarial Assumptions – General Employees 


The total pension liability for General Employees in the County’s, Component Unit Clarke County Sanitary 
Authority and Component Unit School Board’s (nonprofessional) Retirement Plan was based on an actuarial 
valuation as of June 30, 2015, using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method and the following 
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement 
date of June 30, 2016. 


Inflation 2.5%


Salary increases, including inflation 3.5% – 5.35%


Investment rate of return 7.0%, net of pension plan investment
expense, including inflation*


* Administrative expenses as a percent of the market value of assets for the last experience study were
found to be approximately 0.06% of the market assets for all of the VRS plans. This would provide an 
assumed investment return rate for GASB purposes of slightly more than the assumed 7.0%. However, since 
the difference was minimal, and a more conservative 7.0% investment return assumption provided a 
projected plan net position that exceeded the projected benefit payments, the long-term expected rate of 
return on investments was assumed to be 7.0% to simplify preparation of pension liabilities.  


Mortality rates: 14% of deaths are assumed to be service related  


Largest 10 – Non-LEOS: 
Pre-Retirement:


RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set forward 4 years 
and females set back 2 years 


Post-Retirement:  
RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set forward 1 year 


Post-Disablement:  
RP-2000 Disability Life Mortality Table Projected to 2020 with males set back 3 years and no 
provision for future mortality improvement 
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Actuarial Assumptions – General Employees (Continued) 


All Others (Non 10 Largest) – Non-LEOS: 
Pre-Retirement:
RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set forward 4 years 
and females set back 2 years 


Post-Retirement:  
RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set forward 1 year 


Post-Disablement:  
RP-2000 Disability Life Mortality Table Projected to 2020 with males set back 3 years and no 
provision for future mortality improvement 


The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2015 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial 
experience study for the period from July 1, 2008 through June 30, 2012. Changes to the actuarial 
assumptions as a result of the experience study are as follows: 


Largest 10 – Non-LEOS:  
- Update mortality table  
- Decrease in rates of service retirement  
- Decrease in rates of disability retirement  
- Reduce rates of salary increase by 0.25% per year 


All Others (Non 10 Largest) – Non-LEOS:  
- Update mortality table
- Decrease in rates of service retirement  
- Decrease in rates of disability retirement  
- Reduce rates of salary increase by 0.25% per year 


Actuarial Assumptions – Public Safety Employees 


The total pension liability for Public Safety employees in the County’s Retirement Plan was based on an 
actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2015, using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method and the following 
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement 
date of June 30, 2016. 


Inflation 2.5%


Salary increases, including inflation 3.5% – 4.75%


Investment rate of return 7.0%, net of pension plan investment
expense, including inflation*


* Administrative expenses as a percent of the market value of assets for the last experience study were
found to be approximately 0.06% of the market assets for all of the VRS plans. This would provide an 
assumed investment return rate for GASB purposes of slightly more than the assumed 7.0%. However, since 
the difference was minimal, and a more conservative 7.0% investment return assumption provided a 
projected plan net position that exceeded the projected benefit payments, the long-term expected rate of 
return on investments was assumed to be 7.0% to simplify preparation of pension liabilities. 
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Note 11—Pension Plan:  (Continued)


Actuarial Assumptions – Public Safety Employees (Continued) 


Mortality rates: 60% of deaths are assumed to be service related  


Largest 10 – Non-LEOS: 
Pre-Retirement:  


RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set back 2 years and 
females set back 2 years  


Post-Retirement:  
RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set forward 1 year 


Post-Disablement:  
RP-2000 Disability Life Mortality Table Projected to 2020 with males set back 3 years and no 
provision for future mortality improvement  


All Others (Non 10 Largest) – Non-LEOS: 
Pre-Retirement:  


RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set back 2 years and 
females set back 2 years 


Post-Retirement:  
RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set forward 1 year 


Post-Disablement:  
RP-2000 Disability Life Mortality Table Projected to 2020 with males set back 3 years and no 
provision for future mortality improvement  


The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2015 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial 
experience study for the period from July 1, 2008 through June 30, 2012.  Changes to the actuarial 
assumptions as a result of the experience study are as follows: 


Largest 10 – LEOS:  
- Update mortality table  
- Decrease in male rates of disability 


All Others (Non 10 Largest) – LEOS:  
- Update mortality table  
- Adjustments to rates of service retirement for females 
- Increase in rates of withdrawal  
- Decrease in male and female rates of disability  
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Note 11—Pension Plan:  (Continued)


Long-Term Expected Rate of Return


The long-term expected rate of return on pension System investments was determined using a log-normal 
distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected 
returns, net of pension System investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. 
These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected 
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The 
target asset allocation and best estimate of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are 
summarized in the following table: 


Weighted
Arithmetic Average
Long-Term Long-Term


Target Expected Expected
Asset Class (Strategy) Allocation Rate of Return Rate of Return


U.S. Equity 19.50% 6.46% 1.26%
Developed Non U.S. Equity 16.50% 6.28% 1.04%
Emerging Market Equity 6.00% 10.00% 0.60%
Fixed Income 15.00% 0.09% 0.01%
Emerging Debt 3.00% 3.51% 0.11%
Rate Sensitive Credit 4.50% 3.51% 0.16%
Non Rate Sensitive Credit 4.50% 5.00% 0.23%
Convertibles 3.00% 4.81% 0.14%
Public Real Estate 2.25% 6.12% 0.14%
Private Real Estate 12.75% 7.10% 0.91%
Private Equity 12.00% 10.41% 1.25%
Cash 1.00% -1.50% -0.02%


Total 100.00% 5.83%


Inflation 2.50%
*Expected arithmetic nominal return 8.33%


* Using stochastic projection results provides an expected range of real rates of return over various time
horizons. Looking at one year results produces an expected real return of 8.33% but also has a high standard 
deviation, which means there is high volatility. Over larger time horizons the volatility declines significantly 
and provides a median return of 7.44%, including expected inflation of 2.50%.  
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Note 11—Pension Plan:  (Continued)


Discount Rate 


The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The projection of cash flows used 
to determine the discount rate assumed that System member contributions will be made per the VRS 
Statutes and the employer contributions will be made in accordance with the VRS funding policy at rates 
equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates adopted by the VRS Board of 
Trustees and the member rate. Through the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018, the rate contributed by the 
employer for the County and Component Unit School Board (nonprofessional) Retirement Plans will be 
subject to the portion of the VRS Board-certified rates that are funded by the Virginia General Assembly. 
From July 1, 2018 on, participating employers are assumed to contribute 100% of the actuarially determined 
contribution rates. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to 
be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. 
Therefore the long-term expected rate of return was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to 
determine the total pension liability.  


Changes in Net Pension Liability


Total Plan Net
Pension Fiduciary Pension
Liability Net Position Liability


(a) (b) (a) - (b)


Balances at June 30, 2015 $ 18,907,647         $ 16,938,481         $ 1,969,166           


Changes for the year:
Service cost $ 452,697             $ -                         $ 452,697              
Interest 1,298,718          -                         1,298,718           
Differences between expected 


and actual experience (60,723)              -                         (60,723)               
Contributions - employer -                        466,664             (466,664)             
Contributions - employee -                        213,350             (213,350)             
Net investment income -                        298,818             (298,818)             
Benefit payments, including refunds


of employee contributions (709,058)            (709,058)            -                         
Administrative expenses -                        (10,410)              10,410                
Other changes -                        (126)                  126                     


Net changes $ 981,634             $ 259,238             $ 722,396              


Balances at June 30, 2016 $ 19,889,281          $ 17,197,719          $ 2,691,562           


Increase (Decrease)
Primary Government


57







COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA 


Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2017 (Continued) 


Note 11—Pension Plan:  (Continued)


Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset)


Balances at June 30, 2015


Changes for the year:
Service cost
Interest
Differences between expected 


and actual experience
Contributions - employer
Contributions - employee
Net investment income
Benefit payments, including refunds


of employee contributions
Administrative expenses
Other changes


Net changes


Balances at June 30, 2016


Total Plan Net
Pension Fiduciary Pension
Liability Net Position Liability


(a) (b) (a) - (b)


$ 183,273             $ 164,183             $ 19,090                


$ 4,388                 $ -                         $ 4,388                  
12,588               -                         12,588                


(590)                  -                         (590)                   
-                        4,524                 (4,524)                
-                        2,068                 (2,068)                
-                        2,896                 (2,896)                


(6,872)               (6,872)               -                         
-                        (100)                  100                     
-                        (2)                       2                        


$ 9,514                 $ 2,514                 $ 7,000                  


$ 192,787              $ 166,697              $ 26,090                


Clarke County Sanitary Authority
Increase (Decrease)


Total Plan Net
Pension Fiduciary Pension
Liability Net Position Liability (Asset)


(a) (b) (a) - (b)


Balances at June 30, 2015 $ 3,213,422          $ 3,279,793          $ (66,371)               


Changes for the year:
Service cost $ 75,698               $ -                         $ 75,698                
Interest 218,560             -                         218,560
Differences between expected 


and actual experience (87,838)              -                         (87,838)               
Contributions - employer -                        55,293               (55,293)               
Contributions - employee -                        31,776               (31,776)               
Net investment income -                        55,073               (55,073)               
Benefit payments, including refunds


of employee contributions (182,286)            (182,286)            -                         
Administrative expenses -                        (2,061)               2,061                  
Other changes -                        (24)                    24                      


Net changes $ 24,134               $ (42,229)              $ 66,363                


Balances at June 30, 2016 $ 3,237,556           $ 3,237,564           $ (8)                       


Increase (Decrease)
Component School Board (nonprofessional)
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Note 11—Pension Plan:  (Continued)


Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 


The following presents the net pension liability (asset) of the County, Component Unit Clarke County 
Sanitary Authority and Component Unit School Board (nonprofessional) using the discount rate of 7.00%, as 
well as what the County’s and Component Unit School Board’s (nonprofessional) net pension liability (asset) 
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (6.00%) or one 
percentage point higher (8.00%) than the current rate: 


(6.00%) (7.00%) (8.00%)


County of Clarke - Primary Government
Net Pension Liability (Asset) $ 5,186,018    $ 2,691,562     $ 607,895       


Component Unit Clarke County Sanitary Authority
Net Pension Liability (Asset) $ 50,268        $ 26,090         $ 5,892          


Component Unit School Board (nonprofessional)
Net Pension Liability (Asset) $ 328,285       $ (8)                $ (280,415)     


Rate


Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions


For the year ended June 30, 2017, the County, Component Unit Clarke County Sanitary Authority, and 
Component Unit School Board (nonprofessional) recognized pension expense of $306,010, $2,966 and 
($44,131), respectively.  At June 30, 2017, the County and Component Unit School Board (nonprofessional) 
reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the 
following sources: 


Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources Resources Resources Resources Resources


Differences between expected and actual
 experience $ -               $ 118,667 $ -              $ 59,341 $ - $ 1,151


Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments 449,636 - 85,757 - 4,358 -


Employer contributions subsequent to the
measurement date 388,862 - 35,810 - 3,770 -


Total $ 838,498 $ 118,667 $ 121,567 $ 59,341 $ 8,128 $ 1,151


Primary Government Board (nonprofessional)
Component Unit School


Component Unit 


Sanitary Authority
Clarke County
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Note 11—Pension Plan:  (Continued)


Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions (Continued)


$388,862, $35,810, and $3,770 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from 
the County’s, Component Unit School Board’s (nonprofessional), and Component Unit Clarke County Sanitary 
Authority contributions, respectively, subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a 
reduction or component of the Net Pension Liability in the year ended June 30, 2018. Other amounts 
reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be 
recognized in pension expense in future reporting periods as follows: 


Component Unit Component Unit
Primary School Board Clarke County


Year ended June 30 Government (nonprofessional) Sanitary Authority


2018 $ (58,283) $ (54,186) $ (564)
2019 (35,654) (3,209) (346)
2020 247,809 49,588 2,402
2021 177,097 34,223 1,715
2022 - - -


Thereafter - - -


Component Unit School Board (professional) 


Plan Description


Al full-time, salaried permanent (professional) employees of public school divisions are automatically 
covered by the VRS Teacher Retirement Plan upon employment.  This is a cost-sharing multiple employer 
plan administered by the Virginia Retirement System (the system).  Additional information regarding the 
plan description can be found in the first section of this note. 


Contributions


The contribution requirement for active employees is governed by §51.1-145 of the Code of Virginia, as 
amended, but may be impacted as a result of funding options provided to school divisions by the Virginia 
General Assembly. Employees are required to contribute 5.00% of their compensation toward their 
retirement. Prior to July 1, 2012, all or part of the 5.00% member contribution may have been assumed by 
the employer. Beginning July 1, 2012, new employees were required to pay the 5% member contribution. In 
addition, for existing employees, employers were required to begin making the employee pay the 5.00% 
member contribution. This could be phased in over a period of up to 5 years and the employer is required to 
provide a salary increase equal to the amount of the increase in the employee-paid member contribution.
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Component Unit School Board (professional) (Continued) 


Each School Division’s contractually required contribution rate for the year ended June 30, 2017 was 14.66% 
of covered employee compensation.  This rate was based on an actuarially determined rate from an 
actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2015 and reflects for the transfer in June 2015 of $296,000 as an 
accelerated payback of the deferred contribution in the 2010-2012 biennium.  The actuarial rate for the 
Teacher Retirement Plan was 18.20%.  The actuarially determined rate, when combined with employee 
contributions, was expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an 
additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.  Based on the provisions of §51.1-145   of the 
Code of Virginia, as amended the contributions were funded at 89.84% of the actuarial rate for the year 
ended June 30, 2016.  Contributions to the pension plan from the School Board were $1,679,087 and 
$1,679,413 for the years ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, respectively. 


Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions  


At June 30, 2017, the school division reported a liability of $21,436,000 for its proportionate share of the 
Net Pension Liability. The Net Pension Liability was measured as of June 30, 2016 and the total pension 
liability used to calculate the Net Pension Liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 
The school division’s proportion of the Net Pension Liability was based on the school division’s actuarially 
determined employer contributions to the pension plan for the year ended June 30, 2016 relative to the 
total of the actuarially determined employer contributions for all participating employers. At June 30, 2016, 
the school division’s proportion was 0.15296% as compared to 0.15349% at June 30, 2015.  


For the year ended June 30, 2017, the school division recognized pension expense of $1,770,000. Since there 
was a change in proportionate share between June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2016, a portion of the pension 
expense was related to deferred amounts from changes in proportion and from differences between 
employer contributions and the proportionate share of employer contributions. 


At June 30, 2017, the school division reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 


Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources


Differences between expected and actual experience $ -   $ 694,000


Changes in proportion and differences between
employer contributions and proportionate
share of contributions - 208,000         


Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments 1,224,000 -


Employer contributions subsequent to the
measurement date 1,679,087 -


Total $ 2,903,087 $ 902,000


61







COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA 


Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2017 (Continued) 


Note 11—Pension Plan:  (Continued)


Component Unit School Board (professional) (Continued)


Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions:  (Continued)  


$1,679,087 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from the school 
division’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the Net 
Pension Liability in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of 
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense in 
future reporting periods as follows: 


Year ended June 30


2018 $ (217,000)               
2019 (217,000)               
2020 483,000                
2021 326,000                
2022 (53,000)                 


Thereafter -                       


Actuarial Assumptions 


The total pension liability for the VRS Teacher Retirement Plan was based on an actuarial valuation as of 
June 30, 2015, using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method and the following assumptions, applied to 
all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2016. 


Inflation 2.5%


Salary increases, including inflation 3.5% – 5.95%


Investment rate of return 7.0%, net of pension plan investment
expense, including inflation*


* Administrative expenses as a percent of the market value of assets for the last experience study were 
found to be approximately 0.06% of the market assets for all of the VRS plans. This would provide an 
assumed investment return rate for GASB purposes of slightly more than the assumed 7.0%. However, since 
the difference was minimal, and a more conservative 7.0% investment return assumption provided a 
projected plan net position that exceeded the projected benefit payments, the long-term expected rate of 
return on investments was assumed to be 7.0% to simplify preparation of pension liabilities.  
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Component Unit School Board (professional) (Continued)


Actuarial Assumptions:  (Continued) 


Mortality rates:  


Pre-Retirement:  
RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set back 3 years and 
females set back 5 years 


Post-Retirement:  
RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set back 2 years and 
females set back 3 years 


Post-Disablement:  
RP-2000 Disability Life Mortality Table Projected to 2020 with males set back 1 year and no provision 
for future mortality improvement 


The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2015 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial 
experience study for the period from July 1, 2008 through June 30, 2012. Changes to the actuarial 
assumptions as a result of the experience study are as follows: 


 - Update mortality table  
 - Adjustments to the rates of service retirement  
 - Decrease in rates of withdrawals for 3 through 9 years of service 
 - Decrease in rates of disability 
 - Reduce rates of salary increase by 0.25% per year  


Net Pension Liability 


The net pension liability (NPL) is calculated separately for each system and represents that particular 
system’s total pension liability determined in accordance with GASB Statement No. 67, less that system’s 
fiduciary net position.  As of June 30, 2016, NPL amounts for the VRS total state-wide Teacher Employee 
Retirement Plan is as follows (amounts expressed in thousands): 


Teacher Employee
Retirement Plan


Total Pension Liability $ 44,182,326               
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 30,168,211               
Employers' Net Pension Liability (Asset) $ 14,014,115              


Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage
of the Total Pension Liability 68.28%
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Component Unit School Board (professional) (Continued)


Net Pension Liability: (Continued)


The total pension liability is calculated by the System’s actuary, and each plan’s fiduciary net position is 
reported in the System’s financial statements.  The net pension liability is disclosed in accordance with the 
requirements of GASB Statement No. 67 in the System’s notes to the financial statements and required 
supplementary information. 


Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 


The long-term expected rate of return on pension System investments was determined using a log-normal 
distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected 
returns, net of pension System investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. 
These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected 
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The 
target asset allocation and best estimate of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are 
summarized in the following table:  


Weighted
Arithmetic Average
Long-Term Long-Term


Target Expected Expected
Asset Class (Strategy) Allocation Rate of Return Rate of Return


U.S. Equity 19.50% 6.46% 1.26%
Developed Non U.S. Equity 16.50% 6.28% 1.04%
Emerging Market Equity 6.00% 10.00% 0.60%
Fixed Income 15.00% 0.09% 0.01%
Emerging Debt 3.00% 3.51% 0.11%
Rate Sensitive Credit 4.50% 3.51% 0.16%
Non Rate Sensitive Credit 4.50% 5.00% 0.23%
Convertibles 3.00% 4.81% 0.14%
Public Real Estate 2.25% 6.12% 0.14%
Private Real Estate 12.75% 7.10% 0.91%
Private Equity 12.00% 10.41% 1.25%
Cash 1.00% -1.50% -0.02%


Total 100.00% 5.83%


Inflation 2.50%
*Expected arithmetic nominal return 8.33%


* Using stochastic projection results provides an expected range of real rates of return over various time
horizons. Looking at one year results produces an expected real return of 8.33% but also has a high standard 
deviation, which means there is high volatility. Over larger time horizons the volatility declines significantly 
and provides a median return of 7.44%, including expected inflation of 2.50%. 
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Component Unit School Board (professional) (Continued)


Discount Rate 


The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The projection of cash flows used 
to determine the discount rate assumed that member contributions will be made per the VRS Statutes and 
the employer contributions will be made in accordance with the VRS funding policy at rates equal to the 
difference between actuarially determined contribution rates adopted by the VRS Board of Trustees and the 
member rate. Through the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018, the rate contributed by the school division for 
the VRS Teacher Retirement Plan will be subject to the portion of the VRS Board-certified rates that are 
funded by the Virginia General Assembly. From July 1, 2018 on, school divisions are assumed to contribute 
100% of the actuarially determined contribution rates. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s 
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of 
current active and inactive employees. Therefore the long-term expected rate of return was applied to all 
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 


Sensitivity of the School Division’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the 
Discount Rate 


The following presents the school division’s proportionate share of the net pension liability using the 
discount rate of 7.00%, as well as what the school division’s proportionate share of the net pension liability 
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (6.00%) or one 
percentage point higher (8.00%) than the current rate: 


(6.00%) (7.00%) (8.00%)


School division's proportionate
share of the VRS Teacher
Employee Retirement Plan
Net Pension Liability (Asset) $ 30,557,000 $ 21,436,000 $ 13,923,000


Rate


Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 


Detailed information about the VRS Teacher Retirement Plan’s Fiduciary Net Position is available in the 
separately issued VRS 2015 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). A copy of the 2015 VRS CAFR 
may be downloaded from the VRS website at http://www.varetire.org/Pdf/Publications/2015-annual-
report.pdf, or by writing to the System’s Chief Financial Officer at P.O. Box 2500, Richmond, VA, 23218-
2500.


Note 12—Litigation: 


At June 30, 201 , there were no matters of litigation involving the County or which would materially affect 
the County's financial position should any court decisions on pending matters not be favorable to the 
County. 
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Note 13—Risk Management: 


The County is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  The County carries a broad range 
of insurance coverages, which management considers prudent for the protection of the County’s assets and 
operations.  Coverages currently include $2,000,000 commercial general liability, $2,000,000 automobile 
liability, and $3,000,000 public official’s liability.  The property policy provides insurance coverage for all of 
the County’s real and personal property up to the replacement cost value of the asset. 


Note 14—Conduit Debt: 


The County has issued economic development revenue bonds through the Clarke County Industrial 
Development Authority.  All responsibility for the payment of this debt rests with the Borrower.  The County 
and the Authority have no responsibility for the payment of this debt.  Outstanding conduit debt obligations 
are as follows at June 30, 2017: 


Original Outstanding
Description Issue June 30, 2017


Heritage Child Development Center, Inc. $ 450,000 $ -
Grafton School, Inc. 9,925,000 4,415,000
R-1 Berryville Town bond 2,327,000 2,083,205
R-2 Clarke County bond 4,822,000 4,085,905


$ 17,524,000 $ 10,584,110


Note 15—Assigned Fund Balances: 


Fund balances have been assigned for the following purposes: 


Liquidity Designation $ 3,430,717
Stabilization Designation 857,679
School Operating Transfer 682,253
Leave Liability 100,000
Continuing Appropriations for Capital Projects 4,411,471
Parks Master Plan Implementation 100,000
Community Facilities 300,000
Comprehensive Services Act Shortfall 300,000
Conservation Easements from Government Savings 150,000
Economic Development 100,000
Emergency Vehicles 50,000         
Government Savings 500,000
Data and Communications Technology 150,000
FY 2016/2017 Original Budget Deficit (50,762)


Total $ 11,081,358
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Note 16—Surety Bonds: 


Amount


Fidelity and Deposit Company of Maryland – Surety
Helen Butts, Clerk of the Circuit Court $ 25,000          
Sharon Keeler, Treasurer 400,000
Donna Peake, Commissioner of the Revenue 3,000
Anthony W. Roper, Sheriff 30,000          


Western Surety
Sharon Keeler, Treasurer 10,000          


Note 17—Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions: 


The County offers postemployment medical coverage to its retired employees at the employee’s cost.  The 
County has elected not to obtain an actuarial valuation to determine liability for this benefit in accordance 
with the financial reporting requirements of GASB 45 and believes there is no material effect on the 
County’s financial position. 


Note 18—Note Receivable: 


During fiscal year 2010, the County issued a note receivable to the Berryville Main Street Program in the 
amount of $35,000.  The note is payable over 12 years, bearing interest at 3%.  At June 30, 2017, $14,608 of 
this note was outstanding.  Future payments are as follows: 


Fiscal
Year Principal Interest


2018 $ 3,079    $ 415    
2019 3,172 322    
2020 3,268 226    
2021 3,367 128    
2022 1,722 26     


Total $ 14,608 $ 1,117
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Note 19—Upcoming Pronouncements:


Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pension,
improves accounting and financial reporting by state and local governments for postemployment benefits 
other than pensions (other postemployment benefits or OPEB). This Statement replaces the requirements of 
Statements No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other 
Than Pensions, as amended, and No. 57, OPEB Measurements by Agent Employers and Agent Multiple-
Employer Plans, for OPEB. Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other 
Than Pension Plans, establishes new accounting and financial reporting requirements for OPEB plans. This 
Statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2017. Earlier application is encouraged. 


Statement No. 77, Tax Abatement Disclosures, will increase the disclosure of tax abatement agreements to 
disclose information about the agreements. The requirements of this Statement improve financial reporting 
by giving users of financial statements essential information that is not consistently or comprehensively 
reported to the public at present. The requirements of this Statement are effective for financial statements 
for periods beginning after December 15, 2015. Earlier application is encouraged. 


Statement No. 81, Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements, improves accounting and financial reporting for 
irrevocable split-interest agreements by providing recognition and measurement guidance for situations in 
which a government is a beneficiary of the agreement. The requirements of this Statement are effective for 
financial statements for periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and should be applied retroactively. 
Earlier application is encouraged.  


Management is currently evaluating the impact these standards will have on the financial statements when 
adopted. 
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 8


General Fund
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Variance with
Final Budget - 


Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)


REVENUES
General property taxes $ 20,025,693     $ 20,025,693     $ 19,911,438     $ (114,255) 
Other local taxes 1,913,422 1,913,422 1,969,108       55,686 
Permits, privilege fees, and regulatory licenses 291,810 291,810 393,891          102,081 
Fines and forfeitures 310,095 310,095 352,279          42,184 
Revenue from the use of money and property 123,749 123,749 123,924          175 
Charges for services 970,982 967,764 1,001,603       33,839 
Miscellaneous 8,493 8,493 68,845            60,352 
Recovered costs 84,469           84,469           83,926            (543) 
Intergovernmental:


Commonwealth 4,398,154 4,407,593 4,373,592       (34,001) 
Federal 127,829 148,723 128,421          (20,302) 


Total revenues $ 28,254,696     $ 28,281,811     $ 28,407,027     $ 125,216 


EXPENDITURES
Current:


General government administration $ 1,888,624 $ 1,917,802 $ 1,903,602       $ 14,200 
Judicial administration 707,442 716,360 698,294          18,066 
Public safety 4,225,798 4,305,350 4,194,952       110,398 
Public works 1,294,747 1,294,747 1,169,117       125,630 
Health and welfare 392,802 392,802 656,708          (263,906) 
Education 16,588,878     19,450,225     15,707,544     3,742,681          
Parks, recreation, and cultural 1,086,901 1,088,901 973,326          115,575
Community development 632,251 642,047 577,600          64,447 
Nondepartmental 70,000           44,447           5,144 39,303 


Total expenditures $ 26,887,443     $ 29,852,681     $ 25,886,287     $ 3,966,394          


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under)
expenditures $ 1,367,253 $ (1,570,870)     $ 2,520,740       $ 4,091,610          


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in $ - $ 9,615 $ 12,125 $ 2,510 
Transfers out - (7,073,600)     (5,351,415)      1,722,185          


Total other financing sources (uses) $ - $ (7,063,985)     $ (5,339,290)      $ 1,724,695          


Net change in fund balances $ 1,367,253 $ (8,634,855)     $ (2,818,550)      $ 5,816,305          
Fund balances - beginning (1,367,253)     8,634,855 14,502,503 5,867,648          


Fund balances - ending $ - $ - $ 11,683,953    $ 11,683,953


Budgeted Amounts
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 9


Virginia Public Assistance Fund - Special Revenue Fund
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Variance with
Final Budget- 


Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)


REVENUES
Recovered costs $ -                   $ -                   $ 50,004          $ 50,004          
Intergovernmental:


Commonwealth 286,498         286,498         277,301         (9,197)           
Federal 736,709         736,709         712,855         (23,854)         


Total revenues $ 1,023,207      $ 1,023,207      $ 1,040,160      $ 16,953          


EXPENDITURES
Current:


Health and welfare $ 1,546,124      $ 1,546,124      $ 1,478,944      $ 67,180          


Total expenditures $ 1,546,124      $ 1,546,124      $ 1,478,944      $ 67,180          


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under)
expenditures $ (522,917)       $ (522,917)       $ (438,784)       $ 84,133          


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in $ 522,917         $ 522,917         $ 438,174         $ (84,743)         


Total other financing sources (uses) $ 522,917         $ 522,917         $ 438,174         $ (84,743)         


Net change in fund balances $ -                   $ -                   $ (610)              $ (610)              
Fund balances - beginning -                   -                   610               610               


Fund balances - ending $ - $ - $ - $ -


Budgeted Amounts
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 10


Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset) and Related Ratios
Primary Government and Clarke County Sanitary Authority
For the Years Ended June 30, 2015 through June 30, 2017


2016 2015 2014
Clarke Clarke Clarke
County County County


Primary Sanitary Primary Sanitary Primary Sanitary
Government Authority Government Authority Government Authority


Total pension liability
Service cost $ 452,697       $ 4,388       $ 441,992       $ 4,284       $ 452,800       $ 4,389       
Interest 1,298,718    12,588     1,241,436    12,034     1,173,942    11,379     
Differences between expected and actual experience (60,723)        (290)        (174,129)      (1,688)     -                  -              
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee


contributions (709,058)      (6,872)     (672,885)      (6,522)     (652,215)      (6,322)     
Net change in total pension liability $ 981,634       $ 9,814       $ 836,414       $ 8,108       $ 974,527       $ 9,446       
Total pension liability - beginning 18,907,647   183,273   18,071,233   175,165   17,096,706   165,719   
Total pension liability - ending (a) $ 19,889,281   $ 193,087   $ 18,907,647   $ 183,273   $ 18,071,233   $ 175,165   


Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions - employer $ 466,664       $ 4,524       $ 455,266       $ 4,412       $ 487,123       $ 4,722       
Contributions - employee 213,350       2,068       208,804       2,024       200,072       1,939       
Net investment income 298,818       2,896       744,209       7,214       2,211,300    21,434     
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee


contributions (709,058)      (6,872)     (672,885)      (6,522)     (652,215)      (6,322)     
Administrative expense (10,410)        (100)        (10,047)        (98)          (11,767)        (114)        
Other (126)             (2)           (157)             (3)            117              -              
Net change in plan fiduciary net position $ 259,238       $ 2,514       $ 725,190       $ 7,027       $ 2,234,630    $ 21,659     
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 16,938,481   164,183   16,213,291   157,156   13,978,661   135,496   
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) $ 17,197,719   $ 166,697   $ 16,938,481   $ 164,183   $ 16,213,291   $ 157,155   


County's net pension liability - ending (a) - (b) $ 2,691,562    $ 26,390     $ 1,969,166    $ 19,090     $ 1,857,942    $ 18,010     


Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension liability 86.47% 86.33% 89.59% 89.58% 89.72% 89.72%


Covered payroll $ 4,332,013    $ 41,990     $ 4,210,911    $ 40,817     $ 4,003,842    $ 38,809     


County's net pension liability as a percentage of 
covered payroll 62.13% 62.85% 46.76% 46.77% 46.40% 46.41%


Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Information prior to the 2014 valuation is not available. However, additional years will be
included as they become available. 
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 11


Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset) and Related Ratios
Component Unit School Board (nonprofessional)
For the Years Ended June 30, 2015 through June 30, 2017


2016 2015 2014
Total pension liability
Service cost $ 75,698        $ 119,013      $ 138,591      
Interest 218,560      213,846      200,591      
Differences between expected and actual experience (87,838)       (96,657)       -                 
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (182,286)     (155,448)     (144,212)     
Net change in total pension liability $ 24,134        $ 80,754        $ 194,970      
Total pension liability - beginning 3,213,422   3,132,668   2,937,698   
Total pension liability - ending (a) $ 3,237,556   $ 3,213,422   $ 3,132,668   


Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions - employer $ 55,293        $ 56,916        $ 95,312        
Contributions - employee 31,776        32,933        49,538        
Net investment income 55,073        144,974      436,730      
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (182,286)     (155,448)     (144,212)     
Administrative expense (2,061)         (2,023)         (2,334)         
Other (24)              (33)              23               
Net change in plan fiduciary net position $ (42,229)       $ 77,319        $ 435,057      
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 3,279,793   3,202,474   2,767,417   
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) $ 3,237,564   $ 3,279,793   $ 3,202,474   


School Division's net pension liability (asset) - ending (a) - (b) $ (8)               $ (66,371)       $ (69,806)       


Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total
pension liability 100.00% 102.07% 102.23%


Covered payroll $ 652,740      $ 664,350      $ 990,746      


School Division's net pension liability as a percentage of 
covered payroll 0.00% -9.99% -7.05%


Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Information prior to the 2014 valuation is not available. However,
additional years will be included as they become available. 
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 12


Schedule of Employer's Share of Net Pension Liability VRS Teacher Retirement Plan
For the Years Ended June 30, 2015 through June 30, 2017


2016 2015 2014


Employer's Proportion of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) 0.15296% 0.15349% 0.15415%


Employer's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) $ 21,436,000   $ 19,319,000   $ 18,629,000   


Employer's Covered Payroll 11,656,844   11,292,534   11,256,878   


Employer's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) as a 
Percentage of its Covered Payroll 183.89% 171.08% 165.49%


Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of the Total Pension Liability 68.28% 70.88% 70.88%


Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Information prior to the 2014 valuation is not available. However, additional
years will be included as they become available. 
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 13


Schedule of Employer Contributions
For the Years Ended June 30, 2008 through June 30, 2017


Contributions in
Relation to Contributions


Contractually Contractually Contribution Employer's as a % of
Required Required Deficiency Covered Covered


Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Payroll
Date (1) (2) (3) (4) (5)


Primary Government (1)
2017 $ 392,632          $ 392,632          $ -                 $ 4,624,623       8.49%
2016 471,292          471,292          -                 4,374,003       10.77%
2015 461,738          461,738          -                 4,251,728       10.86%
2014 490,778          490,778          -                 4,042,651       12.14%
2013 495,262          495,262          -                 4,079,590       12.14%
2012 340,402          340,402          -                 3,868,202       8.80%
2011 350,218          350,218          -                 3,979,755       8.80%
2010 381,778          381,778          -                 4,031,452       9.47%
2009 383,625          383,625          -                 4,050,948       9.47%
2008 309,245          309,245          -                 3,894,774       7.94%


Component Unit School Board (nonprofessional)
2017 $ 35,810            $ 35,810            $ -                 $ 673,225          5.32%
2016 55,293            55,293            -                 652,740          8.47%
2015 57,201            57,201            -                 664,350          8.61%
2014 95,310            95,310            -                 990,747          9.62%
2013 103,670          103,670          -                 1,077,653       9.62%
2012 80,540            80,540            -                 1,020,784       7.89%
2011 86,945            86,945            -                 1,101,964       7.89%
2010 80,801            80,801            -                 1,125,360       7.18%
2009 81,717 81,717            -                 1,138,124       7.18%
2008 78,576            78,576            -                 1,178,048       6.67%


Component Unit School Board (professional)*
2017 $ 1,679,087       $ 1,679,087       $ -                 $ 11,986,432      14.01%
2016 1,679,413       1,679,413       -                 11,656,844      14.41%
2015 1,584,459       1,584,459       -                 11,292,534      14.03%


(1) Includes Primary Government and Clarke County Sanitary Authority


* Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Information prior to the 2014 valuation is not
available.  However, additional years will be included as they become available. 
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 14


Notes to Required Supplementary Information
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Largest 10 – Non-LEOS:
- Update mortality table
- Decrease in rates of service retirement
- Decrease in rates of disability retirement
- Reduce rates of salary increase by 0.25% per year


Largest 10 – LEOS:
- Update mortality table
- Decrease in male rates of disability


All Others (Non 10 Largest) – Non-LEOS:
- Update mortality table
- Decrease in rates of service retirement
- Decrease in rates of disability retirement
- Reduce rates of salary increase by 0.25% per year


All Others (Non 10 Largest) – LEOS:
- Update mortality table
- Adjustments to rates of service retirement for females
- Increase in rates of withdrawal
- Decrease in male and female rates of disability


Component Unit School Board - Professional Employees
- Update mortality table
- Adjustments to the rates of service retirement
- Decrease in rates of withdrawals for 3 through 9 years of service
- Decrease in rates of disability retirement
- Reduce rates of salary increase by 0.25% per year


Changes of assumptions – The following changes in actuarial assumptions were made effective June 30, 2013
based on the most recent experience study of the System for the four-year period ending June 30, 2012:


Changes of benefit terms – There have been no actuarially material changes to the System benefit provisions
since the prior actuarial valuation. The 2014 valuation includes Hybrid Retirement Plan members for the first
time. The hybrid plan applies to most new employees hired on or after January 1, 2014 and not covered by
enhanced hazardous duty benefits. Because this is a fairly new benefit and the number of participants was
relatively small, the impact on the liabilities as of the measurement date of June 30, 2016 are not material.
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 15


Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Governmental Funds


Total
Special Capital Nonmajor


Revenue Projects Governmental
Funds Funds Funds


ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 349,594            $ 140,250            $ 489,844            
Receivables:


for uncollectibles):
Accounts receivable - 5,000 5,000 


Due from other funds 3,261 12,084 15,345 
Due from other governmental units 62,145 847 62,992 


Total assets $ 415,000 $ 158,181 $ 573,181


LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:


Accounts payable $ 69,291 $ 18,214 $ 87,505 


Total liabilities $ 69,291 $ 18,214 $ 87,505 


Fund balances:
Restricted:


Swim team $ - $ 4,851 $ 4,851 
Pool - 1,659 1,659 


Committed:
Community development 226,970            - 226,970            
Public safety 118,739            - 118,739            


Assigned:
Capital projects - 133,457            133,457            


Total fund balances $ 345,709            $ 139,967            $ 485,676            


Total liabilities and fund balances $ 415,000 $ 158,181 $ 573,181


June 30, 2017
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 16


Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Total
Special Debt Capital Nonmajor


Revenue Service Projects Governmental
Funds Funds Funds Funds


REVENUES
General property taxes $ 70,077         $ -                  $ -                  $ 70,077           
Revenue from the use of money and 


property 940              -                  225              1,165             
Miscellaneous 92,256         -                  38,795         131,051          
Intergovernmental:


Commonwealth 597,694        -                  200,000        797,694          
Federal 247,661        -                  224,938        472,599          


Total revenues $ 1,008,628     $ -                  $ 463,958        $ 1,472,586       


EXPENDITURES
Current:


Public safety $ 70,635         $ -                  $ -                  $ 70,635           
Health and welfare 756,714        -                  -                  756,714          
Community development 695,891        -                  -                  695,891          


Capital projects -                  -                  1,045,735     1,045,735       
Debt service:


Principal retirement -                  81,328         -                  81,328           
Interest and other fiscal charges -                  170,372        -                  170,372          


Total expenditures $ 1,523,240     $ 251,700        $ 1,045,735     $ 2,820,675       


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures $ (514,612)      $ (251,700)      $ (581,777)      $ (1,348,089)     


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in $ 472,359        $ 251,700        $ 555,672        $ 1,279,731       
Transfers out (12,125)        -                  -                  (12,125)          


Total other financing sources (uses) $ 460,234        $ 251,700        $ 555,672        $ 1,267,606       


Net change in fund balances $ (54,378)        $ - $ (26,105)        $ (80,483)          
Fund balances - beginning 400,087        -                  166,072        566,159          


Fund balances - ending $ 345,709 $ - $ 139,967 $ 485,676
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 17


Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds


Shenandoah
Drug Animal Farms Conservation


CSA Enforcement Care Sanitary Easement
Fund Fund Fund District Fund Total


ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ -           $ 119,029 $ -        $ -                 $ 230,565        $ 349,594   
Due from other governmental units 62,145 -                   -        -                 -                   62,145     
Due from other funds 3,261    -                   -        -                 -                   3,261       


Total assets $ 65,406  $ 119,029 $ - $ - $ 230,565 $ 415,000


LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:


Accounts payable $ 65,406  $ 290 $ -        $ -                 $ 3,595           $ 69,291     


Total liabilities $ 65,406  $ 290               $ -        $ -                 $ 3,595           $ 69,291     


Fund balances:
Committed:


Animal care expenditures $ -           $ -                   $ -        $ -                 $ -                   $ -              
Community development -           -                   -        -                 226,970        226,970   
Public safety -           118,739        -        -                 -                   118,739   


Total fund balances $ -           $ 118,739        $ -        $ -                 $ 226,970        $ 345,709   


Total liabilities and fund balances $ 65,406  $ 119,029 $ - $ - $ 230,565 $ 415,000


June 30, 2017
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 18


Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Shenandoah
Drug Animal Farms Conservation


CSA Enforcement Care Sanitary Easement
Fund Fund Fund District Fund Total


REVENUES
General property taxes $ -               $ -                 $ -           $ -                  $ 70,077         $ 70,077        
Revenue from the use of money and property -               478             3          -                  459              940             
Miscellaneous -               46,754        225       -                  45,277         92,256        
Intergovernmental:
Commonwealth 285,079    6,652          -           -                  305,963        597,694      
Federal 14,036      -                 -           -                  233,625        247,661      


Total revenues $ 299,115    $ 53,884        $ 228       $ -                  $ 655,401        $ 1,008,628   


EXPENDITURES
Current:
Public safety $ -               $ 65,875        $ -           $ 4,760           $ -                  70,635        
Health and welfare 756,714    -                 -           -                  -                  756,714      
Community development -               -                 -           -                  695,891        695,891      


Total expenditures $ 756,714    $ 65,875        $ -           $ 4,760           $ 695,891        $ 1,523,240   


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures $ (457,599)   $ (11,991)       $ 228       $ (4,760)         $ (40,490)        $ (514,612)     


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in $ 457,599    $ -                 $ -           $ 4,760           $ 10,000         $ 472,359      
Transfers out -               -                 (9,625)   - (2,500)          (12,125)       


Total other financing sources (uses) $ 457,599    $ -                 $ (9,625)   $ 4,760           $ 7,500           $ 460,234      


Net change in fund balances $ -               $ (11,991)       $ (9,397)   $ -                  $ (32,990)        $ (54,378)       
Fund balances - beginning -               130,730       9,397    -                  259,960        400,087      


Fund balances - ending $ -              $ 118,739 $ - $ -                 $ 226,970        $ 345,709
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA


Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Variance Variance
with Final with Final


Budget Budget
Positive Positive


Original Final Actual (Negative) Original Final Actual (Negative)
REVENUES
General property taxes $ -               $ -               $ -             $ -              $ -           $ -            $ -             $ -             
Revenue from the use of money


 and property -               -               -             -              -           -            478         478         
Miscellaneous -               -               -             -              -           -            46,754    46,754    
Intergovernmental:
Commonwealth 550,456 550,456 285,079 (265,377) -           -            6,652      6,652      
Federal -               -               14,036    14,036     -           -            -             -             


Total revenues $ 550,456 $ 550,456 $ 299,115 $ (251,341)  $ -           $ -            $ 53,884    $ 53,884    


EXPENDITURES
Current:
Public safety $ -               $ -               $ -             $ -              $ -           $ -            $ 65,875    $ (65,875)   
Health and welfare 1,097,426 1,097,426 756,714 340,712   -           -            -             -             
Community development -               -               -             -              -           -            -             -             


Total expenditures $ 1,097,426 $ 1,097,426 $ 756,714 $ 340,712   $ -           $ -            $ 65,875    $ (65,875)   


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
 (under) expenditures $ (546,970) $ (546,970) $ (457,599) $ 89,371     $ -           $ -            $ (11,991)   $ (11,991)   


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in $ 546,970 $ 546,970 $ 457,599 $ (89,371)    $ -           $ -            $ -             $ -             
Transfers out -               -               -             -              -           -            -             -             


Total other financing sources (uses) $ 546,970 $ 546,970 $ 457,599 $ (89,371)    $ -           $ -            $ -             $ -             


Net change in fund balances $ -               $ -               $ -             $ -              $ -           $ -            $ (11,991)   $ (11,991)   
Fund balances - beginning -               -               -             -              -           -            130,730   130,730   


Fund balances - ending $ -              $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 118,739   $ 118,739


Budgeted Amounts


CSA Fund Drug Enforcement Fund


Budgeted Amounts
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Exhibit 19


Variance Variance Variance
with Final with Final with Final


Budget Budget Budget
Positive Positive Positive


Original Final Actual (Negative) Original Final Actual (Negative) Original Final Actual (Negative)


$ -          $ -           $ -            $ -              $ 20,000 $ 20,000 $ -           $ (20,000)   $ -             $ -               $ 70,077      $ 70,077


-          -           3           3             -           -           -           -              -             -               459           459
-          -           225        225         -           -           -           -              -             -               45,277      45,277


-          -           -            -              -           -           -           -              20,000    334,479    305,963    (28,516)
-          -           -            -              -           -           -           -              -             239,425    233,625    (5,800)


$ -          $ -           $ 228        $ 228         $ 20,000 $ 20,000 $ -           $ (20,000)   $ 20,000    $ 573,904    $ 655,401    $ 81,497


$ -          $ -           $ -            $ -              $ 20,000 $ 20,000 $ 4,760    $ -              $ -             $ -               $ -               $ -              
-          -           -            -              -           -           -           -              -             -               -               -              
-          -           -            -              -           -           -           -              30,000    731,029    695,891    35,138


$ -          $ -           $ -            $ -              $ 20,000 $ 20,000 $ 4,760    $ -              $ 30,000    $ 731,029    $ 695,891    $ 35,138


$ -          $ -           $ 228        $ 228         $ -           $ -           $ (4,760)  $ (20,000)   $ (10,000)   $ (157,125)   $ (40,490)     $ 116,635


$ -          $ -           $ -            $ -              $ -           $ -           $ 4,760    $ 4,760      $ -             $ 10,000      $ 10,000      $ -              
-          -           (9,625)   (9,625)     -           -           -           -              -             -               (2,500)       (2,500)


$ -          $ -           $ (9,625)   $ (9,625)     $ -           $ -           $ 4,760    $ 4,760      $ -             $ 10,000      $ 7,500        $ (2,500)


$ -          $ -           $ (9,397)   $ (9,397)     $ -           $ -           $ -           $ (15,240)   $ (10,000)   $ (147,125)   $ (32,990)     $ 114,135
-          -           9,397    9,397      -           -           -           -              10,000    147,125    259,960    112,835


$ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ (15,240) $ - $ - $ 226,970 $ 226,970


Shenandoah Farms Sanitary District


Budgeted Amounts


Animal Care Fund


Budgeted Amounts


Conservation Easement Fund


Budgeted Amounts
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 20


Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Debt Service Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Primary
Government
Debt Service


Fund


EXPENDITURES
Debt service:


Principal retirement $ 81,328
Interest and other fiscal charges 170,372


Total expenditures $ 251,700


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under)
expenditures $ (251,700)


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in $ 251,700


Total other financing sources (uses) $ 251,700


Net change in fund balances $ -
Fund balances - beginning -


Fund balances - ending $ -
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 21


Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
Nonmajor Debt Service Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Variance with
Final Budget


Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)


EXPENDITURES
Debt service:


Principal retirement $ 81,299      $ 81,299      $ 81,328      $ (29)                
Interest and other fiscal charges 170,401    170,401    170,372    29                 


Total expenditures $ 251,700    $ 251,700    $ 251,700    $ -                    


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under)
expenditures $ (251,700)   $ (251,700)   $ (251,700)   $ -                    


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in $ 251,700    $ 251,700    $ 251,700    $ -                    


Total other financing sources (uses) $ 251,700    $ 251,700    $ 251,700    $ -                    


Net change in fund balances $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -                    
Fund balances - beginning -               -               -               -                    


Fund balances - ending $ - $ - $ - $ -


Primary Government Debt Service Fund


Budgeted Amounts
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 22


Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds


General
Parks Government


Construction Capital Projects
Fund Fund Total


ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 37,533 $ 102,717              $ 140,250           
Receivables:


Accounts receivable -                     5,000                  5,000              
Due from other funds -                     12,084                12,084             
Due from other governmental units -                     847                     847                 


Total assets $ 37,533 $ 120,648 $ 158,181


LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:


Accounts payable $ -                     $ 18,214 $ 18,214             


Total liabilities $ -                     $ 18,214                $ 18,214             


Fund balances:
Restricted:


Swim team $ 4,851              $ -                         $ 4,851              
Pool 1,659              -                         1,659              


Assigned:
Capital projects 31,023             102,434              133,457           


Total fund balances $ 37,533             $ 102,434              $ 139,967           


Total liabilities and fund balances $ 37,533 $ 120,648 $ 158,181


June 30, 2017
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 23


Parks Government
Construction Capital Projects


Fund Fund Total
REVENUES
Revenue from the use of money and property $ 225                   $ -                          $ 225                 
Miscellaneous 577                   38,218                 38,795             
Intergovernmental:


Commonwealth -                       200,000               200,000           
Federal -                       224,938               224,938           


Total revenues $ 802                   $ 463,156               $ 463,958           


EXPENDITURES
Capital projects $ -                       $ 1,045,735            $ 1,045,735        


Total expenditures $ -                       $ 1,045,735            $ 1,045,735        


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under)
expenditures $ 802                   $ (582,579)              $ (581,777)          


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in $ -                       $ 555,672               $ 555,672           


Total other financing sources (uses) $ -                       $ 555,672               $ 555,672           


Net change in fund balances $ 802                   $ (26,907)                $ (26,105)           
Fund balances - beginning 36,731              129,341               166,072           


Fund balances - ending $ 37,533 $ 102,434 $ 139,967


Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA


Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Variance with
Final Budget


Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)


REVENUES
Revenue from the use of money and property $ -                     $ -                     $ 225                 $ 225
Miscellaneous -                     -                     577                 577
Intergovernmental:


Commonwealth -                     -                     -                     -
Federal -                     -                     -                     -


Total revenues $ -                     $ -                     $ 802                 $ 802


EXPENDITURES
Capital projects $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     $ -


Total expenditures $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     $ -


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under)
expenditures $ -                     $ -                     $ 802                 $ 802


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     $ -


Total other financing sources (uses) $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     $ -


Net change in fund balances $ -                     $ -                     $ 802                 $ 802
Fund balances - beginning -                     -                     36,731             36,731


Fund balances - ending $ - $ - $ 37,533            $ 37,533


Parks Construction Fund


Budgeted Amounts
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Exhibit 24


Variance with
Final Budget


Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)


$ -                     $ -                     $ -                     $ -
-                     37,719             38,218             499


-                     200,000           200,000           -
-                     354,044           224,938           (129,106)


$ -                     $ 591,763           $ 463,156           $ (128,607)


$ 955,162           $ 2,689,372        $ 1,045,735        $ 1,643,637


$ 955,162           $ 2,689,372        $ 1,045,735        $ 1,643,637


$ (955,162)          $ (2,097,609)       $ (582,579)          $ 1,515,030


$ 955,162           $ 2,105,109        $ 555,672           $ (1,549,437)


$ 955,162           $ 2,105,109        $ 555,672           $ (1,549,437)


$ -                     $ 7,500              $ (26,907)            $ (34,407)
-                     (7,500)             129,341           136,841


$ -                     $ -                     $ 102,434           $ 102,434


General Government Capital Projects Fund


Budgeted Amounts
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 25


Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds


Cafeteria
Special Undistributed Plan Unemployment
Welfare Town of Local Sales Withholding Compensation


Fund Berryville Tax Fund Fund Benefits Fund Total


ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 43,194 $ 94,349    $ -                    $ 87,143        $ -                      $ 224,686     
Accounts receivable -            -             -                    -                 294                  294           
Due from other governments -            -             205,492 -                 -                      205,492     


Total assets $ 43,194   $ 94,349 $ 205,492 $ 87,143 $ 294                 $ 430,472


LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ -            $ 2,266      $ -                    $ -                 $ 294                  $ 2,560        
Sales tax payable to other towns -            -             42,732           -                 -                      42,732       
Amounts held for Town -            92,083    -                    -                 -                      92,083       
Due to other funds -            -             162,760 -                 -                      162,760     
Accrued liabilities -            -             -                    87,143        -                      87,143       
Amounts held for social services
 clients 43,194   -             -                    -                 -                      43,194       


Total liabilities $ 43,194   $ 94,349 $ 205,492 $ 87,143 $ 294                 $ 430,472


June 30, 2017


Agency Funds
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 26
Page 1 of 2


Combining Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities
Agency Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Balance Balance
Beginning End of
of Year Additions Deletions Year


Special welfare:
  Assets:
    Cash and cash equivalents $ 38,257 $ 30,295 $ 25,358 $ 43,194


  Liabilities:
    Amounts held for social service clients $ 38,257 $ 30,295 $ 25,358 $ 43,194


Town of Berryville:
  Assets:
    Cash and cash equivalents $ 57,143 $ 111,355 $ 74,149 $ 94,349


      Total assets $ 57,143 $ 111,355 $ 74,149 $ 94,349


  Liabilities:
    Amounts held for Town $ 47,633 $ 109,089 $ 64,639 $ 92,083
    Accounts payable 9,510 2,266 9,510 2,266


      Total liabilities $ 57,143 $ 111,355 $ 74,149 $ 94,349


Undistributed local sales tax:
  Assets:
    Cash and cash equivalents $ - $ 1,134,223 $ 1,134,223    $ -
    Due from other governments 196,223 205,492 196,223 205,492


      Total assets $ 196,223 $ 1,339,715 $ 1,330,446    $ 205,492


  Liabilities:
    Sales tax payable to other towns $ 40,530 $ 42,732 $ 40,530 $ 42,732
    Due to other funds 155,693 162,760 155,693 162,760


      Total liabilities $ 196,223 $ 205,492 $ 196,223 $ 205,492


Cafeteria plan withholding:
  Assets:
    Cash and cash equivalents $ 73,040 $ 129,988 $ 115,885 $ 87,143


  Liabilities:
    Accrued liabilities $ 73,040 $ 129,988 $ 115,885 $ 87,143
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 26
Page 2 of 2


Combining Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities
Agency Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 (continued)


Balance Balance
Beginning End of
of Year Additions Deletions Year


Unemployment compensation benefits:
  Assets:
    Accounts receivable $ 2,948 $ 294 $ 2,948 $ 294


  Liabilities:
    Accounts payable $ 2,948 $ 294 $ 2,948 $ 294


Totals -- All agency funds
  Assets:
    Cash and cash equivalents $ 168,440 $ 1,405,861 $ 1,349,615    $ 224,686
    Accounts receivable 2,948 294 2,948 294
    Due from other governments 196,223 205,492 196,223 205,492


       Total assets $ 367,611 $ 1,611,647 $ 1,548,786    $ 430,472


  Liabilities:
    Amounts held for social service clients $ 38,257 $ 30,295 $ 25,358 $ 43,194
    Sales tax payable to other towns 40,530 42,732 40,530 42,732
    Amounts held for Town 47,633 109,089 64,639 92,083
    Accrued liabilities 73,040 129,988 115,885 87,143
    Due to other funds 155,693 162,760 155,693 162,760
    Accounts payable 12,458 2,560 12,458 2,560


      Total liabilities $ 367,611 $ 477,424 $ 414,563 $ 430,472
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 27


Combining Balance Sheet
Discretely Presented Component Unit - School Board


School Total
School School Capital Nonmajor Total


Operating Food Service Projects Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds


ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 500 $ 826              $ -                    $ 4,714             $ 6,040             
Receivables:


Accounts receivable 13,950            25,002         -                    -                    38,952           
Due from primary government 1,699,393       -                  261,696          -                    1,961,089       
Due from other governmental units 722,881 39,905         196,787          -                    959,573          
Prepaid items 117,798          -                  -                    -                    117,798          


Total assets $ 2,554,522       $ 65,733 $ 458,483 $ 4,714             $ 3,083,452


LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:


Accounts payable $ 241,540          $ 19,747         $ 458,483          $ -                    $ 719,770          
Accrued liabilities 2,312,482       45,986 -                    -                    2,358,468       


Total liabilities $ 2,554,022       $ 65,733         $ 458,483          $ -                    $ 3,078,238       


Fund balances:
Nonspendable:


Prepaid items $ 117,798          $ -                  $ -                    $ -                    $ 117,798          
Assigned:


School operating 500                -                  -                    -                    500                
Capital projects -                    -                  -                    4,714             4,714             


Unassigned (117,798)         -                  -                    -                    (117,798)        


Total fund balances $ 500                $ -                  $ -                    $ 4,714             $ 5,214             


Total liabilities and fund balances $ 2,554,522       $ 65,733 $ 458,483 $ 4,714             $ 3,083,452


Total fund balances per above $ 5,214             


8,402,728       


8                   


Deferred inflows related to the measurement of net pension liability (753,341)        


(208,000)        


3,024,654       


(21,935,261)    


Net position of governmental activities $ (11,463,998)


June 30, 2017


Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.


Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the
funds.


Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position (Exhibit 1) are different because:


Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in
the funds.


Deferred outflows related to measurement of net pension liability


The net pension asset is not an available resource and, therefore, is not reported in the funds.


Changes in proportion and differences between employer contributions and proportionate share of contributions
of costs-sharing pension plans are not reported in the funds.
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 28


Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds - Discretely Presented Component Unit - School Board
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


School Total
School School Capital Nonmajor Total


Operating Food Service Projects Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds


REVENUES


Revenue from the use of money and property $ 60,915 $ 143 $ - $ - $ 61,058
Charges for services 216,798 437,997 - - 654,795
Miscellaneous 76,910 - 26,418 - 103,328
Recovered costs 27,518 25,021 - - 52,539
Intergovernmental:


Local government 11,632,184 - 4,058,920 - 15,691,104
Commonwealth 8,699,714 9,801 201,787 - 8,911,302
Federal 773,249 296,987 - - 1,070,236


Total revenues $ 21,487,288   $ 769,949     $ 4,287,125       $ -                      $ 26,544,362      


EXPENDITURES
Current:


Education $ 21,466,874   $ 816,246     $ -                    $ -                      $ 22,283,120      
Capital projects -                  -               4,287,125       -                      4,287,125        


Total expenditures $ 21,466,874   $ 816,246     $ 4,287,125       $ -                      $ 26,570,245      


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures $ 20,414 $ (46,297) $ - $ - $ (25,883)


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in $ - $ 20,414 $ - $ - $ 20,414
Transfers out (20,414)        -               -                    -                      (20,414)           


Total other financing sources (uses) $ (20,414)        $ 20,414       $ -                    $ -                      $ -                     


Net change in fund balances $ - $ (25,883) $ - $ - $ (25,883)
Fund balances - beginning 500 25,883 - 4,714               31,097


Fund balances - ending $ 500 $ - $ - $ 4,714               $ 5,214


Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds - per above $ (25,883)           


Change in deferred inflows related to the measurement of the net pension liability 828,030           


513,883           


The net effect of various miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets (I.e., sales, trade-ins, and
donations) is to increase net assets. (281,426)         


(Decrease) in pension contributions subsequent to measurement date $ (20,717)            
(Increase) in net pension liability - teachers cost-sharing pool (2,117,000)        
Increase in deferred outflows - projected and actual pension earnings 1,309,757         
(Decrease) in net pension asset - nonprofessional group (66,363)            
Decrease in compensated absences 1,036               (893,287)         


Change in net position of governmental activities $ 141,317


Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is
allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which the
depreciation exceeded capital outlays in the current period.


Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current financial resources and, therefore are
not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.


Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities (Exhibit 2) are different because:


Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not reported as revenues in the
funds.


92







COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA


Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
Discretely Presented Component Unit - School Board
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Variance with
Final Budget


Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)


REVENUES
Revenue from the use of money and property $ 67,192            $ 67,192           $ 60,915           $ (6,277)             
Charges for services 217,220          217,220         216,798         (422)                
Miscellaneous 127,229          127,229         76,910           (50,319)           
Recovered costs 77,287            77,287           27,518           (49,769)           
Intergovernmental:


Local government 12,314,437     12,314,437     11,632,184    (682,253)         
Commonwealth 8,668,431       8,668,431      8,699,714      31,283            
Federal 665,632          665,632         773,249         107,617           


Total revenues $ 22,137,428     $ 22,137,428     $ 21,487,288    $ (650,140)         


EXPENDITURES
Current:


Education $ 22,107,428     $ 22,107,428     $ 21,466,874    $ 640,554           


Total expenditures $ 22,107,428     $ 22,107,428     $ 21,466,874    $ 640,554           


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under)
expenditures $ 30,000            $ 30,000           $ 20,414           $ (9,586)             


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in $ -                     $ -                    $ -                    $ -                     
Transfers out (30,000)           (30,000)          (20,414)         9,586              


Total other financing sources (uses) $ (30,000)           $ (30,000)          $ (20,414)         $ 9,586              


Net change in fund balances $ -                     $ -                    $ -                    $ -                     
Fund balances - beginning -                     -                    500               500                 


Fund balances - ending $ - $ - $ 500 $ 500


Budgeted Amounts


School Operating Fund
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Exhibit 29


Variance with
Final Budget


Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)


$ 80                    $ 80                    $ 143                  $ 63                    
519,340            519,340            437,997            (81,343)            


-                      -                      -                      -                      
25,000             25,000             25,021             21                    


-                      -                      -                      -                      
6,980               6,980               9,801               2,821               


257,000            257,000            296,987            39,987             


$ 808,400            $ 808,400            $ 769,949            $ (38,451)            


$ 838,400            $ 838,400            $ 816,246            $ 22,154             


$ 838,400            $ 838,400            $ 816,246            $ 22,154             


$ (30,000)            $ (30,000)            $ (46,297)            $ (16,297)            


$ 30,000             $ 30,000             $ 20,414             $ (9,586)              
-                      -                      -                      -                      


$ 30,000             $ 30,000             $ 20,414             $ (9,586)              


$ -                      $ -                      $ (25,883)            $ (25,883)            
-                      -                      25,883             25,883             


$ - $ - $ - $ -


Budgeted Amounts


School Food Service Fund
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 30


School Capital
Project Proffers


Fund


ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,714


Total assets $ 4,714


FUND BALANCE
Assigned:


Capital projects $ 4,714                     


Total fund balances $ 4,714                     


Total liabilities and fund balances $ 4,714


Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Capital Project Fund - Discretely Presented Component Unit - School Board
June 30, 2017
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 31


Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Capital Project Fund - Discretely Presented Component Unit - School Board
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


School Capital
Project Proffers


Fund
REVENUES
Revenue from the use of money and property $ -                          


Total revenues $ -                          


EXPENDITURES
Current:


Capital projects $ -                          


Total expenditures $ -                          


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under)
expenditures $ -                          


Net change in fund balances $ -                          
Fund balances - beginning 4,714                   


Fund balances - ending $ 4,714
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Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
Nonmajor and Major Capital Projects Fund - Discretely Presented Component Unit - School Board
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Variance with
Final Budget


Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)


REVENUES
Miscellaneous $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     $ -                  
Intergovernmental:


Local government -                     -                     -                     -                  
Commonwealth -                     -                     -                     -                  


Total revenues $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     


EXPENDITURES
Capital projects $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     


Total expenditures $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under)
expenditures $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     


Net change in fund balances $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     
Fund balances - beginning -                     -                     4,714              4,714              


Fund balances - ending $ - $ - $ 4,714 $ 4,714


COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA


School Capital Projects Proffers Fund


Budgeted Amounts
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Exhibit 32


Variance with
Final Budget


Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)


$ -                      $ 25,589             $ 26,418             $ 829                  


4,258,000        7,119,347        4,058,920        (3,060,427)       
154,000            428,127            201,787            (226,340)          


$ 4,412,000        $ 7,573,063        $ 4,287,125        $ (3,285,938)       


$ 4,412,000        $ 7,573,063        $ 4,287,125        $ 3,285,938        


$ 4,412,000        $ 7,573,063        $ 4,287,125        $ 3,285,938        


$ -                      $ -                      $ -                      $ -                      


-                      $ -                      $ -                      $ -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      


$ - $ - $ - $ -


School Capital Projects Fund


Budgeted Amounts
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Discretely Presented Component Unit — Sanitary Authority 







COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 33


Combining Statement of Net Position
Discretely Presented Component Unit - Sanitary Authority
As of June 30, 2017


Water Sewer
Fund Fund Total


ASSETS
Current assets:


Cash and cash equivalents $ 299,787 $ -              $ 299,787
Accounts receivable 56,986 63,141         120,127


Total current assets $ 356,773 $ 63,141         $ 419,914


Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets:


Land $ 13,200 $ -              $ 13,200
Utility plant in service 5,255,034 6,830,188    12,085,222
Accumulated depreciation (2,694,902) (1,388,379)   (4,083,281)


Sub-total $ 2,573,332 $ 5,441,809    $ 8,015,141


Construction in progress $ 1,289,842 $ -              $ 1,289,842


Total capital assets $ 3,863,174 $ 5,441,809    $ 9,304,983


Total noncurrent assets $ 3,863,174 $ 5,441,809    $ 9,304,983


Total assets $ 4,219,947 $ 5,504,950    $ 9,724,897


DEFERRED OUTFLOW OF RESOURCES
Post measurement date employer pension contributions $ 1,885            $ 1,885            $ 3,770            
Net difference between projected and actual pension earnings 2,179            2,179            4,358            


Total deferred outflows of resources $ 4,064            $ 4,064            $ 8,128            


LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:


Reconciled overdraft $ - $ 43,417         $ 43,417
Accounts payable 22,327 22,834         45,161
Accrued interest payable 4,418 -              4,418
Customers' deposits 6,150            -               6,150            
Bonds payable - current portion 122,565 207,052       329,617


Total current liabilities $ 155,460 $ 273,303       $ 428,763


Noncurrent liabilities:
Bonds payable - net of current portion $ 1,443,575 $ 2,448,311    $ 3,891,886
Net pension liability 13,045 13,045 26,090          


Total noncurrent liabilities $ 1,456,620 $ 2,461,356    $ 3,917,976


Total liabilities $ 1,612,080 $ 2,734,659    $ 4,346,739


DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Net difference of actual and expected pension experience $ 575               $ 576               $ 1,151            


Total deferred inflows of resources $ 575               $ 576               $ 1,151            


NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets $ 2,297,034 $ 2,786,446    $ 5,083,480
Unrestricted 314,322 (12,667)        301,655


Total net position $ 2,611,356 $ 2,773,779    $ 5,385,135


Enterprise Funds
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 34


Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Discretely Presented Component Unit - Sanitary Authority
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Water Sewer
Fund Fund Total


OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services:
Customer service charges $ 262,420 $ 307,852 $ 570,272
Connection fees 2,503 2,037 4,540
Miscellaneous 1,023 (3,900) (2,877)


Total operating revenues $ 265,946 $ 305,989 $ 571,935


OPERATING EXPENSES
Office supplies and expenses $ 1,017 $ 804 $ 1,821
Plant maintenance 4,166 5,557 9,723
Pipeline/road repairs 4,536 - 4,536
Pump station maintenance - 13,276 13,276
Grinder pump maintenance - 959 959
Operating supplies / small equipment 17,170 47,923 65,093
Professional services 106,826 182,845 289,671
Salaries and wages 17,734 17,734 35,468
Benefits 6,081 6,081 12,162
Testing services 3,211 8,357 11,568
Utilities 28,046 63,078 91,124
Depreciation 131,237 171,261 302,498


Total operating expenses $ 320,024 $ 517,875 $ 837,899


Operating income (loss) $ (54,078) $ (211,886) $ (265,964)       


NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment income $ 1,294 $ 64 $ 1,358
Tower rental 135,679 - 135,679
County operating subsidy - 207,000 207,000
Transfers (79,351)      79,351          -               
Interest expense (26,856) - (26,856)


Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) $ 30,766 $ 286,415 $ 317,181


Income before contributions $ (23,312) $ 74,529 $ 51,217


Contributed capital - availability fees 550 23,111 23,661


Change in net position $ (22,762) $ 97,640 $ 74,878


Total net position - beginning 2,634,118 2,676,139 5,310,257     


Total net position - ending $ 2,611,356 $ 2,773,779 $ 5,385,135     


Enterprise Funds
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 35


Combining Statement of Cash Flows
Discretely Presented Component Unit - Sanitary Authority
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Water Sewer
Fund Fund Total


CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers and users $ 257,640 $ 321,841          $ 579,481
Payments to suppliers (238,241) (339,112)         (577,353)
Payments to and on behalf of employees (24,218) (24,217)          (48,435)


Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities $ (4,819) $ (41,488)          $ (46,307)
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING 


ACTIVITIES
Tower rental $ 135,679 $ - $ 135,679
Transfers (79,351) 79,351            -
Operating subsidy from Clarke County - 207,000          207,000


Net cash provided by (used for) noncapital financing
activities $ 56,328 $ 286,351          $ 342,679


CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment $ (28,862) $ - $ (28,862)
Capital contributions 550 23,111            23,661
Retirements of long-term indebtedness (121,353) (207,052)         (328,405)
Interest paid on debt (27,209) - (27,209)


Net cash provided by (used for) capital and related
financing activities $ (176,874) $ (183,941)         $ (360,815)


CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest income $ 1,294 $ 64 $ 1,358


Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities $ 1,294 $ 64 $ 1,358


Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ (124,071) $ 60,986            $ (63,085)


Cash and cash equivalents - beginning 423,858 (104,403)         319,455


Cash and cash equivalents - ending $ 299,787 $ (43,417)          $ 256,370


Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash 
provided by (used for) operating activities:
Operating income (loss) $ (54,078) $ (211,886)         $ (265,964)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash


provided by (used for) operating activities:
Depreciation 131,237 171,261          302,498
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable 5,237 15,852            21,089
(Increase) decrease in pension contributions after measurement date 377               377                754                
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (73,269) (16,313)          (89,582)
Increase (decrease) in customers' deposits (567)              -                    (567)               
Increase (decrease) in net pension liability 3,500            3,500             7,000             
Increase (decrease) in deferred outflows related to measurement of net pension liability (2,180)           (2,179)            (4,359)            
Increase (decrease) in deferred inflows related to measurement of net pension liability (2,100)           (2,100)            (4,200)            
Increase (decrease) unearned revenue (12,976) - (12,976)


Total adjustments $ 49,259 $ 170,398          $ 219,657
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities $ (4,819)           $ (41,488)          $ (46,307)          


Enterprise Funds
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Discretely Presented Component Unit-Industrial Development Authority







COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 36


Statement of Net Position
Discretely Presented Component Unit - Industrial Development Authority
As of June 30, 2017


Industrial
Development


Authority


ASSETS
Current assets:


Cash and cash equivalents $ 101,529               
Prepaid items 1,333


Total assets $ 102,862               


LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:


Accounts payable $ 1,635                  


NET POSITION
Unrestricted 101,227               
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 37


Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Discretely Presented Component Unit - Industrial Development Authority
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Industrial
Development


Authority


OPERATING EXPENSES
Contribution to Lord Fairfax Small Business Park $ 6,000             
Professional services 1,635             
Board members' fee 500                
Insurance 1,333             
Miscellaneous 16                  


Total operating expenses $ 9,484             


Operating income (loss) $ (9,484)            


NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments $ 451                


Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) $ 451                


Change in net position $ (9,033)            


Total net position - beginning 110,260         


Total net position - ending $ 101,227         
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Exhibit 38


Statement of Cash Flows
Discretely Presented Component Unit - Industrial Development Authority
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Industrial
Development


Authority


CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments to board $ (500)              
Payments to suppliers (7,349)           


Net cash provided (used) by operating activities $ (7,849)           


CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments $ 451               


Net cash provided (used) by investing activities $ 451               


Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ (7,398)           


Cash and cash equivalents - beginning 108,927         


Cash and cash equivalents - ending $ 101,529         


Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash 
provided (used) by operating activities:
Operating income (loss) $ (9,484)           
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash


provided by (used for) operating activities:
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable $ 1,635            


Total adjustments $ 1,635            


Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities $ (7,849)           
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Schedule 1
Page 1 of 9


Schedule of Revenues - Budget and Actual
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Variance with
Final Budget -


Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)


General Fund:
Revenue from local sources:


General property taxes:
Real property taxes $ 14,550,000 $ 14,550,000 $ 14,495,536 $ (54,464)
Real and personal public service corporation taxes 482,255 482,255 487,565 5,310
Personal property taxes 4,540,189 4,540,189 4,453,059 (87,130)
Mobile home taxes 1,099 1,099 1,075 (24)
Machinery and tools taxes 164,962 164,962 176,461 11,499
Penalties 155,287 155,287 177,343 22,056
Interest 131,901 131,901 120,399 (11,502)


Total general property taxes $ 20,025,693   $ 20,025,693   $ 19,911,438   $ (114,255)


Other local taxes:
Local sales and use taxes $ 886,732 $ 886,732 $ 898,361 $ 11,629
Consumers' utility taxes 364,567 364,567 346,094 (18,473)
Consumption taxes 34,318 34,318 32,433 (1,885)
Motor vehicle licenses 301,285 301,285 325,439 24,154
Taxes on recordation and wills 262,674 262,674 315,886 53,212
Transient occupancy taxes 32,711 32,711 28,005 (4,706)
Business license taxes 31,135 31,135 22,890 (8,245)


Total other local taxes $ 1,913,422     $ 1,913,422     $ 1,969,108     $ 55,686


Permits, privilege fees, and regulatory licenses:
Animal licenses $ 11,930 $ 11,930 $ 6,736 $ (5,194)
Land use application fees 27,975 27,975 33,150 5,175
Animal shelter fees 7,910 7,910 8,068 158
Building and related permits 163,987 163,987 242,160 78,173
Zoning and subdivision 67,754 67,754 88,924 21,170
Transfer fees 444 444 545 101
Signs permits and inspection fees 360 360 3,493 3,133
Weapons permits 7,000 7,000 5,605 (1,395)
Other permits and fees 4,450 4,450 5,210 760


Total permits, privilege fees, and regulatory
 licenses $ 291,810        $ 291,810        $ 393,891        $ 102,081


Fines and forfeitures:
Court fines and forfeitures $ 310,095 $ 310,095 $ 352,279 $ 42,184


Total fines and forfeitures $ 310,095        $ 310,095        $ 352,279        $ 42,184


Revenue from use of money and property:
Revenue from use of money $ 67,802 $ 67,802 $ 62,924 $ (4,878)
Revenue from use of property 55,947 55,947 61,000 5,053


Total revenue from use of money and property $ 123,749        $ 123,749        $ 123,924        $ 175


Fund, Major and Minor Revenue Source
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Schedule 1
Page 2 of 9


Schedule of Revenues - Budget and Actual
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 (continued)


Variance with
Final Budget -


Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)


General Fund:  (Continued)
Revenue from local sources:  (Continued)


Charges for services:
Sheriff's fees $ 800 $ 800 $ - $ (800)
Charges for emergency medical services 46,009 46,009 42,798 (3,211)
Charges for ambulance and rescue 325,000 325,000 409,373 84,373
Charges for courthouse security 41,285 41,285 52,890 11,605
Charges for jail processing 1,890 848 1,287 439
Court appointed attorney 1,228 1,228 93 (1,135)
Charges for other localities 81,637 81,637 52,000 (29,637)
Charges for Commonwealth's Attorney 1,777 1,777 1,742 (35)
Charges for parks and recreation 396,340 396,340 398,319 1,979
Charges for engineer's fees/biosolids applications 18,670 18,670 1,085 (17,585)
E-tickets 30,000 30,000 26,639 (3,361)
Other charges for services 26,346 24,170 15,377 (8,793)


Total charges for services $ 970,982 $ 967,764 $ 1,001,603     $ 33,839


Miscellaneous:
Miscellaneous $ 8,493 $ 8,493 $ 68,845 $ 60,352


Total miscellaneous $ 8,493 $ 8,493 $ 68,845          $ 60,352


Recovered costs:
Rebates and refunds $ 26,772 $ 26,772 $ 4,957 $ (21,815)
Insurance recovery 20,934 20,934 5,982 (14,952)
Gifts and donations in lieu of taxes 2,750 2,750 45,400 42,650
Sale of salvage 10,507 10,507 2,781 (7,726)
Loan repayment 3,495 3,495 3,495 -
Recycling and other rebates and refunds 20,011 20,011 21,311 1,300


Total recovered costs $ 84,469 $ 84,469 $ 83,926          $ (543)


Total revenue from local sources $ 23,728,713 $ 23,725,495 $ 23,905,014 $ 179,519


Intergovernmental:
 Revenue from the Commonwealth:


Noncategorical aid:
Motor vehicle carriers' tax $ 23,382 $ 23,382 $ 22,640 $ (742)
Mobile home titling tax - - 1,207 1,207
Taxes on deeds 66,695 66,695 73,671 6,976
Quarterly rental tax 2,186 2,186 2,404 218
Communications tax 430,180 430,180 405,302 (24,878)
Personal property tax relief funds 2,483,842 2,483,842 2,483,842 -


Total noncategorical aid $ 3,006,285 $ 3,006,285 $ 2,989,066     $ (17,219)


Fund, Major and Minor Revenue Source
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Schedule 1
Page 3 of 9


Schedule of Revenues - Budget and Actual
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 (continued)


Variance with
Final Budget -


Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)


General Fund:  (Continued)
Intergovernmental: (Continued)
 Revenue from the Commonwealth: (Continued)


Categorical aid:
Shared expenses:


Commonwealth's attorney $ 192,722 $ 189,929 $ 189,964 $ 35
Sheriff 768,916 768,916 752,055 (16,861)
Commissioner of revenue 77,727 77,727 76,730 (997)
Treasurer 95,550 95,550 93,184 (2,366)
Registrar/electoral board 39,797 37,029 37,029 -
Clerk of the Circuit Court 157,247 157,247 164,497 7,250


Total shared expenses $ 1,331,959 $ 1,326,398 $ 1,313,459     $ (12,939)


Other categorical aid:
Fire programs fund $ 45,475 $ 45,475 $ 45,236 $ (239)
Litter control grant 5,310 5,310 4,055 (1,255)
Virginia Commission for the Arts 5,000 5,000 5,000 -
Other categorical aid 4,125 19,125 16,776 (2,349)


Total other categorical aid $ 59,910 $ 74,910 $ 71,067          $ (3,843)


Total categorical aid $ 1,391,869 $ 1,401,308 $ 1,384,526     $ (16,782)


Total revenue from the Commonwealth $ 4,398,154 $ 4,407,593 $ 4,373,592     $ (34,001)


Revenue from the federal government:
Payments in lieu of taxes $ 5,700 $ 5,700 $ 6,135 $ 435


Categorical aid:
Crime victim assistance $ 70,775 $ 71,457 $ 53,042 $ (18,415)
SCAAP grant 921 921 605 (316)
DMV 402 grant 20,870 20,870 13,228 (7,642)
SAFER grant - 7,500 7,721 221
DHR grant - - 9,500            9,500
Local law enforcement block grant 1,510 14,222 10,561 (3,661)
Violence against women formula grants 28,053 28,053 27,629 (424)


Total categorical aid $ 122,129 $ 143,023 $ 122,286        $ (20,737)


Total revenue from the federal government $ 127,829 $ 148,723 $ 128,421        $ (20,302)


Total General Fund $ 28,254,696 $ 28,281,811 $ 28,407,027 $ 125,216


Fund, Major and Minor Revenue Source


107







COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Schedule 1
Page 4 of 9


Schedule of Revenues - Budget and Actual
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 (continued)


Variance with
Final Budget -


Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)


Special Revenue Funds:
Virginia Public Assistance Fund:
Revenue from local sources:


Recovered costs:
Payments from other jurisdictions $ - $ - $ 44,128 $ 44,128
Expenditure refunds - - 5,876            5,876


Total recovered costs $ - $ - $ 50,004          $ 50,004


Total revenue from local sources $ - $ - $ 50,004          $ 50,004


Intergovernmental:
 Revenue from the Commonwealth:


Categorical aid:
Public assistance and welfare administration $ 286,498 $ 286,498 $ 277,301 $ (9,197)


Total categorical aid $ 286,498 $ 286,498 $ 277,301        $ (9,197)


Total revenue from the Commonwealth $ 286,498 $ 286,498 $ 277,301        $ (9,197)


Revenue from the federal government:
Categorical aid:


Public assistance and welfare administration $ 736,709 $ 736,709 $ 712,855 $ (23,854)


Total categorical aid $ 736,709 $ 736,709 $ 712,855        $ (23,854)


Total revenue from the federal government $ 736,709 $ 736,709 $ 712,855        $ (23,854)


Total Virginia Public Assistance Fund $ 1,023,207 $ 1,023,207 $ 1,040,160 $ 16,953


Comprehensive services act fund:
Intergovernmental:
 Revenue from the Commonwealth:


Categorical aid:
Comprehensive services $ 550,456 $ 550,456 $ 285,079        $ (265,377)


Total categorical aid $ 550,456 $ 550,456 $ 285,079        $ (265,377)


Total revenue from the Commonwealth $ 550,456 $ 550,456 $ 285,079        $ (265,377)


Revenue from the federal government:
Categorical aid:


Other categorical aid $ -                   $ -                   $ 14,036          $ 14,036
Total categorical aid $ -                   $ -                   $ 14,036          $ 14,036


Total revenue from the federal government $ -                   $ -                   $ 14,036          $ 14,036


Total comprehensive services fund $ 550,456 $ 550,456 $ 299,115        $ (251,341)


Drug Enforcement Fund:
Revenue from local sources:


Revenue from use of money and property:
Revenue from the use of money $ - $ - $ 478               $ 478
Revenue from the use of property -


Total revenue from use of money and property $ - $ - $ 478               $ 478


Fund, Major and Minor Revenue Source
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Schedule 1
Page 5 of 9


Schedule of Revenues - Budget and Actual
Governmental Funds


Variance with
Final Budget -


Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)


Special Revenue Funds:  (Continued)
Drug Enforcement Fund:  (Continued)


Miscellaneous:
Gifts and donations $ - $ - $ 46,754          $ 46,754


Total miscellaneous $ - $ - $ 46,754          $ 46,754


Total revenue from local sources $ - $ - $ 47,232          $ 47,232


Intergovernmental:
 Revenue from the Commonwealth:


Categorical aid:
Asset forfeiture $ - $ - $ 6,652            $ 6,652


Total revenue from the Commonwealth $ - $ - $ 6,652            $ 6,652


Total drug enforcement fund $ - $ - $ 53,884          $ 53,884


Animal Care Fund:
Revenue from local sources:


Revenue from use of money:
Revenue from the use of money $ - $ - $ 3 $ 3


Total revenue from use of money $ - $ - $ 3 $ 3


Miscellaneous:
Gifts and donations $ - $ - $ 225               $ 225


Total miscellaneous $ - $ - $ 225               $ 225


Total Animal Care Fund $ - $ - $ 228               $ 228


Shenandoah Farms Sanitary District:
Revenue from local sources:


General property taxes:
Real property taxes $ 20,000 $ 20,000 $ - $ (20,000)


Conservation Easement Fund:
Revenue from local sources:


General property taxes:
Real property taxes $ - $ - $ 70,077          $ 70,077


Revenue from use of money and property:
Revenue from use of money $ -                   $ -                   $ 459               $ 459


Miscellaneous:
Miscellaneous $ - $ - $ 45,277          $ 45,277


Total revenue from local sources $ - $ - $ 115,813        $ 115,813


Intergovernmental:
 Revenue from the Commonwealth:


Other categorical aid:
Conservation easement grants $ 20,000 $ 334,479 $ 305,963        $ (28,516)


Revenue from the federal government:
Categorical aid:


Conservation easement grants $ - $ 239,425 $ 233,625        $ (5,800)


Total Conservation Easement Fund $ 20,000 $ 573,904 $ 655,401        $ 81,497


Fund, Major and Minor Revenue Source
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Schedule 1
Page 6 of 9


Schedule of Revenues - Budget and Actual
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 (continued)


Variance with
Final Budget -


Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)


Debt Service Funds:
School Debt Service Fund
Revenue from local sources:


Miscellaneous:
Expenditure refunds $ 58,075 $ 58,075 $ 58,075          $ -


Total revenue from local sources $ 58,075 $ 58,075 $ 58,075          $ -


Intergovernmental:
 Revenue from the federal government:


Categorical aid:
BAB interest subsidy $ 120,833 $ 120,833 $ 123,526        $ 2,693


Total School Debt Service Fund $ 178,908 $ 178,908 $ 181,601 $ 2,693


Capital Projects Fund:
General Government Capital Projects Fund:
Revenue from local sources:


Miscellaneous:
Gifts and donations $ - $ 37,719 $ 38,218          $ 499


Total revenue from local sources $ - $ 37,719 $ 38,218          $ 499


Intergovernmental:
 Revenue from the Commonwealth:


Categorical aid:
Other categorical aid $ - $ 200,000 $ 200,000        $ -


Total revenue from the Commonwealth $ - $ 200,000 $ 200,000        $ -


Revenue from the federal government:
Categorical aid:


Other categorical aid $ - $ 354,044 $ 224,938        $ (129,106)


Total categorical aid $ - $ 354,044 $ 224,938        $ (129,106)


Total revenue from the federal government $ - $ 354,044 $ 224,938        $ (129,106)


Total General Government Capital Projects Fund $ - $ 591,763 $ 463,156        $ (128,607)


Parks Construction Fund:
Revenue from local sources:


Revenue from use of money and property:
Revenue from the use of money $ - $ - $ 225               $ 225


Total revenue from use of money and property $ - $ - $ 225               $ 225


Miscellaneous:
Gifts and donations $ - $ - $ 577               $ 577


Total miscellaneous $ - $ - $ 577               $ 577


Total revenue from local sources $ - $ - $ 802               $ 802


Total Parks Construction Fund $ - $ - $ 802               $ 802


Total Primary Government $ 30,047,267 $ 31,220,049 $ 31,101,374 $ (118,675)


Fund, Major and Minor Revenue Source
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Schedule 1
Page 7 of 9


Schedule of Revenues - Budget and Actual
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 (continued)


Variance with
Final Budget -


Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)


Discretely Presented Component Unit - School Board:
School Operating Fund:
Revenue from local sources:


Revenue from use of money and property:
Revenue from the use of property $ 67,192 $ 67,192 $ 60,915          $ (6,277)


Charges for services:
Tuition $ 211,460 $ 211,460 $ 211,136        $ (324)
Town of Berryville Crossing 2,500 2,500 2,500            -
Facility use fees 3,260 3,260 3,162            (98)


Total charges for services $ 217,220 $ 217,220 $ 216,798        $ (422)


Miscellaneous:
Other miscellaneous $ 101,572 $ 101,572 $ 64,320          $ (37,252)
Private gifts and donations 25,657 25,657 12,590 (13,067)


Total miscellaneous $ 127,229 $ 127,229 $ 76,910          $ (50,319)


Recovered costs:
Rebates and refunds $ 43,987 $ 43,987 $ 11,705          $ (32,282)
Insurance recoveries 29,917 29,917 1,590            (28,327)
Sale of equipment 3,383 3,383 14,223 10,840


Total recovered costs $ 77,287 $ 77,287 $ 27,518          $ (49,769)


Total revenue from local sources $ 488,928 $ 488,928 $ 382,141        $ (106,787)


Intergovernmental:
 Revenues from local governments:


Contribution from County of Clarke, Virginia $ 12,314,437 $ 12,314,437 $ 11,632,184 $ (682,253)


Total revenues from local governments $ 12,314,437 $ 12,314,437 $ 11,632,184 $ (682,253)


 Revenue from the Commonwealth:
Categorical aid:


Share of state sales tax $ 2,399,712 $ 2,399,712 $ 2,329,609     $ (70,103)
At risk payments 44,928 44,928 22,869 (22,059)
Basic school aid 4,155,651 4,155,651 4,290,870     135,219
Foster home children 12,860 12,860 25,721 12,861
Gifted and talented children 44,079 44,079 44,746 667
Homebound education 4,518 4,518 3,776            (742)
Preschool At-Risk 36,000 36,000 36,750 750
Special education - soq 579,193 579,193 587,964        8,771
Special education - foster children 13,936 13,936 25,139 11,203
Vocational education - soq 68,763 68,763 69,804 1,041
Vocational equipment 4,092 4,092 7,059            2,967
Vocational - occupational 8,172 8,172 2,593            (5,579)
Textbook payments 96,779 96,779 98,245 1,466
Remedial education 61,710 61,710 62,645 935
Share of fringe benefits 789,888 789,888 802,746        12,858
Remedial summer school 28,804 28,804 17,374 (11,430)
Industry certification program 1,560 1,560 1,804 244
Mentor teacher program 2,033 2,033 3,159            1,126


Fund, Major and Minor Revenue Source
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Schedule 1
Page 8 of 9


Schedule of Revenues - Budget and Actual
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 (continued)


Variance with
Final Budget -


Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)


Discretely Presented Component Unit - School Board:  (Continued)
School Operating Fund:  (Continued)
Intergovernmental:  (Continued)
 Revenue from the Commonwealth:  (Continued)


Categorical aid:  (Continued)
SOL algebra readiness $ 7,881 $ 7,881 $ 7,798            $ (83)
Early intervention 24,423 24,423 19,844 (4,579)
Salary supplement/bonus 7,500 7,500 2,500            (5,000)
Compensation supplement 60,152 60,152 47,037 (13,115)
Additional teachers assistance 10,000 10,000 - (10,000)
Project graduation 27,243 27,243 6,441            (20,802)
ISAEP 7,859 7,859 8,418            559
English as a second language 19,009 19,009 18,412 (597)
Lord Fairfax dual enrollment 150,000 150,000 154,422        4,422
Other categorical aid 1,686 1,686 1,969            283


Total categorical aid $ 8,668,431 $ 8,668,431 $ 8,699,714     $ 31,283


Total revenue from the Commonwealth $ 8,668,431 $ 8,668,431 $ 8,699,714     $ 31,283


 Revenue from the federal government:
Categorical aid:


Title I part A: Grants to local educational agencies $ 176,849 $ 176,849 $ 160,019        $ (16,830)
Title II part A:  Improving teacher quality 54,718 54,718 53,984 (734)
Title III, Part A:  English language acquisition grants 2,668 2,668 6,565            3,897
Medicaid 6,041 6,041 11,562 5,521
Advanced placement - - 762               762
Disaster aid - - 4,682            4,682
Vocational education basic grants to states 21,876 21,876 21,274 (602)
Title VI-B:  Special education grants to states 390,892 390,892 501,839        110,947
Special education preschool handicapped grant 12,588 12,588 12,562 (26)


Total categorical aid $ 665,632 $ 665,632 $ 773,249        $ 107,617


Total revenue from the federal government $ 665,632 $ 665,632 $ 773,249        $ 107,617


Total School Operating Fund $ 22,137,428 $ 22,137,428 $ 21,487,288   $ (650,140)


Special Revenue Fund:
School Food Service Fund:
Revenue from local sources:


Revenue from use of money and property:
Revenue from the use of money $ 80 $ 80 $ 143               $ 63


Total revenue from use of money and property $ 80 $ 80 $ 143               $ 63


Charges for services:
Cafeteria sales $ 519,340 $ 519,340 $ 437,997        $ (81,343)


Total charges for services $ 519,340 $ 519,340 $ 437,997        $ (81,343)


Recovered costs:
Expenditure refunds and rebates $ 25,000 $ 25,000 $ 25,021          $ 21


Total recovered costs $ 25,000 $ 25,000 $ 25,021          $ 21


Total revenue from local sources $ 544,420 $ 544,420 $ 463,161        $ (81,259)


Fund, Major and Minor Revenue Source
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Schedule 1
Page 9 of 9


Schedule of Revenues - Budget and Actual
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 (continued)


Variance with
Final Budget -


Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)


Discretely Presented Component Unit - School Board:  (Continued)
Special Revenue Fund:  (Continued)
School Food Service Fund:  (Continued)
Intergovernmental:
 Revenue from the Commonwealth:


Categorical aid:
School food program grant $ 6,980 $ 6,980 $ 9,801            $ 2,821


 Revenue from the federal government:
Categorical aid:


School food program grant $ 257,000 $ 257,000 $ 296,987        $ 39,987
Total categorical aid $ 257,000        $ 257,000        $ 296,987        $ 39,987


Total revenue from the federal government $ 257,000 $ 257,000 $ 296,987        $ 39,987


Total School Food Service Fund $ 808,400 $ 808,400 $ 769,949        $ (38,451)


Capital Projects Funds:
School Capital Projects Fund:
Revenue from local sources:


Miscellaneous:
Donations $ - $ 25,589 $ 25,589          $ -
Other miscellaneous - - 829 829


Total miscellaneous $ -                   $ 25,589          $ 26,418          $ 829


Total revenue from local sources $ - $ 25,589 $ 26,418          $ 829


Intergovernmental:
 Revenues from local governments:


Contribution from County of Clarke, Virginia $ 4,258,000 $ 7,119,347 $ 4,058,920     $ (3,060,427)


 Revenue from the Commonwealth:
Categorical aid:


Technology grant $ 154,000 $ 428,127 $ 201,787        $ (226,340)


Total revenue from the Commonwealth $ 154,000 $ 428,127 $ 201,787        $ (226,340)


Total School Capital Projects Fund $ 4,412,000 $ 7,573,063 $ 4,287,125 $ (3,285,938)


Total Discretely Presented Component Unit - 
School Board $ 27,357,828   $ 30,518,891   $ 26,544,362   $ (3,974,529)


Fund, Major and Minor Revenue Source
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Schedule 2
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Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Variance with
Final Budget -


Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)


General Fund:
General government administration:


Legislative:
Board of supervisors $ 60,176 $ 60,176 $ 56,051 $ 4,125


General and financial administration:
County administrator $ 306,335 $ 308,925 $ 308,924 $ 1
Independent auditor 36,000 36,000 33,565 2,435
Legal services 35,000 45,995 44,860 1,135
Commissioner of revenue 205,850 206,450 203,428 3,022
Assessor 3,500 3,500 3,500 -
Equalization board - 3,800 3,800 -
Data processing 302,440 310,178 303,755 6,423
Finance and purchasing 549,019 549,019 553,653 (4,634)
Treasurer 275,354 275,354 277,071 (1,717)


Total general and financial administration $ 1,713,498 $ 1,739,221 $ 1,732,556    $ 6,665


Board of elections:
Registrar $ 73,970 $ 77,425 $ 77,424 $ 1
Electoral board and officials 40,980 40,980 37,571 3,409


Total board of elections $ 114,950 $ 118,405 $ 114,995       $ 3,410


Total general government administration $ 1,888,624 $ 1,917,802 $ 1,903,602    $ 14,200


Judicial administration:
Courts:


Circuit court $ 12,180 $ 18,232 $ 18,231 $ 1
General district court 4,420 4,549 4,549 -
Magistrate 200 200 17 183
Juvenile and domestic relations court 3,500 3,500 2,041 1,459
Clerk of the circuit court 252,874 252,874 245,478 7,396
Victim Witness Program 70,775 72,080 64,420 7,660
Regional court services 4,494 4,494 4,494 -
Blue Ridge legal services 1,500 1,500 1,500 -


Total courts $ 349,943 $ 357,429 $ 340,730       $ 16,699


Commonwealth's attorney:
Commonwealth's attorney $ 357,499 $ 358,931 $ 357,564 $ 1,367


Total commonwealth's attorney $ 357,499 $ 358,931 $ 357,564       $ 1,367


Total judicial administration $ 707,442 $ 716,360 $ 698,294       $ 18,066


Fund, Function, Activity and Elements
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Schedule 2
Page 2 of 7


Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 (Continued)


Variance with
Final Budget -


Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)


General Fund:  (Continued)
Public safety:


Law enforcement and traffic control:
Sheriff $ 2,271,033 $ 2,291,480 $ 2,266,384 $ 25,096
Criminal justice training 19,593 21,158 21,157 1
Drug task force 12,500 12,500 10,608 1,892


Total law enforcement and traffic control $ 2,303,126 $ 2,325,138 $ 2,298,149    $ 26,989


Fire and rescue services:
Emergency medical services $ 767,392 $ 804,472 $ 783,586 $ 20,886
Fire and rescue departments 320,785 320,785 296,241 24,544
Lord Fairfax Emergency Medical Services 5,422 5,422 5,422 -
Forestry services 2,712 2,712 2,712 -


Total fire and rescue services $ 1,096,311 $ 1,133,391 $ 1,087,961    $ 45,430


Correction and detention:
Regional jail $ 512,000 $ 512,000 $ 489,071 $ 22,929
Juvenile detention home 22,595 22,595 22,098 497
Probation office 800 800 47 753


Total correction and detention $ 535,395 $ 535,395 $ 511,216       $ 24,179


Inspections:
Building $ 172,409 $ 183,254 $ 183,254 $ -


Total inspections $ 172,409 $ 183,254 $ 183,254       $ -


Other protection:
Animal control $ 117,557 $ 127,172 $ 114,212 $ 12,960          
Medical examiner 1,000 1,000 160 840


Total other protection $ 118,557 $ 128,172 $ 114,372       $ 13,800


Total public safety $ 4,225,798 $ 4,305,350 $ 4,194,952    $ 110,398


Public works:
Sanitation and waste removal:


Refuse collection and disposal $ 175,500 $ 175,500 $ 142,851 $ 32,649
Sanitation 240,750 240,750 238,398 2,352
Litter control program 5,310 5,310 3,835 1,475


Total sanitation and waste removal $ 421,560 $ 421,560 $ 385,084       $ 36,476


Fund, Function, Activity and Elements
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Schedule 2
Page 3 of 7


Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 (Continued)


Variance with
Final Budget -


Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)


General Fund:  (Continued)
Public Works: (continued)


Maintenance of general buildings and grounds:
General properties $ 873,187 $ 873,187 $ 784,033 $ 89,154


Total maintenance of general buildings and grounds $ 873,187 $ 873,187 $ 784,033       $ 89,154


Total public works $ 1,294,747 $ 1,294,747 $ 1,169,117    $ 125,630


Health and welfare:
Health:


Supplement of local health department $ 220,000 $ 220,000 $ 220,000 $ -
Our Health 5,000 5,000 5,000 -


Total health $ 225,000 $ 225,000 $ 225,000       $ -


Mental health and mental retardation:
Northwestern Community Services $ 88,000 $ 88,000 $ 88,000 $ -
Concern Hotline 750 750 750 -
Northern Shen. Valley Substance Abuse Coalition 15,000 15,000 15,000 -
NW Works 1,000 1,000 1,000 -


Total mental health and mental retardation $ 104,750 $ 104,750 $ 104,750       $ -


Welfare:
Shenandoah area on aging $ 40,000 $ 40,000 $ 40,000 $ -
Virginia Regional Transit 19,302 19,302 19,302 -
FISH human services 1,000 1,000 1,000 -
Abused women's shelter 2,000 2,000 2,000 -
Tax relief for the elderly - - 263,906       (263,906)
Independent living center 750 750 750 -


Total welfare $ 63,052 $ 63,052 $ 326,958       $ (263,906)


Total health and welfare $ 392,802 $ 392,802 $ 656,708       $ (263,906)


Education:
Other instructional costs:


Contribution to Clarke County Public Schools $ 16,572,437 $ 19,433,784 $ 15,691,103 $ 3,742,681
Lord Fairfax Community College 16,441 16,441 16,441 -


Total education $ 16,588,878 $ 19,450,225 $ 15,707,544   $ 3,742,681


Parks, recreation, and cultural:
Parks and recreation:


Supervision of parks and recreation $ 407,878 $ 407,878 $ 385,303 $ 22,575
Recreation center 106,143 106,143 99,491 6,652
Swimming pool 83,756 83,756 61,127 22,629
Concession stand 15,301 15,301 15,157 144
Programs 252,310 252,310 188,735 63,575


Total parks and recreation $ 865,388 $ 865,388 $ 749,813       $ 115,575


Fund, Function, Activity and Elements
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Schedule 2
Page 4 of 7


Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 (Continued)


Variance with
Final Budget -


Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)


General Fund:  (Continued)
Parks, recreation, and culture: (continued)


Cultural enrichment:
Barns of Rose Hill $ 5,000 $ 7,000 $ 7,000 $ -                   
Virginia commission for the arts 10,000 10,000 10,000 -


Total cultural enrichment $ 15,000 $ 17,000 $ 17,000         $ -


Library:
Contribution to Handley library $ 206,513 $ 206,513 $ 206,513 $ -


Total library $ 206,513 $ 206,513 $ 206,513       $ -


Total parks, recreation, and cultural $ 1,086,901 $ 1,088,901 $ 973,326       $ 115,575


Community development:
Planning and community development:


Planning administration $ 412,612 $ 415,608 $ 403,207 $ 12,401
Help with housing 5,400 5,400 -                  5,400
Board of zoning appeals 3,270 3,270 -                  3,270
Office of Economic Development 80,000 80,000 49,599 30,401
Berryville Development Authority 2,000 2,000 475 1,525
Small business development center 1,500 1,500 1,500 -
Blandy Experimental Farm 3,000 3,000 3,000 -
Planning commission 9,639 12,398 11,735 663
Board of septic appeals 1,016 1,016 749 267
Historic preservation 11,400 12,550 11,448 1,102
Northern Shenandoah Valley Regional Commission 7,384 7,384 7,383 1
Regional airport 2,500 2,500 2,500 -


Total planning and community development $ 539,721 $ 546,626 $ 491,596       $ 55,030


Environmental management:
Friends of the Shenandoah $ 3,000 $ 3,000 $ 3,000 $ -
Water quality monitoring 30,000 30,000 30,000 -
Lord Fairfax Soil and Water Conservation 5,000 5,000 5,000 -
Biosolids Application 10,028 10,034 618 9,416


Total environmental management $ 48,028 $ 48,034 $ 38,618         $ 9,416


Cooperative extension program:
Cooperative extension service $ 42,202 $ 45,087 $ 45,086 $ 1
Northern Virginia 4-H Center 2,300 2,300 2,300 -


Total cooperative extension program $ 44,502 $ 47,387 $ 47,386         $ 1


Total community development $ 632,251 $ 642,047 $ 577,600       $ 64,447


Fund, Function, Activity and Elements
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Schedule 2
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Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 (Continued)


Variance with
Final Budget -


Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)


General Fund:  (Continued)
Nondepartmental:


Miscellaneous $ - $ - $ 4,230 $ (4,230)
Unemployment compensation - 17,000 914 16,086
Legal/professional services contingency 70,000 27,447 -                  27,447


Total nondepartmental $ 70,000 $ 44,447 $ 5,144           $ 39,303


Total General Fund $ 26,887,443 $ 29,852,681 $ 25,886,287   $ 3,966,394


Special Revenue Funds:
Virginia Public Assistance Fund:
Health and welfare:


Welfare and social services:
Public assistance and welfare administration $ 1,546,124 $ 1,546,124 $ 1,478,944 $ 67,180


Total health and welfare $ 1,546,124 $ 1,546,124 $ 1,478,944    $ 67,180


Total Virginia Public Assistance Fund $ 1,546,124 $ 1,546,124 $ 1,478,944    $ 67,180


Comprehensive Services Act Fund:
Health and welfare:


Welfare and social services:
Program expenditures $ 1,097,426 $ 1,097,426 $ 756,714 $ 340,712


Total health and welfare $ 1,097,426 $ 1,097,426 $ 756,714       $ 340,712


Total CSA Fund $ 1,097,426 $ 1,097,426 $ 756,714       $ 340,712


Drug Enforcement Fund:
Public Safety:


Public Safety
Operations $ - $ - $ 65,875 $ (65,875)


Total public safety $ - $ - $ 65,875         $ (65,875)


Total Drug Enforcement Fund $ - $ - $ 65,875         $ (65,875)


Shenandoah Farms Sanitary District:
Public Safety:


Public Safety
Operations $ 20,000 $ 20,000 $ 4,760 $ 15,240


Total Shenandoah Farms Sanitary District $ 20,000 $ 20,000 $ 4,760           $ 15,240


Conservation Easement Fund:
Community development:


Development rights
Development rights $ 30,000 $ 731,029 $ 695,891 $ 35,138


Total Conservation Easement Fund $ 30,000 $ 731,029 $ 695,891       $ 35,138


Fund, Function, Activity and Elements
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Schedule 2
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Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 (Continued)


Variance with
Final Budget -


Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)


Debt Service Fund:
School Debt Service Fund:


Debt service:
Principal retirement $ 2,566,110 $ 2,566,110 $ 2,566,110 $ -
Interest and other fiscal charges 1,249,702 1,249,702 1,249,001 701


Total School Debt Service Fund $ 3,815,812 $ 3,815,812 $ 3,815,111    $ 701


Primary Government Debt Service Fund:
Debt service:


Principal retirement $ 81,299 $ 81,299 $ 81,328 $ (29)
Interest and other fiscal charges 170,401 170,401 170,372 29                


Total Primary Government Debt Service $ 251,700 $ 251,700 $ 251,700       $ -


Capital Projects Fund:
General Government Capital Projects Fund:


Capital projects expenditures:
Communications equipment $ - $ 120,354 $ 75,525         $ 44,829
Vehicles 30,000 31,483 26,938         4,545
Baseball field lighting - 65,918 10,663         55,255
Office renovations - 20,313 -                  20,313
Technology and equipment improvements 40,000 107,600 6,513           101,087
Sheriff vehicles 80,100 81,593 80,078         1,515
Spout run improvements - 305,607 177,523       128,084
Greenway court preservation - 59,286 57,033         2,253
Tourism signs - 20,000 19,911         89
HVAC 11,000 23,984 23,984         -
Roofing - 136,633 -                  136,633
Systems integration 60,000 228,346 86,772         141,574
Sheriff equipment 59,562 60,892 48,207         12,685
Economic development - 102,434 -                  102,434
Parks - Shelter 20,000 110,800 49,150         61,650
Swimming pool 42,500 162,400 84,022         78,378
Painting and flooring - 20,808 20,807         1
Paving - 69,795 5,927           63,868
Landscaping - 15,375 -                  15,375
Buildings - 72,973 6,600           66,373
Fencing - ballfield and pool - 31,036 -                  31,036
Egg plant grant - 200,000 200,000 -
Citizens convenience center 612,000 641,742 66,082         575,660


Total General Government Capital Projects Fund $ 955,162 $ 2,689,372 $ 1,045,735    $ 1,643,637


Total Primary Government $ 34,603,667 $ 40,004,144 $ 34,001,017   $ 6,003,127


Fund, Function, Activity and Elements
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Schedule 2
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Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 (Continued)


Variance with
Final Budget -


Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)


Discretely Presented Component Unit - School Board
School Operating Fund:
Education:


Instruction $ 17,089,943 $ 16,982,604 $ 16,874,326 $ 108,278
Administration, attendance and health 1,587,522 1,695,430 1,426,458 268,972
Pupil transportation services 1,050,141 1,057,983 1,007,468 50,515
Operation and maintenance services 2,379,822 2,371,411 2,158,622 212,789


Total School Operating Fund $ 22,107,428 $ 22,107,428 $ 21,466,874   $ 640,554


Special Revenue Fund:
School Food Service Fund:
Education:


School food services:
Administration of school food program $ 838,400 $ 838,400 $ 816,246 $ 22,154


Total School Food Service Fund $ 838,400 $ 838,400 $ 816,246       $ 22,154


Capital Projects Fund:
School Capital Projects Fund:


Capital projects expenditures:
Band equipment $ 20,000 $ 72,073 $ 22,131         $ 49,942
Athletic equipment and uniforms - 53,570 53,570         -
Furniture replacement 25,000 71,378 51,507         19,871
Radon testing/remediation - 8,000 8,000           -
Bus purchases 155,000 243,409 243,409       -
School vehicles - 25,391 18,124         7,267
Fencing - 20,000 14,280         5,720
School food - service equipment - 12,847 229              12,618
Cooley Upper landscape - 2,263 -                  2,263
HVAC 175,750 674,376 478,786       195,590
Roof replacements 100,000 625,085 330,165       294,920
Flooring replacements 30,000 71,895 49,835         22,060
Modular classroom removal - 5,278 -                  5,278
Security improvements - 406,561 243,396       163,165
Surfacing - 59,767 8,920           50,847
Boyce playground - 15,000 1,640           13,360
Technology 360,000 885,221 351,317       533,904
Dorsch scholarship fund - 25,589 6,262           19,327
Berryville Primary renovation 3,500,000 4,004,374 2,237,601    1,766,773
Electrical - 9,725 8,125           1,600
Signs - 18,440 569              17,871
Painting 46,250 185,947 106,019       79,928
Cooley Lower renovation - 76,874 53,240         23,634


Total capital projects $ 4,412,000 $ 7,573,063 $ 4,287,125    $ 3,285,938


Total School Capital Projects Fund $ 4,412,000 $ 7,573,063 $ 4,287,125    $ 3,285,938


Total Discretely Presented Component Unit -
 School Board $ 27,357,828 $ 30,518,891 $ 26,570,245   $ 3,948,646


Fund, Function, Activity and Elements
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA


General
Fiscal Government Judicial Public Public Health and
Year Administration Administration Safety Works Welfare


2007-08 $ 2,060,607          $ 421,845             $ 3,447,907          $ 1,244,607          $ 2,136,119          
2008-09 2,002,482          436,680             3,612,168          1,155,450          2,388,506          
2009-10 1,804,666          440,855             3,719,972          852,209             2,672,185          
2010-11 1,905,789          406,759             3,205,467          900,060             2,447,164          
2011-12 1,943,393          424,222             3,466,939          970,017             2,501,215          
2012-13 2,039,336          566,006             3,462,973          1,001,606          2,101,344          
2013-14 2,085,415          595,926             3,515,863          883,176             2,258,462          
2014-15 2,228,785          598,469             4,414,115          863,529             2,418,330          
2015-16 2,236,563          602,451             4,094,648          943,504             2,646,112          
2016-17 1,756,158          691,496             4,312,322          942,657             2,859,737          


Last Ten Fiscal Years
Government-Wide Expenses by Function
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Table 1


Parks, Interest
Recreation, Community on Long- Sanitary


Education and Cultural Development Term Debt Authority IDA Total


$ 22,132,397     $ 961,293      $ 1,096,427   $ 1,761,950   $ 633,795     $ 18,030        $ 35,914,977    
21,529,346     995,410      924,413      1,413,426   613,951     6,236          35,078,068    
21,883,310     980,707      2,475,922   1,679,649   639,747     10,032        37,159,254    
20,984,893     969,405      991,056      1,832,949   832,459     10,501        34,486,502    
21,767,329     1,001,174   708,196      2,061,986   867,469     9,081          35,721,021    
22,974,665     1,018,007   1,098,325   1,777,739   946,254     419,373      37,405,628    
23,785,661     999,980      1,656,333   1,671,404   895,992     8,714          38,356,926    
23,617,577     1,048,103   980,692      1,559,976   958,018     10,235        38,697,829    
23,362,861     1,046,407   866,154      1,453,276   928,141     10,090        38,190,208    
24,942,640     1,740,882   1,786,425   1,333,403   864,755     9,484          41,239,958    
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA


Government-Wide Revenues
Last Ten Fiscal Years (1)


Operating Capital
Charges Grants Grants


Fiscal for and and
Year Services Contributions Contributions


2007-08 $ 2,326,605 $ 11,941,509 $ 1,162,277
2008-09 2,045,018 12,366,784 574,420
2009-10 2,217,128 11,769,147 3,374,914
2010-11 2,616,152 11,706,825 406,085
2011-12 2,422,452 11,747,408 439,405
2012-13 2,346,633 12,006,615 810,499
2013-14 2,312,708 12,076,289 1,297,384
2014-15 2,461,210 12,840,732 1,006,920
2015-16 2,852,037 12,760,998 405,142
2016-17 2,974,503 12,776,552 1,111,713


(1)  Includes discretely presented component units.
(2)  In fiscal year 2010, communications tax reporting was moved from Other Local Taxes to Grants
       and Contributions Not Restricted to Specific Programs


PROGRAM REVENUES
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Table 2


Grants and
Unrestricted Contributions


General Other revenues Not Restricted Gain (Loss)
Property Local from money Miscella- to Specific on Disposal


Taxes Taxes (2) or property neous Programs of Asset Total


$ 16,045,705 $ 2,350,951 $ 1,757,156 $ 448,435 $ 2,957,252 $ -                   38,989,890
16,834,336 2,222,936 744,769 440,076 2,976,959 -                   38,205,298
17,174,992 1,682,254 403,628 295,794 3,106,207 (42,433)         39,981,631
17,655,465 1,653,965 312,727 272,123 2,995,371 -                   37,618,713
17,478,712 1,814,930 181,632 783,751 3,043,021 -                   37,911,311
18,046,810 1,855,520 168,355 324,211 2,982,591 3,336            38,544,570
18,649,133 1,849,613 140,606 452,072 3,004,576 -                   39,782,381
19,310,001 1,777,225 134,424 318,395 3,034,774 -                   40,883,681
19,814,919 1,921,422 159,519 530,887 3,018,096 -                   41,463,020
19,862,341 1,969,108 187,956 493,989 3,002,922 -                   42,379,084


GENERAL REVENUES
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA


General Governmental Expenditures by Function (1)
Last Ten Fiscal Years


General
Fiscal Government Judicial Public Public Health and
Year Administration Administration Safety Works Welfare Education (2)


2007-08 $ 1,277,128       $ 418,960         $ 3,288,061        $ 1,125,273       $ 2,155,592    $ 20,273,221    
2008-09 1,250,373       433,671         3,363,061        989,119          2,372,269    20,593,066    
2009-10 1,269,798       435,732         3,287,873        796,207          2,616,419    19,745,229    
2010-11 1,758,864       406,846         3,300,190        866,886          2,558,292    19,753,538    
2011-12 1,705,944       422,609         3,291,332        971,266          2,480,546    19,362,230    
2012-13 1,723,450       566,436         3,512,071        949,685          2,115,119    21,498,917    
2013-14 1,742,173       595,936         3,536,630        898,325          2,251,459    20,891,004    
2014-15 1,772,923       618,450         4,115,259        1,003,202       2,438,840    21,320,100    
2015-16 1,822,898       629,270         4,073,933        1,087,367       2,662,444    21,651,173    
2016-17 1,903,602       698,294         4,265,587        1,169,117       2,892,366    22,299,561    


(1) Includes General, Special Revenue, Debt Service and Capital Project funds of the Primary 
     Government and its Discretely Presented Component Unit - School Board.


(2) Excludes contribution from Primary Government to Discretely Presented Component Unit.
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Table 3


Parks,
Recreation, Community Non- Debt Capital
and Cultural Development departmental Service Projects Total


$ 886,456          $ 1,068,892       $ 486,779          $ 4,011,771       $ 5,360,875       $ 40,353,008     
902,369          891,594          528,021          3,766,858       6,505,229       41,595,630     
887,006          2,517,665       506,161          3,850,058       3,141,660       39,053,808     
900,137          814,400          3,531             4,087,218       16,577,174     51,027,076     
920,144          721,318          1,242             4,497,146       14,668,743     49,042,520     
948,452          1,081,175       11,430            4,420,922       3,381,480       40,209,137     
929,900          1,648,207       (336)               4,286,713       7,654,661       44,434,672     
952,685          984,087          18,980            4,379,113       3,055,653       40,659,292     
962,519          849,873          12,956            4,192,646       1,950,746       39,895,825     
973,326          1,273,491       5,144             4,066,811       5,332,860       44,880,159     
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA


General Governmental Revenues by Source (1)
Last Ten Fiscal Years


Permits, Revenue
Privilege from the


General Other Fees, Fines Use of Charges
Fiscal Property Local Regulatory and Money and for
Year Taxes Taxes (3) Licenses Forfeitures Property Services


2007-08 $ 16,150,133    $ 2,350,951      $ 432,043         $ 238,256         $ 1,749,052      $ 1,316,037      
2008-09 16,206,520    2,222,936      295,830         265,963         747,635         1,112,975      
2009-10 17,169,972    1,682,254      231,078         224,547         367,505         1,203,527      
2010-11 17,351,499    1,653,965      326,865         381,509         293,560         1,467,079      
2011-12 17,569,637    1,814,930      236,880         362,725         165,093         1,338,568      
2012-13 17,940,641    1,855,520      238,733         347,687         161,139         1,277,309      
2013-14 18,466,352    1,849,613      286,818         237,835         135,704         1,280,108      
2014-15 19,407,675    1,777,225      266,539         303,637         130,204         1,359,581      
2015-16 19,734,792    1,921,422      280,881         304,861         157,216         1,677,127      
2016-17 19,981,515    1,969,108      393,891         352,279         186,147         1,656,398      


(1) Includes General, Special Revenue, Debt Service and Capital Project funds of the Primary
     Government and its Discretely Presented Component Unit - School Board.


(2) Excludes contribution from Primary Government to Discretely Presented Component Unit.


(3) In fiscal year 2010, communications tax reporting was moved from Other Local Taxes to 
     Intergovernmental Revenue.
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Table 4


Recovered Inter- Proceeds
Miscellaneous Costs governmental (2) Subtotal From Debt Total


$ 315,074          $ 114,879          $ 15,274,338          $ 37,940,763      $ 2,805,396        $ 40,746,159     
153,293          486,361          15,087,521          36,579,034      1,371,046        37,950,080     
175,218          252,483          16,313,208          37,619,792      9,900,172        47,519,964     
141,845          315,412          14,907,445          36,839,179      567,178           37,406,357     
648,323          263,772          15,004,334          37,404,262      307,792           37,712,054     
194,021          351,897          15,978,905          38,165,852      -                      38,165,852     
334,942          258,406          16,348,249          39,198,027      -                      39,198,027     
182,402          159,612          16,822,126          40,409,001      -                      40,409,001     
382,181          307,618          15,854,309          40,620,407      -                      40,620,407     
361,299          186,469          16,867,526          41,954,632      -                      41,954,632     
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Table 5


Property Tax Levies and Collections
Last Ten Fiscal Years


Total Current Delinquent Percent of Outstanding Percent of
Tax Tax Percent Tax Total Total Tax Delinquent Delinquent


Fiscal Levy Collections of Levy Collections Tax Collections Taxes Taxes to
Year (1) (1) Collected (1), (2) Collections to Tax Levy (1) Tax Levy


2007-08 $ 18,057,673 $ 17,846,889 98.83% $ 388,062    $ 18,234,951 100.98% $ 1,206,020   6.68%
2008-09 18,811,655 18,342,029 97.50% 184,729    18,526,758 98.49% 1,806,318   9.60%
2009-10 19,462,691 19,093,650 98.10% 277,314    19,370,964 99.53% 1,834,072   9.42%
2010-11 19,716,647 19,437,175 98.58% 144,661    19,581,836 99.32% 1,939,623   9.84%
2011-12 19,776,620 19,650,841 99.36% 140,961    19,791,802 100.08% 2,008,440   10.16%
2012-13 19,976,661 20,033,782 100.29% 94,917      20,128,699 100.76% 1,991,275   9.97%
2013-14 20,499,518 20,661,349 100.79% 45,265      20,706,614 101.01% 2,261,984   11.03%
2014-15 20,980,117 21,454,716 102.26% 74,554      21,529,270 102.62% 2,096,823   9.99%
2015-16 21,383,904 21,672,649 101.35% 19,419      21,692,068 101.44% 2,095,157   9.80%
2016-17 21,641,717 21,511,699 99.40% 321,933    21,833,632 100.89% 2,095,157   9.68%


(1) Exclusive of penalties and interest.
(2) Delinquent tax collections are exclusive of land redemptions.
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Table 6


Assessed Value of Taxable Property
Last Ten Fiscal Years


Personal
Property Machinery


Fiscal Real and Mobile and Real Personal
Year Estate (1) Homes Tools Estate Property Total


2007-08 $ 2,441,782,816    $ 147,619,698  $ 23,665,552   $ 46,902,741       $ -                $ 2,659,970,807    
2008-09 2,486,836,400    116,384,130  21,681,568   51,387,105       -                2,676,289,203    
2009-10 2,226,939,452    121,592,042  19,086,630   54,229,648       -                2,421,847,772    
2010-11 2,189,128,079    125,806,164  17,424,033   56,051,400       -                2,388,409,676    
2011-12 2,190,224,504    128,161,170  16,579,941   62,777,134       -                2,397,742,749    
2012-13 2,195,199,863    133,156,000  15,478,677   63,758,974       -                2,407,593,514    
2013-14 2,202,442,172    137,517,528  14,729,940   64,243,208       -                2,418,932,848    
2014-15 2,209,918,924    140,683,592  14,079,731   64,514,825       -                2,429,197,072    
2015-16 2,125,953,962    146,341,321  15,926,677   67,026,398       -                2,355,248,358    
2016-17 2,040,151,212    151,716,784  15,961,187   67,718,041       -                2,275,547,224    


(1) Real estate is assessed at 100% of fair market value.
(2) Assessed values are established by the State Corporation Commission.


Public Utility (2)
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Table 7


Property Tax Rates (1)
Last Ten Fiscal Years


Machinery
Fiscal (2) Mobile Personal Rescue and Real Personal
Year Real Estate Homes Property Vehicles Tools Estate (2) Property


2007-08 $ .48/.50 $ .48/.50 $ 4.00                  $ 2.00                  $ 1.25           $ .48/.50 $ 4.00               
2008-09 .50/.53 .50/.53 4.00/4.81 2/2.41 1.25           .50/.53 4.00               
2009-10 .53/.62 .53/.62 4.81/4.83 2.41/2.41 1.25           0.53               4.00               
2010-11 .62/.62 .62/.62 4.83/4.69 2.41/2.35 1.25           0.62               4.00               
2011-12 .62/.63 .62/.63 4.69/4.496 2.35/2.248 1.25           0.62               n/a
2012-13 .63/.63 .63/.63 4.496/4.496 2.248/2.248 1.25           0.63               n/a
2013-14 .63/.655 .63/.655 4.496/4.496 2.248/2.248 1.25           0.63               n/a
2014-15 .655/.655 .655/.655 4.496/4.496 2.248/2.248 1.25           0.655 n/a
2015-16 .655/.72 .655/.72 4.496/4.496 2.248/2.248 1.25           0.655 n/a
2016-17 .72/.71 .72/.71 4.496/4.496 2.248/2.248 1.25           0.72 n/a


(1) Per $100 of assessed value.
(2) The County collects property taxes based on installments.  Calendar year 2010 was a reassessment year
     for real property.  The tax neutral rate for calendar year 2010 was computed to be $.60/100.
     Calendar year 2016 was a reassessment year.  The tax neutral rate for calendar year 2016 was 
     computed to be $.7165/100.


Public Utility
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Table 8


Ratio of
Net Bonded Net


Assessed Gross & Net Debt to Bonded
Fiscal Value (in Bonded Assessed Debt per
Year Population (1) thousands) (2) Debt (3) Value Capita


2007-08 14,565              $ 2,659,971        $ 37,154,725       1.40% $ 2,551               
2008-09 14,565              2,676,289        36,767,291       1.37% 2,524               
2009-10 14,565              2,421,848        44,596,490       1.84% 3,062               
2010-11 14,458              2,388,410        43,187,940       1.81% 2,987               
2011-12 14,458              2,397,743        36,753,000       1.53% 2,542               
2012-13 14,458              2,407,594        34,490,500       1.43% 2,386               
2013-14 14,348              2,418,933        32,208,000       1.33% 2,245               
2014-15 14,423              2,429,197        29,814,000       1.23% 2,067               
2015-16 14,423              2,355,248        27,400,000       1.16% 1,900               
2016-17 14,374              2,275,547        24,995,000       1.10% 1,739               


(1) http://quickfacts.census.gov/
(2) Real property assessed at 100% of fair market value.
(3) Includes all long-term general obligation bonded debt, bonded anticipation notes, and literary fund loans.


   Excludes revenue bonds, landfill closure/post-closure care liability, capital leases, compensated 
absences, and VRS obligations.


Ratio of Net General Bonded Debt to


Last Ten Fiscal Years
Assessed Value and Net Bonded Debt Per Capita
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Table 9


General Government Capital Projects Carryover Budget Allocations


FY 17 FY 17 FY 17
FY 16 Original Project Supplemental Final 


Carryover Budget Transfers Budget Budget


Expenditures:
Sheriff's Equipment (fingerprinting, etc.) $ 1,330 $ - $  - $ - $ 1,330 
HVAC 10,300 11,000 2,684 - 23,984 
Park-Kohn Prpty Master Plan - 20,000  - - 20,000 
Swimming Pool 119,900 42,500  - - 162,400 
Auto Replacement 1,483 30,000  - - 31,483 
Tourism signs 20,000 - - - 20,000 
Sheriff's Vehicles 1,493 80,100  - - 81,593 
Sheriff's Mobile Radios/Repeaters 120,354 - - - 120,354 
Fencing - Park 31,036 - - - 31,036 
Telecommunications and broadband study - 30,000  - - 30,000 
Technology improvements 75,100 40,000 (7,500) - 107,600 
Old Park Office Modifications 20,313 - - - 20,313 
Park lighting - - 20,969 44,949 65,918 
Park sitework and parking 20,969 - (20,969) - -
New park shelter 90,800 - - - 90,800 
Painting and flooring 20,787 - 21 - 20,808 
E-Ticket software - 29,562  - - 29,562 
Business Park Proceeds for Investment 102,434 - - - 102,434 
Citizens' Convenience Center 29,742 612,000  - - 641,742 
Egg plant facility - - - 200,000 200,000 
Roofing 136,633 - - - 136,633 
Landscaping 15,375 - - - 15,375 
Asphalt, Sidewalk, Path 72,500 - (2,705) - 69,795 
General District Court Repairs 72,973 - - - 72,973 
Systems Integration 168,346 60,000  - - 228,346 
Spout run improvement EPA 270,393 - - - 270,393 
Spout run improvement NFWF 35,214 - - - 35,214 
Greenway court preservation 53,227 - - 6,059 59,286 


Total expenditures $ 1,490,702 $ 955,162 $ (7,500) $ 251,008 $ 2,689,372
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Table 10


School Board Capital Projects Carryover Budget Allocations


FY 17 FY 17 FY 17
FY 16 Original Project Supplemental Final 


Carryover Budget Transfers Budget Budget


Expenditures:
School Furniture Replacement $ 46,378 $ 25,000 $  - $  - $ 71,378 
Uniform Replacements and Band Instruments 7,073 20,000  - 45,000 72,073 
Classroom Instruction (Dorsch Scholarship) 25,589  -  -  - 25,589 
Athletic Equipment and Uniforms 6,366  - 7,204 40,000 53,570 
Buses 11,800 155,000 1,609 75,000 243,409 
Other vehicle and equipment 5,391  -  - 20,000 25,391 
Fields and Playgrounds 15,000  -  -  - 15,000 
Modular Classroom Removal 5,278  -  -  - 5,278 
Technology - instructional support 118,533 146,000  (33,875) 50,000 280,658 
Technology - classroom instruction 295,226 154,000 16,783  - 466,009 
Technology - administration  -  - 17,092  - 17,092 
Elementary Electrical Upgrades  -  - 9,725  - 9,725 
School Food 13,242  -  (9,103) 8,708 12,847 
School Food Technology  -  - 9,103  - 9,103 
School Painting 39,697 46,250  - 100,000 185,947 
HVAC 348,626 175,750  - 150,000 674,376 
Signage 8,440  -  (20,000) 30,000 18,440 
School Roof Replacements 397,502 100,000  (12,417) 140,000 625,085 
Fencing Replacements  -  - 20,000  - 20,000 
Flooring 18,291 30,000 3,604 20,000 71,895 
Security Improvements 206,561  -  - 200,000 406,561 
Track and Asphalt 59,767  -  -  - 59,767 
Cooley Upper Landscaping 2,263  -  -  - 2,263 
Radon Testing and Remediation 17,725  -  (9,725)  - 8,000 
ERP System 52,359 60,000  -  - 112,359 
DG Cooley Lower Renovation 76,874  -  -  - 76,874 
Berryville Primary Renovation 504,374 3,500,000  -  - 4,004,374 


Total expenditures $ 2,282,355 $ 4,412,000 $  - $ 878,708 $ 7,573,063 
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ROBINSON, FARMER, COX ASSOCIATES 
A PROFESSIONAL LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 


Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on  
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements 


Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 


To The Honorable Members of the Board of Supervisors 
County of Clarke 
Berryville, Virginia 


We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the Specifications for Audits of Counties, Cities, and 
Towns, issued by the Auditor of Public Accounts of the Commonwealth of Virginia, the financial statements 
of the governmental activities, the discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the County of Clarke, Virginia as of and for the year ended June 
30, 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the County of 
Clarke, Virginia’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated November 24, 2017. 


Internal Control over Financial Reporting 


In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered County of Clarke, Virginia’s 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of County of Clarke, Virginia’s internal 
control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of County of Clarke, Virginia’s 
internal control. 


A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management, or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of 
the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 


Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or, significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses 
may exist that have not been identified. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 


As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the County of Clarke, Virginia’s financial 
statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions 
of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on 
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such 
an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are 
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.


Purpose of this Report


The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control 
or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this 
communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 


Charlottesville, Virginia 
November 24, 2017
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ROBINSON, FARMER, COX ASSOCIATES 
A PROFESSIONAL LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 


Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance For Each Major Program and on  
Internal Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance 


To The Honorable Members of the Board of Supervisors 
County of Clarke 
Berryville, Virginia 


Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 


We have audited County of Clarke, Virginia’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements 
described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of 
County of Clarke, Virginia’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2017.  County of Clarke, 
Virginia's major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditors’ results section of the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 


Management’s Responsibility 


Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions 
of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs. 


Auditors’ Responsibility 


Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of County of Clarke, Virginia’s major 
federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  We 
conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of 
Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and Uniform Guidance require that 
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types 
of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major 
federal program occurred.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about County of Clarke 
Virginia’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. 


We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal 
program.  However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of County of Clarke, Virginia’s 
compliance.


Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 


In our opinion, County of Clarke, Virginia complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal 
programs for the year ended June 30, 2017. 
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Report on Internal Control over Compliance 


Management of County of Clarke, Virginia is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal 
control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  In planning and 
performing our audit of compliance, we considered County of Clarke, Virginia's internal control over 
compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major 
federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on 
internal control over compliance in accordance with Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of County of Clarke, Virginia’s internal control over compliance. 


A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, 
or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not 
be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type 
of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal 
control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 


Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 


The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing 
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of Uniform 
Guidance.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 


Charlottesville, Virginia 
November 24, 2017 
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Page 1 of 2


Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Pass-Through
Federal Entity


Federal Grantor/State Pass - Through Grantor/ CFDA Identifying Federal
Program or Cluster Title Number Number Expenditures


Department of Health and Human Services:
  Pass Through Payments:
    Department of Social Services:
      Promoting Safe and Stable Families 93.556 0950116 $ 13,916
      Temporary Assistance For Needy Families (TANF) 93.558 0400116/0400117 69,044
      Refugee and Entrant Assistance - State Administered Programs 93.566 0500116/0500117 185
      Low-income Home Energy Assistance 93.568 0600415/0600416 6,722
      Child Care Mandatory and Matching Funds of the Child Care 
            and Development Fund 93.596 0760116/0760117 14,770
      Stephanie Tubbs Jones Child Welfare Services Program 93.645 0900116/0900117 152
      Foster Care - Title IV-E 93.658 1100116/1100117 103,684
      Adoption Assistance 93.659 1120116/1120117 30,795
      Social Services Block Grant 93.667 1000116/1000117 82,664
      Chafee Foster Care Independence Program 93.674 9150116/9150117 673
      Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) 93.767 0540116/0540117 6,788
      Medical Assistance Program 93.778 1200116/1200117 232,125


Total Department of Health and Human Services $ 561,518


Department of Agriculture:
  Direct Payments:
     Farm and Ranch Lands Protection Program 10.913 n/a $ 107,500        
  Child Nutrition Cluster:
    Pass Through Payments:
      Department of Agriculture:
        Food Distribution 10.555 406230 $ 47,648    
      Department of Education:
        National School Lunch Program (NSLP) 10.555 406230 198,281  $ 245,929


        School Breakfast Program (SBP) 10.553 405910 51,058


         Total Child Nutrition Cluster $ 296,987


      Department of Social Services:
        State Administrative Matching Grants for the Supplemental 0010116/0010117


           Nutrition Assistance Program 10.561 0040116/0040117 176,936        


Total Department of Agriculture $ 581,423
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA Page 2 of 2


Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (Continued)
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Pass-Through
Federal Entity


Federal Grantor/State Pass - Through Grantor/ CFDA Identifying Federal
Program or Cluster Title Number Number Expenditures


Department of the Interior:
  Direct payments:
    Civil War Battlefield Land Acquisition Grants 15.928 n/a $ 126,125
    Historic Preservation Fund Grants to Provide Disaster Relief to
     Historic Properties Damaged by Hurricane Sandy 15.957 n/a 9,500


Total Department of the Interior $ 135,625


Department of Homeland Security:
  Pass Through Payments:
    Department of Homeland Security:
      Disaster Grants - Public Assistance (Presidentially Declared Disasters) 97.036 n/a $ 58,969          


Total Department of Homeland Security $ 58,969          


Department of Justice:
  Direct payments:
      State Criminal Alien Assistance Program 16.606 n/a $ 605               


Department of Justice:
  Pass Through Payments:
    Department of Criminal Justice Service:
      Bulletproof Vest Partnership Program 16.607 unavailable $ 848               
     JAG Program Cluster:
      Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program 16.738 unavailable 10,561


      Violence Against Women Formula Grants 16.588 10WFAX0050 27,629
      Crime Victim Assistance 16.575 12VAGX0095 53,042


Total Department of Justice $ 92,685


Department of Transportation:
  Pass Through Payments:
    Department of Motor Vehicles:
      Alcohol Open Container Requirements 20.607 154AL-2017-54046-4630 $ 10,913
      State and Community Highway Safety 20.600 SC-2017-54021-5108 2,315


Total Department of Transportation $ 13,228


Environmental Protection Agency:
  Direct Payment:
    Department of Health:
      Nonpoint Source Implementation Grants 66.460 n/a $ 177,523        


Department of Education:
  Pass Through Payments:
    Department of Education:
          Title I:   Grants to Local Educational Agencies 84.010 S010A150046/S010A160046 $ 160,019
      Special Education Cluster:
          Special Education - Grants to States (IDEA, Part B) 84.027 H027A150107/H027A160172 501,839
          Special Education - Preschool Grants (IDEA Preschool) 84.173 H173A150112/H173A160112 12,562          
      Advanced Placement Program 84.330 S330B160008 762               
      English Language Acquisition State Grants 84.365 S365A150046/S365A160046 6,565            
      Career and Technical Education - Basic Grants to States (Perkins IV) 84.048 V048A150046 21,274
      Supporting Effective Instruction State Grant 84.367 S367A150044/S367A160044 53,984


Total Department of Education $ 757,005


    Total Expenditures of Federal Awards $ 2,377,976


See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards.
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COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA


Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Note 1 - Basis of Presentation


Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies


(2) Pass-through entity identifying numbers are presented where available.


Note 3 - Food Donation


Note 4 - Indirect Cost Rate


Note 5 - Subrecipients


Note 6 - Relationship to Financial Statements


Intergovernmental federal revenues per the basic financial statements:
Primary government:


General Fund $ 128,421
General Capital Projects Fund 224,938
Special Revenue Funds:


Virginia Public Assistance Fund 712,855            
Comprehensive Services Act Fund 14,036 
Conservation Easement Fund 233,625            


Debt Service Funds:
School Debt Service Fund 123,526


   Total primary government $ 1,437,401         


Component Unit School Board:
School Operating Fund $ 773,249
School Food Service Fund 296,987


   Total component unit school board $ 1,070,236


       Total federal expenditures per basic financial statements $ 2,507,637


Less amounts not reported on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards:
Payment in lieu of taxes $ 6,135
Build America Bond interest rate subsidy 123,526


       Total federal expenditures per basic financial statements $ 2,377,976


Total federal expenditures per the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards $ 2,377,976


The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the federal grant activity of the County
of Clarke, Virginia under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 2017. The information in this
Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the
Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the County of Clarke, Virginia, it is not intended to and does not
present the financial position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the County of Clarke, Virginia.


(1) Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are recognized
following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or
are limited as to reimbursement.


Nonmonetary assistance is reported in the schedule at the fair market value of the commodities received and distributed.


Federal expenditures, revenues and capital contributions are reported in the County's basic financial statements as follows:


The County did not elect to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under Uniform Guidance.


No awards were passed through to subrecipients.


141







COUNTY OF CLARKE, VIRGINIA


Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017


Section I - Summary of Auditors' Results


Financial Statements


Type of auditors' report issued: Unmodified


Internal control over financial reporting:


Material weakness(es) identified? No


Significant deficiency(ies) identified? None Reported


Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? No


Federal Awards


Internal control over major programs:


Material weakness(es) identified? No


Significant deficiency(ies) identified? None Reported


Type of auditors' report issued on compliance for major programs: Unmodified


Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in accordance with 2 CFR Section 200.516(a)? No


Identification of major programs:


CFDA # Name of Federal Program or Cluster


Special Education Cluster (IDEA):
84.027
84.173


Child Nutrition Cluster:
10.553 School Breakfast Program
10.555 National School Lunch Program
10.555 Surplus Commodities


93.778 Medical Assistance Program


Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs $750,000


Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? No


Section II - Financial Statement Findings


None


Section III - Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs


None


Section IV - Prior Year Audit Findings


None


Special Education - Preschool Grants (IDEA Preschool)
Special Education - Grants to States (IDEA, Part B)
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